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Item 1. Financial Statements

Assets
Current Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable, net
Prepaid expenses and other
Total current assets
Property and Equipment:
Cost
Less — accumulated depreciation
Net property and equipment
Intangibles, net
Other assets
Total assets
Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity (Deficit)
Current Liabilities:
Accounts payable
Wages, vacations and employees’ benefits
Other current and accrued liabilities
Current maturities of long-term debt
Total current liabilities
Other Liabilities:
Long-term debt, less current portion
Deferred income taxes, net
Pension and postretirement
Claims and other liabilities
Commitments and contingencies
Shareholders’ Equity (Deficit):
Common stock, $1 par value per share
Preferred stock, $1 par value per share
Capital surplus
Accumulated deficit
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Treasury stock, at cost (3,079 shares)
Total shareholders’ equity (deficit)

PART I - FINANCIAL INFORMATION

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
YRC Worldwide Inc. and Subsidiaries
(Amounts in thousands except per share data)

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity (deficit)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.

3

September 30, December 31,
2009 2008
(Unaudited)
$ 162,771 $ 325,349
648,891 837,055
193,470 298,101
1,005,132 1,460,505
3,775,775 3,977,881
(1,816,404) (1,776,904)
1,959,371 2,200,977
170,664 184,769
145,836 119,862
$ 3,281,003 $ 3,966,113
$ 256,556 $ 333,910
278,128 356,410
403,385 489,994
749,800 562,321
1,687,869 1,742,635
892,027 787,415
131,487 242,663
384,979 370,031
410,206 341,918
62,617 62,413
1,264,891 1,239,586
(1,296,816) (555,261)
(163,520) (172,550)
(92,737) (92,737)
(225,565) 481,451
$ 3,281,003 $ 3,966,113
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STATEMENTS OF CONSOLIDATED OPERATIONS
YRC Worldwide Inc. and Subsidiaries
For the Three and Nine Months Ended September 30
(Amounts in thousands except per share data)

(Unaudited)
Three Months Nine Months
2009 2008 2009 2008
Operating Revenue $1,306,338 $2,380,258 $4,137,213 $7,011,578
Operating Expenses:
Salaries, wages and employees’ benefits 835,527 1,315,473 3,014,883 4,009,043
Operating expenses and supplies 297,006 539,614 973,672 1,570,938
Purchased transportation 163,816 303,221 503,070 839,471
Depreciation and amortization 61,442 67,808 192,160 194,556
Other operating expenses 77,642 103,165 260,889 322,243
Gains on property disposals, net (11,142) (15,466) (10,555) (8,927)
Impairment charges — 823,064 — 823,064
Total operating expenses 1,424,291 3,136,879 4,934,119 7,750,388
Operating Income (Loss) (117,953) (756,621) (796,906) (738,810)
Nonoperating (Income) Expenses:
Interest expense 44,440 21,107 115,073 59,323
Equity investment impairment — — 30,374 —
Other, net 2,667 (1,028) 6,539 (4,862)
Nonoperating expenses, net 47,107 20,079 151,986 54,461
Income (Loss) Before Income Taxes (165,060) (776,700) (948,892) (793,271)
Income tax provision (benefit) (6,324) (55,823) (207,337) (61,802)
Net Income (Loss) $ (158,736) $ (720,877) $ (741,555) $ (731,469)
Average Common Shares Outstanding — Basic 59,534 57,317 59,463 57,106
Average Common Shares Outstanding — Diluted 59,534 57,317 59,463 57,106
Basic Earnings (Loss) Per Share $ (267) $ (1258) $ (1247) $ (12.81)
Diluted Earnings (Loss) Per Share $ (267) $ (12580 $ (1247) $ (12.81)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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STATEMENTS OF CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOWS

For the Nine Months Ended September 30

Operating Activities:
Net income (loss)
Noncash items included in net income (loss):
Depreciation and amortization
Stock compensation expense
Pension settlement charges
Impairment charges
Curtailment gains
Equity investment impairment
Gains on property disposals, net
Deferred income tax benefit, net
Other noncash items, net
Changes in assets and liabilities, net:
Accounts receivable
Accounts payable
Other operating assets
Other operating liabilities
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities
Investing Activities:
Acquisition of property and equipment
Proceeds from disposal of property and equipment
Investment in affiliate
Other
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities
Financing Activities:
Asset backed securitization borrowings (payments), net
Issuance of long-term debt
Repayment of long-term debt
Debt issuance costs
Proceeds from exercise of stock options
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities
Net (Decrease) Increase In Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and Cash Equivalents, Beginning of Period
Cash and Cash Equivalents, End of Period

Supplemental Cash Flow Information:
Pension contribution deferral transfer to long-term debt

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.

YRC Worldwide Inc. and Subsidiaries

(Amounts in thousands)
(Unaudited)
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2009 2008
$(741,555)  $(731,469)
192,160 194,556
28,786 7,855
7,968 —
— 823,064
— (97,788)
30,374 —
(10,555) (8,958)
(196,134) (38,620)
25,965 (4,560)
188,164 (21,269)
(75,669) (45,666)
67,768 28,797
166,987 56,873
(315,741) 162,815
(35,179)  (104,402)
106,010 78,796
— (34,289)
3,462 (4,449)
74,293 (64,344)
40,695 (38,000)
305,130 —
(211,048) (5,096)
(55,907) (11,035)
— 50
78,870 (54,081)
(162,578) 44,390
325,349 58,233
$ 162,771  $ 102,623
$157216 $  —
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STATEMENT OF CONSOLIDATED SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT)
YRC Worldwide Inc. and Subsidiaries
For the Nine Months Ended September 30
(Amounts in thousands except per share data)

Common Stock
Beginning balance
Issuance of equity awards
Ending balance
Capital Surplus
Beginning balance
Cumulative effect — adoption of FASB ASC 470-20-65-1 (See Note 7)
Adjusted beginning balance
Share-based compensation
Other, net
Ending balance
Accumulated Deficit
Beginning balance
Cumulative effect — adoption of FASB ASC 470-20-65-1 (See Note 7)
Adjusted beginning balance
Net loss
Ending balance
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)
Beginning balance
Pension, net of tax:
Reclassification of net losses to net income
Foreign currency translation adjustment
Ending balance
Treasury Stock, At Cost
Beginning and ending balance
Total Shareholders’ Equity (Deficit)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.

(Unaudited)
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2009

$ 62,413
204
$ 62,617

$ 1,224,606
14,980
1,239,586
25,517
(212)

$ 1,264,891

$ (547,338)
(7,923)
(555,261)
(741,555)
$(1,296,816)

$ (172,550)
1,562
7,468
5_(163.520)

$  (92,737)
5_(225,569)
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YRC Worldwide Inc. and Subsidiaries
(Unaudited)

1. Description of Business

YRC Worldwide Inc. (also referred to as “YRC Worldwide”, “the Company”, “we” or “our”), one of the largest transportation service providers in the
world, is a holding company that through wholly owned operating subsidiaries offers its customers a wide range of transportation services. These services
include global, national and regional transportation as well as logistics. Our operating subsidiaries include the following:

*  YRC National Transportation (“National Transportation™) is the reporting unit for our transportation service providers focused on business
opportunities in regional, national and international services. This unit includes our less-than-truckload (“LTL”) subsidiary YRC Inc. (“YRC”),
which was formed through the March 2009 integration of our former Yellow Transportation and Roadway networks. National Transportation
provides for the movement of industrial, commercial and retail goods, primarily through regionalized and centralized management and customer
facing organizations. National Transportation also includes YRC Reimer, a subsidiary located in Canada that specializes in shipments into, across
and out of Canada. Approximately 37% of National Transportation shipments are completed in two days or less. In addition to the United States
(“U.S.”) and Canada, National Transportation also serves parts of Mexico, Puerto Rico and Guam.

*  YRC Regional Transportation (“Regional Transportation”) is the reporting unit for our transportation service providers focused on business
opportunities in the regional and next-day delivery markets. Regional Transportation is comprised of New Penn Motor Express, Holland and
Reddaway. These companies each provide regional, next-day ground services in their respective regions through a network of facilities located across
the U.S., Canada, Mexico and Puerto Rico. Approximately 93% of Regional Transportation LTL shipments are completed in two days or less.

*  YRC Logistics plans and coordinates the movement of goods worldwide to provide customers a single source for logistics management
solutions. YRC Logistics delivers a wide range of global logistics management services, with the ability to provide customers improved return-on-
investment results through logistics services and technology management solutions.

*  YRC Truckload (“Truckload”) reflects the results of Glen Moore, a provider of truckload services throughout the U.S.

At September 30, 2009, approximately 69% of our labor force is subject to various collective bargaining agreements, which predominantly expire in 2013.

2. Principles of Consolidation and Accounting Policies

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of YRC Worldwide and its wholly owned subsidiaries. All significant
intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. Investments in non-majority owned affiliates or those in which we do not
have control where the entity is either not a variable interest entity or YRC Worldwide is not the primary beneficiary, are accounted for on the equity
method. There are no noncontrolling (minority) interests in our consolidated subsidiaries, consequently, all of our shareholders’ equity (deficit), net income
(loss) and comprehensive income (loss) for the period’s presented are attributable to controlling interests. Management makes estimates and assumptions
that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements and notes. Actual results could differ from those estimates. We have prepared the
consolidated financial statements, without audit, pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). In
management’s opinion, all normal recurring adjustments necessary for a fair statement of the financial position, results of operations and cash flows for the
interim periods included in these financial statements herein have been made. We have considered subsequent events through November 9, 2009, the date
of this report. Certain information and note disclosures normally included in financial statements prepared in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles have been condensed or omitted from these statements pursuant to SEC rules and regulations. Accordingly, the accompanying
consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the year ended December 31, 2008.

Restricted Cash

As required by our Credit Agreement, certain net cash proceeds from asset sales were required to be deposited in a restricted account (the “Escrow
Account”), invested in a money market fund and pledged to our lenders under the Credit Agreement. On June 17, 2009, we entered into Amendment No. 7
to our Credit Agreement which provided for the release of all amounts in the
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YRC Worldwide Inc. and Subsidiaries—(Continued)
(Unaudited)

Escrow Account totaling approximately $73 million (except for $3.6 million that was released to the Company to prepay certain deferred pension
obligations discussed below). These released amounts were used to repay a portion of the revolving loan under the Credit Agreement.

Assets Held for Sale

When we plan to dispose of property or equipment by sale, the asset is carried in the financial statements at the lower of the carrying amount or estimated
fair value, less cost to sell, and is reclassified to assets held for sale. Additionally, after such reclassification, there is no further depreciation taken on the
asset. For an asset to be classified as held for sale, management must approve and commit to a formal plan, the sale should be anticipated during the
ensuing year and the asset must be actively marketed, be available for immediate sale, and meet certain other specified criteria. At September 30, 2009 and
December 31, 2008, the net book value of assets held for sale was approximately $124.4 million and $32.4 million, respectively. This amount is included in
“Property and Equipment” in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. We recorded charges of $6.7 million and $13.8 million for the three and nine
months ended September 30, 2009, and $0.4 million and $6.8 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2008, respectively, to reduce
properties and equipment held for sale to estimated fair value, less cost to sell. These charges are included in “Gains on Property Disposals, Net” in the
accompanying statements of consolidated operations.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying value of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable and asset-backed securitization borrowings approximates their fair
value due to the short-term nature of these instruments.

Reclassifications

Certain amounts within the prior year have been reclassified to conform with the current year presentation. We reclassified certain reorganization and
settlement costs to their related expense account to make the presentation comparable to 2009.

3. Intangibles

We have the following amortizable intangible assets:

September 30, 2009 December 31, 2008

Weighted Gross Gross

Average Carrying Accumulated Carrying Accumulated
(in millions) Life (years) Amount Amortization Amount Amortization
Customer related 11.9 $214.8 $ 80.0 $214.2 $ 65.4
Marketing related 5.6 3.6 3.0 3.5 2.6
Technology based 5.0 25.6 24.6 25.6 23.3
Intangible assets $244.0 $ 107.6 $243.3 $ 91.3

Total marketing related intangible assets with indefinite lives, primarily tradenames, were $34.3 million and $32.8 million as of September 30, 2009 and
December 31, 2008, respectively.

During the nine months ended September 30, 2009, we determined indicators of impairment, primarily volume reductions in all of our reporting segments,
were present. We performed certain tests consisting of discounted cash flow models and determined that the lives assigned to certain customer relationships
should be reduced to better align with actual attrition rates. This resulted in additional amortization expense of $1.4 million and $2.8 million during the
three and nine month periods ended September 30, 2009, respectively. Estimated amortization expense related to intangible assets for all of 2009 and each
of the next five years is as follows:

(in millions) 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014
Estimated amortization expense $215 $204 $194 $194 $194 $194
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YRC Worldwide Inc. and Subsidiaries—(Continued)
(Unaudited)

No other impairment amounts were required as of September 30, 2009.

4. Restructuring

During the first nine months of 2009, we closed 18 service centers that were previously a part of the Regional Transportation networks. As a part of this
action, we incurred certain restructuring charges of approximately $7.2 million consisting of employee severance, lease cancellations and other incremental
costs. Also during the first nine months of 2009, we integrated our Yellow Transportation and Roadway networks into a single transportation network
branded “YRC”. We incurred additional severance costs of $34.0 million, including $24.4 million in the National Transportation segment and $4.2 million
in our Regional Transportation segment as we reduced headcount in response to both the YRC integration and lower volumes. Our National Transportation
segment also recorded a $23.0 million charge consisting of contract and lease cancellations related to the YRC integration. Finally, our YRC Logistics
segment recorded $5.2 million of severance and lease cancellation costs primarily in response to lower business levels.

We assess the accrual requirements under our restructuring efforts at the end of each reporting period. A rollforward of the restructuring accrual is set forth

below:
Employee Contract Termination
(in millions) Separation and Other Costs Total
Balance at December 31, 2008 $ 6.2 $ 4.6 $ 10.8
Restructuring charges 41.1 28.3 69.4
Payments (33.7) (7.5) (41.2)
Balance at September 30, 2009 $ 136 $ 25.4 $ 39.0
5. Other Assets
The primary components of other assets are as follows:
(in millions) September 30, 2009 December 31, 2008
Equity method investments:
JHJ International Transportation Co., Ltd. $ 44.4 $ 47.7
Shanghai Jiayu Logistics Co., Ltd. 20.6 44.6
Other 80.8 27.6
Total $ 145.8 $ 119.9

During the nine months ended September 30, 2009, we determined our investment with respect to Shanghai Jiayu Logistics Co., Ltd. incurred an other than
temporary impairment. This is primarily the result of different assumptions with respect to revenue growth rates from the initial valuation to those assumed
in the current economic environment. As a result, we recognized an impairment charge for this equity method investment of $30.4 million in the nine
months ended September 30, 2009. This amount is classified as a non-operating expense in the accompanying statements of operations. No such amount
was recorded during the three or nine months ended September 30, 2008.

6. Liquidity
The current economic environment continues to have a dramatic effect on our industry. This economic environment continues to negatively impact our
customers’ needs to ship and, therefore, negatively impacts the volume of freight we service and the price we receive for our services. As a result, we
continue to experience lower year-over-year revenue (primarily a function of declining volume), operating losses and negative cash flow. In addition, we
believe that many of our existing customers have reduced their business with us due to their concerns regarding our financial condition. As a result, these
concerns have had an adverse effect on our revenues, results of operations and liquidity.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YRC Worldwide Inc. and Subsidiaries—(Continued)
(Unaudited)

As a part of our comprehensive plan, we have executed on a number of significant initiatives during 2009 to respond to these conditions, which are
described more fully below. In March 2009, we completed the integration of our Yellow Transportation and Roadway networks into one service network,
now branded “YRC”. As we continue to improve our service and stabilize our financial condition, we anticipate the return of shipping volume from these
customers. However, we cannot predict how quickly and to what extent this volume will return. On a sequential basis, as compared with the second quarter,
our operating revenue decreased 1.6% due to modestly declining volumes, but our operating results improved by approximately $182 million, and our
operating cash flows improved by $77 million. Sequential improvements were aided by successful cost and liquidity actions within our comprehensive plan
which we discuss below.

Comprehensive Plan

In light of the current economic environment and the resulting challenging business conditions, we have implemented or are in the process of implementing
the following actions (among others) as part of our comprehensive plan to reduce our cost structure and improve our operating results, cash flow from
operations, liquidity and financial condition:

+ the integration in March 2009 of our Yellow Transportation and Roadway networks into a single service network, now branded “YRC”. See “—YRC
Integration” below.

+ the discontinuation in March 2009 of the geographic service overlap between our Holland and New Penn networks

+ the first quarter implementation of a 10% wage reduction for substantially all of our employees (both union and non-union). See “—Ratification of
Collective Bargaining Agreement Modification” below.

»  the deferral of payment of certain contributions to our Teamster multi-employer pension funds, mostly in the first half of 2009, pursuant to a
Contribution Deferral Agreement. See “— Pension Contribution Deferral Obligations” below.

»  further reductions in the number of terminals to right-size our transportation networks to current shipment volumes

*  the August 2009 implementation of an additional 5% wage reduction for substantially all of our union employees. See “—Ratification of Collective
Bargaining Agreement Modification” below.

+  the temporary cessation of pension contributions to our Teamster multi-employer pension funds starting in July 2009 through December 31, 2010,
which cessation eliminates the need to recognize expense for these contributions during this period. See “—Ratification of Collective Bargaining
Agreement Modification” below.

» the continued suspension of company matching 401(k) contributions for non-union employees

+  the sale of excess property and equipment, primarily resulting from the integration of the Yellow Transportation and Roadway networks
+ the sale and leaseback of core operating facilities. See “—Lease Financing Transactions” below.

»  reductions in force to scale our business to current shipping volumes

+  other cost reduction measures in general, administrative and other areas

+  changes to our overall risk management structure to reduce our letter of credit requirements

+  alonger-term amendment to our Credit Agreement (defined below) to provide us greater access to the liquidity that our revolving credit facility
provides and the deferral of interest and fees that we pay to our lenders, subject to the conditions that the amended Credit Agreement requires. See
“— Credit Agreement Amendments” below.

» arenewal and amendment of our ABS Facility (defined below) to defer most of the fees in connection with our ABS Facility, subject to certain
conditions. See “— ABS Facility Amendments” below.

+  an agreement with our Teamster multi-employer pension funds to defer the payment of interest on our deferred obligations, and to defer the
beginning of installment payments of previously deferred contributions, in each case, subject to the conditions that the CDA Amendment (defined
below) requires. See “— Pension Contribution Deferral Obligations” below.

»  our expected launch of an exchange offer (the “Exchange Offer”) to exchange our outstanding USF 8 1/2% notes and contingent convertible notes
for common stock and preferred stock of the Company. See “—Contemplated Exchange Offer” below.

Certain of these actions are further described below. The final execution of our plan has certain risks that we are not able to completely control which may
adversely impact our liquidity. See “Risks and Uncertainties Regarding Future Liquidity” below.

YRC Integration

In March 2009, we completed the integration of our Yellow Transportation and Roadway networks into one service network, now branded “YRC”. During
the integration, we believe that many of our customers reduced their shipments with us to mitigate their risks from our integration. As our service has
improved from the March 2009 integration, many of these customers are now returning their shipping volumes to us and we have added new customers.
However, these volumes have not returned as quickly as we had anticipated. We cannot predict how quickly and to what extent these volumes will return.
As aresult of the successful integration, we have been able to implement a number of significant cost savings actions, including reducing the number of
terminals, reducing headcount and decreasing our fleet size. We will implement further cost saving measures if we experience further declines in shipping
volume.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YRC Worldwide Inc. and Subsidiaries—(Continued)
(Unaudited)

Ratification of Collective Bargaining Agreement Modification

In August 2009, the employees in most of our bargaining units who are represented by the International Brotherhood of Teamsters (the “Teamsters”)
ratified a modification to our collective bargaining agreement. The modification provides (among other things) the following:

* atemporary cessation of the requirement for the Company’s subsidiaries to make contributions on behalf of most of the Company’s Teamster
represented employees to union multi-employer pension funds from July 2009 through December 31, 2010. These contributions will not need to be
repaid in the future and, therefore, will be a cost reduction during this period

* a 15% wage reduction (which includes the 10% wage reduction previously implemented in January 2009) for most of the Company’s Teamster
represented employees

« areduction in the increase in contributions to multiemployer health and welfare plans from $1.00 per hour to $0.20 per hour that occurred on
August 1, 2009 and to $0.40 per hour that is scheduled for August 1, 2010

»  the establishment of a stock option plan for participating union employees, providing for options to purchase an additional 20% of the Company’s
outstanding common stock on a fully diluted basis as if all outstanding stock options were exercised on the date the plan is established. This plan is
required to be on terms substantially similar to the plan created in January 2009, when the first 10% wage reduction was implemented. These options
are expected to be granted immediately following a successful completion of the Exchange Offer (and any associated reverse stock split substantially
contemporaneous with the Exchange Offer)

*  during the period in which the temporary pension contribution cessation is in effect, subject to the approval of the Company’s board of directors,
which approval may not be unreasonably withheld, the Company is required to appoint a director that the Teamsters nominate. This person has not
yet been nominated.

As with prior ratification elections, a small number of the bargaining units representing less than 10% of our Teamster employees did not initially ratify the
labor agreement modifications on August 7, 2009. The Company and the Teamsters have since addressed employee concerns and most of these units have
either subsequently ratified the modifications or have merged or will merge with other bargaining units that have previously ratified the modifications. A
small number of bargaining units representing less than 4% of our Teamster employees, mostly Reddaway employees or Reimer employees in Canada
continue to consider the modifications. These units do not impact contributions to U.S. multi-employer pension funds, as the units do not generally
participate in these funds.

Credit Facilities

Our primary liquidity vehicles, the Credit Agreement and the ABS Facility are collectively referred to herein as the “credit facilities”. The Credit
Agreement continues to provide us with a $950 million senior revolving credit facility, including sublimits available for borrowings under certain foreign
currencies and for letters of credit, and a senior term loan in an aggregate outstanding principal amount of approximately $111.5 million. Throughout 2009,
we have entered into various waivers and amendments in respect of our credit facilities to provide additional liquidity and to provide relief to the
Company’s covenants under the credit facilities.

Credit Agreement Amendments

On October 9, 2009, and October 27, 2009, the Company entered into Amendments Nos. 11 and 12, respectively, to our Credit Agreement. The following
discusses certain aspects of these amendments.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YRC Worldwide Inc. and Subsidiaries—(Continued)
(Unaudited)

— Revolver Reserve Amount

During 2009, the Company has sold certain of its assets, generally excess real estate and real estate that the Company has sold and leased back from the
buyer. Much of the excess real estate has been available for sale due to the Company’s integration of its Yellow Transportation and Roadway networks and
the Company’s cost reductions that the Company has undertaken in response to its volume declines. Prior to Amendment No. 12 to the Credit Agreement,
the Credit Agreement provided that a portion of the net proceeds from the Company’s sales of real estate was placed into a revolver reserve. The Credit
Agreement only permitted the Company to borrow from the revolver reserve if 66 2/3% of the Lenders voted in favor of the borrowing. The amount in the
revolver reserve is part of, and not in addition to, the $950 million credit facility that the Credit Agreement provides. The revolver reserve effectively
“blocks” the Company from borrowing on that portion of the Credit Facility until the conditions to borrowing to access the blocked amount are met. Prior
to Amendment No. 12 to the Credit Agreement, any amounts in the revolver reserve that were not borrowed by October 29, 2009 would have permanently
reduced the revolving credit commitments under the Credit Agreement.

Amendment No. 12 to the Credit Agreement extends the date from October 29, 2009 to January 1, 2012 (or such later date as may be agreed to by 66 2/3%
of the lenders) on which the revolving commitments will be permanently reduced by the revolver reserve amount, subject to early termination upon a
Deferral Termination Event (defined below) so long as the Recapitalization Transaction (as defined in the Credit Agreement) is completed and the CDA
Amendment (defined below) is effective. The Exchange Offer, as presently contemplated (and described below in “Contemplated Exchange Offer”), would
meet the definition in the Credit Agreement of a Recapitalization Transaction. On November 5, 2009, the CDA Amendment became effective. However, if
the Exchange Offer is not completed on or before December 16, 2009 (or such later date as may be agreed to by 66 2/3% of the lenders, the “Exchange
Offer Deadline”), the revolving commitments will be permanently reduced by an amount equal to the then current revolver reserve amount on that date.

Amendment No. 12 to the Credit Agreement bifurcated the revolver reserve amount into two blocks: the existing revolver reserve block and the new
revolver reserve block.

The existing revolver reserve block is $106 million and will not increase above that amount. Until the earlier of the completion of the Exchange Offer and
the Exchange Offer Deadline, the Credit Agreement Amendment continues to provide the Company access to $50 million of the existing revolver reserve
block at any time for specified operating needs (“Permitted Interim Loans”). Access to the remaining existing revolver reserve block (and any portion of
the $50 million of the existing revolver reserve block that could be, but is not, borrowed prior to the completion of the Exchange Offer) is subject to
borrowing conditions, including (among others) the following:

«  after giving effect to each borrowing, unrestricted Permitted Investments (as defined in the Credit Agreement) are less than or equal to $125 million
(or, $100 million to the extent that any Permitted Interim Loans are outstanding)

»  completion of the Exchange Offer
+ either

. the Company meets certain specified minimum weekly operating thresholds based on earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and
amortization (“EBITDA”) and maintains certain monthly selling, general and administrative (“SG&A”) expense amounts below specified
maximum thresholds or

. 66 2/3% of the lenders approve the borrowing

The new revolver reserve block was approximately $8.7 million at October 27, 2009 and will be increased by mandatory prepayments of net cash proceeds
from certain asset sales and any excess cash flow sweeps. The Company may access the new revolver reserve block after the existing revolver reserve
block has been fully borrowed, subject to the same borrowing conditions applicable to the existing revolver reserve block, except that the Company must
obtain the approval of 66 2/3% of the lenders rather than complying with the minimum weekly operating EBITDA thresholds and maximum SG&A
monthly expense amounts.

— Interest and Fee Deferrals

Amendment No. 12 to the Credit Agreement provides that the lenders will defer the payment of revolver and term loan interest, letter of credit fees and
commitment fees for the period:

*  beginning upon the completion of the Exchange Offer and

+  ending on December 31, 2010, subject to an extension until December 31, 2011 if agreed to by 66 2/3 % of the lenders.
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— Deferral Exceptions and Termination Events
There are exceptions and termination events with respect to the interest and fee deferral described above, including (among others) the following:

* o further interest and fees will be deferred and all previously deferred amounts will become payable at the direction of a majority of the lenders,
upon the occurrence of certain specified events, including (among others) the following, unless 66 2/3% of the lenders agree otherwise (each, a
“Deferral Termination Event”):

. the modification to our collective bargaining agreement (described above in “— Ratification of Collective Bargaining Agreement
Ratification”) terminates or is amended or otherwise modified (including, by the operation of any “snapback” or similar provisions) in any
way that is adverse to the Company or the Lenders in a manner that could reasonably be expected, individually or in the aggregate, to result
in an impact of greater than $5 million in any calendar year;

. the Company amends or otherwise modifies the Contribution Deferral Agreement and related agreements in any way that is adverse to the
Company or the lenders; or

. on or after completion of the Exchange Offer, the Company makes any cash payment of any pension fund obligations and any interest
thereon that the Company deferred in 2009 under the Contribution Deferral Agreement other than:

+  payments of proceeds resulting from the sale of real property that collateralizes the deferred pension obligations and which the pension
funds have a first lien; or

+  payments of permitted fees and expenses.

* no further interest and fees will be deferred upon any cash payment (other than payments described in the preceding bullets) of any pension fund
liabilities (and any interest thereon) due prior to December 31, 2011 other than certain permitted payments, including payments to the Company’s
single employer pension plans that are required to be made pursuant to ERISA and payments to certain multiemployer pension plans (each, a
“Deferral Suspension Event”). Any deferred interest and fees will not become due and payable solely as a result of a Deferral Suspension Event.

* commencing on January 1, 2011,

. if after giving effect to an interest or fee payment on the applicable interest or fee payment date, the Available Interest Payment Amount (as
defined in the Credit Agreement) on the interest or fee payment date would be equal to or greater than $150 million, the Company must
make such payment in full in cash on such interest or fee payment date and

. to the extent that the Available Interest Payment Amount on any business day exceeds $225 million, the Company must apply the excess
over $225 million to pay previously deferred interest and fees.

— Mandatory Prepayments

Under the Credit Agreement, as amended, we are obligated to make mandatory prepayments on an annual basis of any excess cash flow and upon the
receipt of net cash proceeds from certain asset sales and the issuance of equity and if we have an average liquidity amount for the immediately preceding
five business days in excess of $250 million. The percentage of net cash proceeds received and the manner in which they are applied varies as set forth in
greater detail in the Credit Agreement.

Asset Sales

The Credit Agreement, as amended, allows us to receive up to $400 million of net cash proceeds from asset sales in 2009 and $200 million of net cash
proceeds from asset sales in 2010, which limits do not include net cash proceeds received from certain asset sales, including the following:
. the sale of real estate that constitutes first lien collateral of the pension funds pursuant to the Contribution Deferral Agreement

. the initial sale and lease back transaction completed with NATMI Truck Terminals, LLC in the first half of 2009, and
. permitted dispositions approved by a majority of the lenders.
In addition, after Amendment No. 12 to the Credit Agreement, we can only consummate sale and leaseback transactions if
. a majority of our bank lenders approve the transactions or
. such transactions were approved by the bank lenders in connection with Amendment No. 12.

The Company expects to close approximately $50 million of approved sale leaseback transactions in the fourth quarter of 2009. See “—Lease Financing
Transactions”. The closing of these sale leaseback transactions is subject to the satisfaction of normal and customary due diligence and related conditions,
including the right of each buyer to terminate its obligation in its sole discretion during the inspection period, which conditions may be outside of the
Company’s control.
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Financial Covenants

Amendment No. 12 to the Credit Agreement eliminated the previous requirement that the Company maintain certain leverage and interest coverage ratios.
In addition, Amendment No. 12 to the Credit Agreement eliminated minimum consolidated EBITDA level requirements for the fourth quarter of 2009 and
the first quarter of 2010. Finally, Amendment No. 12 to the Credit Agreement reset certain requirements that the Company maintain minimum consolidated
EBITDA and maximum capital expenditure levels, as follows:

Period Minimum C lidated EBITDA
For the fiscal quarter ending on June 30, 2010 $ 65,000,000
For the two consecutive fiscal quarters ending September 30, 2010 $ 135,000,000
For the three consecutive fiscal quarters ending December 31, 2010 $ 200,000,000
For the four consecutive fiscal quarters ending March 31, 2011 $ 270,000,000
For the four consecutive fiscal quarters ending June 30, 2011 $ 270,000,000
For the four consecutive fiscal quarters ending September 30, 2011 $ 280,000,000
For the four consecutive fiscal quarters ending December 31, 2011 $ 270,000,000
For the four consecutive fiscal quarters ending March 31, 2012 $ 300,000,000
For the four consecutive fiscal quarters ending June 30, 2012 $ 330,000,000
Period Maximum Capital Expenditures
For the fourth fiscal quarter in 2009 $ 30,000,000
For the four consecutive fiscal quarters ending December 31, 2009 $ 60,000,000
For any single fiscal quarter in 2010 $ 57,500,000
For the four consecutive fiscal quarters ending December 31, 2010 $ 115,000,000
For any single fiscal quarter in 2011 $ 72,500,000
For the four consecutive fiscal quarters ending December 31, 2011 $ 145,000,000
For any single fiscal quarter in 2012 $ 50,000,000

Amendment No, 12 to the Credit Agreement allows the Company to add back certain restructuring charges when evaluating minimum consolidated
EBITDA as set forth in greater detail in the Credit Agreement.

Teamster Approval of the Credit Agreement

The August 2009 modification to our collective bargaining agreement with the Teamsters requires, among other things, that we enter into a bank
amendment that is acceptable to the Teamsters. The Teamsters National Freight Industry Negotiating Committee (“TNFINC”) certified to us that
Amendment No. 12 to the Credit Agreement was satisfactory to the Teamsters, subject to the following conditions:

+ the Exchange Offer shall have occurred on or before the Exchange Offer Deadline
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+ immediately following the Exchange Offer (including any reverse stock split contemplated thereby and contemporaneous therewith) the Company
issues options to purchase 20% of the common stock of the Company as the modification to the collective bargaining agreement requires

+  if the Company requests a borrowing or letter of credit pursuant to the Credit Agreement under circumstances where 66 2/3% of the lenders must
approve the borrowing or letter of credit, then 66 2/3% of the lenders do so approve the borrowing or letter of credit

» the lenders under the Credit Agreement continue to defer revolver and term loan interest, letter of credit fees and commitment fees in 2011

*  to the extent a Default or an Event of Default (as each are defined in the Credit Agreement) occurs or additional amendments to the Credit
Agreement are consummated, no lender:

. exercises any remedies that result in the acceleration of the payment of any of the obligations under the Credit Agreement;

. amends or provides waivers with respect to the Credit Agreement that result in any further increase in interest or fees under the Credit
Agreement;

. obtains a judgment to foreclose on any collateral securing the obligations under the Credit Agreement; or

. takes any similar type of collection action in court or before an arbitral proceeding.

If any of these conditions are not met, TNFINC reserved the right to declare the modification to the collective bargaining agreement ineffective and
terminate the modification on a prospective basis.

ABS Facility Amendments and Renewal

On October 27, 2009, we also amended our ABS Facility. The ABS Facility amendments extended the expiration of the ABS Facility from February 11,
2010 to October 26, 2010; provided that, if the Exchange Offer is not completed by the Exchange Offer Deadline, the ABS Facility will expire on
February 11, 2010.

The ABS Facility amendments have amended certain Trigger Events (as defined in the ABS Facility) to make the Minimum Consolidated EBITDA (as
defined in the ABS Facility) and maximum capital expenditure requirements consistent with the Credit Agreement. See “Credit Agreement Amendments —
Financial Covenants” above. In addition, certain calculations under the ABS Facility were amended to reduce the impact of certain negative effects that the
integration of Yellow Transportation and Roadway has had on those calculations, due to rating adjustments and the timing of customer payments. As a
result of the amendments, the obligation to repay outstanding amounts under the ABS Facility due to those integration effects has been reduced or
eliminated. The Co-Agents under the ABS Facility have completed preliminary work to verify the related integration adjustments; however, further
substantiation by the Co-Agents as part of their annual audit of the ABS Facility is required. This audit must be completed by November 30, 2009.

The ABS Facility amendments also reduced the aggregate commitments under the ABS Facility from $500 million to $400 million and reduced the letter
of credit facility sublimit from $105 million to $84 million. The Company believes that the impact of this reduction will not affect the Company’s liquidity
because the $400 million commitment level is sufficient given the Company’s current level of accounts receivable underlying the ABS Facility.

Upon completion of the Exchange Offer, the Co-Agents under the ABS Facility have also agreed to defer most of the fees during the term of the ABS
Facility. This includes the $10 million fee that was originally due on September 30, 2009, prior to the ABS Facility amendments.

Lease Financing Transactions

We have entered into several lease financing transactions with various parties, including NATMI Truck Terminals, LLC (“NATMI”) and Estes Express
Lines (“Estes”). The underlying transactions included providing title of certain real estate assets to the issuer in exchange for agreed upon proceeds;
however, the transactions did not meet the accounting definition of a “sale leaseback” and as such, the assets remain on our balance sheet and long-term
debt (titled Lease Financing Obligations) is reflected on our balance sheet in the amount of the proceeds. We are required to make annual lease payments,
which are recorded as principal and interest payments under these arrangements.
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The table below summarizes our lease financing transactions through September 30, 2009:

Contracts Contracts
Contracts completed completed Remaining

Original completed in through subsequent to contracted

Contract third quarter September 30, September 30, Contract amount to Effective
Lessor Amount 2009 2009 2009 modifications close interest rates
NATMI $1844 $ — $ 127.4 $ 17.1 $ (23.1) $ 168 10.3%-18.4%
Estes 122.0 14.0 110.3 — (11.7) — 10.0%
Other 123.4 7.0 67.4 — (31.2) 24.8 10.0%-14.1%
Total $4298 $ 21.0 $ 305.1 $ 17.1 $ (66.0) $ 416

We have used the proceeds received from the above transactions, as follows:

Nine months

ended September 30,
(in millions) 2009
Proceeds received $ 305.1
Amounts required to be escrowed with lessor (12.6)
Transaction costs 4.4
Net proceeds received 288.1
Amounts required to be remitted to Revolver Reserve (80.3)
Amounts available for working capital purposes $ 207.8

In addition to the $80.3 million referenced in the table above, we were required to repay borrowings under the revolving loan by an additional $21.9
million as a result of additional asset sales thereby making the revolver reserve amount (now known as the existing revolver reserve block after the Credit
Agreement amendments) equal to $102 million at September 30, 2009.

The Credit Agreement requires any net proceeds from real estate asset sales (other than approximately $117 million in net cash proceeds received in the
initial sale and leaseback transaction completed with NATMI in the first half of 2009 and sales of real estate on which the pension funds have a first priority
security interest under the Contribution Deferral Agreement) received on or after January 1, 2009 to be applied as follows:

with respect to the first $300 million of such net cash proceeds, 50% of such proceeds shall be used to prepay amounts outstanding under the Credit
Agreement and the remaining 50% shall be retained by the Company;

with respect to such net cash proceeds in excess of than $300 million and less than or equal to $500 million, 75% of such proceeds shall be used to
prepay amounts outstanding under the Credit Agreement and the remaining 25% shall be retained by the Company; and

with respect to such net cash proceeds that exceed $500 million, all of such proceeds shall be used to prepay amounts outstanding under the Credit
Agreement.

Amendment No. 12 to the Credit Agreement requires that the prepayments (using the applicable prepayment percentage) described above shall be applied
(i) first, to repay any outstanding Permitted Interim Loans; (ii) second, to repay any outstanding loans (or to cash collateralize any letters of credit) from the
new revolver reserve block; (iii) third, to repay any outstanding loans (or to cash collateralize any letters of credit) from the existing revolver reserve block;
and (iv) fourth, to repay any other outstanding revolver loans (or to cash collateralize any other letters of credit) and increase the new revolver reserve
amount by such prepayment amount. Prior to Amendment No. 12, the revolver reserve amount (now known as the existing revolver reserve amount) was
increased by 50% of the net cash proceeds received in 2009 from real estate asset sales subject to the above prepayment requirements, except

for approximately $48 million of such net cash proceeds received in August 2009. As of September 30, 2009, the Company had received approximately
$252 million of net cash proceeds from real estate assets sales subject to the above prepayment requirements.

Pension Contribution Deferral Obligations

We have entered into a Contribution Deferral Agreement with 26 union multi-employer pension funds, which provide retirement benefits to certain of
employees, whereby pension contributions originally due to the funds were converted to debt. At September 30, 2009, $141.8 million of deferred
contributions were subject to the terms of the Contribution Deferral Agreement. In addition, we have deferred certain additional pension contributions of
$22.7 million to these pension funds, and are working with the
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applicable fund to execute additional joinder agreements to add these amounts to the Contribution Deferral Agreement. At September 30, 2009, these
amounts related to pension contributions for union employee hours worked prior to the cessation of contributions that the modification to the collective
bargaining agreement provides. See “—Ruatification of Collective Bargaining Agreement Modification” above. These amounts are classified as “Wages,
vacations and employees’ benefits” in our consolidated balance sheet.

The deferred amounts bear interest at the applicable interest rate set forth in the trust documentation that governs each pension fund and range from 4% to
18% as of September 30, 2009.

On November 5, 2009, we entered into an amendment to the Contribution Deferral Agreement (the “CDA Amendment”).

— Amortization and Interest Deferral

Prior to the CDA Amendment, outstanding deferred pension payments under the Contribution Deferral Agreement were to be paid to the Funds in thirty-
six equal monthly installments payable on the 15t day of each calendar month commencing on January 15, 2010 (each a “CDA Amortization Payment™)
and interest payments under the Contribution Deferral Agreement (each a “CDA Interest Payment”) were required to be made to the Funds in arrears on the
fifteenth day of each calendar month.

The CDA Amendment provides that upon the completion of the Exchange Offer on or prior to Exchange Offer Deadline (so long as the lenders under the
Credit Agreement do not permanently reduce revolving commitments under the Credit Agreement as a result of reducing the revolver reserve amount), all
CDA Amortization Payments and CDA Interest Payments due from the date the completion of the Exchange Offer through the end of 2010 shall be
deferred until December 31, 2011; provided, that the CDA Amortization Payments and CDA Interest Payments will become due at the election of the
majority of the pension funds on December 31, 2010 if 90% of the pension funds do not approve a continuation of the deferral of CDA Amortization
Payments and CDA Interest Payments for calendar year 2011. In addition, all deferred interest and amortization payments will become payable at the
election of the majority of the pension funds and no new amounts may be deferred upon the earliest to occur of:

» any Deferral Termination Event (as defined in the Credit Agreement);
e certain events of default; and

+ the amendment, modification, supplementation or alteration of the Credit Agreement that imposes any mandatory prepayment, commitment
reduction, additional interest or fee or any other incremental payment to the Lenders under the Credit Agreement not required as of the effective date
of the CDA Amendment unless the pension funds receive a proportionate additional payment in respect of the deferred pension obligations at the
time an additional payment to the lenders under the Credit Agreement is required pursuant to the terms of the amendment, modification,
supplementation or alteration. For the avoidance of doubt, granting of consent by the lenders under the Credit Agreement to permit an asset sale shall
not by itself trigger the provision described in the prior sentence.

— Mandatory Prepayments

The CDA Amendment amends the mandatory prepayment provision tied to liquidity to provide that the Company will only be required to prepay
obligations under the Contribution Deferral Agreement if the liquidity of the Company and its subsidiaries is greater than $250 million after deducting any
amount due under the Credit Agreement by virtue of the Credit Agreement liquidity mandatory prepayment (as described in the Credit Agreement
Amendment section above); provided that such prepayment obligation does not arise unless and until the excess liquidity amount is equal to or greater than
$1 million at any time.

— Collateral

As part of the Contribution Deferral Agreement, in exchange for the deferral of the contribution obligations, we pledged identified real property to the
pension funds so that the pension funds have a first priority security interest in certain of the identified real property and a second priority security interest
in other identified real property located throughout the U.S. and Mexico. We are required to prepay the deferred obligations to the extent that we sell any of
the first lien property pledged to the pension funds with the net proceeds from the sale. We have made payments of $15.4 million pursuant to such sales to
reduce our obligations to the pension funds during the nine months ended September 30, 2009 leaving a balance of $141.8 million as of September 30,
2009.
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Existing Liquidity Position

The following table provides details of the outstanding components and unused available capacity under the Credit Agreement and ABS Facility at each
period end after giving consideration to the amendments discussed above:

September 30, December 31,

(in millions) 2009 2008
Capacity:

Revolving loan $ 950.0 $  950.0

ABS Facility 400.0 500.0

Total maximum capacity 1,350.0 1,450.0
Amounts outstanding:

Revolving loan (362.3) (515.0)

Letters of credit (9/30/09: $ 477.1 revolver; $77.3 ABS Facility) (554.4) (460.5)

ABS Facility borrowings (187.7) (147.0)

ABS usage for captive insurance company (see below) — (221.0)

Total outstanding (1,104.4) (1,343.5)
ABS limitations (135.0) (64.6)
Revolver reserve (102.2) —
Total blocked capacity (237.2) (64.6)
Available unused capacity (9/30/09: $8.4 revolver; $- ABS Facility) $ 8.4 $ 41.9

As we sold certain assets, we used the net cash proceeds to reduce the outstanding revolving loan balance. The amended Credit Agreement provides that
we create the revolver reserve block with a certain accumulated portion of those proceeds, which amount reduces our available capacity under the revolver
on a dollar-for-dollar basis unless certain conditions are satisfied. As a result of this provision, the available capacity of our revolver was reduced by $102.2
million at September 30, 2009. There was no similar amount at December 31, 2008. After considering the revolver reserve amount of $102.2 million and
outstanding usage, the unused available capacity under the revolving loan was $8.4 million at September 30, 2009.

Until amended on October 27, 2009, the ABS Facility provided capacity of up to $500 million based on qualifying accounts receivable of the Company and
certain other provisions. However, at September 30, 2009 and December 31, 2008, such provisions supported available capacity under the ABS Facility of
$265.0 million and $435.4 million, respectively. Considering this limitation and outstanding usage, there was no unused available capacity under the ABS
Facility at September 30, 2009 and at December 31, 2008.

YRC Assurance Co. Ltd. (“YRC Assurance”) was the Company’s captive insurance company domiciled in Bermuda and a wholly owned and consolidated
subsidiary of YRC Worldwide. YRC Assurance insured certain of our subsidiaries for certain of their respective self-insured obligations for workers’
compensation liabilities. Certain qualifying investments were made by YRC Assurance as required by Bermuda regulations. These investments included
purchasing a position in the underlying receivables supporting our ABS Facility. As a result, as shown in the table above, our capacity under the ABS
Facility was reduced by YRC Assurance’s investment in receivables of $221.0 million at December 31, 2008. Our Credit Agreement required us to cease
the participation of YRC Assurance in the ABS Facility. We have complied with this requirement, and YRC Assurance was dissolved. As a result of these
transactions, the operating companies who received insurance from YRC Assurance are now self-insured for their workers’ compensation liabilities.

Contemplated Exchange Offer

The Company intends to launch the Exchange Offer based upon terms discussed with representatives of a committee of the holders of its contingent
convertible notes and a committee of the holders of its USF 81/2% notes (collectively the “Notes”). The successful completion of this exchange would
allow the Company access to the existing revolver reserve and to begin deferring payment of lender interest and fees under its recently amended Credit
Agreement and ABS Facility and to begin deferring the CDA Interest Payments and CDA Amortization Payments under the Contribution Deferral
Agreement. See “Credit Agreement Amendments”, “ABS Facility Amendments” and “Pension Contribution Deferral Obligations” above.

In the aggregate and with full participation, noteholders would exchange approximately $536.8 million in face value of Notes plus accrued and unpaid
interest for shares of common stock and new preferred stock, which together on an as-if converted basis would represent 95% of the Company’s common
stock, prior to the Company’s grant of options to its union employees pursuant to modification to the Company’s collective bargaining agreements. See
“Ratification of Collective Bargaining Agreement Modification” and “Teamster Approval of the Credit Agreement” above.
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Risks and Uncertainties Regarding Future Liquidity

In light of our recent operating results, we have satisfied our short term liquidity needs through a combination of borrowings under our credit facilities and,
to a more significant degree, retained proceeds from asset sales and sale/leaseback financing transactions. In an effort to further manage liquidity, we have
also instituted the deferral of pension plan payments. As our operating results improve, we expect that cash generated from operations will reduce our need
to continue to rely upon these sources of liquidity to meet our short term funding requirements. Although we expect the wage reduction and temporary
pension contribution cessation will improve our liquidity position, these and other cost savings measures noted above will be realized over time as they are
implemented over the next several months. To continue to have sufficient liquidity to meet our cash flow requirements throughout the remainder of 2009
and through 2010:

*  our operating results must continue to improve quarter-over-quarter and shipping volumes must continue to stabilize or recover quarter-over-quarter;
*  we must continue to have access to our credit facilities;

+  payment of interest and fees to our lenders and to purchasers of our accounts receivable pursuant to the ABS Facility must be deferred at least
through 2010;

+  payment of interest and principal to the pension funds must be deferred at least through 2010;

*  our wage reductions and temporary cessation of pension contributions must continue;

+ we must complete the sale/leaseback and real estate sale transactions currently under contract as anticipated; and

*  we must realize the cost savings we expect from these and other actions we have taken to date in the anticipated time periods.

We expect our business to experience its usual seasonal low point in late 2009 and the winter of 2010. Deferral of payment of interest and fees to our
lenders, purchasers of our accounts receivable under our ABS Facility and pension funds subject to the Contribution Deferral Agreement and access to the
revolver reserve blocks under the Credit Agreement and certain benefits of the ABS Facility are all subject to a successful completion of the Exchange
Offer by the Exchange Offer Deadline. As our business reaches this seasonal low point, we will need access to the additional liquidity that these
agreements and facilities provide to fund our operations.

If we have not completed the Exchange Offer prior to the Exchange Offer Deadline, we will continue to explore options to complete our restructuring out
of court, including further discussions with our lenders under the Credit Agreement, the Teamsters, our multi-employer pension funds and other
stakeholders. Among other things, these discussions could result in amendments to the Exchange Offer, which our lenders, the Teamsters and the multi-
employer pension funds who are parties to the Contribution Deferral Agreement would have to approve. The approval of these parties is beyond the
Company’s control. Other options could also arise out of these discussions; however, these options would require the participation of our stakeholders or
other third parties, none of which are within the Company’s control.

If we are unable to complete the Exchange Offer and address our near term liquidity needs as a result of any such discussions, we would then expect to
seek relief under the U.S. Bankruptcy Code. The Company expects that any such filing for relief would occur after its orderly completion of planning and
preparation for such a filing.

To successfully complete a restructuring in a bankruptcy case, we would require debtor-in-possession financing, the most likely source of which would be
our existing lenders. If we were unable to obtain financing in a bankruptcy case or any such financing was insufficient to fund operations pending the
completion of a restructuring, there would be substantial doubt that the Company could complete a restructuring.

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared assuming that the Company will continue as a going concern. The uncertainty regarding the
Company’s ability to generate sufficient cash flows and liquidity to fund operations raises substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a
going concern. These financial statements do not include any adjustments that might result from the outcome of this uncertainty.
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Contingent Convertible Notes

The balance sheet classification of our contingent convertible notes between short-term and long-term is dependent upon certain conversion triggers, as
defined in the applicable indenture. The contingent convertible notes include a provision whereby the note holder can require immediate conversion of the
notes if, among other reasons, the credit rating on the contingent convertible notes assigned by Moody’s is lower than B2 or if the credit rating assigned by
S&P is lower than B. At September 30, 2009 and December 31, 2008, the conversion trigger was met, and accordingly, the contingent convertible notes
have been classified as a short-term liability in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. Based upon this particular conversion right and based upon
an assumed market price of our stock of $1.25 per share, which approximates the current market price, our aggregate obligation for full satisfaction of the
$386.8 million par value of contingent convertible notes would require cash payments of $11.4 million. Our Credit Agreement will not allow us to pay
more than $1 million in cash payments with respect to the conversion of these notes unless a majority of the lenders approve the excess payments.

7. Debt and Financing
Total debt consisted of the following:

September 30, December 31,
(in millions) 2009 2008
Asset backed securitization borrowings, secured by accounts receivable $ 187.7 $ 147.0
USF senior notes 152.1 154.9
Contingent convertible senior notes 378.1 375.8
Term loan 112.7 150.0
Revolving credit facility 362.3 515.0
Pension contribution deferral obligations 141.8 —
Lease financing obligations 301.1 —
Industrial development bonds 6.0 7.0
Total debt $ 1,641.8 $ 1,349.7
Current maturities of long-term debt (536.2) (415.3)
Current maturities of lease financing obligations (1.6) —
Current maturities of pension contribution deferral obligations (24.3) —
ABS borrowings (187.7) (147.0)
Long-term debt $ 892.0 $ 7874

As of September 30, 2009, we were in compliance with the various debt covenants, as amended, under our lending agreements.

Contingent Convertible Senior Notes

In May 2008, the FASB issued ASC 470-20-65-1 relative to accounting for convertible debt instruments that may be settled in cash (formerly FASB Staff
Position No. APB 14-1, “Accounting for Convertible Debt Instruments that may be Settled in Cash upon Conversion (Including Partial Cash Settlement)”.
This guidance clarifies that issuers of convertible debt instruments that may be settled in cash upon conversion (including partial cash settlement) should
separately account for the liability and equity components in a manner that will reflect the entity’s nonconvertible debt borrowing rate when interest cost is
recognized in subsequent periods. We adopted this guidance on January 1, 2009.

The transition provisions require that this guidance be applied retrospectively to all periods presented. The cumulative effect of the change in accounting
principle on prior periods presented is recognized as of the beginning of the first period presented, with the offsetting adjustment to shareholders’ equity.
Accordingly, in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2008, we recognized a reduction in long-term debt of $11.0 million, an
increase in deferred income taxes, net of $3.9 million, an increase in capital surplus of $15.0 million, and an increase in retained deficit of $7.9 million.
Adoption of this guidance also resulted in the recognition of additional interest expense of $0.8 million in the accompanying statements of consolidated
operations for each of the three month periods ended September 30, 2009 and 2008 and $2.3 million for each of the three and nine month periods ended
September 30, 2009 and 2008.
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Fair Value Measurement

Based on the quoted market prices for the USF senior notes due 2010, contingent convertible senior notes and industrial development bonds (level two
inputs for fair value measurements as defined in FASB ASC 820, “Fair Value Measurement and Disclosures™), the fair value of fixed-rate debt at
September 30, 2009 and December 31, 2008, was approximately $295.5 million and $212.7 million, respectively. The carrying amount of such fixed-rate
debt at September 30, 2009 and December 31, 2008, was $536.2 million and $537.7 million, respectively.

8. Employee Benefits

Components of Net Periodic Pension and Other Postretirement Cost

The following table sets forth the components of our company-sponsored pension costs for the three and nine months ended September 30:

Three Months Nine Months

(in millions) 2009 2008 2009 2008
Service cost $ 08 $ 13 $ 24 $ 19.1
Interest cost 15.1 15.8 45.6 50.0
Expected return on plan assets (13.6) (16.8) (40.7) (53.6)
Amortization of prior service cost — — — 0.6
Amortization of net loss 0.8 — 2.4 1.0
Net periodic pension cost $ 31 $ 03 $ 97 $17.1
Curtailment gain — (63.3) — (63.3)
Settlement cost 2.2 — 8.0 —

Total periodic pension cost

We expect to contribute $3.4 million to our pension plans in 2009.

$ 53 $(63.0)

$17.7 $(46.2)

In June 2008, we amended our post-retirement healthcare benefit plan eliminating all cost sharing benefits. The following table sets forth the components

of our other postretirement costs for the three and nine months ended September 30:

Three Months Nine Months

(in millions) 2009 2008 2009 2008
Service cost $— $— $— $ 02
Interest cost — — — 0.8
Amortization of prior service cost — — — 0.1
Amortization of net (gain) — — — (0.6)
Other postretirement cost $— $— $— $ 05
Curtailment gain — — — (34.5)
Total other postretirement cost $— $— $— $(34.0)

Curtailment and Settlement Events

In 2008, we curtailed our defined benefit plans that cover approximately 14,000 employees not covered by collective bargaining agreements. As a result of
this action, the service cost for the pension plans was reduced in 2009 as compared to 2008. During the first three quarters of 2009, lump sum benefit

payments increased and coupled with the reduced service cost resulted in a settlement charge of $2.2 million and $8.0 million during the three and nine
months ended September 30, 2009, respectively. These amounts are included in “Salaries, wages and employees’ benefits” in the accompanying statements

of operations.
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9. Income Taxes
Effective Tax Rate

Our effective tax rate for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2009 was 3.8% and 21.9%, respectively, compared to 7.2% and 7.8% for the three
and nine months ended September 30, 2008, respectively. Significant items impacting the 2009 rates include a state tax benefit, certain permanent items
and a valuation allowance established for the net deferred tax asset balance projected for year-end 2009. We recognize valuation allowances on deferred tax
assets if, based on the weight of the evidence, we believe that some or all of our deferred tax assets will not be realized. Changes in valuation allowances
are included in our tax provision in the period of change. In determining whether a valuation allowance is warranted, we evaluate factors such as prior
years’ earnings history, expected future earnings, loss carry-back and carry-forward periods, reversals of existing deferred tax liabilities and tax planning
strategies that potentially enhance the likelihood of the realization of a deferred tax asset.

Uncertain Tax Positions

In 2008, the Company established for 2008 a reserve of approximately $115.5 million relative to YRC Assurance Company, Ltd. (the “Captive”). In 2009,
the dissolution of the Captive has caused the uncertain tax position for 2008 to be reversed, thereby offsetting the reserve established for 2008. Total
liabilities for unrecognized tax benefits were $84.6 million and $199.8 million at September 30, 2009 and December 31, 2008, respectively. Amounts
recorded for unrecognized tax benefits are included in “Other current and accrued liabilities” in the accompanying balance sheets.

10. Stock-Based Compensation

On January 2, 2009, we awarded our non-union employees options to purchase up to an aggregate of 5.3 million shares of our common stock at an exercise
price equal to $3.34 per share. The options will vest at the rate of 25% per year and will expire in 10 years. The options were granted subject to shareholder
approval, which was received on May 14, 2009 at our annual shareholder meeting.

On January 2, 2009, we also adopted a Non-Union Employee Stock Appreciation Right (“SAR”) Plan that awarded up to 5.3 million cash settled SARs.
These SARs terminated on May 14, 2009, upon the shareholder approval of the Non-Union Employee Option Plan discussed above.

The fair value of each option award was estimated on the date the grant was approved by shareholders using the Black-Scholes-Merton pricing model.
Expected volatilities were estimated using historical volatility of our common stock. We used historical data to estimate option exercise and employee
termination within the valuation model; separate groups of employees that have similar historical exercise behavior were considered separately for
valuation purposes. The expected term of options granted was derived from the output of the valuation model and represents the period of time that options
granted are expected to be outstanding. The risk-free rate for periods within the contractual life of the option is based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in
effect at the time of grant.

We valued the award granted under the Non-Union Employee Option Plan in 2009 using the above described model with the following weighted average

assumptions:
Dividend yield — %
Expected volatility 88.3%
Risk-free interest rate 1.6%
Expected life (years) 4
Fair value per option $2.06

Based on the above fair value calculation, we recognized compensation expense of $1.4 million related to these outstanding stock option awards for the
nine months ended September 30, 2009 which is included in “Salaries, wages and employees’ benefits” in our accompanying statement of consolidated
operations. Compensation expense will continue to be recognized ratably over the vesting period.

On February 12, 2009, we formalized a Union Employee Option Plan that provides for a grant of up to 11.4 million options to purchase our common stock
at an exercise price equal to $3.74 per share. As a part of the union wage reduction, we agreed to award a certain equity interest to all effected union
employees. These options vested immediately and are exercisable after a twelve month period beginning for a substantial majority of options in February
2009. These options were granted subject to shareholder approval, which was received on May 14, 2009, at our annual shareholder meeting.
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On February 12, 2009, we also formalized the Union Employee Stock Appreciation Right Plan that provided for a grant of up to 11.4 million cash settled
SARs. These SARs terminated on May 14, 2009 upon the shareholder approval of the Union Employee Option Plan discussed above.

We valued the award granted under the Union Employee Option Plan in 2009 using the above described model with the following weighted average

assumptions:
Dividend yield — %
Expected volatility 120.6%
Risk-free interest rate 0.9%
Expected life (years) 2
Fair value per option $ 1.91

As of September 30, 2009, only 10.8 million stock options of the 11.4 million available had been distributed; accordingly, we recognized expense only on
the outstanding stock options. This expense was recognized on the grant date as the options vested immediately versus over a period of time. Based on the
fair value calculation above, we recognized compensation expense of $20.6 million related to these outstanding stock option awards for the nine months
ended September 30, 2009, which is included in “Salaries, wages and employees’ benefits” in our accompanying statement of consolidated operations.

In August 2009, we agreed to establish an additional stock option plan (the “New Stock Option Plan”) for our union employees that provides for a grant of
20% of our outstanding shares on a fully diluted basis. These options are subject to certain conditions of acceptance between the Company and the union.
Once these conditions are met, the options will be granted to our union employees and will have similar terms to those awarded under the Union Employee
Option Plan formalized in February 2009, including immediate vesting and exercisable after a twelve month period expected to begin in the fourth quarter
of 20009. If such acceptance is not obtained, the options automatically terminate and an equal number of stock appreciate rights will be issued.

11. Earnings (Loss) Per Share

Dilutive securities, consisting of options to purchase our common stock or rights to receive common stock in the future, are usually included in our
calculation of diluted weighted average common shares and dilutive securities related to our net share settle contingent convertible notes are also included
in our calculation of diluted weighted average common shares; however, due to our net loss position for the three and nine months ended September 30,
2009 and 2008, there are no dilutive securities for these periods.

Antidilutive options and share units were 17,257,000 for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2009, and 2,356,000 for the three and nine months
ended September 30, 2008. Antidilutive convertible senior note conversion shares were 177,000 for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2009
and for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2008.

12. Business Segments

We report financial and descriptive information about our reportable operating segments on a basis consistent with that used internally for evaluating
segment performance and allocating resources to segments. We evaluate performance primarily on operating income and return on committed capital.

We have four reportable segments, which are strategic business units that offer complementary transportation services to their customers. National
Transportation includes carriers that provide comprehensive regional, national and international transportation services. Regional Transportation is
comprised of carriers that focus primarily on business opportunities in the regional and next-day delivery markets. YRC Logistics provides domestic and
international freight forwarding, warehousing and cross-dock services, multi-modal brokerage services, and transportation management services. Truckload
consists of Glen Moore, a domestic truckload carrier.

The accounting policies of the segments are the same as those described in the Summary of Accounting Policies note in our Annual Report on Form 10-K
for the year ended December 31, 2008. We charge management fees and other corporate services to our segments based on the direct benefits received or as
a percentage of revenue. Corporate and other operating losses represent residual operating expenses of the holding company, including compensation and
benefits and professional services for all periods presented. Corporate identifiable assets primarily refer to cash, cash equivalents, investments in equity
method affiliates and deferred debt issuance costs. Intersegment revenue primarily relates to transportation services between our segments.
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The following table summarizes our operations by business segment:

National Regional YRC Corporate/
(in millions) Transportation Transportation Logistics Truckload Eliminations C lidated
As of September 30, 2009 Identifiable assets $ 1,823.0 $ 1,086.6 $172.6 $ 616 $ 1372 $ 3,281.0
As of December 31, 2008 Identifiable assets 2,362.6 1,207.8 229.3 71.4 95.0 3,966.1
Three months ended September 30, 2009
External revenue 849.3 338.8 99.3 18.9 — 1,306.3
Intersegment revenue — — 3.1 11.0 (14.1) —
Operating income (loss) (122.0) 0.3 6.3 (1.4) (1.1 (117.9)
Three months ended September 30, 2008
External revenue 1,693.3 509.3 155.6 22.1 — 2,380.3
Intersegment revenue 0.4 0.2 9.7 11.2 (21.5) —
Operating income (loss) (573.6) (88.0) (90.6) (1.4) 3.0) (756.6)
Impairment charges 635.9 89.7 97.5 — — 823.1
Nine months ended September 30, 2009
External revenue 2,745.7 1,031.6 307.1 52.9 — 4,137.3
Intersegment revenue — 0.2 9.2 30.6 (40.0) —
Operating income (loss) (661.3) (122.2) (5.1) (6.0) 2.3) (796.9)
Equity investment impairment — — 30.4 — — 30.4
Nine months ended September 30, 2008
External revenue 4,944.8 1,555.1 446.5 65.2 — 7,011.6
Intersegment revenue 1.6 0.4 28.4 25.2 (55.6) —
Operating income (loss) (506.3) (123.5) (89.8) (10.4) (8.8) (738.8)
Impairment charges 635.9 89.7 97.5 — — 823.1
13. Comprehensive Income (Loss)
Comprehensive income (loss) for the three and nine months ended September 30 follows:
Three Months Nine Months
(in millions) 2009 2008 2009 2008
Net income (loss) $(158.7) $(720.9) $(741.6) $(731.5)
Other comprehensive income, net of tax:
Pension:
Net prior service cost — — — 0.4
Net actuarial gains 0.5 — 1.6 0.4
Curtailment adjustment — 15.9 — 12.7
Changes in foreign currency translation adjustments 4.0 3.4 7.5 (3.7)
Other comprehensive income (loss) 4.5 12.5 9.1 9.8
Comprehensive income (loss) $(154.2) $(708.4) $(732.5) $(721.7)

14. Commitments and Contingencies

Asset Backed Securitization Facility

In connection with the ABS Amendment, the Co-Agents deferred certain fees due under the ABS Facility. The $10.0 million fee that was due on
October 30, 2009 has been deferred until the earliest to occur of (i) October 26, 2010, (ii) the Amortization Date (as defined in the ABS Facility), or

(iii) the occurrence of a Deferral Termination Event (as defined in the Credit Agreement) (the “Deferred Fee Payment Date”). Upon completion of the
Exchange Offer on or prior to December 16, 2009, the portion of current letter of credit fees, program fees and administration fees in excess of the fees in
place prior to February 12, 2009 will be deferred until the Deferred Fee Payment Date. All deferred fees will accrue and be payable on the Deferred Fee

Payment Date; provided, that, if the advance rate on the ABS Facility exceeds 50% on any business day, all or a portion of deferred fees will be

immediately payable in an amount sufficient to reduce the effective advance rate to 50%. Upon the occurrence of a Deferral Suspension Event (as defined
in the Credit Agreement), YRRFC will no longer be permitted to defer fees under the ABS Facility; however, previously deferred fees will not become due

and payable solely as a result of the occurrence of a Deferral Suspension Event.
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Shanghai Jiayu Logistics Co., Ltd.

On August 19, 2008, we completed the purchase of a 65% equity interest in Shanghai Jiayu Logistics Co., Ltd. (“Jiayu”), a Shanghai, China ground
transportation company with a purchase price of $53.6 million including transaction costs and final working capital settlement amounts of $5.8 million.
Based on the 2008 results of Jiayu, we have the option to purchase the remaining 35% of the shares of Jiayu for approximately $14 million. Any additional
payment will be made in Chinese Yuan, and their estimated U.S. dollar equivalents are provided herein.

Class Action Lawsuit

On July 30, 2007, Farm Water Technological Services, Inc. d/b/a Water Tech, and C.B.J.T. d/b/a Agricultural Supply, on behalf of themselves and other
plaintiffs, filed a putative class action lawsuit against the Company and 10 other companies engaged in the LTL trucking business in the United States
District Court for the Southern District of California. Other plaintiffs filed similar cases in various courts across the nation, and in December 2007, the
courts consolidated these cases in the United States District Court for the Northern District of Georgia. The plaintiffs alleged that the defendants, including
the Company, conspired to fix fuel surcharges in violation of federal antitrust law and sought unspecified treble damages, injunctive relief, attorneys’ fees
and costs of litigation. In March 2009, the court dismissed the plaintiffs’ cases with prejudice.

15. Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In December 2008, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued ASC 715-20-65-2, effective for fiscal years ending after December 15, 2009.
This provides guidance on an employer’s disclosures about plan assets of a defined benefit pension or other postretirement plan. Specifically, employers
will be required to disclose information about how investment allocation decisions are made, the fair value of each major category of plan assets, and
information about the inputs and valuation techniques used to develop the fair value measurements of plan assets. We will adopt this guidance and include
the required disclosures beginning with our December 31, 2009 Form 10-K.

In April 2009, the FASB issued ASC 825-10-65-1, effective for interim reporting periods ending after June 15, 2009. This requires disclosures about the
fair value of financial instruments for interim reporting periods of publicly traded companies as well as in annual financial statements. We adopted this
guidance and included the required disclosures beginning with our June 30, 2009 Form 10-Q.

In May 2009, the FASB issued ASC 855, effective for interim and annual financial reporting periods ending after June 15, 2009. This establishes
accounting and disclosure requirements related to subsequent events and requires companies to disclose the date through which subsequent events have
been evaluated. We adopted this guidance beginning with our June 30, 2009 Form 10-Q and have included all necessary disclosures herein. Subsequent
events have been evaluated up to the filing of this Form 10-Q, the date financial statements were issued.

In June 2009, the FASB issued the FASB Accounting Standards Codification™ (Codification) as the source of authoritative accounting principles
recognized by the FASB to be applied by nongovernmental entities in the preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted
accounting principles (GAAP) in the United States. The Codification identifies the sources of accounting principles and the framework for selecting the
principles used in the preparation of financial statements. Rules and interpretive releases of the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) under
authority of federal securities laws remain sources of authoritative GAAP for SEC registrants. We adopted the Codification beginning with this

September 30, 2009 Form 10-Q. Any references to authoritative accounting literature in the consolidated financial statements are referenced in accordance
with the Codification, unless the literature has not been codified. The adoption of this standard did not change existing GAAP that is applicable to the
Company.
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16. Guarantees of the Contingent Convertible Senior Notes

In August 2003, YRC Worldwide issued 5.0% contingent convertible senior notes due 2023. In November 2003, we issued 3.375% contingent convertible
senior notes due 2023. In December 2004, we completed exchange offers pursuant to which holders of the contingent convertible senior notes could
exchange their notes for an equal amount of new net share settled contingent convertible senior notes. Substantially all notes were exchanged as part of the
exchange offers. In connection with the net share settled contingent convertible senior notes, the following 100% owned subsidiaries of YRC Worldwide
have issued guarantees in favor of the holders of the net share settled contingent convertible senior notes: YRC Inc., YRC Worldwide Technologies, Inc.,
YRC Logistics, Inc., YRC Logistics Global, LLC, Globe.com Lines, Inc., Roadway LLC, and Roadway Next Day Corporation. Each of the guarantees is
full and unconditional and joint and several.

The condensed consolidating financial statements are presented in lieu of separate financial statements and other related disclosures of the subsidiary
guarantors and issuer because management does not believe that separate financial statements and related disclosures would be material to investors. There
are currently no significant restrictions on the ability of YRC Worldwide or any guarantor to obtain funds from its subsidiaries by dividend or loan.

The following represents condensed consolidating financial information as of September 30, 2009 and December 31, 2008 with respect to the financial
position, for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2009 and 2008 for results of operations and for the nine months ended September 30, 2009
and 2008 for the statement of cash flows of YRC Worldwide and its subsidiaries. The Parent column presents the financial information of YRC Worldwide,
the primary obligor of the contingent convertible senior notes. The Guarantor Subsidiaries column presents the financial information of all guarantor
subsidiaries of the net share settled contingent convertible senior notes. The Non-Guarantor Subsidiaries column presents the financial information of all
non-guarantor subsidiaries, including those subsidiaries that are governed by foreign laws and Yellow Roadway Receivables Funding Corporation, the
special-purpose entity that is associated with our ABS agreement.

Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheets

September 30, 2009 Guarantor GuI:::mor
(in millions) Parent Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated
Cash and cash equivalents $ 128 $ 11 $ 24 $ — $ 163
Intercompany advances receivable — (63) 63 — —
Accounts receivable, net 10 10 634 5) 649
Prepaid expenses and other 132 10 51 — 193
Total current assets 270 32) 772 ®) 1,005
Property and equipment — 2,723 1,052 — 3,775
Less — accumulated depreciation — (1,480) (336) — (1,816)
Net property and equipment — 1,243 716 — 1,959
Investment in subsidiaries 2,847 (560) 203 (2,490) —
Receivable from affiliate (248) 76 172 — —
Intangibles and other assets 314 193 160 (350) 317
Total assets $3,183 $ 920 $ 2,023 $ (2,845 $ 3,281
Intercompany advances payable $ 188 $ 102 $ (87) $ (203) $ —
Accounts payable 53 130 75 ) 257
Wages, vacations and employees’ benefits 48 156 74 — 278
Other current and accrued liabilities 172 165 67 ) 403
Current maturities of long-term debt 404 6 340 — 750
Total current liabilities 865 559 469 (205) 1,688
Payable to affiliate (30) (45) 225 (150) —
Long-term debt, less current portion 892 — — — 892
Deferred income taxes, net (118) 124 126 — 132
Pension and postretirement 385 — — — 385
Claims and other liabilities 394 5 11 — 410
Commitments and contingencies Shareholders’ equity (deficit) 795 277 1,192 (2,490) (226)
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity (deficit) $3,183 $ 920 $ 2,023 $ (2,845) $ 3,281
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December 31, 2008
(in millions)
Cash and cash equivalents
Intercompany advances receivable
Accounts receivable, net
Prepaid expenses and other
Total current assets
Property and equipment
Less — accumulated depreciation
Net property and equipment
Investment in subsidiaries
Receivable from affiliate
Intangibles and other assets
Total assets

Intercompany advances payable

Accounts payable

Wages, vacations and employees’ benefits

Other current and accrued liabilities

Current maturities of long-term debt
Total current liabilities

Payable to affiliate

Long-term debt, less current portion

Deferred income taxes, net

Pension and postretirement

Claims and other liabilities

Commitments and contingencies Shareholders’ equity
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity
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Condensed Consolidating Statements of Operations

For the three months ended September 30, 2009 (in millions)

Operating revenue
Operating expenses:
Salaries, wages and employees’ benefits
Operating expenses and supplies
Purchased transportation
Depreciation and amortization
Other operating expenses
Gains on property disposals, net
Total operating expenses
Operating income (loss)
Nonoperating (income) expenses:
Interest expense
Other, net
Nonoperating (income) expenses, net
Income (loss) before income taxes
Income tax provision (benefit)
Net income (loss)

(Unaudited)
Non-
Guarantor Guarantor

Parent Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated
$ 295 $ 9 $ 21 $ = $ 325

— (71) 71 — —

2 (16) 858 @) 837

25 203 70 — 298

322 125 1,020 ) 1,460
— 2,914 1,064 — 3,978
— (1,492) (285) — (1,777)
— 1,422 779 — 2,201

3,377 93 203 (3,673) —

(712) 321 391 — —
268 200 188 (351) 305
$3,255 $ 2,161 $ 2,581 $ (4,031) $ 3,966

$ 283 $  (105) $ 25 $  (203) $ —
11 244 80 1) 334

20 242 95 — 357

56 157 279 ) 490

414 1 147 — 562
784 539 626 (206) 1,743

47) (23) 221 (151) —
626 6 155 — 787

20 199 24 — 243

370 — — — 370

94 2 246 — 342
1,408 1,438 1,309 (3,674) 481
$3,255 $ 2,161 $ 2,581 $ (4,031) $ 3,966

Non-
Guarantor Guarantor

Parent Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations C lidated
$— $ 829 $ 491 $ 14) $ 1,306
9 534 293 — 836
(6) 201 102 — 297
— 122 56 14) 164
— 39 22 — 61
1 55 22 — 78
— (11) ©) — (12)
4 940 494 (14) 1,424
“) (111) 3 — (118)
31 — 13 — 44
23 7 7) — 3
54 7 (14) — 47
(58) (118) 11 — (165)
(6) &) 2 — (6)
$ (52) $ _ (116) $ 9 $  — $ (159
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Non-
Guarantor Guarantor
For the three months ended September 30, 2008 (in millions) Parent Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated
Operating revenue $— $ 1,678 $ 737 $ (35) $ 2,380
Operating expenses:
Salaries, wages and employees’ benefits 6 881 429 — 1,316
Operating expenses and supplies 4 369 174 — 539
Purchased transportation — 229 109 (35) 303
Depreciation and amortization — 44 24 — 68
Other operating expenses — 73 30 — 103
Gains on property disposals, net — 5) (10) — (15)
Impairment charges — 634 189 — 823
Total operating expenses 2 2,225 945 (35) 3,137
Operating income (loss) 2) (547) (208) — (757)
Nonoperating (income) expenses:
Interest expense 8 5 8 — 21
Other, net 5 53 (59) — (1)
Nonoperating (income) expenses, net 13 58 (51) — 20
Income (loss) before income taxes (15) (605) (157) — (777)
Income tax provision (benefit) 10 (32) (34) — (56)
Net income (loss) $ (25) $ (573) $  (123) $ — $ (721)
Non-
Guarantor Guarantor
For the nine months ended September 30, 2009 (in millions) Parent Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated
Operating revenue $ — $ 2,695 $ 1,482 $ (40) $ 4,137
Operating expenses:
Salaries, wages and employees’ benefits 28 1,982 1,005 — 3,015
Operating expenses and supplies (25) 687 313 (@) 974
Purchased transportation — 375 168 (40) 503
Depreciation and amortization — 123 69 — 192
Other operating expenses 2 174 85 — 261
Gains on property disposals, net — (1) — — (11
Total operating expenses 5 3,330 1,640 (41) 4,934
Operating income (loss) ) (635) (158) 1 (797)
Nonoperating (income) expenses:
Interest expense 79 3 33 — 115
Equity investment impairment — — 30 — 30
Other, net 40 (2) (32) 1 7
Nonoperating (income) expenses, net 119 1 31 1 152
Income (loss) before income taxes (124) (636) (189) — (949)
Income tax provision (benefit) (208) 4) 5 — (207)
Net income (loss) $ 84 $ (632 $  (194) $ — $ (742)
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Non-
Guarantor Guarantor

For the nine months ended September 30, 2008 (in millions) Parent Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eli ions C lidated
Operating revenue $— $ 4,888 $ 2,179 $ (55) $ 7,012
Operating expenses:
Salaries, wages and employees’ benefits 23 2,658 1,328 — 4,009
Operating expenses and supplies (14) 1,064 521 — 1,571
Purchased transportation — 614 280 (55) 839
Depreciation and amortization — 122 73 — 195
Other operating expenses — 223 100 — 323
Gains on property disposals, net — €)) ®) — 9
Impairment charges — 634 189 — 823

Total operating expenses 9 5,314 2,483 (55) 7,751

Operating income (loss) ) (426) (304) — (739)
Nonoperating (income) expenses:
Interest expense 24 14 21 — 59
Other, net 15 157 177) — (5)

Nonoperating (income) expenses, net 39 171 (156) — 54
Income (loss) before income taxes (48) (597) (148) — (793)

Income tax provision (benefit) 5 (33) (34) — (62)
Net income (loss) $ (53) $  (564) $ (119 $ — $ (731)
Condensed Consolidating Statements of Cash Flows

Non-
Guarantor Guarantor

For the nine months ended September 30, 2009 (in millions) Parent Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eli ions C lidated
Operating activities:
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities $ (28) $  (550) $ 262 $ — $ (316)
Investing activities:
Acquisition of property and equipment — (28) @) — (35)
Proceeds from disposal of property and equipment — 82 24 — 106
Investment in affiliate — — — — —
Other 4 — — — 4
Net cash provided by investing activities 4 54 17 — 75
Financing activities:
Asset-backed securitization borrowings, net — — 41 — 41
Borrowing of long-term debt, net 95 (@) — — 94
Debt issuance costs (42) — (14) — (56)
Intercompany advances / repayments (196) 499 (303) — —
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities (143) 498 (276) — 79
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (167) 2 3 — (162)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 295 9 21 — 325
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $ 128 $ 11 $ 24 $ — $ 163
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Non-
Guarantor Guarantor
For the nine months ended September 30, 2008 (in millions) Parent Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations C lidated
Operating activities:
Net cash provided by operating activities $ 42 $ 105 $ 16 $ — $ 163
Investing activities:
Acquisition of property and equipment — (72) (32) — (104)
Proceeds from disposal of property and equipment — 14 65 — 79
Investment in affiliate — — (34) — (34)
Other — — 5) — 5)
Net cash used in investing activities — (58) (6) — (64)
Financing activities:
Asset-backed securitization payments, net — — (38) — (38)
Borrowing of long-term debt, net 4) — (1) — (5)
Debt issuance costs (11) — — — (11)
Intercompany advances / repayments 8 (49) 41 — —
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 7 (49) 2 — (54)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 35 2) 12 — 45
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 26 15 17 — 58
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $ 61 $ 13 $ 29 $ — $ 103
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YRC Worldwide Inc. and Subsidiaries—(Continued)
(Unaudited)

17. Guarantees of the Senior Notes Due 2010

In connection with the senior notes due 2010 that YRC Regional Transportation, Inc. assumed by virtue of the Company’s acquisition of USF Corporation,
YRC Worldwide and its following 100% owned subsidiaries have issued guarantees in favor of the holders of the senior notes due 2010: USF Sales
Corporation, USF Holland Inc., USF Reddaway Inc., USF Glen Moore Inc., YRC Logistics Services, Inc., and IMUA Handling Corporation. Each of the
guarantees is full and unconditional and joint and several.

The condensed consolidating financial statements are presented in lieu of separate financial statements and other related disclosures of the subsidiary
guarantors and issuer because management does not believe that such separate financial statements and related disclosures would be material to investors.
There are currently no significant restrictions on the ability of YRC Worldwide or any guarantor subsidiary to obtain funds from its subsidiaries by
dividend or loan.

The following represents condensed consolidating financial information of YRC Worldwide and its subsidiaries as of September 30, 2009 and

December 31, 2008 with respect to the financial position, for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2009 and 2008 for results of operations and
for the nine months ended September 30, 2009 and 2008 for the statement of cash flows. The primary obligor column presents the financial information of
YRC Regional Transportation, Inc. The Guarantor Subsidiaries column presents the financial information of all guarantor subsidiaries of the senior notes
due 2010 including YRC Worldwide, the holding company. The Non-Guarantor Subsidiaries column presents the financial information of all non-guarantor
subsidiaries, including those subsidiaries that are governed by foreign laws and Yellow Roadway Receivables Funding Corporation, the special-purpose
entity that is associated with our ABS agreement.

Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheet

September 30, 2009 Primary Guarantor GuI:::mor
(in millions) Obligor Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated
Cash and cash equivalents $ — $ 132 $ 31 $ — $ 163
Intercompany advances receivable — 5) 5 — —
Accounts receivable, net 7 41 616 (15) 649
Prepaid expenses and other (1) 158 36 — 193
Total current assets 6 326 688 (15) 1,005
Property and equipment — 850 2,925 — 3,775
Less — accumulated depreciation — (252) (1,564) — (1,816)
Net property and equipment — 598 1,361 — 1,959
Investment in subsidiaries 218 2,844 4 (3,066) —
Receivable from affiliate 410 (441) 31 — —
Intangibles and other assets 57 321 289 (350) 317
Total assets $ 691 $ 3,648 $ 2,373 $ (3,431) $ 3,281
Intercompany advances payable $ — $ 123 $ 77 $ (200) $ —
Accounts payable 3 93 177 (16) 257
Wages, vacations and employees’ benefits — 101 177 — 278
Other current and accrued liabilities 25 193 184 1 403
Current maturities of long-term debt 152 405 193 — 750
Total current liabilities 180 915 808 (215) 1,688
Payable to affiliate — 43 107 (150) —
Long-term debt, less current portion — 892 — — 892
Deferred income taxes, net 19 17) 130 — 132
Pension and postretirement — 385 — — 385
Claims and other liabilities 1 395 14 — 410
Commitments and contingencies
Shareholders’ equity (deficit) 491 1,035 1,314 (3,066) (226)
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity (deficit) $ 691 $ 3,648 $ 2,373 $ (3,431) $ 3,281

31




Table of Contents

December 31, 2008
(in millions)
Cash and cash equivalents
Intercompany advances receivable
Accounts receivable, net
Prepaid expenses and other
Total current assets
Property and equipment
Less — accumulated depreciation
Net property and equipment
Investment in subsidiaries
Receivable from affiliate
Intangibles and other assets
Total assets
Intercompany advances payable
Accounts payable
Wages, vacations and employees’ benefits
Other current and accrued liabilities
Current maturities of long-term debt
Total current liabilities
Payable to affiliate
Long-term debt, less current portion
Deferred income taxes, net
Pension and postretirement
Claims and other liabilities
Commitments and contingencies
Shareholders’ equity

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

YRC Worldwide Inc. and Subsidiaries—(Continued)

Condensed Consolidating Statements of Operations

For the three months ended September 30, 2009 (in millions)

Operating revenue
Operating expenses:
Salaries, wages and employees’ benefits
Operating expenses and supplies
Purchased transportation
Depreciation and amortization
Other operating expenses
Gains on property disposals, net
Total operating expenses
Operating income (loss)
Nonoperating (income) expenses:
Interest expense
Other, net
Nonoperating (income) expenses, net
Income (loss) before income taxes
Income tax provision (benefit)
Net income (loss)

(Unaudited)
Non-

Primary Guarantor Guarantor
Obligor Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated
$ — $ 299 $ 26 $ = $ 325
_ @ 7 _ _
— 5 846 (14) 837
(6) 110 194 — 298
(6) 407 1,073 (14) 1,460
— 869 3,109 — 3,978
— (212) (1,565) — (1,777)
— 657 1,544 — 2,201
218 3,376 8 (3,602) —
392 (912) 520 — —
64 273 319 (351) 305
$ 668 $ 3,801 $ 3,464 $ (3,967) $ 3,966
$ 65 $ 181 $ (46) $  (200) $ —
5 49 288 8) 334
— 94 263 — 357
21 81 393 5) 490
— 414 148 — 562
91 819 1,046 (213) 1,743
— 26 125 (151) —
155 626 6 — 787
18 129 96 — 243
— 370 — — 370
1 98 243 — 342
403 1,733 1,948 (3,603) 481
$ 668 $ 3,801 $ 3,464 $ (3,967) $ 3,966

Non-

Primary Guarantor Guarantor
Obligor Subsidiaries Subsidiaries El ions C lidated
$ — $ 352 $ 965 $ (11) $ 1,306
— 215 621 — 836
— 89 208 — 297
— 14 161 (11) 164
— 18 43 — 61
— 19 59 — 78
— — (12) — (12)
= 355 1,080 (11) 1,424
— 3) (115) — (118)
3 32 9 — 44
(16) 28 ) — 3
(13) 60 — — 47
13 (63) (115) — (165)
— ) 1 — (6)
$ 13 $ (56) $ (116) $ — $  (159)
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YRC Worldwide Inc. and Subsidiaries—(Continued)

(Unaudited)
Non-
Primary Guarantor Guarantor
For the three months ended September 30, 2008 (in millions) Obligor Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated
Operating revenue $ — $ 529 $ 1,874 $ (23) $ 2,380
Operating expenses:
Salaries, wages and employees’ benefits — 307 1,009 — 1,316
Operating expenses and supplies ) 157 384 — 539
Purchased transportation — 27 299 (23) 303
Depreciation and amortization 2 17 49 — 68
Other operating expenses — 25 78 — 103
Gains on property disposals, net (1) (10) 4) — (15)
Impairment charges 90 48 685 — 823
Total operating expenses 89 571 2,500 (23) 3,137
Operating income (loss) (89) 42) (626) — (757)
Nonoperating (income) expenses:
Interest expense 4 8 9 — 21
Other, net 7) 25 (19) — (1)
Nonoperating (income) expenses, net 3) 33 (10) — 20
Income (loss) before income taxes (86) (75) (616) — (777)
Income tax provision (benefit) (32) 10 (34) — (56)
Net income (loss) $ (54) $ (85) $ (582) $ — $ (721)
Non-
Primary Guarantor Guarantor
For the nine months ended September 30, 2009 (in millions) Obligor Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated
Operating revenue $ — $ 1,070 $ 3,098 $ (31) $ 4,137
Operating expenses:
Salaries, wages and employees’ benefits — 759 2,256 — 3,015
Operating expenses and supplies — 268 707 (@) 974
Purchased transportation — 40 494 31) 503
Depreciation and amortization — 55 137 — 192
Other operating expenses — 74 187 — 261
(Gains) losses on property disposals, net — 1 (12) — 11)
Total operating expenses — 1,197 3,769 (32) 4,934
Operating income (loss) — (127) (671) 1 (797)
Nonoperating (income) expenses:
Interest expense 8 80 27 — 115
Equity investment impairment — — 30 — 30
Other, net (32) 51 (13) 1 7
Nonoperating (income) expenses, net (24) 131 44 1 152
Income (loss) before income taxes 24 (258) (715) — (949)
Income tax provision (benefit) — (208) 1 — (207)
Net income (loss) $ 24 $ (50) $ (716) $ — $ (742)
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YRC Worldwide Inc. and Subsidiaries—(Continued)

(Unaudited)
Non-
Primary Guarantor Guarantor

For the nine months ended September 30, 2008 (in millions) Obligor Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated
Operating revenue $ — $ 1,606 $ 5,449 $ (43) $ 7,012
Operating expenses:
Salaries, wages and employees’ benefits 2 951 3,056 — 4,009
Operating expenses and supplies 7 487 1,092 [€8) 1,571
Purchased transportation — 77 805 (43) 839
Depreciation and amortization 6 52 137 — 195
Other operating expenses — 86 237 — 323
Gains on property disposals, net — 8) [€8) — 9
Impairment charges 90 48 685 — 823

Total operating expenses 91 1,693 6,011 (44) 7,751

Operating income (loss) 91) 87) (562) 1 (739)
Nonoperating (income) expenses:
Interest expense 11 24 24 — 59
Other, net (24) 76 (58) 1 (5)

Nonoperating (income) expenses, net (13) 100 (34) 1 54
Income (loss) before income taxes (78) (187) (528) — (793)

Income tax provision (benefit) (32) 5 (35) — (62)
Net income (loss) $ (46) $  (192) $  (493) $ — $ (731)
Condensed Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows

Non-
Primary Guarantor Guarantor

For the nine months ended September 30, 2009 (in millions) Obligor Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations C lidated
Operating activities:
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities $ 26 $ (74) $  (268) $ — $ (316)
Investing activities:
Acquisition of property and equipment — 5) (30) — (35)
Proceeds from disposal of property and equipment — 16 90 — 106
Investment in affiliate — — — — —
Other — 4 — — 4
Net cash provided by investing activities — 15 60 — 75
Financing activities:
Asset backed securitization borrowings, net — — 41 — 41
Borrowing of long-term debt, net — 95 (@) — 94
Debt issuance costs — (42) (14) — (56)
Intercompany advances / repayments (26) (161) 187 — —
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities (26) (108) 213 — 79
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents — (167) 5 — (162)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period — 299 26 — 325
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $ — $ 132 $ 31 $ — $ 163
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YRC Worldwide Inc. and Subsidiaries—(Continued)

(Unaudited)
Non-
Primary Guarantor Guarantor
For the nine months ended September 30, 2008 (in millions) Obligor Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations C lidated
Operating activities:
Net cash provided by operating activities $ 5 $ 25 $ 133 $ — $ 163
Investing activities:
Acquisition of property and equipment — (26) (78) — (104)
Proceeds from disposal of property and equipment — 64 15 — 79
Investment in affiliate — — (34) — (34)
Other — — 5) — 5)
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities — 38 (102) — (64)
Financing activities:
Asset backed securitization payments, net — — (38) — (38)
Borrowing of long-term debt, net — 4) @ — (5)
Debt issuance costs — (11) — — (11)
Intercompany advances / repayments 5) (12) 17 — —
Net cash used in financing activities 5) 27) (22) — (54)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents — 36 9 — 45
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period — 29 29 — 58
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $ — $ 65 $ 38 $ — $ 103
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (“MD&A”) should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated
Financial Statements and the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements of YRC Worldwide Inc. (also referred to as “YRC Worldwide,” “we” or “our”). MD&A
and certain statements in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements include forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities
Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (each a “forward-looking statement”). Forward-looking statements
include those preceded by, followed by or include the words “should,” “could,” “would,” “may,” “expect,” “believe,” “estimate” or similar expressions. Our
actual results could differ materially from those projected by these forward-looking statements due to a number of factors, including (without limitation),
inflation, inclement weather, price and availability of fuel, sudden changes in the cost of fuel or the index upon which the Company bases its fuel surcharge,
competitor pricing activity, expense volatility, including (without limitation) expense volatility due to changes in rail service or pricing for rail service, ability to
capture cost reductions, changes in equity and debt markets, a downturn in general or regional economic activity, effects of a terrorist attack, labor relations,
including (without limitation), the impact of work rules, work stoppages, strikes or other disruptions, any obligations to multi-employer health, welfare and
pension plans, wage requirements and employee satisfaction, and the risk factors that are from time to time included in the Company’s reports filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”), including the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008.

9

Results of Operations

This section focuses on the highlights and significant items that impacted our operating results during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2009. We
have presented a discussion regarding the operating results of each of our four operating segments: National Transportation, Regional Transportation, YRC
Logistics and Truckload.

Consolidated Results

Our consolidated results for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2009 include the results of each of the operating segments discussed below together
with unallocated corporate expenses. A more detailed discussion of the operating results of our segments is presented below.

The table below provides summary consolidated financial information for the three and nine months ended September 30:

Three months Nine months
Percent Percent
(in millions) 2009 2008 Change 2009 2008 Change
Operating revenue $1,306.3 $2,380.3 (45.1%) $4,137.2 $7,011.6 (41.0%)
Operating income (loss) (118.0) (756.6) n/m@) (796.9) (738.8) n/m
Nonoperating expenses, net 47.1 20.1 n/m 152.0 54.5 n/m
Net income (loss) (158.7) (720.9) n/m (741.6) (731.5) n/m

(@) Not meaningful.

Three months ended September 30, 2009 compared to three months ended September 30, 2008

Our consolidated operating revenue decreased 45.1% during the three months ended September 30, 2009 versus the same period in 2008 due to decreased
revenue at all of our operating companies. This decline is attributed to both declines in volume over the comparable prior year quarter and declines in yield or
price. Our volumes were impacted by multiple factors, most notably the economy and business diversion due to customer concerns surrounding our financial
stability. The declines in yield are a factor of excess capacity in the transportation sector resulting in increased competition for lower freight volumes.
Additionally, revenue was also negatively impacted by lower fuel surcharge revenue in the three months ended September 30, 2009 as compared to the same
period in 2008.

Consolidated operating revenue includes fuel surcharge revenue. Fuel surcharges are common throughout our industry and represent an amount that we charge to
customers that adjusts with changing fuel prices. We base our fuel surcharges on a published national index and adjust them weekly. Rapid material changes in
the index or our cost of fuel can positively or negatively impact our revenue and operating income versus prior periods as there is a lag in the Company’s
adjustment of base rates in response to changes in fuel surcharge. Fuel surcharge is an accepted and important component of the overall pricing of our services to
our customers. Without an industry accepted fuel surcharge program, our base pricing for our transportation services would require changes. We believe the
distinction between base rates and fuel surcharge has blurred over time, and it is impractical to clearly separate all the different factors that influence the price that
our customers are willing to pay. In general, under our present fuel surcharge program, we believe rising fuel costs are beneficial to us and falling fuel costs are
detrimental to us, in the short term.
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Absent the impairment charge taken in September 2008, consolidated operating loss increased significantly during the three months ended September 30, 2009 as
compared to the operating income for the same period in 2008; however our operating results improved significantly from a sequential view of the three months
ended September 30, 2009 versus the three months ended June 30, 2009. This improvement was reflected in all of our segments and is due to the increased union
wage reduction from 10% to 15% effective in August 2009, the suspension of pension contributions and related expense for the majority of our Union Pension
Funds effective throughout the quarter and improved operating performance, especially within Regional Transportation and YRC Logistics. Operating expenses
for the 2009 quarter decreased $889.5 million as compared to the same period in 2008 and were comprised of a $479.9 million decrease in salaries, wages and
benefits, a $242.6 million decrease in operating expenses and supplies, a $139.4 million decrease in purchased transportation, which is attributable to declining
volumes and improved carrier pricing due to the depressed economy, and a $25.5 million decrease in other operating expenses. These expense reductions however
did not keep pace with the significant revenue decline resulting in the operating loss for the third quarter of 2009.

Consolidated operating loss for the three months ended September 30, 2008 includes non-cash impairment charges of $823.1 million representing a complete
writeoff of goodwill associated with our National Transportation segment, the majority of goodwill associated with our YRC Logistics segment and reductions in
the tradename values attributed to Roadway and Reimer Express Lines (a part of the National Transportation segment) and USF (a part of the Regional
Transportation segment). There were no impairment charges during the three months ended September 30, 2009.

The decrease in salaries, wages and benefits in the third quarter of 2009 as compared to the same period in 2008 is largely due to a 15% wage reduction for the
majority of our union employees and a 10% wage reduction for most non-union employees. The pension contribution cessation discussed above also favorably
impacted benefit expense in the 2009 period. Additionally, the decrease in salaries and benefits is a result of lower headcount in the current year due to lower
volumes and the YRC integration efforts. The decrease in operating expenses and supplies is a result of lower fuel costs of 64.6%, due to lower diesel prices and
reduced miles driven, lower vehicle maintenance of 35.8% partially offset by an increase in professional services of $8.7 million or 29.8% related to additional
financial advisory services and costs associated with lease terminations of $6.6 million resulting from integration activities. Finally, the decrease in other
operating expenses is largely due to the decrease in discretionary spend for travel and employee activities.

Our consolidated operating loss during the third quarter of 2009 was offset by $11.1 million net gains from the sale of property and equipment and the fair value
adjustments for property and equipment held for sale compared to $15.5 million gains for the same period in 2008.

Nonoperating expenses consisted primarily of interest expense which continued to increase significantly in the third quarter of 2009 over 2008. This increase is
due to increased borrowings under our asset-backed securitization facility and credit facility as well as an increase in interest rates based on our amended terms,
all of which resulted in additional interest of $13.4 million. The increase in interest expense is also attributable to increased net deferred debt cost amortization of
$6.6 million and additional interest related to our lease financing obligations of $8.2 million and deferred pension obligations of $2.0 million for the three months
ended September 30, 2009. Offsetting these 2009 increases was the reduction in interest expense of $4.9 million related to notes redeemed in November 2008.

Our effective tax rate for the three months ended September 30, 2009 was 3.8% compared to 7.2% for the three months ended September 30, 2008. Significant
items impacting the 2009 rate include a state tax benefit, certain permanent items and a valuation allowance established for the net deferred tax asset balance
projected for year-end 2009. We recognize valuation allowances on deferred tax assets if, based on the weight of the evidence, we believe that some or all of our
deferred tax assets will not be realized. Changes in valuation allowances are included in our tax provision in the period of change. In determining whether a
valuation allowance is warranted, we evaluate factors such as prior years’ earnings history, expected future earnings, loss carry-back and carry-forward periods,
reversals of existing deferred tax liabilities and tax planning strategies that potentially enhance the likelihood of the realization of a deferred tax asset.

Nine months ended September 30, 2009 compared to nine months ended September 30, 2008

Consolidated operating revenue decreased by 41.0% during the first nine months of 2009 as compared to the same period in 2008, which is reflective of
decreased revenue at all of our operating companies. The decreased operating revenue is a result of lower volumes and yield across the operating companies as
well as decreased fuel surcharge revenue.
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Absent the impairment charge taken in September 2008, consolidated operating loss increased significantly during the nine months ended September 30, 2009
versus the comparable amount for the same period in 2008. Significant volume declines within our National Transportation and Regional Transportation segments
resulted in an operating loss of $783.5 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2009, a significantly larger operating loss from the prior year comparable
period. Operating expenses for the first nine months of 2009 were down $1,993.2 million as compared to the same period in 2008 and were comprised of a $994.2
million decrease in salaries, wages and benefits, a $597.3 million decrease in operating expenses and supplies, a $336.4 million decrease in purchased
transportation, which is attributable to declining volumes and improved carrier pricing due to the depressed economy, and a $61.4 million decrease in other
operating expenses. These expense reductions however did not keep pace with the significant revenue decline resulting in the operating loss for the nine months
ended September 30, 2009.

Consolidated operating results for the nine months ended September 30, 2008, include the impairment charge of $823.1 million previously disclosed. There were
no similar impairment charges during the nine months ended September 30, 2009.

The decrease in salaries, wages and benefits in the nine months ended September 30, 2009 as compared to the same period in 2008, is largely due to a 10% wage
reduction for most union (increased to 15% effective August 2009) and non-union employees offset by increased workers’ compensation expense of $58.9 million
due mostly to unfavorable development of prior year claims. Additionally, the decrease in salaries and benefits is a result of lower headcount in the current year
due to lower volumes partially offset by increased severance benefits of $36.1 million and pension settlement costs of $8.0 million associated with one of our
defined benefit plans. The decrease in operating expenses and supplies is a result of lower fuel costs of 64.7%, due to lower diesel prices and reduced miles
driven, lower vehicle maintenance of 28.6% partially offset by an increase in bad debt expense of $16.6 million or 61.1%, an increase in professional services of
$39.0 million or 51.1% and costs associated with lease terminations of $28.3 million resulting from integration activities. Finally, the decrease in other operating
expenses is due to the decrease in discretionary spend for travel and employee activities.

During the nine months ended September 30, 2009, we recognized net gains on the sale of property and equipment and the fair value adjustments for property and
equipment held for sale of $10.6 million compared to gains of $8.9 million for the same period in 2008.

Nonoperating expenses consisted primarily of interest expense and increased significantly for the nine months ended September 30, 2009 versus the comparable
period in 2008. Increased borrowings and increased borrowing costs in 2009 resulted in increased interest expense of $37.9 million versus the comparable period
in 2008. Interest expense in the nine months ended September 30, 2009, attributable to items that were not incurred in 2008, included expense related to lease
financing obligations of $14.3 million and deferred pension obligations of $2.5 million. Amortization of deferred debt costs increased $15.7 million during the
nine months ended September 30, 2009 compared to 2008. Offsetting these 2009 increases was the reduction in interest expense of $14.7 million related to notes
redeemed in November 2008. Nonoperating expenses in the nine months ended September 30, 2009 also included an impairment charge of $30.4 million related
to our investment in Jiayu. This adjustment was required as the estimated current fair value, using a discounted cash flow model, was less than our investment.
This was primarily the result of different assumptions with respect to revenue growth rates from the initial valuation to those assumed in the current economic
environment.

Our effective tax rate for the nine months ended September 30, 2009 was 21.9% compared to 7.8% for the nine months ended September 30, 2008. Significant
items impacting the 2009 rate include a state tax benefit, certain permanent items and a valuation allowance established for the net deferred tax asset balance
projected for year-end 2009. We recognize valuation allowances on deferred tax assets if, based on the weight of the evidence, we believe that some or all of our
deferred tax assets will not be realized. Changes in valuation allowances are included in our tax provision in the period of change. In determining whether a
valuation allowance is warranted, we evaluate factors such as prior years’ earnings history, expected future earnings, loss carry-back and carry-forward periods,
reversals of existing deferred tax liabilities and tax planning strategies that potentially enhance the likelihood of the realization of a deferred tax asset.
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National Transportation Results

National Transportation represented approximately 65% and 71% of our consolidated revenue in the third quarters of 2009 and 2008, respectively, and
approximately 66% and 71% of our consolidated revenue in the nine months ended September 30, 2009 and 2008, respectively. The table below provides
summary financial information for National Transportation for the three and nine months ended September 30:

Three months Nine months
Percent Percent
(in millions) 2009 2008 Change 2009 2008 Change
Operating revenue $ 849.3 $1,693.7 (49.9%) $2,745.7 $4,946.4 (44.5%)
Operating income (loss) (122.0) (573.6) n/m@ (661.3) (506.3) n/m
Operating ratio ® 114.4% n/m 124.1% n/m

(@) Not meaningful.
(b) Represents operating expenses divided by operating revenue.

Three months ended September 30, 2009 compared to three months ended September 30, 2008

National Transportation reported third quarter 2009 operating revenue of $849.3 million, representing a decrease of $844.4 million or 49.9% from the third
quarter of 2008. The two primary components of operating revenue are volume, comprised of the number of shipments and the weight per shipment, and price,
usually evaluated on a per hundred weight basis. The decline in operating revenue was largely driven by a 43.3% decline in picked up tonnage per day. The
decline in picked up tonnage per day was made up of a 39.9% decline in shipments per day and a 5.5% decline in weight per shipment.

The decline in shipments and tonnage resulted from a weakening economy and the diversion of freight by certain customers to other carriers. As the economy has
continued to deteriorate, industry capacity is more readily available and market competition for available shipments has intensified. Additionally, we believe that
certain customers diverted freight during the third quarter of 2009 due to uncertainty around our financial stability.

The decline in operating revenue was impacted further by an 11.5% decline in revenue per hundred weight. The decline in revenue per hundred weight was
primarily the result of lower fuel surcharge revenue and higher than normal revenue adjustments, primarily rerates, related to the transition to the integrated YRC
National network. Lower fuel surcharge revenue is driven by substantially lower diesel fuel prices in the third quarter of 2009 as compared to the prior year
period and lower overall volume.

Operating loss for National Transportation was $122.0 million in the third quarter of 2009 compared to operating loss of $573.6 million in the prior year period
which included a non-cash charge of $635.9 million relating to the impairment of goodwill and tradenames of Roadway and Reimer Express Lines. Absent this
charge, operating income for National Transportation was $62.3 million in the third quarter of 2008. Revenue in 2009 was lower by $844.4 million while total
costs decreased by $660.1 million in 2009 excluding the impact of the prior period impairment charge. The cost declines consisted primarily of lower salaries,
wages and benefits of $367.5 million, lower operating expenses and supplies of $165.4 million, lower purchased transportation costs of $99.4 million, and lower
other operating expenses of $27.8 million.

The decline in salaries, wages and benefits during the third quarter 2009 compared to the third quarter 2008 was due mostly to a decline in hourly wages and
benefits of $376 million or 43.0%. The decline in salaries and wages resulted from lower volume and the 10% pay reduction which took effect in 2009 for most
union and non-union employees and an additional 5% reduction for union employees which took effect in the third quarter of 2009. In addition to volume
decreases, a further reduction in benefits expense resulted from the ratification by certain labor unions of a temporary cessation of pension contributions to the
Pension Funds effective throughout the third quarter of 2009. These reductions were partially offset by severance charges in the third quarter of 2009 of $3.2
million, as compared to $4.3 million during the third quarter of 2008. The third quarter of 2008 also included a curtailment gain of $61.1 million.

Operating expenses and supplies declined mostly due to lower volumes, reduced facility and fleet size, and a decrease in fuel costs. Fuel and oil costs were 69.8%
lower than the prior year. This decline was partially offset by higher costs associated with continuing YRC integration efforts including facility closure costs of
$7.6 million during the third quarter 2009.

The decline in purchased transportation in the third quarter 2009 versus the third quarter 2008 of 44.1% resulted primarily from lower volumes during the 2009
quarter. Rail costs were down 52.3% due to lower volume and substantially lower fuel surcharges compared to the prior year while purchased transportation costs
were down 51.1%.
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The decline in other operating expenses in the third quarter 2009 versus the third quarter 2008 of 26.7% was due primarily to a decline in fuel taxes related to the
lower cost of fuel and fewer miles driven, lower claims, and reductions in terminals and fleet. Cargo claims expense decreased by $2.4 million due primarily to
fewer shipments offset by higher claims experience. Depreciation declined by $3.5 million related to reduced facility and fleet size. The gain on disposal of
property was $11.0 million in 2009 compared to $5.4 million in the comparable prior year period.

Nine months ended September 30, 2009 compared to nine months ended September 30, 2008

National Transportation revenue decreased $2,200.7 million or 44.5% in the nine months ended September 30, 2009 versus the same period in 2008. The decline
in operating revenue was largely driven by a 38.0% decline in total picked up tonnage. As discussed above, these tonnage declines are primarily the result of a
slowing economy and the diversion of freight in the current year due to uncertainty around our financial stability. We believe that the impact of freight diversion
in the first nine months of 2009 is substantially greater than the impact in the same period in 2008 that resulted from uncertainty and timing around union labor
negotiations. The decline in tonnage was impacted further by a 10.7% decrease in revenue per hundred weight resulting mostly from lower fuel surcharge revenue
and higher than normal revenue adjustments, primarily rerates, related to the 2009 YRC network change.

Operating loss for National Transportation increased $155.0 million in the nine months ended September 30, 2009 as compared to the nine months ended
September 30, 2008. Revenue decreased $2,200.7 million in the first nine months of 2009 compared to the same period in 2008 while operating costs decreased
$1,409.8 million, exclusive of the previously noted goodwill impairment charge incurred in 2008. The cost declines in 2009 consisted primarily of lower salaries,
wages and benefits of $749.5 million, lower operating expenses and supplies of $354.4 million, lower purchased transportation costs of $238.8 million, and lower
other operating expenses of $67.2 million.

The decline in salaries, wages and benefits during the nine months ended September 30, 2009 versus the comparable 2008 period was a result of lower volume,
wage reductions previously discussed, and the temporary cessation of pension contributions to the Pension Funds, but were partially offset by increased stock
compensation expense of $16.1 million, increased workers’ compensation expense of $41.4 million, higher labor costs associated with the initial implementation
of the integrated network and higher costs related to annual contractual wage and benefit increases, and increased severance costs of $17.8 million. The nine
months ended September 30, 2008 included curtailment gains of $95.5 million; no comparable amount was recorded in the current 2009 period.

Operating expenses and supplies declined during the nine months ended September 30, 2009 versus the comparable 2008 period mostly due to lower volumes and
a decrease in fuel costs. Fuel and oil costs were 68.3% lower than the prior year period. This decline was partially offset by an increase in bad debt expense of
$18.6 million in the current year compared to prior period due to an increase of bankruptcies and credit risks in our customer base as well as higher costs
associated with the YRC integration.

The decline in purchased transportation during the nine months ended September 30, 2009 versus the comparable 2008 period resulted primarily from lower
volumes during the nine months ended September 30, 2009 compared to the comparable prior period. Rail costs were down 48.3% due to lower volume and
substantially lower fuel surcharges compared to the prior year period while externally purchased transportation costs were down 45.7%.

The decline in other operating expenses during the nine months ended September 30, 2009 versus the comparable 2008 period was due primarily to a decline in
fuel taxes of $26.2 million from the prior year period related to fewer miles driven, lower cargo claims expense of $12.9 million mostly due to fewer shipments
offset by higher claims experience, and lower depreciation of $7.1 million due to reduced facilities and fleet downsizing.

The gain on disposal of property was $11.4 million in the nine months ended September 30, 2009 compared to a gain of $1.2 million in the comparable prior year
period.
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Regional Transportation Results

Regional Transportation represented approximately 26% and 21% of our consolidated revenue in the third quarters of 2009 and 2008, respectively and 25% and
22% in the nine months ended September 30, 2009 and 2008, respectively. The table below provides summary financial information for Regional Transportation
for the three and nine months ended September 30:

Three months Nine months
Percent Percent
(in millions) 2009 2008 Change 2009 2008 Change
Operating revenue $338.8 $509.5 (33.5%) $1,031.8 $1,555.5 (33.7%)
Operating income (loss) 0.3 (88.0) n/m@) (122.2) (123.5) 1.1%
Operating ratio ® 99.9% 117.3%  (17.4pp)© 111.8% 107.9%  3.9pp

(@) Not meaningful.
(b) Represents operating expenses divided by operating revenue.
(c) Percentage points.

Three months ended September 30, 2009 compared to three months ended September 30, 2008

Regional Transportation reported operating revenue of $338.8 million for the quarter ended September 30, 2009, representing a decrease of $170.7 million, or
33.5% from the quarter ended September 30, 2008. The decreased operating revenue was driven by lower business volumes and weaker pricing including lower
fuel surcharge revenue. Total weight per day was down 25.4% in the third quarter 2009, representing a 22.7% decline in total shipments per day and a 3.5%
decline in total weight per shipment compared to last year’s quarter. Year-over-year shipment volumes were negatively impacted by a continued weak economy
and the diversion of freight by our customers due to uncertainty over our financial stability.

Total revenue per hundred weight decreased 12.2% in the third quarter 2009 as compared to the third quarter 2008, primarily due to lower fuel surcharge revenue
associated with lower diesel fuel prices and continued market pricing pressure impacts on our base rates. A meaningful portion of our regional footprint is
concentrated in the Upper Midwest where business levels and pricing negotiations have been especially difficult due to the economic challenges in this
geographic area.

Operating income for Regional Transportation was $0.3 million for the third quarter 2009, compared to an $88.0 million operating loss for the third quarter 2008.
The operating loss for the third quarter 2008 includes an impairment charge of $89.7 million related to the reduction in fair value of the USF tradename. Absent
this charge, the $0.3 million operating income for the third quarter 2009 would have been compared to operating income of $1.7 million for the third quarter
2008, consisting of a $170.7 million decline in revenue and a $169.3 million decrease in operating expenses. Regional Transportation has reduced most operating
expenses in proportion to lower business volumes. Expense decreases in the third quarter 2009 were in salaries, wages and benefits of $102.2 million, operating
expenses and supplies of $54.9 million, purchased transportation of $8.2 million and other operating expenses of $7.8 million.

Salaries, wages and benefits expense decreased 32.1% reflecting lower employee levels and increased productivity as well as compensation and benefit
reductions for most employees in Regional Transportation. Additionally, workers’ compensation costs during the third quarter 2009 were lower than third quarter
2008 as a result of favorable development factors. Operating expenses and supplies decreased 42.7% in 2009 reflecting a 22.4% reduction in costs other than fuel
and a 57.8% decrease in fuel costs (primarily due to lower fuel prices and lower volumes). Costs were lower in the areas of equipment maintenance, facility
maintenance and driver expenses as a result of lower business volumes, effective cost management and terminal closures. Purchased transportation was 34.8%
lower due to lower business volumes and the in-sourcing of certain linehaul transportation from third-party providers. Other operating expenses were 31.1%
lower mainly in the areas of fuel taxes, licenses, cargo claims and bodily injury and property damage claims primarily due to lower business volumes and
favorable development factors for bodily injury and property damage claims.

Gains on property disposals were $0.2 million in third quarter 2009 compared to $3.9 million in third quarter 2008, primarily from the sale of terminal facilities.

Nine months ended September 30, 2009 compared to nine months ended September 30, 2008

Regional Transportation reported operating revenue of $1,031.8 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2009, representing a decrease of $523.7 million,
or 33.7% from the nine months ended September 30, 2008. The decreased operating revenue was driven by lower business volumes and weaker pricing including
lower fuel surcharge revenue. Total weight per day was down 26.5%, representing a 22.9% decline in total shipments per day and a 4.8% lower total weight per
shipment compared to last year. Shipment volumes were negatively impacted by a continued weak economy and the closure of service centers during 2009.
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Total revenue per hundred weight decreased 10.9% in the first nine months of 2009 as compared to the first nine months of 2008, primarily due to lower fuel
surcharge revenue associated with lower diesel fuel prices and the impact of continued pricing pressure on our base rates.

Operating loss for Regional Transportation was $122.2 million for the first nine months of 2009, an improvement of $1.3 million from the first nine months of
2008, consisting of a $523.7 million decline in revenue and a $525.0 million decrease in operating expenses. The operating loss for the first nine months of 2008
includes an impairment charge of $89.7 million as noted above. Absent this charge, the $122.2 million operating loss for the first nine months of 2009 would have
been compared to an operating loss $33.8 million for the first nine months of 2008, consisting of a $523.7 million decline in revenue and a $435.3 million
decrease in operating expenses. Regional Transportation has reduced most operating expenses in proportion to lower business volumes. Expense decreases for the
nine months ended September 30, 2009 versus the comparable 2008 period were in salaries, wages and benefits of $221.3 million, operating expenses and
supplies of $176.7 million, purchased transportation of $27.2 million, other operating expenses of $13.5 million.

Salaries, wages and benefits expense decreased 22.5% for the nine months ended September 30, 2009 versus the comparable 2008 period reflecting lower
employee levels and increased productivity as well as compensation and benefit reductions for most employees in Regional Transportation. These decreases were
partially offset by severance costs for closed facilities, the equity ownership program for union employees and higher workers’ compensation costs mostly as a
result of unfavorable development factors. Operating expenses and supplies decreased 43.9% for the nine months ended September 30, 2009 versus the
comparable 2008 period reflecting an 21.0% reduction in costs other than fuel and a 62.0% decrease in fuel costs (primarily due to lower fuel prices and lower
volumes). Costs were lower in the areas of equipment maintenance, facility maintenance, driver expenses and tolls as a result of lower business volumes, effective
cost management and terminal closures. Purchased transportation was 37.4% lower due to lower business volumes and the in-sourcing of certain linehaul
transportation from third-party providers. Other operating expenses were 16.3% lower mainly in the areas of fuel taxes, licenses and cargo claims primarily due to
lower business volumes, partially offset by a higher provision for bodily injury and property damage claims due to unfavorable claim development.

Regional Transportation incurred $6.8 million of employee severance and lease termination costs in the first nine months of 2009 for the closure of five Holland
service centers in September 2009 and 13 in March 2009 as part of continuing efforts to optimize our networks and reduce costs. These costs were recorded in
salaries, wages and employees’ benefits expense and operating expenses and supplies expense. Reorganization costs in the first nine months of 2008 were $12.4
million related to the closure of service centers at Holland and Reddaway during mid-February 2008. These costs consisted primarily of employee severance and
lease termination costs.

Losses on property disposals were $0.7 million in the first nine months of 2009 compared to a $2.9 million gain in the first nine months of 2008, primarily due to
gains on facility sales in 2008.

YRC Logistics Results

YRC Logistics represented approximately 8% and 7% of our consolidated revenue in the third quarter of 2009 and 2008, respectively, as well as in the nine
months ended September 30, 2009 and 2008, respectively. The table below provides summary financial information for YRC Logistics for the three and nine
months ended September 30:

Three months Nine months
Percent Percent
(in millions) 2009 2008 Change 2009 2008 Change
Operating revenue $102.4 $165.3 (38.1%) $316.3 $474.9 (33.4%)
Operating income (loss) 6.3 (90.6) n/m@ (5.1) (89.8) n/m
Operating ratio ® 93.9% n/m n/m 101.6% n/m n/m

(@) Not meaningful.
(b) Represents operating expenses divided by operating revenue.

Three months ended September 30, 2009 compared to three months ended September 30, 2008

In the third quarter of 2009, YRC Logistics operating revenue was $102.4 million, a decrease of $62.9 million or 38.1% from the third quarter of 2008. YRC
Logistics recognized revenue declines in each of its service offerings as a result of the weakened economy and customer diversion due to concerns regarding our
financial stability. Decreases in 2009 revenue for distribution services were caused
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by deteriorating economic conditions in the retail sector and customer losses. Revenue declines in transportation services can be largely attributed to the
depressed manufacturing sector. Global services revenue fell as shipment counts declined throughout the world from the poor global economic conditions.

YRC Logistics generated operating income of $6.3 million for the three months ended September 30, 2009 compared to an operating loss of $90.6 million in the
three months ended September 30, 2008. Operating loss for the three months ended September 30, 2008 included an impairment charge related to the reduction in
fair value of the YRC Logistics reporting unit resulting in a write off of goodwill of $97.5 million. Operating income decreased by $0.6 million from $6.9 million,
absent the impairment charge, in the third quarter of 2008 to $6.3 million in the third quarter of 2009. YRC Logistics experienced a $1.7 million decrease in
workers’ compensation expense compared to the three months ended September 30, 2008 primarily related to a favorable reserve adjustment related to a specific
claim.

Nine months ended September 30, 2009 compared to nine months ended September 30, 2008

YRC Logistics revenue decreased by $158.6 million or 33.4% for the nine months ended September 30, 2009 as compared to the nine months ended

September 30, 2008. YRC Logistics recognized revenue declines in 2009 in each of its service offerings as overall business volumes continued to erode as a result
of the global recession. Sluggish conditions in the retail sector, certain customer losses and YRC Logistics’ decision to exit its domestic ocean service offering in
June 2008 were the main drivers behind the decline in revenue for the distribution services group. A continued weak manufacturing and construction sector
largely attributed to revenue declines in the transportation services group. Poor global economic conditions, especially Europe and Asia, resulted in lower
volumes and shipment counts in the nine months ended September 30, 2009 causing global services revenue to decline.

Operating loss improved from a loss of $89.8 million in the nine months ended September 30, 2008 to a loss of $5.1 million in the nine months ended
September 30, 2009. As previously discussed, the nine months ended September 30, 2008, includes a write off of goodwill of $97.5 million with no comparable
amount in the nine months ended September 30, 2009. Absent this charge, operating income decreased from $7.7 million for the nine months ended

September 30, 2008 to a loss of $5.1 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2009. This decrease reflects a 33.4% reduction in revenue and a 31.2%
reduction in expenses as compared to the 2008 period. Salaries, wages and employees’ benefits decreased 26.5% in 2009 versus the comparable 2008 period,
which includes a $4.2 million reduction in incentive compensation, a $2.5 million reduction in workers’ compensation and the remaining decrease attributed to a
10% wage reduction for most employees and an overall reduced workforce. Purchased transportation decreased 41.1% for the nine months ended September 30,
2009 compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2008 due to both reduced volume and carrier cost.

Truckload Results

Truckload represented approximately 1% of our consolidated revenue in the third quarter of 2009 and 2008, respectively, as well as in the nine months ended
September 30, 2009 and 2008, respectively. The table below provides summary financial information for Truckload for the three and nine months ended
September 30:

Three months Nine months
Percent Percent
(in millions) 2009 2008 Change 2009 2008 Change
Operating revenue $ 299 $ 333 (10.1%) $ 83.5 $ 90.4 (7.6%)
Operating loss (1.4) (1.4) n/m@) (6.0) (10.4) 42.3%
Operating ratio ® 104.7% 104.3%  0.4pp© 107.2% 111.5%  (4.3pp)

(@) Not meaningful.
(b) Represents operating expenses divided by operating revenue.
(c)  Percentage points.

Three months ended September 30, 2009 compared to three months ended September 30, 2008

Truckload reported operating revenue of $29.9 million for the quarter ended September 30, 2009, representing a decrease of $3.4 million or 10.1% from the
quarter ended September 30, 2008. The two primary components of truckload operating revenue are volume, comprised of the miles driven, and price, usually
evaluated on a revenue per mile basis. Total miles driven per day were up 10.4% in the third quarter 2009 as compared to the same period in 2008 due primarily
to higher use of Truckload services by YRC Worldwide operating companies as they shifted certain line haul miles from rail providers to road service partially
offset by the soft economy. However, revenue per mile was down 19.9%, due primarily to lower fuel surcharge revenue associated with lower diesel fuel prices.
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Operating loss for Truckload was $1.4 million for the third quarter 2009, flat with the third quarter of 2008, consisting of a $3.4 million decrease in revenue and a
$3.4 million decrease in operating expenses. Expense decreases were primarily in the areas of fuel (lower diesel prices partially offset by higher miles driven
which consumed more gallons), purchased transportation, equipment depreciation and bodily injury and property damage claims. Increased operating expenses
were primarily volume related higher wages and benefits costs of $1.3 million and higher vehicle maintenance costs.

Nine months ended September 30, 2009 compared to nine months ended September 30, 2008

Truckload reported operating revenue of $83.5 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2009, representing a decrease of $6.9 million or 7.6% from the
nine months ended September 30, 2008. Total miles driven per day increased 13.1% in the first nine months of 2009 as compared to 2008 due primarily to higher
use of Truckload services by YRC Worldwide operating companies partially offset by the soft economy. However, revenue per mile was down 18.6%, due
primarily to lower fuel surcharge revenue associated with lower diesel fuel prices.

Operating loss for Truckload was $6.0 million for the first nine months of 2009, an improvement of $4.4 million from the first nine months of 2008, consisting of
a $6.9 million decrease in revenue and an $11.3 million decrease in operating expenses. Expense decreases were primarily in the areas of fuel (lower diesel prices
partially offset by higher miles driven which consumed more gallons), driver recruiting, purchased transportation, equipment depreciation, bodily injury and
property damage claims and losses on equipment disposals. Increased operating expenses were primarily volume related higher wages and benefits costs of $5.0
million and higher vehicle maintenance costs.

Financial Condition

Liquidity
The current economic environment continues to have a dramatic effect on our industry. This economic environment continues to negatively impact our
customers’ needs to ship and, therefore, negatively impacts the volume of freight we service and the price we receive for our services. As a result, we continue to
experience lower year-over-year revenue (primarily a function of declining volume), operating losses and negative cash flow. In addition, we believe that many of

our existing customers have reduced their business with us due to their concerns regarding our financial condition. As a result, these concerns have had an
adverse effect on our revenues, results of operations and liquidity.

As a part of our comprehensive plan, we have executed on a number of significant initiatives during 2009 to respond to these conditions, which are described
more fully below. In March 2009, we completed the integration of our Yellow Transportation and Roadway networks into one service network, now branded
“YRC”. Since the integration, our service has improved to a level above pre-integration. As we continue to improve our service and stabilize our financial
condition, we anticipate the return of shipping volume from these customers. However, we cannot predict how quickly and to what extent this volume will return.
On a sequential basis, as compared with the second quarter, our operating revenue decreased 1.6% due to modestly declining volumes, but our operating results
improved by approximately $182 million, and our operating cash flows improved by $77 million. Sequential improvements were aided by successful cost and
liquidity actions within our comprehensive plan which we discuss below.

Comprehensive Plan

In light of the current economic environment and the resulting challenging business conditions, we have implemented or are in the process of implementing the
following actions (among others) as part of our comprehensive plan to reduce our cost structure and improve our operating results, cash flow from operations,
liquidity and financial condition:

+ the integration in March 2009 of our Yellow Transportation and Roadway networks into a single service network, now branded “YRC”. See “—YRC
Integration” below.

»  the discontinuation in March 2009 of the geographic service overlap between our Holland and New Penn networks

» the first quarter implementation of a 10% wage reduction for substantially all of our employees (both union and non-union). See “—Ratification of
Collective Bargaining Agreement Modification” below.

» the deferral of payment of certain contributions to our Teamster multi-employer pension funds, mostly in the first half of 2009, pursuant to a
Contribution Deferral Agreement. See “— Pension Contribution Deferral Obligations” below.

» further reductions in the number of terminals to right-size our transportation networks to current shipment volumes

+ the August 2009 implementation of an additional 5% wage reduction for substantially all of our union employees. See “—Ratification of Collective
Bargaining Agreement Modification” below.
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+ the temporary cessation of pension contributions to our Teamster multi-employer pension funds starting in July 2009 through December 31, 2010,
which cessation eliminates the need to recognize expense for these contributions during this period. See “—Ratification of Collective Bargaining
Agreement Modification” below.

» the continued suspension of company matching 401(k) contributions for non-union employees

+ the sale of excess property and equipment, primarily resulting from the integration of the Yellow Transportation and Roadway networks
+ the sale and leaseback of core operating facilities. See “—Lease Financing Transactions” below.

» reductions in force to scale our business to current shipping volumes

»  other cost reduction measures in general, administrative and other areas

»  changes to our overall risk management structure to reduce our letter of credit requirements

* alonger-term amendment to our Credit Agreement (defined below) to provide us greater access to the liquidity that our revolving credit facility
provides and the deferral of interest and fees that we pay to our lenders, subject to the conditions that the amended Credit Agreement requires. See
“— Credit Agreement Amendments” below.

* arenewal and amendment of our ABS Facility (defined below) to defer most of the fees in connection with our ABS Facility, subject to certain
conditions. See “— ABS Facility Amendments” below.

+  an agreement with our Teamster multi-employer pension funds to defer the payment of interest on our deferred obligations, and to defer the
beginning of installment payments of previously deferred contributions, in each case, subject to the conditions that the CDA Amendment (defined
below) requires. See “— Pension Contribution Deferral Obligations” below.

+  our expected launch of an exchange offer (the “Exchange Offer”) to exchange our outstanding USF 8 1/2% notes and contingent convertible notes
for common stock and preferred stock of the Company. See “—Contemplated Exchange Offer” below.

Certain of these actions are further described below. The final execution of our plan has certain risks that we are not able to completely control which may
adversely impact our liquidity. See “Risks and Uncertainties Regarding Future Liquidity” below.

YRC Integration

In March 2009, we completed the integration of our Yellow Transportation and Roadway networks into one service network, now branded “YRC”. Since the
integration, our service has improved to a level above pre-integration. In addition, productivity measurements for city pick up and delivery labor, dock labor, and
load average in our line haul operation have also improved since the integration. During the integration, we believe that many of our customers reduced their
shipments with us to mitigate their risks from our integration. As our service has improved from the March 2009 integration, many of these customers are now
returning their shipping volumes to us and we have added new customers. However, these volumes have not returned as quickly as we had anticipated. We cannot
predict how quickly and to what extent these volumes will return. As a result of the successful integration, we have been able to implement a number of
significant cost savings actions, including reducing the number of terminals, reducing headcount and decreasing our fleet size. We will implement further cost
saving measures if we experience further declines in shipping volume.

Ratification of Collective Bargaining Agreement Modification

In August 2009, the employees in most of our bargaining units who are represented by the International Brotherhood of Teamsters (the “Teamsters”) ratified a
modification to our collective bargaining agreement. The modification provides (among other things) the following:

*  atemporary cessation of the requirement for the Company’s subsidiaries to make contributions on behalf of most of the Company’s Teamster
represented employees to union multi-employer pension funds from July 2009 through December 31, 2010. These contributions will not need to be
repaid in the future and, therefore, will be a cost reduction during this period

* a 15% wage reduction (which includes the 10% wage reduction previously implemented in January 2009) for most of the Company’s Teamster
represented employees

» areduction in the increase in contributions to multiemployer health and welfare plans from $1.00 per hour to $0.20 per hour that occurred on
August 1, 2009 and to $0.40 per hour that is scheduled for August 1, 2010

+  the establishment of a stock option plan for participating union employees, providing for options to purchase an additional 20% of the Company’s
outstanding common stock on a fully diluted basis as if all outstanding stock options were exercised on the date the plan is established. This plan is
required to be on terms substantially similar to the plan created in January 2009, when the first 10% wage reduction was implemented. These options
are expected to be granted immediately following a successful completion of the Exchange Offer (and any associated reverse stock split substantially
contemporaneous with the Exchange Offer)
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*  during the period in which the temporary pension contribution cessation is in effect, subject to the approval of the Company’s board of directors,
which approval may not be unreasonably withheld, the Company is required to appoint a director that the Teamsters nominate. This person has not
yet been nominated.

As with prior ratification elections, a small number of the bargaining units representing less than 10% of our Teamster employees did not initially ratify the labor
agreement modifications on August 7, 2009. The Company and the Teamsters have since addressed employee concerns and most of these units have either
subsequently ratified the modifications or have merged or will merge with other bargaining units that have previously ratified the modifications. A small number
of bargaining units representing less than 4% of our Teamster employees, mostly Reddaway employees or Reimer employees in Canada continue to consider the
modifications. These units do not impact contributions to U.S. multi-employer pension funds, as the units do not generally participate in these funds.

Credit Facilities

Our primary liquidity vehicles, the Credit Agreement and the ABS Facility are collectively referred to herein as the “credit facilities”. The Credit Agreement
continues to provide us with a $950 million senior revolving credit facility, including sublimits available for borrowings under certain foreign currencies and for
letters of credit, and a senior term loan in an aggregate outstanding principal amount of approximately $111.5 million. Throughout 2009, we have entered into
various waivers and amendments in respect of our credit facilities to provide additional liquidity and to provide relief to the Company’s covenants under the credit
facilities.

Credit Agreement Amendments

On October 9, 2009, and October 27, 2009, the Company entered into Amendments Nos. 11 and 12, respectively, to our Credit Agreement. The following
discusses certain aspects of these amendments.

— Revolver Reserve Amount

During 2009, the Company has sold certain of its assets, generally excess real estate and real estate that the Company has sold and leased back from the buyer.
Much of the excess real estate has been available for sale due to the Company’s integration of its Yellow Transportation and Roadway networks and the
Company’s cost reductions that the Company has undertaken in response to its volume declines. Prior to Amendment No. 12 to the Credit Agreement, the Credit
Agreement provided that a portion of the net proceeds from the Company’s sales of real estate was placed into a revolver reserve. The Credit Agreement only
permitted the Company to borrow from the revolver reserve if 66 2/3% of the Lenders voted in favor of the borrowing. The amount in the revolver reserve is part
of, and not in addition to, the $950 million credit facility that the Credit Agreement provides. The revolver reserve effectively “blocks” the Company from
borrowing on that portion of the Credit Facility until the conditions to borrowing to access the blocked amount are met. Prior to Amendment No. 12 to the Credit
Agreement, any amounts in the revolver reserve that were not borrowed by October 29, 2009 would have permanently reduced the revolving credit commitments
under the Credit Agreement.

Amendment No. 12 to the Credit Agreement extends the date from October 29, 2009 to January 1, 2012 (or such later date as may be agreed to by 66 2/3% of the
lenders) on which the revolving commitments will be permanently reduced by the revolver reserve amount, subject to early termination upon a Deferral
Termination Event (defined below) so long as the Recapitalization Transaction (as defined in the Credit Agreement) is completed and the CDA Amendment
(defined below) is effective. The Exchange Offer, as presently contemplated (and described below in “Contemplated Exchange Offer”), would meet the definition
in the Credit Agreement of a Recapitalization Transaction. On November 5, 2009, the CDA Amendment became effective. However, if the Exchange Offer is not
completed on or before December 16, 2009 (or such later date as may be agreed to by 66 2/3% of the lenders, the “Exchange Offer Deadline™), the revolving
commitments will be permanently reduced by an amount equal to the then current revolver reserve amount on that date.

Amendment No. 12 to the Credit Agreement bifurcated the revolver reserve amount into two blocks: the existing revolver reserve block and the new revolver
reserve block.

The existing revolver reserve block is $106 million and will not increase above that amount. Until the earlier of the completion of the Exchange Offer and the
Exchange Offer Deadline, the Credit Agreement Amendment continues to provide the Company access to $50 million of the existing revolver reserve block at
any time for specified operating needs (“Permitted Interim Loans”). Access to the remaining existing revolver reserve block (and any portion of the $50 million
of the existing revolver reserve block that could be, but is not, borrowed prior to the completion of the Exchange Offer) is subject to borrowing conditions,
including (among others) the following:

«  after giving effect to each borrowing, unrestricted Permitted Investments (as defined in the Credit Agreement) are less than or equal to $125 million
(or, $100 million to the extent that any Permitted Interim Loans are outstanding)
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» completion of the Exchange Offer
+  either

. the Company meets certain specified minimum weekly operating thresholds based on earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and
amortization (“EBITDA”) and maintains certain monthly selling, general and administrative (“SG&A”) expense amounts below specified
maximum thresholds or

. 66 2/3% of the lenders approve the borrowing
The new revolver reserve block was approximately $8.7 million at October 27, 2009 and will be increased by mandatory prepayments of net cash proceeds from
certain asset sales and any excess cash flow sweeps. The Company may access the new revolver reserve block after the existing revolver reserve block has been

fully borrowed, subject to the same borrowing conditions applicable to the existing revolver reserve block, except that the Company must obtain the approval of
66 2/3% of the lenders rather than complying with the minimum weekly operating EBITDA thresholds and maximum SG&A monthly expense amounts.

— Interest and Fee Deferrals

Amendment No. 12 to the Credit Agreement provides that the lenders will defer revolver and term loan interest, letter of credit fees and commitment fees for the
period:

*  beginning upon the completion of the Exchange Offer and

» ending on December 31, 2010, subject to an extension until December 31, 2011 if agreed to by 66 2/3 % of the lenders.

— Deferral Exceptions and Termination Events
There are exceptions and termination events with respect to the interest and fee deferral described above, including (among others) the following:

* o further interest and fees will be deferred and all previously deferred amounts will become payable at the direction of a majority of the lenders,
upon the occurrence of certain specified events, including (among others) the following, unless 66 2/3% of the lenders agree otherwise (each, a
“Deferral Termination Event”):

. the modification to our collective bargaining agreement (described above in “— Ratification of Collective Bargaining Agreement
Ratification”) terminates or is amended or otherwise modified (including, by the operation of any “snapback” or similar provisions) in any
way that is adverse to the Company or the Lenders in a manner that could reasonably be expected, individually or in the aggregate, to result
in an impact of greater than $5 million in any calendar year;

. the Company amends or otherwise modifies the Contribution Deferral Agreement and related agreements in any way that is adverse to the
Company or the lenders; or

. on or after completion of the Exchange Offer, the Company makes any cash payment of any pension fund obligations and any interest
thereon that the Company deferred in 2009 under the Contribution Deferral Agreement other than:

»  payments of proceeds resulting from the sale of real property that collateralizes the deferred pension obligations and which the pension funds have a
first lien; or

+  payments of permitted fees and expenses.

* no further interest and fees will be deferred upon any cash payment (other than payments described in the preceding bullets) of any pension fund
liabilities (and any interest thereon) due prior to December 31, 2011 other than certain permitted payments, including payments to the Company’s
single employer pension plans that are required to be made pursuant to ERISA and payments to certain multiemployer pension plans (each, a
“Deferral Suspension Event”). Any deferred interest and fees will not become due and payable solely as a result of a Deferral Suspension Event.

* commencing on January 1, 2011,

. if after giving effect to an interest or fee payment on the applicable interest or fee payment date, the Available Interest Payment Amount (as
defined in the Credit Agreement) on the interest or fee payment date would be equal to or greater than $150 million, the Company must
make such payment in full in cash on such interest or fee payment date and

. to the extent that the Available Interest Payment Amount on any business day exceeds $225 million, the Company must apply the excess
over $225 million to pay previously deferred interest and fees.

— Mandatory Prepayments

Under the Credit Agreement, as amended, we are obligated to make mandatory prepayments on an annual basis of any excess cash flow and upon the receipt of
net cash proceeds from certain asset sales and the issuance of equity and if we have an average liquidity amount for the immediately preceding five business days
in excess of $250 million. The percentage of net cash proceeds received and the manner in which they are applied varies as set forth in greater detail in the Credit
Agreement.
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Asset Sales

The Credit Agreement, as amended, allows us to receive up to $400 million of net cash proceeds from asset sales in 2009 and $200 million of net cash proceeds
from asset sales in 2010, which limits do not include net cash proceeds received from certain asset sales, including the following:

» the sale of real estate that constitutes first lien collateral of the pension funds pursuant to the Contribution Deferral Agreement
+ the initial sale and lease back transaction completed with NATMI in the first half of 2009, and

+  permitted dispositions approved by a majority of the lenders.

In addition, after Amendment No. 12 to the Credit Agreement, we can only consummate sale and leaseback transactions if
* amajority of our bank lenders approve the transactions or

»  such transactions were approved by the bank lenders in connection with Amendment No. 12.

The Company expects to close approximately $50 million of approved sale leaseback transactions in the fourth quarter of 2009. See “—Lease Financing
Transactions”. The closing of these sale leaseback transactions is subject to the satisfaction of normal and customary due diligence and related conditions,
including the right of each buyer to terminate its obligation in its sole discretion during the inspection period, which conditions may be outside of the Company’s
control.

— Financial Covenants

Amendment No. 12 to the Credit Agreement eliminated the previous requirement that the Company maintain certain leverage and interest coverage ratios. In
addition, Amendment No. 12 to the Credit Agreement eliminated minimum consolidated EBITDA level requirements for the fourth quarter of 2009 and the first
quarter of 2010. Finally, Amendment No. 12 to the Credit Agreement reset certain requirements that the Company maintain minimum consolidated EBITDA and
maximum capital expenditure levels, as follows:

Period Minimum C lidated EBITDA
For the fiscal quarter ending on June 30, 2010 $ 65,000,000
For the two consecutive fiscal quarters ending September 30, 2010 $ 135,000,000
For the three consecutive fiscal quarters ending December 31, 2010 $ 200,000,000
For the four consecutive fiscal quarters ending March 31, 2011 $ 270,000,000
For the four consecutive fiscal quarters ending June 30, 2011 $ 270,000,000
For the four consecutive fiscal quarters ending September 30, 2011 $ 280,000,000
For the four consecutive fiscal quarters ending December 31, 2011 $ 270,000,000
For the four consecutive fiscal quarters ending March 31, 2012 $ 300,000,000
For the four consecutive fiscal quarters ending June 30, 2012 $ 330,000,000
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Period Maximum Capital Expenditures
For the fourth fiscal quarter in 2009 $ 30,000,000
For the four consecutive fiscal quarters ending December 31, 2009 $ 60,000,000
For any single fiscal quarter in 2010 $ 57,500,000
For the four consecutive fiscal quarters ending December 31, 2010 $ 115,000,000
For any single fiscal quarter in 2011 $ 72,500,000
For the four consecutive fiscal quarters ending December 31, 2011 $ 145,000,000
For any single fiscal quarter in 2012 $ 50,000,000

Amendment No, 12 to the Credit Agreement allows the Company to add back certain restructuring charges when evaluating minimum consolidated EBITDA as
set forth in greater detail in the Credit Agreement.

Teamster Approval of the Credit Agreement

The August 2009 modification to our collective bargaining agreement with the Teamsters requires, among other things, that we enter into a bank
amendment that is acceptable to the Teamsters. The Teamsters National Freight Industry Negotiating Committee (“TNFINC”) certified to us that Amendment
No. 12 to the Credit Agreement was satisfactory to the Teamsters, subject to the following conditions:

+ the Exchange Offer shall have occurred on or before the Exchange Offer Deadline

+ immediately following the Exchange Offer (including any reverse stock split contemplated thereby and contemporaneous therewith) the Company
issues options to purchase 20% of the common stock of the Company as the modification to the collective bargaining agreement requires

+  if the Company requests a borrowing or letter of credit pursuant to the Credit Agreement under circumstances where 66 2/3% of the lenders must
approve the borrowing or letter of credit, then 66 2/3% of the lenders do so approve the borrowing or letter of credit

+  the lenders under the Credit Agreement continue to defer revolver and term loan interest, letter of credit fees and commitment fees in 2011

*  to the extent a Default or an Event of Default (as each are defined in the Credit Agreement) occurs or additional amendments to the Credit
Agreement are consummated, no lender:

. exercises any remedies that result in the acceleration of the payment of any of the obligations under the Credit Agreement;

. amends or provides waivers with respect to the Credit Agreement that result in any further increase in interest or fees under the Credit
Agreement;

. obtains a judgment to foreclose on any collateral securing the obligations under the Credit Agreement; or

. takes any similar type of collection action in court or before an arbitral proceeding.

If any of these conditions are not met, TNFINC reserved the right to declare the modification to the collective bargaining agreement ineffective and terminate the
modification on a prospective basis.

ABS Facility Amendments and Renewal

On October 27, 2009, we also amended our ABS Facility. The ABS Facility amendments extended the expiration of the ABS Facility from February 11, 2010 to
October 26, 2010; provided that, if the Exchange Offer is not completed by the Exchange Offer Deadline, the ABS Facility will expire on February 11, 2010.

The ABS Facility amendments have amended certain Trigger Events (as defined in the ABS Facility) to make the Minimum Consolidated EBITDA (as defined in
the ABS Facility) and maximum capital expenditure requirements consistent with the Credit Agreement. See “Credit Agreement Amendments — Financial
Covenants” above. In addition, certain calculations under the ABS Facility were amended to reduce the impact of certain negative effects that the integration of
Yellow Transportation and Roadway has had on those calculations, due to rating adjustments and the timing of customer payments. As a result of the
amendments, the obligation to repay outstanding amounts under the ABS Facility due to those integration effects has been reduced or eliminated. The
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Co-Agents under the ABS Facility have completed preliminary work to verify the related integration adjustments; however, further substantiation by the Co-
Agents as part of their annual audit of the ABS Facility is required. This audit must be completed by November 30, 2009.

The ABS Facility amendments also reduced the aggregate commitments under the ABS Facility from $500 million to $400 million and reduced the letter of credit
facility sublimit from $105 million to $84 million. The Company believes that the impact of this reduction will not affect the Company’s liquidity because the
$400 million commitment level is sufficient given the Company’s current level of accounts receivable underlying the ABS Facility.

Upon completion of the Exchange Offer, the Co-Agents under the ABS Facility have also agreed to defer most of the fees during the term of the ABS Facility.
This includes the $10 million fee that was originally due on September 30, 2009, prior to the ABS Facility amendments.

Lease Financing Transactions

We have entered into several lease financing transactions with various parties, including NATMI and Estes. The underlying transactions included providing title
of certain real estate assets to the issuer in exchange for agreed upon proceeds; however, the transactions did not meet the accounting definition of a “sale
leaseback” and as such, the assets remain on our balance sheet and long-term debt (titled Lease Financing Obligations) is reflected on our balance sheet in the
amount of the proceeds. We are required to make annual lease payments, which are recorded as principal and interest payments under these arrangements.

The table below summarizes our lease financing transactions through September 30, 2009:

Contracts Contracts Contracts
completed completed completed Remaining

Original in third through subsequent to contracted

Contract quarter September 30, September 30, Contract amount to Effective
Lessor Amount 2009 2009 2009 modifications close interest rates
NATMI $184.4 $ — $ 127.4 $ 17.1 $ (23.1) $ 168 10.3%-18.4%
Estes 122.0 14.0 110.3 — (11.7) — 10.0%
Other 123.4 7.0 67.4 — (31.2) 24.8 10.0%-14.1%
Total $4298 $ 210 $ 305.1 $ 171§ (66.0) $ 416

We have used the proceeds received from the above transactions, as follows:

Nine months ended

(in millions) September 30, 2009
Proceeds received $ 305.1
Amounts required to be escrowed with lessor (12.6)
Transaction costs “4.4)
Net proceeds received 288.1
Amounts required to be remitted to Revolver Reserve (80.3)
Amounts available for working capital purposes $ 207.8

In addition to the $80.3 million referenced in the table above, we were required to repay borrowings under the revolving loan by an additional $21.9 million as a
result of additional asset sales thereby making the revolver reserve amount (now known as the existing revolver reserve block after the Credit Agreement
amendments) equal to $102 million at September 30, 2009.

The Credit Agreement requires any net proceeds from real estate asset sales (other than approximately $117 million in net cash proceeds received in the initial
sale and leaseback transaction completed with NATMI in the first half of 2009 and sales of real estate on which the pension funds have a first priority security
interest under the Contribution Deferral Agreement) received on or after January 1, 2009 to be applied as follows:

with respect to the first $300 million of such net cash proceeds, 50% of such proceeds shall be used to prepay amounts outstanding under the Credit
Agreement and the remaining 50% shall be retained by the Company;

«  with respect to such net cash proceeds in excess of than $300 million and less than or equal to $500 million, 75% of such proceeds shall be used to
prepay amounts outstanding under the Credit Agreement and the remaining 25% shall be retained by the Company; and
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+  with respect to such net cash proceeds that exceed $500 million, all of such proceeds shall be used to prepay amounts outstanding under the Credit
Agreement.

Amendment No. 12 to the Credit Agreement requires that the prepayments (using the applicable prepayment percentage) described above shall be applied (i) first,
to repay any outstanding Permitted Interim Loans; (ii) second, to repay any outstanding loans (or to cash collateralize any letters of credit) from the new revolver
reserve block; (iii) third, to repay any outstanding loans (or to cash collateralize any letters of credit) from the existing revolver reserve block; and (iv) fourth, to
repay any other outstanding revolver loans (or to cash collateralize any other letters of credit) and increase the new revolver reserve amount by such prepayment
amount. Prior to Amendment No. 12, the revolver reserve amount (now known as the existing revolver reserve amount) was increased by 50% of the net cash
proceeds received in 2009 from real estate asset sales subject to the above prepayment requirements, except for approximately $48 million of such net cash
proceeds received in August 2009. As of September 30, 2009, the Company had received approximately $252 million of net cash proceeds from real estate assets
sales subject to the above prepayment requirements.

Pension Contribution Deferral Obligations

We have entered into a Contribution Deferral Agreement with 26 union multi-employer pension funds, which provide retirement benefits to certain of employees,
whereby pension contributions originally due to the funds were converted to debt. At September 30, 2009, $141.8 million of deferred contributions were subject
to the terms of the Contribution Deferral Agreement. In addition, we have deferred certain additional pension contributions of $22.7 million to these pension
funds, and are working with the applicable fund to execute additional joinder agreements to add these amounts to the Contribution Deferral Agreement. At
September 30, 2009, these amounts related to pension contributions for union employee hours worked prior to the cessation of contributions that the modification
to the collective bargaining agreement provides. See “—Ratification of Collective Bargaining Agreement Modification” above. These amounts are classified as
“Wages, vacations and employees’ benefits” in our consolidated balance sheet.

The deferred amounts bear interest at the applicable interest rate set forth in the trust documentation that governs each pension fund and range from 4% to 18% as
of September 30, 2009.

On November 5, 2009, we entered into an amendment to the Contribution Deferral Agreement (the “CDA Amendment”).

— Amortization and Interest Deferral

Prior to the CDA Amendment, outstanding deferred pension payments under the Contribution Deferral Agreement were to be paid to the funds in thirty-six equal
monthly installments payable on the 15t day of each calendar month commencing on January 15, 2010 (each a “CDA Amortization Payment”) and interest
payments under the Contribution Deferral Agreement (each a “CDA Interest Payment”) were required to be made to the funds in arrears on the fifteenth day of
each calendar month.

The CDA Amendment provides that upon the completion of the Exchange Offer on or prior to Exchange Offer Deadline (so long as the lenders under the Credit
Agreement do not permanently reduce revolving commitments under the Credit Agreement as a result of reducing the revolver reserve amount), all CDA
Amortization Payments and CDA Interest Payments due from the date the completion of the Exchange Offer through the end of 2010 shall be deferred until
December 31, 2011; provided, that the CDA Amortization Payments and CDA Interest Payments will become due at the election of the majority of the pension
funds on December 31, 2010 if 90% of the pension funds do not approve a continuation of the deferral of CDA Amortization Payments and CDA Interest
Payments for calendar year 2011. In addition, all deferred interest and amortization payments will become payable at the election of the majority of the pension
funds and no new amounts may be deferred upon the earliest to occur of:

+ any Deferral Termination Event (as defined in the Credit Agreement);
e certain events of default; and

+ the amendment, modification, supplementation or alteration of the Credit Agreement that imposes any mandatory prepayment, commitment
reduction, additional interest or fee or any other incremental payment to the Lenders under the Credit Agreement not required as of the effective date
of the CDA Amendment unless the pension funds receive a proportionate additional payment in respect of the deferred pension obligations at the
time an additional payment to the lenders under the Credit Agreement is required pursuant to the terms of the amendment, modification,
supplementation or alteration. For the avoidance of doubt, granting of consent by the lenders under the Credit Agreement to permit an asset sale shall
not by itself trigger the provision described in the prior sentence.
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— Mandatory Prepayments

The CDA Amendment amends the mandatory prepayment provision tied to liquidity to provide that the Company will only be required to prepay obligations
under the Contribution Deferral Agreement if the liquidity of the Company and its subsidiaries is greater than $250 million after deducting any amount due under
the Credit Agreement by virtue of the Credit Agreement liquidity mandatory prepayment (as described in the Credit Agreement Amendment section above);
provided that such prepayment obligation does not arise unless and until the excess liquidity amount is equal to or greater than $1 million at any time.

— Collateral

As part of the Contribution Deferral Agreement, in exchange for the deferral of the contribution obligations, we pledged identified real property to the pension
funds so that the pension funds have a first priority security interest in certain of the identified real property and a second priority security interest in other
identified real property located throughout the U.S. and Mexico. We are required to prepay the deferred obligations to the extent that we sell any of the first lien
property pledged to the pension funds with the net proceeds from the sale. We have made payments of $15.4 million pursuant to such sales to reduce our
obligations to the pension funds during the nine months ended September 30, 2009 leaving a balance of $141.8 million as of September 30, 2009.

Existing Liquidity Position

The following table provides details of the outstanding components and unused available capacity under the Credit Agreement and ABS Facility at each period
end after giving consideration to the amendments discussed above:

September 30, December 31,

(in millions) 2009 2008
Capacity:

Revolving loan $ 950.0 $  950.0

ABS Facility 400.0 500.0

Total maximum capacity 1,350.0 1,450.0
Amounts outstanding:

Revolving loan (362.3) (515.0)

Letters of credit (9/30/09: $ 477.1 revolver; $77.3 ABS Facility) (554.4) (460.5)

ABS Facility borrowings (187.7) (147.0)

ABS usage for captive insurance company (see below) — (221.0)

Total outstanding (1,104.4) (1,343.5)
ABS limitations (135.0) (64.6)
Revolver reserve (102.2) —
Total blocked capacity (237.2) (64.6)
Available unused capacity (9/30/09: $8.4 revolver; $- ABS Facility) $ 8.4 $ 41.9

As we sold certain assets, we used the net cash proceeds to reduce the outstanding revolving loan balance. The amended Credit Agreement provides that we
create the revolver reserve block with a certain accumulated portion of those proceeds, which amount reduces our available capacity under the revolver on a
dollar-for-dollar basis unless certain conditions are satisfied. As a result of this provision, the available capacity of our revolver was reduced by $102.2 million at
September 30, 2009. There was no similar amount at December 31, 2008. After considering the revolver reserve amount of $102.2 million and outstanding usage,
the unused available capacity under the revolving loan was $8.4 million at September 30, 2009.

Until amended on October 27, 2009, the ABS Facility provided capacity of up to $500 million based on qualifying accounts receivable of the Company and
certain other provisions. However, at September 30, 2009 and December 31, 2008, such provisions supported available capacity under the ABS Facility of $265.0
million and $435.4 million, respectively. Considering this limitation and outstanding usage, there was no unused available capacity under the ABS Facility at
September 30, 2009 and at December 31, 2008.

YRC Assurance Co. Ltd. (“YRC Assurance”) was the Company’s captive insurance company domiciled in Bermuda and a wholly owned and consolidated
subsidiary of YRC Worldwide. YRC Assurance insured certain of our subsidiaries for certain of their respective self-insured obligations for workers’
compensation liabilities. Certain qualifying investments were made by YRC Assurance as required by Bermuda regulations. These investments included
purchasing a position in the underlying receivables supporting our ABS Facility. As a result, as shown in the table above, our capacity under the ABS Facility was
reduced by YRC
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Assurance’s investment in receivables of $221.0 million at December 31, 2008. Our Credit Agreement required us to cease the participation of YRC Assurance in
the ABS Facility. We have complied with this requirement, and YRC Assurance was dissolved. As a result of these transactions, the operating companies who
received insurance from YRC Assurance are now self-insured for their workers’ compensation liabilities.

Contemplated Exchange Offer

The Company intends to launch the Exchange Offer based upon terms discussed with representatives of a committee of the holders of its contingent convertible
notes and a committee of the holders of its USF 8 /2% notes (collectively the “Notes”). The successful completion of this exchange would allow the Company
access to the existing revolver reserve and to begin deferring payment of lender interest and fees under its recently amended Credit Agreement and ABS Facility
and to begin deferring the CDA Interest Payments and CDA Amortization Payments under the Contribution Deferral Agreement. See “Credit Agreement
Amendments”, “ABS Facility Amendments” and “Pension Contribution Deferral Obligations” above.

In the aggregate and with full participation, noteholders would exchange approximately $536.8 million in face value of Notes plus accrued and unpaid interest for
shares of common stock and new preferred stock, which together on an as-if converted basis would represent 95% of the company’s common stock, prior to the
Company’s grant of options to its union employees pursuant to modification to the Company’s collective bargaining agreements. See “Ratification of Collective
Bargaining Agreement Modification” and “Teamster Approval of the Credit Agreement” above.

Risks and Uncertainties Regarding Future Liquidity

In light of our recent operating results, we have satisfied our short term liquidity needs through a combination of borrowings under our credit facilities and, to a
more significant degree, retained proceeds from asset sales and sale/leaseback financing transactions. In an effort to further manage liquidity, we have also
instituted the deferral of pension plan payments. As our operating results improve, we expect that cash generated from operations will reduce our need to continue
to rely upon these sources of liquidity to meet our short term funding requirements. Although we expect the wage reduction and temporary pension contribution
cessation will improve our liquidity position, these and other cost savings measures noted above will be realized over time as they are implemented over the next
several months. To continue to have sufficient liquidity to meet our cash flow requirements throughout the remainder of 2009 and through 2010:

*  our operating results must continue to improve quarter-over-quarter and shipping volumes must continue to stabilize or recover quarter-over-quarter;
*  we must continue to have access to our credit facilities;

»  payment of interest and fees to our lenders and to purchasers of our accounts receivable pursuant to the ABS Facility must be deferred at least
through 2010;

»  payment of interest and principal to the pension funds must be deferred at least through 2010;
*  our wage reductions and temporary cessation of pension contributions must continue;
»  we must complete the sale/leaseback and real estate sale transactions currently under contract as anticipated; and

+  we must realize the cost savings we expect from these and other actions we have taken to date in the anticipated time periods.

We expect our business to experience its usual seasonal low point in late 2009 and the winter of 2010. Deferral of payment of interest and fees to our lenders,
purchasers of our accounts receivable under our ABS Facility and pension funds subject to the Contribution Deferral Agreement and access to the revolver
reserve blocks under the Credit Agreement and certain benefits of the ABS Facility are all subject to a successful completion of the Exchange Offer by the
Exchange Offer Deadline. As our business reaches this seasonal low point, we will need access to the additional liquidity that these agreements and facilities
provide to fund our operations.

If we have not completed the Exchange Offer prior to the Exchange Offer Deadline, we will continue to explore options to complete our restructuring out of
court, including further discussions with our lenders under the Credit Agreement, the Teamsters, our multi-employer pension funds and other stakeholders.
Among other things, these discussions could result in amendments to the Exchange Offer, which our lenders, the Teamsters and the multi-employer pension funds
who are parties to the Contribution Deferral Agreement would have to approve. The approval of these parties is beyond the Company’s control. Other options
could also arise out of these discussions; however, these options would require the participation of our stakeholders or other third parties, none of which are
within the Company’s control.

If we are unable to complete the Exchange Offer and address our near term liquidity needs as a result of any such discussions, we would then expect to seek relief
under the U.S. Bankruptcy Code. The Company expects that any such filing for relief would occur after its orderly completion of planning and preparation for
such a filing.
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To successfully complete a restructuring in a bankruptcy case, we would require debtor-in-possession financing, the most likely source of which would be our
existing lenders. If we were unable to obtain financing in a bankruptcy case or any such financing was insufficient to fund operations pending the completion of a
restructuring, there would be substantial doubt that the Company could complete a restructuring.

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared assuming that the Company will continue as a going concern. The uncertainty regarding the
Company’s ability to generate sufficient cash flows and liquidity to fund operations raises substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern. These financial statements do not include any adjustments that might result from the outcome of this uncertainty.

Forward-Looking Statements in “Liquidity”

Our beliefs regarding liquidity sufficiency are forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and
Section 21 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Forward-looking statements are indicated by words such as “expected”, “will” and other similar
words.

Contingent Convertible Notes

The balance sheet classification of our contingent convertible notes between short-term and long-term is dependent upon certain conversion triggers, as defined in
the applicable indenture. The contingent convertible notes include a provision whereby the note holder can require immediate conversion of the notes if, among
other reasons, the credit rating on the contingent convertible notes assigned by Moody’s is lower than B2 or if the credit rating assigned by S&P is lower than B.
At September 30, 2009 and December 31, 2008, the conversion trigger was met, and accordingly, the contingent convertible notes have been classified as a short-
term liability in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. Based upon this particular conversion right and based upon an assumed market price of our stock
of $1.25 per share, which approximates the current market price, our aggregate obligation for full satisfaction of the $386.8 million par value of contingent
convertible notes would require cash payments of $11.4 million. Our Credit Agreement will not allow us to pay more than $1 million in cash payments with
respect to the conversion of these notes unless a majority of the lenders approve the excess payments.

Cash Flow Measurements

We use free cash flow as a measurement to determine the cash flow available to fund strategic capital allocation alternatives and nondiscretionary expenditures
including debt service requirements. Free cash flow indicates cash available to fund additional capital expenditures, to reduce outstanding debt (including current
maturities) or to invest in our growth strategies. This measurement is used for internal management purposes and should not be construed as a better measurement
than net cash from operating activities as defined by generally accepted accounting principles. The following table illustrates our calculation for determining free
cash flow for the nine months ended September 30:

(in millions) 2009 2008
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities $(315.7) $162.8
Net property and equipment proceeds (additions) 70.8 (25.6)
Proceeds from exercise of stock options — 0.1
Free cash flow (deficit) $(244.9) $137.3

Cash used in operations during the nine months ended September 30, 2009 is reflective of our increased operating losses. The 2009 period reflects the deferral of
union pension contributions of $157 million that, if paid would have increased the negative free cash flow for 2009 by the same amount.

In the first nine months of 2009, net property and equipment transactions reflect net proceeds of $70.8 million due to significantly increased sales of excess
property resulting from the integration of the YRC network as well as network efficiencies made in Regional Transportation. Also in 2009, we have reduced
overall capital expenditures due in part to the National Transportation integration and in response to reduced volumes and our financing alternative of leasing
$18.9 million of revenue equipment during the nine months ended September 30, 2009. We intend to continue leasing revenue equipment under various master
lease agreements in the near term. In 2008 we also had reduced equipment capital expenditures offset by the initial payment of approximately $34 million for a
65% ownership interest in Shanghai Jiayu Logistics Co., Ltd.
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During the nine months ended September 30, 2009, we received borrowings of $305.1 million from several sale leaseback type transactions, incurred

indebtedness of $157.2 million related to the deferral of certain pension contributions and had $40.7 million of borrowings under our ABS facility. Debt payments
in 2009 include proceeds from property sales that were in turn used to pay down amounts under our revolving loan facility and pension deferral obligations. Also
in 2009 we have amended various components of our credit agreements resulting in increased debt costs of $44.9 million from the comparable period in 2008.

Contractual Obligations and Other Commercial Commitments

The following tables provide aggregated information regarding our contractual obligations and commercial commitments as of September 30, 2009.

Contractual Cash Obligations

Payments Due By Period
(in millions) Less than 1 year 2-3 years 4-5 years After 5 years Total
Balance sheet obligations: @
ABS borrowings $ 187.7 $ — $ — $ — $ 187.7
Long-term debt including interest® 470.1 578.6 152.5 — 1,201.2
USF Red Star multi-employer pension withdrawal obligation including interest 1.7 3.5 1.7 — 6.9
Lease financing obligations including interest 35.5 73.4 76.5 204.3 389.7
Pension deferral obligation including interest 38.8 101.6 15.9 — 156.3
Off balance sheet obligations:
Operating leases 99.2 109.2 36.5 25.6 270.5
Capital expenditures 5.8 5.8
Total contractual obligations $ 838.8 $ 866.3 $283.1 $ 2299 $2,218.1

(a)

. within “Other Current and Accrued Liabilities”.

earliest possible redemption date defined as the first date on which the note holders have the option to require us to purchase their notes.

During the nine months ended September 30, 2009, we entered into new operating leases for revenue equipment of approximately $18.9 million.

Total liabilities for unrecognized tax benefits as of September 30, 2009, were $84.6 million and are classified on the Company’s consolidated balance sheet

Long-term debt maturities are reflected by contractual maturity for our credit facility. The contingent convertible senior notes are presented based on the

Based on the current funding position of our defined benefit plans for employees not covered by collective bargaining agreements employer contributions of $3.4

million will be made during 2009.

Other Commercial Commitments

The following table reflects other commercial commitments or potential cash outflows that may result from a contingent event, such as a need to borrow short-

term funds due to insufficient free cash flow.

Amount of Commitment Expiration Per Period

(in millions) Less than 1 year 2-3 years 4-5 years After 5 years Total

Unused line of credit $ — $ — $ 110.5 $ — $110.5
Letters of credit 554.4 — — — 554.4
Surety bonds 165.5 0.2 — — 165.7
Total commercial commitments $ 719.9 $ 02 $110.5 $ — $830.6
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Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

We are primarily exposed to the market risk associated with unfavorable movements in interest rates, foreign currencies, and fuel price volatility. The risk
inherent in our market risk sensitive instruments and positions is the potential loss or increased expense arising from adverse changes in those factors. There have
been no material changes to our market risk policies or our market risk sensitive instruments and positions as described in our annual report on Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 2008.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures

As required by the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), we maintain disclosure controls and procedures designed to ensure
that information we are required to disclose in reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act, is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the
time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms. Our disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to
ensure that information we are required to disclose in reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to our
management, including our principal executive and principal financial officers, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Our management, with the participation of our principal executive and financial officers, has evaluated our disclosure controls and procedures as of

September 30, 2009 and has concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of September 30, 2009.

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the fiscal quarter ended September 30, 2009 that have materially
affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II - OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1A. Risk Factors

See “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Financial Condition—Liquidity” for additional information
regarding our liquidity and compliance with covenants in our credit facilities.

Item 5. Other Information

On November 5, 2009, YRC Inc., USF Holland Inc., USF Reddaway Inc. and New Penn Motor Express, Inc., all subsidiaries of the Company, as Primary
Obligors, and certain other subsidiaries of the Company, as Guarantors, entered into Amendment 2 to Contribution Deferral Agreement (the “CDA
Amendment”), which amends that certain Contribution Deferral Agreement with the Central States, Southeast and Southwest Areas Pension Fund and certain
other multiemployer defined benefit pension funds and Wilmington Trust Company, as agent.

The principal terms of the CDA Amendment are set forth herein under the heading “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results
of Operations—Financial Condition—Liquidity—Pension Contribution Deferral Obligations” and incorporated herein by reference.

Item 6. Exhibits

10.1* Amendment No. 8 (dated as of July 13, 2009), Amendment No. 9 (dated as of July 30, 2009), Amendment No. 10 (dated as of August 28, 2009),
Waiver and Amendment No. 11 (dated as of October 9, 2009) and Waiver (dated as of October 26, 2009) to the Credit Agreement, dated as of
August 17, 2007, among the Company, the Canadian Borrower, the UK Borrower, the financial institutions party thereto and JPMorgan Chase Bank,
National Association, as Administrative Agent.

10.2* Amendment No. 12 (dated as of October 27, 2009) to the Credit Agreement, dated as of August 17, 2007, among the Company, the Canadian
Borrower, the UK Borrower, the financial institutions party thereto and JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association, as Administrative Agent.

10.3* Amendment No. 7 (dated July 30, 2009), Amendment No. 8 (dated August 28, 2009), Omnibus Amendment No. 9 (dated September 14, 2009),
Amendment No. 10 (dated September 22, 2009), Waiver and Amendment No. 11 (dated October 9, 2009), Omnibus Amendment No. 12 (dated
October 15, 2009) and Waiver and Amendment No. 13 (dated October 26, 2009) to Third Amended and Restated Receivables Purchase Agreement,
dated as of April 18, 2008, as amended, among Yellow Roadway Receivables Funding Corporation, as Seller; Falcon Asset Securitization Company
LLC, Three Pillars Funding LLC and Amsterdam Funding Corporation, as Conduits; the financial institutions party thereto as Committed Purchasers;
Wachovia Bank, National Association, as Wachovia Agent and LC Issuer; SunTrust Robinson Humphrey, Inc., as Three Pillars Agent, The Royal
Bank of Scotland plc (successor to ABN AMRO Bank, N.V.), as Amsterdam Agent, and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Falcon Agent and
Administrative Agent.

10.4* Amendment No. 14 (dated October 27, 2009) to Third Amended and Restated Receivables Purchase Agreement, dated as of April 18, 2008, as
amended, among Yellow Roadway Receivables Funding Corporation, as Seller; Falcon Asset Securitization Company LLC, Three Pillars Funding
LLC and Amsterdam Funding Corporation, as Conduits; the financial institutions party thereto as Committed Purchasers; Wachovia Bank, National
Association, as Wachovia Agent and LC Issuer; SunTrust Robinson Humphrey, Inc., as Three Pillars Agent, The Royal Bank of Scotland plc
(successor to ABN AMRO Bank, N.V.), as Amsterdam Agent, and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Falcon Agent and Administrative Agent.

10.5* Consent and Amendment Agreement (dated September 22, 2009) and Amendment 2 (dated November 5, 2009) to Contribution Deferral Agreement,
dated as of June 17, 2009 by and between YRC Inc., USF Holland, Inc., New Penn Motor Express, Inc., USF Reddaway Inc., as Primary Obligors,
certain subsidiaries of the Company, as Guarantors, Central States, Southeast and Southwest Areas Pension Fund and the other Funds from time to
time party thereto and Wilmington Trust Company, as Agent.

10.6* Real Estate Sales Contract, effective August 14, 2009, between NorthAmerican Terminals Management, Inc. and YRC Worldwide Inc. and First
Amendment (effective August 21, 2009), Second Amendment (effective September 21, 2009), Third Amendment (effective September 23, 2009),
Fourth Amendment (effective October 7, 2009), Fifth Amendment (effective October 9, 2009) and Sixth Amendment (effective November 4, 2009) to
Real Estate Sales Contract.

10.7* Real Estate Sales Contract, effective August 14, 2009, between NorthAmerican Terminals Management, Inc. and YRC Worldwide Inc. and First
Amendment (effective August 21, 2009), Second Amendment (effective September 21, 2009) and Third Amendment (effective November 4, 2009) to
Real Estate Sales Contract.

57



Table of Contents

10.8

10.9*

31.1*

31.2*

32.1*
32.2%

Amended and Restated Memorandum of Understanding on the Job Security Plan, dated July 9, 2009, among the International Brotherhood of
Teamsters, YRC Inc., USF Holland Inc. and New Penn Motor Express, Inc. (incorporated by reference Exhibit 10.1 to Current Report on Form 8-K,
filed on July 14, 2009, File No. 000-12255).

Company’s Executive Severance Policy.

Certification of William D. Zollars pursuant to Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002.

Certification Sheila K. Taylor pursuant to Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002.

Certification William D. Zollars pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
Certification Sheila K. Taylor pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

* Indicates documents filed herewith
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned
thereunto duly authorized.

YRC WORLDWIDE INC.
Registrant

Date: November 9, 2009 /s/ WILLIAM D. ZOLLARS

William D. Zollars
Chairman of the Board of
Directors & Chief
Executive Officer

Date: November 9, 2009 /s/ SHEILA K. TAYLOR

Sheila K. Taylor
Executive Vice President &
Chief Financial Officer
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Exhibit 10.1
EXECUTION COPY
AMENDMENT NO. 8
Dated as of July 13, 2009
to
CREDIT AGREEMENT
Dated as of August 17, 2007

THIS AMENDMENT NO. 8 (“Amendment”) is made as of July 13, 2009 by and among YRC Worldwide Inc. (the “Company”), the Canadian
Borrower and the UK Borrower (together with the Company, the “Borrowers”), the financial institutions listed on the signature pages hereof and JPMorgan Chase
Bank, National Association, as Administrative Agent (the “Administrative Agent”), under that certain Credit Agreement dated as of August 17, 2007 by and
among the Borrowers from time to time party thereto, the Lenders and the Administrative Agent (as amended, amended and restated, restated, supplemented or
otherwise modified from time to time, the “Credit Agreement”). Capitalized terms used herein and not otherwise defined herein shall have the respective
meanings given to them in the Credit Agreement.

WHEREAS, the Company has requested that the Lenders and the Administrative Agent agree to certain amendments to the Credit Agreement; and
WHEREAS, the Lenders party hereto and the Administrative Agent have agreed to such amendments on the terms and conditions set forth herein;

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises set forth above, the terms and conditions contained herein, and other good and valuable
consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Borrowers, the Lenders party hereto and the Administrative Agent have agreed
to enter into this Amendment.

1. Amendments to Credit Agreement. Effective as of the date of satisfaction or waiver of the conditions precedent set forth in Section 2 below, the
Credit Agreement is hereby amended as follows:

(a) Section 2.09(d) of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended to delete the reference to “July 16, 2009” appearing therein and to replace therefor a
reference to “August 1, 2009”.

(b) Section 2.12(h) of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended to delete each reference to “July 15, 2009” appearing therein and in each case to
replace therefor a reference to “July 31, 2009”.

(c) Section 4.02(d) of the Credit Agreement is hereby restated in its entirety as follows:

(d) To the extent that the Company has requested a Borrowing or the issuance of a Letter of Credit which would not be available without using some
amount of the Revolver Reserve Amount, (i) with respect to any such request for a Borrowing or issuance to be made on



or after the Amendment No. 7 Effective Date and prior to August 1, 2009, (A) if the Company shall first have demonstrated to the reasonable satisfaction of the
Administrative Agent (with reporting of sufficient detail in the Administrative Agent’s reasonable discretion) that the Company made 75,000 or more LTL
shipments within the national segment for each of five (5) consecutive Business Days all occurring on or after the Amendment No. 7 Effective Date, it shall be a
condition that the Required Lenders have agreed that the relevant portion of the Revolver Reserve Amount shall be made available to the Borrowers for such
purpose and (B) if the Company cannot demonstrate the performance in the manner described in the foregoing clause (A), it shall be a condition that the Lenders
having Revolving Credit Exposures, outstanding principal amount of Term Loans and unused Commitments representing at least 6623% of the sum of the total
Revolving Credit Exposures, aggregate principal amount of Term Loans and unused Commitments at such time have agreed that the relevant portion of the
Revolver Reserve Amount shall be made available to the Borrowers for such purpose and (ii) with respect to any such request for a Borrowing or issuance to be
made on or after August 1, 2009, it shall be a condition that the Required Lenders have agreed that the relevant portion of the Revolver Reserve Amount shall be
made available to the Borrowers for such purpose.

2. Conditions of Effectiveness. The effectiveness of this Amendment is subject to the conditions precedent that (a) the Administrative Agent shall
have received (i) counterparts of this Amendment duly executed by the Borrowers, the Required Lenders and the Administrative Agent, (ii) the Consent and
Reaffirmation attached hereto duly executed by the Subsidiary Guarantors and (iii) those documents and instruments as may be reasonably requested by the
Administrative Agent and (b) the Company shall have paid all invoiced, reasonable, out-of-pocket expenses of the Administrative Agent (including, to the extent
invoiced, reasonable attorneys’ fees and expenses) in connection with this Amendment and the other Loan Documents, in each case to the extent reimbursable
under the terms of the Credit Agreement.

3. Amendment to a Pension Fund Intercreditor Agreement. The Lenders party hereto authorize JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association (in its
capacity as Administrative Agent and/or as Collateral Agent) to permit Wilmington Trust Company to designate Wilmington Trust FSB, a Federal Savings Bank,
or any other affiliate of Wilmington Trust Company, as sub-agent on behalf of Wilmington Trust Company, for purposes of perfecting and otherwise being and
acting as the secured party in respect of the “Pension Fund Lien” on the “Common Collateral” (each as defined in the Pension Fund Intercreditor Agreement
dated as of June 17, 2009).

4. Representations and Warranties of the Borrowers. Each Borrower hereby represents and warrants as follows as of the closing date of this
Amendment:

(a) This Amendment and the Credit Agreement, as amended hereby, constitute legal, valid and binding obligations of such Borrower and are
enforceable against such Borrower in accordance with their terms, subject to applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or other laws
affecting creditors’ rights generally and subject to general principles of equity, regardless of whether considered in a proceeding in equity or at law.

(b) As of the date hereof after giving effect to the terms of this Amendment, (i) no Default shall have occurred and be continuing and (ii) the
representations and warranties of the Borrowers set forth in the Credit Agreement, as amended hereby, are true and correct in all material respects on and as of the
date hereof, except to the extent any such representation or warranty is stated to relate solely to an earlier date, in which case such representation or warranty shall
have been true and correct in all material respects on and as of such earlier date.



5. Reference to and Effect on the Credit Agreement.

(a) Upon the effectiveness hereof, each reference to the Credit Agreement in the Credit Agreement or any other Loan Document shall mean and be a
reference to the Credit Agreement as amended hereby.

(b) Except as specifically amended above, the Credit Agreement and all other documents, instruments and agreements executed and/or delivered in
connection therewith shall remain in full force and effect and are hereby ratified and confirmed.

(c) The execution, delivery and effectiveness of this Amendment shall not operate as a waiver of any right, power or remedy of the Administrative
Agent or the Lenders, nor constitute a waiver of any provision of the Credit Agreement or any other documents, instruments and agreements executed and/or
delivered in connection therewith.

6. Perfection of Additional Collateral. The parties hereto acknowledge that perfection of the Collateral Agent’s Lien in certain Collateral, including,
without limitation, real property and improvements thereto, tractors, trailers and other rolling stock, is ongoing, but the Company and the Loan Parties continue to
execute such documents, agreements and instruments in connection therewith in accordance with Section 5.10 of the Credit Agreement (as amended by the
Amendment) and the other Loan Documents. To the extent that any release of Collateral pursuant to the Specified Sale and Leaseback Transaction, any Specified
Pension Fund Transaction and any other Asset Sale consummated between the date hereof and July 15, 2009 diminishes the value of Collateral, the Company
agrees that any perfection of Liens described in the preceding sentence that occurs between the date hereof and July 15, 2009 shall be considered to have occurred
substantially contemporaneously with any release of Collateral pursuant to the Specified Sale and Leaseback Transaction, any Specified Pension Fund
Transaction and any other Asset Sale consummated between the date hereof and July 15, 2009 that diminishes the value of the Collateral.

7. Release. In further consideration of the execution by the Administrative Agent and the Lenders of this Amendment, to the extent permitted by
applicable law, the Company, on behalf of itself and each of its Subsidiaries, and all of the successors and assigns of each of the foregoing (collectively, the
“Releasors”), hereby completely, voluntarily, knowingly, and unconditionally releases and forever discharges the Collateral Agent, the Administrative Agent, each
of the Lenders, each of their advisors, professionals and employees, each affiliate of the foregoing and all of their respective permitted successors and assigns
(collectively, the “Releasees”), from any and all claims, actions, suits, and other liabilities, including, without limitation, any so-called “lender liability” claims or
defenses (collectively, “Claims™), whether arising in law or in equity, which any of the Releasors ever had, now has or hereinafter can, shall or may have against
any of the Releasees for, upon or by reason of any matter, cause or thing whatsoever from time to time occurred on or prior to the date hereof, in any way
concerning, relating to, or arising from (i) any of the Transactions, (ii) the Secured Obligations, (iii) the Collateral, (iv) the Credit Agreement or any of the other
Loan Documents, (v) the financial condition, business operations, business plans, prospects or creditworthiness of the Borrowers, and (vi) the negotiation,
documentation and execution of this Amendment and any documents relating hereto except for Claims determined by a court of competent jurisdiction by final
and nonappealable judgment to have resulted from the gross negligence, bad faith or willful misconduct of such Releasee (or any of its Related Parties). The
Releasors hereby acknowledge that they have been advised by legal counsel of the meaning and consequences of this release.

8. Governing Law. This Amendment shall be construed in accordance with and governed by the law of the State of New York.
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9. Headings. Section headings in this Amendment are included herein for convenience of reference only and shall not constitute a part of this
Amendment for any other purpose.

10. Counterparts. This Amendment may be executed by one or more of the parties hereto on any number of separate counterparts, and all of said
counterparts taken together shall be deemed to constitute one and the same instrument. Signatures delivered by facsimile or PDF shall have the same force and
effect as manual signatures delivered in person.

[Signature Pages Follow]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Amendment has been duly executed as of the day and year first above written.
YRC WORLDWIDE INC,, as the Company

By:

Name:
Title:

REIMER EXPRESS LINES LTD./REIMER EXPRESS LTEE,
as a Canadian Borrower

By:

Name:
Title:

YRC LOGISTICS LIMITED, as a UK Borrower

By:

Name:
Title:

Signature Page to Amendment No. 8
YRC Worldwide Inc. et al
Credit Agreement dated as of August 17, 2007



JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as
Administrative Agent, as a US Tranche Lender and as US
Tranche Swingline Lender

By:

Name:
Title:

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,
TORONTO BRANCH, as Canadian Agent, as a Canadian

Tranche Lender and as Canadian Tranche Swingline Lender

By:

Name:
Title:

J.P. MORGAN EUROPE LIMITED, as UK Agent

By:

Name:
Title:

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,
LONDON BRANCH, as a UK Tranche Lender and as UK

Tranche Swingline Lender

By:

Name:
Title:

Signature Page to Amendment No. 8
YRC Worldwide Inc. et al
Credit Agreement dated as of August 17, 2007



BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., as a Syndication Agent and as a
US Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:

BANK OF AMERICA, N.A. (CANADA BRANCH), as a
Canadian Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:

BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., as Successor by Merger to
LASALLE BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as a US

Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:

Signature Page to Amendment No. 8
YRC Worldwide Inc. et al
Credit Agreement dated as of August 17, 2007



SUNTRUST BANK, as a Syndication Agent and as a US
Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:

Signature Page to Amendment No. 8
YRC Worldwide Inc. et al
Credit Agreement dated as of August 17, 2007



US BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as a Documentation
Agent, as a US Tranche Lender and as a Canadian Tranche
Lender

By:

Name:
Title:

Signature Page to Amendment No. 8
YRC Worldwide Inc. et al
Credit Agreement dated as of August 17, 2007



WACHOVIA BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as a
Documentation Agent, as a US Tranche Lender and as a UK
Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:

Signature Page to Amendment No. 8
YRC Worldwide Inc. et al
Credit Agreement dated as of August 17, 2007



BANK OF TOKYO-MITSUBISHI UFJ, LTD, as a
Documentation Agent and as a US Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:

Signature Page to Amendment No. 8
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Credit Agreement dated as of August 17, 2007



THE ROYAL BANK OF SCOTLAND plc, as a US Tranche
Lender and as a UK Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:

Signature Page to Amendment No. 8
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BMO CAPITAL MARKETS FINANCING, INC.,
as a US Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:

BANK OF MONTREAL, as a Canadian Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:

Signature Page to Amendment No. 8
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SUMITOMO MITSUI BANKING CORPORATION, as a US
Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:

Signature Page to Amendment No. 8
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Credit Agreement dated as of August 17, 2007



UMB BANK, n.a., as a US Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:

Signature Page to Amendment No. 8
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Credit Agreement dated as of August 17, 2007



TAIWAN BUSINESS BANK, as a US Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:
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MEGA INTERNATIONAL COMMERCIAL BANK CO.,
LTD., NEW YORK BRANCH, as a US Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:
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TAIPEI FUBON COMMERCIAL BANK, NEW YORK
AGENCY, as a US Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:
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HUA NAN COMMERCIAL BANK, LTD., LOS ANGELES
BRANCH, as a US Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:
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HUA NAN COMMERCIAL BANK, LTD., NEW YORK
AGENCY, as a US Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:
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BANK OF COMMUNICATIONS CO., LTD., NEW YORK
BRANCH, as a US Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:

Signature Page to Amendment No. 8
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CHANG HWA COMMERCIAL BANK, LTD., NEW YORK
BRANCH, as a US Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:
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FIRST COMMERCIAL BANK, LOS ANGELES BRANCH, as
a US Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:

Signature Page to Amendment No. 8
YRC Worldwide Inc. et al
Credit Agreement dated as of August 17, 2007



EXECUTION COPY
AMENDMENT NO. 9
Dated as of July 30, 2009
to
CREDIT AGREEMENT
Dated as of August 17, 2007

THIS AMENDMENT NO. 9 (“Amendment”) is made as of July 30, 2009 by and among YRC Worldwide Inc. (the “Company”), the Canadian
Borrower and the UK Borrower (together with the Company, the “Borrowers™), the financial institutions listed on the signature pages hereof and JPMorgan Chase
Bank, National Association, as Administrative Agent (the “Administrative Agent”), under that certain Credit Agreement dated as of August 17, 2007 by and
among the Borrowers from time to time party thereto, the Lenders and the Administrative Agent (as amended, amended and restated, restated, supplemented or
otherwise modified from time to time, the “Credit Agreement”). Capitalized terms used herein and not otherwise defined herein shall have the respective
meanings given to them in the Credit Agreement.

WHEREAS, the Company has requested that the Lenders and the Administrative Agent agree to certain amendments to the Credit Agreement; and
WHEREAS, the Lenders party hereto and the Administrative Agent have agreed to such amendments on the terms and conditions set forth herein;

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises set forth above, the terms and conditions contained herein, and other good and valuable
consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Borrowers, the Lenders party hereto and the Administrative Agent have agreed
to enter into this Amendment.

1. AMENDMENTS TO CREDIT AGREEMENT. EFFECTIVE AS OF THE DATE OF SATISFACTION OR WAIVER OF THE CONDITIONS
PRECEDENT SET FORTH IN SECTION 2 BELOW, THE CREDIT AGREEMENT IS HEREBY AMENDED AS FOLLOWS:

(a) Section 1.01 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended to insert the following new definitions thereto in the appropriate alphabetical order as
follows:

“Amendment No. 9” means Amendment No. 9 to this Agreement, dated as of July 30, 2009, by and among the Borrowers, the Lenders party
thereto and the Administrative Agent.

“Amendment No. 9 Effective Date” means July 30, 2009.
“Designated Officer” has the meaning given to such term in Section 5.14.

“Regional Sub-Segments” means each of (i) Holland, (ii) New Penn and (iii) Reddaway.




“Teamsters Deal” means the Second Amended and Restated Job Security Plan by and among YRC Inc., USF Holland, Inc. and New Penn
Motor Express, Inc. and the Teamsters National Freight Industry Negotiating Committee of the International Brotherhood of Teamsters as disclosed
to the Lenders on or prior to the Amendment No. 9 Effective Date, without giving effect to any amendment, restatement, supplement or any other
modification (in each case which are adverse to the Lenders) after such date.

(b) The definition of “Asset Sale” appearing in Section 1.01 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended to (i) delete the “and” at the end of clause
(c) thereof, (ii) insert “or to third parties in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practices, and” at the end of clause (d) thereof and (iii) to insert a
new clause (e) therein as follows:

(e) (i) leases, subleases and terminations and abandonment of any leasehold interest in real property and (ii) granting of easements or rights of
way in respect of real property, in each case, in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practices.

(c) The definition of “Consolidated EBITDA” appearing in Section 1.01 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended to restate the first paragraph
thereof in its entirety as follows:

“Consolidated EBITDA” shall mean Consolidated Net Income plus, to the extent deducted from revenues in determining Consolidated Net
Income, (a) Consolidated Interest Expense, (b) expense for taxes paid or accrued, (c) depreciation (including that applied to the Company’s equity
method investments), (d) amortization (including that applied to the Company’s equity method investments), (e) extraordinary, non-cash expenses or
losses incurred other than in the ordinary course of business, (f) non-recurring (including non-recurring and unusual) non-cash expenses or losses
(including non-cash impairment charges) incurred other than in the ordinary course of business, (g) non-cash expenses related to stock based
compensation or stock appreciation rights, (h) fees and expenses (including legal, accounting and debt issuance costs) in each case, incurred in
connection with (A) that certain Waiver No. 1 dated as of January 15, 2009 to this Agreement and Amendment No. 2, (B) that certain Waiver No. 1
dated as of January 15, 2009 to the Yellow Receivables Facility and any amendment thereto entered into concurrently with Amendment No. 2,

(C) the Specified Sale and Leaseback Transaction, (i) with respect to the fiscal quarter of the Company ending on or about December 31, 2009, the
lesser of (A) $14,000,000 and (B) the actual aggregate amount of restructuring professional fees paid by the Company and its Subsidiaries during
such fiscal quarter, (j) with respect to the fiscal quarter of the Company ending on or about March 31, 2010, the lesser of (A) $8,000,000 and (B) the
actual aggregate amount of restructuring professional fees paid by the Company and its Subsidiaries during such fiscal quarter, (k) with respect to the
fiscal quarter of the Company ending on or about June 30, 2010, the lesser of (A) $5,000,000 and (B) the actual aggregate amount of restructuring
professional fees paid by the Company and its Subsidiaries during such fiscal quarter, minus, to the extent included in Consolidated Net Income,

(1) interest income, (m) income tax credits and refunds (to the extent not netted from tax expense), (n) any cash payments made during such period in
respect of items described in clauses (e), (f) or (g) above subsequent to the fiscal quarter in which the relevant non-cash expenses or losses were
incurred, (o) any income or gains resulting from the early retirement, redemption, defeasance, repayment or similar actions in respect of
Indebtedness and (p) extraordinary, unusual or non-recurring income or gains realized other than in the ordinary course of business, all calculated for
the Company and its Subsidiaries in accordance with GAAP on a consolidated basis.

(d) Section 2.09(d), of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended to delete the reference to “August 1, 2009” appearing therein and to replace therefor
a reference to “September 1, 2009”.



(e) Section 2.12(e) of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended to delete the reference to “one (1) Business Day” appearing therein and to replace
therefor a reference to “three (3) Business Days”.

(f) Section 2.12(h) of the Credit Agreement is hereby restated in its entirety as follows:

(h) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in this Section 2.12, with respect to any Real Estate Asset Sale described in clause (a) of
the definition of “Prepayment Event” the Net Cash Proceeds of which, together with the aggregate amount of Net Cash Proceeds from all such Asset
Sales occurring on or after January 1, 2009, is less than or equal to $300,000,000 and which occurs on or prior to August 31, 2009, the Net Cash
Proceeds thereof shall be applied as follows:

(i) (x) solely in respect of the first $50,000,000 of such Net Cash Proceeds received on and after the Amendment No. 9 Effective Date
and prior to September 1, 2009 (such Net Cash Proceeds, the “Designated Asset Sale Proceeds”), but subject to the proviso below, 100% and
(y) thereafter, 50% of such Net Cash Proceeds shall be used to make a prepayment of the outstanding Revolving Loans (without a
corresponding permanent reduction of the Revolving Commitments at such time); and

(ii) (x) solely in respect of the Designated Asset Sale Proceeds, but subject to the proviso below, 0% and (y) thereafter, 50% of such
Net Cash Proceeds shall be used to make a prepayment of the outstanding Revolving Loans (without a corresponding permanent reduction of
the Revolving Commitments at such time), and the aggregate amount of all such prepayments made pursuant to this Section 2.12(h)(ii) from
and including January 1, 2009 through and including August 31, 2009 shall be the “Revolver Reserve Amount”;

provided, that:

(a) in respect of the first $20,000,000 of Designated Asset Sale Proceeds, if any, the 100% in clause (i) above and the 0% in
clause (ii) above shall be applicable thereto;

(b) in respect of $15,000,000 of Designated Asset Sale Proceeds received following the first $20,000,000 of Designated Asset
Sale Proceeds described in clause (a) above, if any, the 100% in clause (i) above and the 0% in clause (ii) above shall be applicable
only if the Teamsters Deal has been ratified and remains in full force and effect as of such date (the “Teamsters Condition”) and if
such Teamsters Condition is not satisfied or waived, then 50% of such Designated Asset Sale Proceeds shall be used to make a
prepayment of the outstanding Revolving Loans (without a corresponding permanent reduction of the Revolving Commitments at
such time) and 50% of such Designated Asset Sale Proceeds shall be placed into an escrow account (the “Asset Sale Escrow
Account”) maintained with JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association subject to an escrow account agreement granting a security
interest in the amounts on deposit therein to the Administrative Agent (in form and substance similar to the
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escrow account agreement previously entered into by the Company and the Administrative Agent in connection with this Agreement
or otherwise reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent) and shall be released (A) to the Company, for application in
accordance with the terms of clause (i) above, only if the Teamsters Condition is satisfied or waived on or prior to 10:00 a.m., New
York City time, on August 30, 2009 or (B) to the Administrative Agent in accordance with the terms of clause (d) below;

(c) in respect of $15,000,000 of Designated Asset Sale Proceeds received following the first $20,000,000 of Designated Asset
Sale Proceeds described in clause (a) above, if any, the 100% in clause (i) above and the 0% in clause (ii) above shall be applicable
only if the Company has engaged a Designated Officer as contemplated and more fully described by Section 5.14(b) (the “Designated
Officer Condition) and if such Designated Officer Condition is not satisfied or waived, then 50% of such Designated Asset Sale
Proceeds shall be used to make a prepayment of the outstanding Revolving Loans (without a corresponding permanent reduction of
the Revolving Commitments at such time) and 50% of such Designated Asset Sale Proceeds shall be placed into the Asset Sale
Escrow Account and shall be released (A) to the Company, for application in accordance with the terms of clause (i) above, only if the
Designated Officer Condition is satisfied or waived on or prior to 10:00 a.m., New York City time, on August 30, 2009 or (B) to the
Administrative Agent in accordance with the terms of clause (d) below;

(d) At 11:00 a.m., New York City time, on August 30, 2009, the Asset Sale Escrow Account shall be terminated and all amounts
on deposit in the Asset Sale Escrow Account shall be released therefrom and shall be applied by the Administrative Agent to make a
prepayment of the outstanding Revolving Loans (without a corresponding permanent reduction of the Revolving Commitments at
such time) and the Revolver Reserve Amount shall be increased by an identical amount.

(g) Section 3.04(b) of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended to delete the reference to “September 30, 2008” appearing therein and to replace
therefor a reference to “December 31, 2008”.

(h) Section 4.02(d), of the Credit Agreement is hereby restated in its entirety as follows:

(d) To the extent that the Company has requested a Borrowing or the issuance of a Letter of Credit which would not be available without using
some amount of the Revolver Reserve Amount, (i) with respect to any such request for a Borrowing or issuance to be made on or after the
Amendment No. 7 Effective Date and prior to September 1, 2009, (A) if the Company shall first have demonstrated to the reasonable satisfaction of
the Administrative Agent (with reporting of sufficient detail in the Administrative Agent’s reasonable discretion) that the Company made 75,000 or
more LTL shipments within the national segment for each of five (5) consecutive Business Days all occurring on or after the Amendment No. 7
Effective Date, it shall be a condition that the Required Lenders have agreed that the relevant portion of the Revolver Reserve Amount shall be made
available to the Borrowers for such purpose and (B) if the Company cannot demonstrate the performance in the manner described in the foregoing
clause (A), it shall be a condition that the Lenders having Revolving Credit Exposures, outstanding
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principal amount of Term Loans and unused Commitments representing at least 6623% of the sum of the total Revolving Credit Exposures, aggregate
principal amount of Term Loans and unused Commitments at such time have agreed that the relevant portion of the Revolver Reserve Amount shall
be made available to the Borrowers for such purpose and (ii) with respect to any such request for a Borrowing or issuance to be made on or after
September 1, 2009, it shall be a condition that the Required Lenders have agreed that the relevant portion of the Revolver Reserve Amount shall be
made available to the Borrowers for such purpose.

(i) Section 4.02 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended to insert a new clause (f) thereto immediately following clause (e) thereof as follows:

(f) The Company has delivered to the Administrative Agent a certificate of a Financial Officer certifying the Revolver Reserve Amount as of
the date of such certificate (which date shall be the date of request for such Borrowing or Letter of Credit).

(j) Section 5.01(a) of the Credit Agreement is hereby restated in its entirety as follows:

(a) within 90 days after the end of each fiscal year of the Company (or, if earlier, concurrently with the filing thereof with the Securities and
Exchange Commission or any national securities exchange in accordance with applicable law or regulation), (i) its audited consolidated balance
sheet and related statements of operations, stockholders’ equity and cash flows as of the end of and for such year, setting forth in each case in
comparative form the figures for the previous fiscal year, all reported on by KPMG LLP or other independent public accountants of recognized
national standing (without a “going concern” or like qualification or exception and without any qualification or exception as to the scope of such
audit) to the effect that such consolidated financial statements present fairly in all material respects the financial condition and results of operations
of the Company and its consolidated Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP consistently applied and (ii) with respect to the
Company’s operating segments and Regional Sub-Segments, consolidating, its unaudited consolidating balance sheet and related statements of
operations, stockholders’ equity and cash flows as of the end of and for such year, setting forth in each case in comparative form the figures for the
previous fiscal year, all certified by one of its Financial Officers as presenting fairly in all material respects the financial condition and results of
operations of the Company and its consolidated Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP consistently applied;

(k) Section 5.01(b) of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended to delete the reference to “unaudited consolidated” appearing therein and to replace
therefor a reference to “unaudited consolidated (and, with respect to the Company’s operating segments and Regional Sub-Segments, consolidating)”.

(1) Section 5.01(f) of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended to delete the reference to “unaudited consolidated” appearing therein and to replace
therefor a reference to “unaudited consolidated (and, with respect to the Company’s operating segments and Regional Sub-Segments, consolidating)”.
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(m) Section 5.01(g) of the Credit Agreement is hereby restated in its entirety as follows:

(g) on or before the fifth Business Day of each fiscal month, commencing on the fifth business day of March 2009, the Company shall deliver
to the Administrative Agent projections of the weekly cash flows for the 13-week period commencing on the first day of such fiscal month (the “13-
Week Cash Flow Projections”) which (A) reflect the Company’s and its Domestic Subsidiaries’ consolidated projected cash receipts and cash
expenditures for their corporate and other operations and (B) contain comments of management of the Company and, if then engaged, comments of
the Company Financial Advisor, all in a form reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent and (ii) on or before the Wednesday of each
calendar week, commencing with the week beginning August 2, 2009, the Company shall submit to the Administrative Agent a variance report
reflecting on a line-item basis the actual results (all in reasonably appropriate detail) for the previous calendar week and the percentage variance of
such actual results from those projected for such previous calendar week on the most current 13-Week Cash Flow Projections delivered under the
terms of this Credit Agreement prior to such date, all in the form set forth on Schedule 5.01(g); provided that, at any time that the Company is
maintaining a corporate credit rating of BBB- or better from S&P and a Corporate Family Rating of Baa3 or better from Moody’s (in each case, with
a stable or better outlook), the Company shall not be obligated to deliver the 13-Week Cash Flow Projections pursuant to this clause (g) or the
variation reports in respect thereof pursuant to clause (h) below;

(n) Section 5.01(h) of the Credit Agreement is hereby restated in its entirety as follows:

(h) on or before the fifth Business Day of each fiscal month commencing on the fifth Business Day of March 2009, the Company shall submit
to the Administrative Agent a variance report reflecting on a line-item basis the actual results (all in appropriate detail) for the previous calendar
month and the percentage variance of such actual results from those projected for such previous calendar month on the most current 13-Week Cash
Flow Projections delivered under the terms of this Credit Agreement prior to such date, all in a form and demonstrating such detail as is reasonably
satisfactory to the Administrative Agent (provided that, with respect to the variance report due on the fifth Business Day of March 2009, such
variance report will compare the 13-Week Cash Flow Projections delivered pursuant to clause (g) above with the most recent 13-week cash flow
projections dated as of February 10, 2009 provided by the Company to the Lenders prior to the Amendment No. 2 Effective Date);

(o) Section 5.06 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended to delete the reference to “permit any representatives designated by the Administrative
Agent or any Lender” appearing therein and to replace therefor a reference to “permit any representatives designated by the Administrative Agent or any Lender
(including, without limitation, financial and other professional advisors retained by the Administrative Agent)”.

(p) Article V of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended to insert new Sections 5.14, 5.15 and 5.16 thereto immediately following Section 5.13 as
follows:

SECTION 5.14. Designated Officer.

(a) No later than August 3, 2009 (or such later date agreed to by the Administrative Agent and the Required Lenders), the Company will have
presented to the Administrative Agent (i) a candidate for election to the position of Designated Officer (the “Designated Officer”) to, among other
things, review the viability of the Company’s business and its current liquidity, terminal operations, restructuring of the Company’s Regional or
Logistics businesses, whole-business or asset sales, and staffing requirements and (ii) a description of the proposed scope of the engagement and the
authority granted to such Designated Officer.



(b) No later than August 20, 2009 (or such later date agreed to by the Administrative Agent and the Required Lenders), the Company shall
have engaged and, subject to clause (c) below, will thereafter continuously maintain a Designated Officer reasonably acceptable to the Required
Lenders to, among other things, review the viability of the Company’s business and its current liquidity, terminal operations, restructuring of the
Company’s Regional or Logistics businesses, whole-business or asset sales, and staffing requirements. The scope of the Designated Officer’s
engagement and the authority granted to such officer shall be reasonably satisfactory to the Required Lenders, which engagement shall provide for,
among other things, the Designated Officer to report and be responsible directly to the Board of Directors of Company. The Company shall take all
reasonably necessary steps to cause the Designated Officer to be available for discussions with the Administrative Agent and its financial and other
professional advisors and the Lenders from time to time upon reasonable request.

(c) In the event the Designated Officer ceases for any reason to act in that capacity, the Company shall engage a successor Designated Officer
reasonably acceptable to the Required Lenders within twenty (20) Business Days (or such later date agreed to by the Administrative Agent and the
Required Lenders) of such event.

SECTION 5.15. Restructuring Plan.

(a) On or prior to August 14, 2009 (or such later date agreed to by the Administrative Agent and the Required Lenders), the Company shall
deliver to the Administrative Agent and the Lenders a written draft restructuring plan and related financial projections, models and analysis, all
reviewed by Alvarez & Marsal North America, LLC and in form reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent.

(b) On or prior to August 21, 2009 (or such later date agreed to by the Administrative Agent and the Required Lenders), the Company shall
deliver to the Administrative Agent and the Lenders (i) a written final restructuring plan and related financial projections, models and analysis (the
“Final Restructuring Plan”), and (ii) written terms and conditions setting forth all of the necessary actions requested by the Company to be taken to
achieve the Final Restructuring Plan, in each case for clauses (i) and (ii), reviewed by Alvarez & Marsal North America, LLC and in form
reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent.

SECTION 5.16. Real Estate Asset Sale Data. The Company shall provide, with respect to each Real Estate Asset Sale (i) which was
consummated on or after January 1, 2009 and prior to the Amendment No. 9 Effective Date, within ten (10) Business Days following the
Amendment No. 9 Effective Date (or such later date agreed to by the Administrative Agent and the Required Lenders), and (ii) which is
consummated on or after the Amendment No. 9 Effective Date, on or prior to the date such Real Estate Asset Sale is consummated, the following
information: (A) the purchase price as stated in the applicable final agreement between the Company and/or its Subsidiaries and the prospective
purchaser received by the Company or its Subsidiary(ies) in connection with such Real Estate Asset Sale, (B) the gross book value (as reflected in
the Company’s books and records as of the date of such Real Estate Asset Sale) of the real property asset(s) sold, disposed of or otherwise
transferred in connection with such Real Estate Asset Sale, (C) the net book value (as reflected in the Company’s books and records as of the date of
such Real Estate Asset Sale) of the real property asset(s) sold, disposed of or otherwise transferred in connection with such Real Estate Asset Sale,
(D) if available, the internal valuation (as reflected in the Company’s books and records as of the date of such Asset Sale) of the real property asset(s)
sold, disposed of or otherwise transferred in connection with such Real Estate Asset Sale and (E) to the extent an appraisal reasonably acceptable to
the Administrative Agent



exists with respect of any of the real property asset(s) sold, disposed of or otherwise transferred in connection with such Real Estate Asset Sale, the
appraised value thereof, all in form, substance and detail satisfactory to the Administrative Agent.

(q) Section 6.05 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended to (i) delete the phrase “and” from the end of clause (e) thereof, (ii) insert an “and” at
the end of clause (f) thereof, and (iii) insert a new clause (g) immediately following clause (f) thereof as follows:

(g) with respect to each Real Estate Asset Sale occurring after July 30, 2009, the Company has delivered a certificate in respect thereof in form
and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent which, among other things, provides all of the information required by
Section 5.16 in respect of such Real Estate Asset Sale;

(r) Section 6.06(b) of the Credit Agreement is hereby restated in its entirety as follows:

SECTION 6.06. Transactions with Affiliates. The Company will not, and will not permit any of its Subsidiaries to, sell, lease or otherwise
transfer any property or assets to, or purchase, lease or otherwise acquire any property or assets from, or otherwise engage in any other transactions
with, any of its Affiliates, except in each of the following circumstances: (a) transactions between or among (i) the Domestic Loan Parties, (ii) the
Loan Parties that are not Domestic Loan Parties (provided that YRC Assurances Co. Ltd. may not engage in any transactions other than with
Domestic Loan Parties or, on terms reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent, solely to the extent as otherwise required by the winding up,
liquidation or dissolution process contemplated by Section 5.13), (iii) the Foreign Subsidiaries, (b) transactions among the Company and its
Subsidiaries otherwise permitted by the express terms of this Agreement and (c) transactions among the Company or its Subsidiaries and their
Affiliates in the ordinary course of business at prices and on terms and conditions not less favorable to the Company or such Subsidiary than could
be obtained on an arm’s-length basis from unrelated third parties.

(s) Section 6.07(c) of the Credit Agreement is hereby restated in its entirety as follows:

(c) Minimum Liquidity. On and after September 1, 2009, the Company will maintain Liquidity equal to or greater than $100,000,000 at all
times, and Liquidity shall be tested on each Business Day.
(t) Section 6.07(d) of the Credit Agreement is hereby restated in its entirety as follows:

(d) Minimum Consolidated EBITDA. The Company will not permit Consolidated EBITDA for any period set forth below to be less than the
amount set forth opposite such period:

Minimum
Consolidated

Period EBITDA
For the fiscal quarter ending on December 31, 2009 $ 15,000,000
For the fiscal quarter ending on March 31, 2010 $ 20,000,000
For the two consecutive fiscal quarters ending on June 30, 2010 $ 80,000,000
For the three consecutive fiscal quarters ending September 30, 2010 $145,000,000
For the four consecutive fiscal quarters ending December 31, 2010 $210,000,000
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(u) Article VII of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended to restated clause (d) thereof in its entirety as follows:

(d) the Company shall fail to observe or perform any covenant, condition or agreement contained in Section 5.02, 5.03 (with respect to any
Borrower’s existence), 5.08 5.09, 5.10, 5.11, 5.12, 5.13, 5.14, 5.15 or 5.16 or in Article VI (other than Section 6.07(c), with respect to which no
Event of Default shall occur hereunder unless the Company violates such covenant for a period of three consecutive Business Days);

(v) A new Schedule 5.01(g) is hereby added to the Credit Agreement as set forth on Annex A hereto.

(w) Each Lender party hereto, on its behalf and on the behalf of its affiliated Holders of Secured Obligations, hereby authorizes the Administrative
Agent, to give written notice to any “escrow agent” under (and as defined in) the “escrow account agreement” covering the Asset Sale Escrow Account that the
relevant conditions to release of funds therefrom have been satisfied pursuant to the terms of the Credit Agreement and that such applicable funds on deposit in
the Asset Sale Escrow Account may be released pursuant to the terms of the Credit Agreement. The Administrative Agent agrees to deliver the notice described in
the previous sentence upon the satisfaction of the relevant conditions for such release.

2. CONDITIONS OF EFFECTIVENESS. THE EFFECTIVENESS OF THIS AMENDMENT IS SUBJECT TO THE CONDITIONS PRECEDENT
THAT (A) THE ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT SHALL HAVE RECEIVED (I) COUNTERPARTS OF THIS AMENDMENT DULY EXECUTED BY (X) THE
BORROWERS, (Y) THE REQUIRED LENDERS AND (Z) THE ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT, (II) THE CONSENT AND REAFFIRMATION ATTACHED
HERETO DULY EXECUTED BY THE SUBSIDIARY GUARANTORS, (III) AN AMENDMENT IN RESPECT OF THE YELLOW RECEIVABLES
FACILITY IN FORM AND SUBSTANCE SIMILAR TO THIS AMENDMENT AND REASONABLY SATISFACTORY TO THE ADMINISTRATIVE
AGENT AND (IV) THOSE DOCUMENTS AND INSTRUMENTS AS MAY BE REASONABLY REQUESTED BY THE ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT AND
(B) THE COMPANY SHALL HAVE PAID ALL INVOICED, REASONABLE, OUT-OF-POCKET EXPENSES OF THE ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT
(INCLUDING, TO THE EXTENT INVOICED, REASONABLE ATTORNEYS’ FEES AND EXPENSES) IN CONNECTION WITH THIS AMENDMENT
AND THE OTHER LOAN DOCUMENTS, IN EACH CASE TO THE EXTENT REIMBURSABLE UNDER THE TERMS OF THE CREDIT AGREEMENT.

3. REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE BORROWERS. EACH BORROWER HEREBY REPRESENTS AND WARRANTS AS
FOLLOWS AS OF THE CLOSING DATE OF THIS AMENDMENT:

(a) This Amendment and the Credit Agreement, as amended hereby, constitute legal, valid and binding obligations of such Borrower and are
enforceable against such Borrower in accordance with their terms, subject to applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or other laws
affecting creditors’ rights generally and subject to general principles of equity, regardless of whether considered in a proceeding in equity or at law.
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(b) As of the date hereof after giving effect to the terms of this Amendment, (i) no Default shall have occurred and be continuing and (ii) the
representations and warranties of the Borrowers set forth in the Credit Agreement, as amended hereby, are true and correct in all material respects on and as of the
date hereof, except to the extent any such representation or warranty is stated to relate solely to an earlier date, in which case such representation or warranty shall
have been true and correct in all material respects on and as of such earlier date.

4. REFERENCE TO AND EFFECT ON THE CREDIT AGREEMENT.

(a) Upon the effectiveness hereof, each reference to the Credit Agreement in the Credit Agreement or any other Loan Document shall mean and be a
reference to the Credit Agreement as amended hereby.

(b) Except as specifically amended above, the Credit Agreement and all other documents, instruments and agreements executed and/or delivered in
connection therewith shall remain in full force and effect and are hereby ratified and confirmed.

(c) The execution, delivery and effectiveness of this Amendment shall not operate as a waiver of any right, power or remedy of the Administrative
Agent or the Lenders, nor constitute a waiver of any provision of the Credit Agreement or any other documents, instruments and agreements executed and/or
delivered in connection therewith.

5. RELEASE. IN FURTHER CONSIDERATION OF THE EXECUTION BY THE ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT AND THE LENDERS OF THIS
AMENDMENT, TO THE EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW, THE COMPANY, ON BEHALF OF ITSELF AND EACH OF ITS
SUBSIDIARIES, AND ALL OF THE SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS OF EACH OF THE FOREGOING (COLLECTIVELY, THE “RELEASORS”), HEREBY
COMPLETELY, VOLUNTARILY, KNOWINGLY, AND UNCONDITIONALLY RELEASES AND FOREVER DISCHARGES THE COLLATERAL AGENT,
THE ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT, EACH OF THE LENDERS, EACH OF THEIR ADVISORS, PROFESSIONALS AND EMPLOYEES, EACH AFFILIATE
OF THE FOREGOING AND ALL OF THEIR RESPECTIVE PERMITTED SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS (COLLECTIVELY, THE “RELEASEES”), FROM
ANY AND ALL CLAIMS, ACTIONS, SUITS, AND OTHER LIABILITIES, INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, ANY SO-CALLED “LENDER
LIABILITY” CLAIMS OR DEFENSES (COLLECTIVELY, “CLAIMS”), WHETHER ARISING IN LAW OR IN EQUITY, WHICH ANY OF THE
RELEASORS EVER HAD, NOW HAS OR HEREINAFTER CAN, SHALL OR MAY HAVE AGAINST ANY OF THE RELEASEES FOR, UPON OR BY
REASON OF ANY MATTER, CAUSE OR THING WHATSOEVER FROM TIME TO TIME OCCURRED ON OR PRIOR TO THE DATE HEREOF, IN ANY
WAY CONCERNING, RELATING TO, OR ARISING FROM (I) ANY OF THE TRANSACTIONS, (II) THE SECURED OBLIGATIONS, (III) THE
COLLATERAL, (IV) THE CREDIT AGREEMENT OR ANY OF THE OTHER LOAN DOCUMENTS, (V) THE FINANCIAL CONDITION, BUSINESS
OPERATIONS, BUSINESS PLANS, PROSPECTS OR CREDITWORTHINESS OF THE BORROWERS, AND (VI) THE NEGOTIATION,
DOCUMENTATION AND EXECUTION OF THIS AMENDMENT AND ANY DOCUMENTS RELATING HERETO EXCEPT FOR CLAIMS
DETERMINED BY A COURT OF COMPETENT JURISDICTION BY FINAL AND NONAPPEALABLE JUDGMENT TO HAVE RESULTED FROM THE
GROSS NEGLIGENCE, BAD FAITH OR WILLFUL MISCONDUCT OF SUCH RELEASEE (OR ANY OF ITS RELATED PARTIES). THE RELEASORS
HEREBY ACKNOWLEDGE THAT THEY HAVE BEEN ADVISED BY LEGAL COUNSEL OF THE MEANING AND CONSEQUENCES OF THIS
RELEASE.
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6. GOVERNING LAW. THIS AMENDMENT SHALL BE CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH AND GOVERNED BY THE LAW OF THE
STATE OF NEW YORK.

7. HEADINGS. SECTION HEADINGS IN THIS AMENDMENT ARE INCLUDED HEREIN FOR CONVENIENCE OF REFERENCE ONLY
AND SHALL NOT CONSTITUTE A PART OF THIS AMENDMENT FOR ANY OTHER PURPOSE.

8. COUNTERPARTS. THIS AMENDMENT MAY BE EXECUTED BY ONE OR MORE OF THE PARTIES HERETO ON ANY NUMBER OF
SEPARATE COUNTERPARTS, AND ALL OF SAID COUNTERPARTS TAKEN TOGETHER SHALL BE DEEMED TO CONSTITUTE ONE AND THE
SAME INSTRUMENT. SIGNATURES DELIVERED BY FACSIMILE OR PDF SHALL HAVE THE SAME FORCE AND EFFECT AS MANUAL
SIGNATURES DELIVERED IN PERSON.

[Signature Pages Follow]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Amendment has been duly executed as of the day and year first above written.
YRC WORLDWIDE INC,, as the Company

By:

Name:
Title:

REIMER EXPRESS LINES LTD./REIMER EXPRESS LTEE,
as a Canadian Borrower

By:

Name:
Title:

YRC LOGISTICS LIMITED, as a UK Borrower

By:

Name:
Title:
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JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as
Administrative Agent, as a US Tranche Lender and as US
Tranche Swingline Lender

By:

Name:
Title:

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,
TORONTO BRANCH, as Canadian Agent, as a Canadian

Tranche Lender and as Canadian Tranche Swingline Lender

By:

Name:
Title:

J.P. MORGAN EUROPE LIMITED, as UK Agent

By:

Name:
Title:

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,
LONDON BRANCH, as a UK Tranche Lender and as UK

Tranche Swingline Lender

By:

Name:
Title:
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BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., as a Syndication Agent and as a
US Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:

BANK OF AMERICA, N.A. (CANADA BRANCH), as a
Canadian Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:

BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., as Successor by Merger to
LASALLE BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as a US

Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:
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SUNTRUST BANK, as a Syndication Agent and as a US
Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:
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US BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as a Documentation
Agent, as a US Tranche Lender and as a Canadian Tranche
Lender

By:

Name:
Title:
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WACHOVIA BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as a
Documentation Agent, as a US Tranche Lender and as a UK
Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:

Signature Page to Amendment No. 9
YRC Worldwide Inc. et al
Credit Agreement dated as of August 17, 2007



BANK OF TOKYO-MITSUBISHI UFJ, LTD, as a
Documentation Agent and as a US Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:
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THE ROYAL BANK OF SCOTLAND plc, as a US Tranche
Lender and as a UK Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:
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BMO CAPITAL MARKETS FINANCING, INC.,
as a US Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:

BANK OF MONTREAL, as a Canadian Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:
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SUMITOMO MITSUI BANKING CORPORATION, as a US
Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:
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UMB BANK, n.a., as a US Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:
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TAIWAN BUSINESS BANK, as a US Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:
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MEGA INTERNATIONAL COMMERCIAL BANK CO.,
LTD., NEW YORK BRANCH, as a US Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:
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TAIPEI FUBON COMMERCIAL BANK CO., LTD., as a US
Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:
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HUA NAN COMMERCIAL BANK, LTD., LOS ANGELES
BRANCH, as a US Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:
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HUA NAN COMMERCIAL BANK, LTD., NEW YORK
AGENCY, as a US Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:
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BANK OF COMMUNICATIONS CO., LTD., NEW YORK
BRANCH, as a US Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:
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CHANG HWA COMMERCIAL BANK, LTD., NEW YORK
BRANCH, as a US Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:
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FIRST COMMERCIAL BANK, LOS ANGELES BRANCH, as
a US Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:
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EXECUTION COPY
AMENDMENT NO. 10
Dated as of August 28, 2009
to
CREDIT AGREEMENT
Dated as of August 17, 2007

THIS AMENDMENT NO. 10 (“Amendment”) is made as of August 28, 2009 by and among YRC Worldwide Inc. (the “Company”), the Canadian
Borrower and the UK Borrower (together with the Company, the “Borrowers™), the financial institutions listed on the signature pages hereof and JPMorgan Chase
Bank, National Association, as Administrative Agent (the “Administrative Agent”), under that certain Credit Agreement dated as of August 17, 2007 by and
among the Borrowers from time to time party thereto, the Lenders and the Administrative Agent (as amended, amended and restated, restated, supplemented or
otherwise modified from time to time, the “Credit Agreement”). Capitalized terms used herein and not otherwise defined herein shall have the respective
meanings given to them in the Credit Agreement.

WHEREAS, the Company has requested that the Lenders and the Administrative Agent agree to certain amendments to the Credit Agreement; and
WHEREAS, the Lenders party hereto and the Administrative Agent have agreed to such amendments on the terms and conditions set forth herein;

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises set forth above, the terms and conditions contained herein, and other good and valuable
consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Borrowers, the Lenders party hereto and the Administrative Agent have agreed
to enter into this Amendment.

1. AMENDMENTS TO CREDIT AGREEMENT. EFFECTIVE AS OF THE DATE OF SATISFACTION OR WAIVER OF THE CONDITIONS
PRECEDENT SET FORTH IN SECTION 2 BELOW, THE CREDIT AGREEMENT IS HEREBY AMENDED AS FOLLOWS:

(a) Section 1.01 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended to restate the definitions of “Escrow Account”, “Escrow Account Agreement” and
“Liquidity Amount” in their entirety as follows:

“Escrow Account” means any account established and maintained with the “Escrow Agent” under (and as defined in) the applicable Escrow
Account Agreement and subject to the terms and conditions of such Escrow Account Agreement.

“Escrow Account Agreement” means any escrow account agreement required to be established pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, by and
among the Company, the Administrative Agent and JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association, as Escrow Agent thereunder, as the same may be
amended, amended and restated, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time.




follows:

“Liquidity Amount” means, as of any date of determination, the sum of (a) Permitted Investments held by the Company, its Domestic
Subsidiaries (other than any Receivables Entity) as of such date in respect of which the Administrative Agent shall have a first priority perfected
security interest (subject to Permitted Encumbrances), plus (b) Permitted Investments maintained in deposit accounts for the sole purpose of funding
payroll obligations plus (c) so long as no Default exists, the Aggregate Available Commitments as of such date minus (without duplication) the
Revolver Reserve Amount as of such date plus (d) payments made by the Company under the Yellow Receivables Facility that constitute Permitted
Investments of a Receivables Entity solely to the extent such payments have not been applied to amounts outstanding under the Yellow Receivables
Facility plus (e) payments received by the Administrative Agent in respect of any repayment of any Borrowing or any other unpaid Obligation that
are not distributed to the Lenders until the next Business Day plus (f) an amount equal to the excess of (i) the Net Receivables Balance minus any
Required Reserve over (ii) the Aggregate Credit Exposure under (and as such terms are defined in) the Yellow Receivables Facility (or similar terms
in any replacement Permitted Receivables Facility Documents in respect thereof), all as of such date.

(b) Section 1.01 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended to insert the following new definition therein in the appropriate alphabetical order as

“Specified Cost Savings Plan” means a financial analysis and plan, delivered by the Company to the Administrative Agent, demonstrating
annualized costs savings of at least $200,000,000.

(c) Section 2.09(d) of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended to delete the reference to “September 1, 2009” appearing therein and to replace

therefor a reference to “October 13, 2009”.

(d) Section 2.12(h) of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended to delete each reference to “August 31, 2009” appearing therein and to replace

therefor a reference to “October 12, 2009” in each instance.

(e) Section 4.02(d) of the Credit Agreement is hereby restated in its entirety as follows:

(d) To the extent that the Company has requested a Borrowing or the issuance of a Letter of Credit which would not be available without using
some amount of the Revolver Reserve Amount, (i) with respect to any such request for a Borrowing or issuance to be made on or after the
Amendment No. 7 Effective Date and prior to October 13, 2009, (A) if the Company shall first have demonstrated to the reasonable satisfaction of
the Administrative Agent (with reporting of sufficient detail in the Administrative Agent’s reasonable discretion) that the Company made 75,000 or
more LTL shipments within the national segment for each of five (5) consecutive Business Days all occurring on or after the Amendment No. 7
Effective Date, it shall be a condition that the Required Lenders have agreed that the relevant portion of the Revolver Reserve Amount shall be made
available to the Borrowers for such purpose and (B) if the Company cannot demonstrate the performance in the manner described in the foregoing
clause (A), it shall be a condition that the Lenders having Revolving Credit Exposures, outstanding principal amount of Term Loans and unused
Commitments representing at least 6623% of the sum of the total Revolving Credit Exposures, aggregate principal amount of Term Loans and unused
Commitments at such time have agreed that the relevant portion of the Revolver Reserve
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Amount shall be made available to the Borrowers for such purpose and (ii) with respect to any such request for a Borrowing or issuance to be made
on or after October 13, 20009, it shall be a condition that the Required Lenders have agreed that the relevant portion of the Revolver Reserve Amount
shall be made available to the Borrowers for such purpose.

(f) Section 5.01 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended to (i) delete the “and” at the end of clause (1) thereof, (ii) redesignate clause (m) thereof
as clause (n) and (iii) insert a new clause (m) therein immediately following clause (1) thereof as follows:

(m) on or prior to September 30, 2009, the Company shall deliver to the Administrative Agent the Specified Cost Savings Plan; and

(g) Section 6.01(n) of the Credit Agreement is hereby restated in its entirety as follows:

(n) Indebtedness (i) incurred in the ordinary course of business in connection with the financing of insurance premiums and (ii) all obligations
to pay a specified purchase price for goods or services, whether or not delivered or accepted, which constitute take-or-pay obligations to the extent
such obligations shall have been incurred in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practices as an alternative to a prepaid contract and
the aggregate obligations owing upon termination thereof at any time (other than such obligations constituting refinancings, renewals, extensions or
replacements of take-or-pay obligations set forth on Schedule 6.01 (or refinancings, renewals, extensions or replacements of any refinancings,
renewals, extensions or replacements of take-or-pay obligations set forth on Schedule 6.01 on or after Amendment No. 2 Effective Date and prior to
the Amendment No. 9 Effective Date; provided any such refinancings, renewals, extension or replacements shall not increase the original amount of
the existing take-or-pay obligations set forth on Schedule 6.01)) do not exceed $15,000,000;

(h) Section 6.04 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended to delete the word “existing” now appearing therein.

(i) Section 6.05(e) of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended to delete the reference to “$400,000,000 minus the Pension Fund Basket Deduction
Amount; provided that in no event shall the Pension Fund Basket Deduction Amount exceed $50,000,000 in the aggregate” appearing therein and to replace
therefor a reference to “$400,000,000”.

(j) Section 6.07(c) of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended to delete the phrase “September 1, 2009” now appearing therein and to substitute the
following therefor: “October 13, 2009”.

(k) Section 6.15 of the Credit Agreement is hereby restated in its entirety as follows:

SECTION 6.15. Maintenance of Accounts with Administrative Agent. The Company will not, and will not permit any of its Domestic
Subsidiaries to, maintain cash and/or Permitted Investments constituting Collateral at any time in an aggregate amount exceeding $10,000,000 at any
bank or other financial institution other than the Administrative Agent; provided that, for the avoidance of doubt (i) any such cash and/or Permitted
Investments maintained in one or more escrow accounts solely to support purchase price adjustments and other indemnity obligations related to Real
Estate Asset Sales otherwise permitted pursuant to the terms of this Agreement shall in each case be excluded from such limitation, (ii) pledges
and/or deposits (x) made in the




ordinary course of business in compliance with workers’ compensation, unemployment insurance and other social security or employment laws or
regulations and (y) securing the performance of bids, tenders, trade contracts, government contracts, leases, statutory obligations, surety and appeal
bonds, performance and return of money bonds and other obligations of a like nature, in each case in the ordinary course of business, and in an
aggregate amount under this clause (ii) not to exceed $10,000,000 at any time, shall in each case be excluded from such limitation and (iii) consisting
of cash maintained in any account, subject to a first priority Lien (subject to Permitted Encumbrances) in favor of the Administrative Agent, for the
purpose of funding accounts payable shall in each case be excluded from such limitation; provided, further, that the period during which cash
maintained in deposit accounts for purposes of funding payments of accounts payable through ACH payments shall not exceed two (2) Business
Days.

(1) Article VII of the Credit Agreement is amended to delete the reference to “5.02” now appearing in clause (d) thereof and to substitute the
following therefor: “5.01(m), 5.02”.

(m) Schedule 6.13 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended to include the following additional Investment thereon:

Indebtedness owed by YRC Logistics S. de R.L. de C.V., organized under the laws of the Republic of Mexico, in favor of YRC Logistics Services,
Inc., an Illinois corporation, in an amount not to exceed $3,100,000.

2. CONDITIONS OF EFFECTIVENESS. THE EFFECTIVENESS OF THIS AMENDMENT IS SUBJECT TO THE CONDITIONS PRECEDENT
THAT (A) THE ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT SHALL HAVE RECEIVED (I) COUNTERPARTS OF THIS AMENDMENT DULY EXECUTED BY THE
BORROWERS, THE REQUIRED LENDERS AND THE ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT, (II) THE CONSENT AND REAFFIRMATION ATTACHED HERETO
DULY EXECUTED BY THE SUBSIDIARY GUARANTORS, (III) AN AMENDMENT IN RESPECT OF THE YELLOW RECEIVABLES FACILITY IN
FORM AND SUBSTANCE REASONABLY SATISFACTORY TO THE ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT AND (IV) THOSE DOCUMENTS AND
INSTRUMENTS AS MAY BE REASONABLY REQUESTED BY THE ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT AND (B) THE COMPANY SHALL HAVE PAID ALL
INVOICED, REASONABLE, OUT-OF-POCKET EXPENSES OF THE ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT (INCLUDING, TO THE EXTENT INVOICED,
REASONABLE ATTORNEYS’ FEES AND EXPENSES) IN CONNECTION WITH THIS AMENDMENT AND THE OTHER LOAN DOCUMENTS, IN
EACH CASE TO THE EXTENT REIMBURSABLE UNDER THE TERMS OF THE CREDIT AGREEMENT.

3. REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE BORROWERS. EACH BORROWER HEREBY REPRESENTS AND WARRANTS AS
FOLLOWS AS OF THE CLOSING DATE OF THIS AMENDMENT:

(a) This Amendment and the Credit Agreement, as amended hereby, constitute legal, valid and binding obligations of such Borrower and are
enforceable against such Borrower in accordance with their terms, subject to applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or other laws
affecting creditors’ rights generally and subject to general principles of equity, regardless of whether considered in a proceeding in equity or at law.

(b) As of the date hereof after giving effect to the terms of this Amendment, (i) no Default shall have occurred and be continuing and (ii) the
representations and warranties of the Borrowers set forth in the Credit Agreement, as amended hereby, are true and correct in all material respects on and as of the
date hereof, except to the extent any such representation or warranty is stated to relate solely to an earlier date, in which case such representation or warranty shall
have been true and correct in all material respects on and as of such earlier date.



4. REFERENCE TO AND EFFECT ON THE CREDIT AGREEMENT.

(a) Upon the effectiveness hereof, each reference to the Credit Agreement in the Credit Agreement or any other Loan Document shall mean and be a
reference to the Credit Agreement as amended hereby.

(b) Except as specifically amended above, the Credit Agreement and all other documents, instruments and agreements executed and/or delivered in
connection therewith shall remain in full force and effect and are hereby ratified and confirmed.

(c) The execution, delivery and effectiveness of this Amendment shall not operate as a waiver of any right, power or remedy of the Administrative
Agent or the Lenders, nor constitute a waiver of any provision of the Credit Agreement or any other documents, instruments and agreements executed and/or
delivered in connection therewith.

5. RELEASE. IN FURTHER CONSIDERATION OF THE EXECUTION BY THE ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT AND THE LENDERS OF THIS
AMENDMENT, TO THE EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW, THE COMPANY, ON BEHALF OF ITSELF AND EACH OF ITS
SUBSIDIARIES, AND ALL OF THE SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS OF EACH OF THE FOREGOING (COLLECTIVELY, THE “RELEASORS”), HEREBY
COMPLETELY, VOLUNTARILY, KNOWINGLY, AND UNCONDITIONALLY RELEASES AND FOREVER DISCHARGES THE COLLATERAL AGENT,
THE ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT, EACH OF THE LENDERS, EACH OF THEIR ADVISORS, PROFESSIONALS AND EMPLOYEES, EACH AFFILIATE
OF THE FOREGOING AND ALL OF THEIR RESPECTIVE PERMITTED SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS (COLLECTIVELY, THE “RELEASEES”), FROM
ANY AND ALL CLAIMS, ACTIONS, SUITS, AND OTHER LIABILITIES, INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, ANY SO-CALLED “LENDER
LIABILITY” CLAIMS OR DEFENSES (COLLECTIVELY, “CLAIMS”), WHETHER ARISING IN LAW OR IN EQUITY, WHICH ANY OF THE
RELEASORS EVER HAD, NOW HAS OR HEREINAFTER CAN, SHALL OR MAY HAVE AGAINST ANY OF THE RELEASEES FOR, UPON OR BY
REASON OF ANY MATTER, CAUSE OR THING WHATSOEVER FROM TIME TO TIME OCCURRED ON OR PRIOR TO THE DATE HEREOF, IN ANY
WAY CONCERNING, RELATING TO, OR ARISING FROM (I) ANY OF THE TRANSACTIONS, (II) THE SECURED OBLIGATIONS, (III) THE
COLLATERAL, (IV) THE CREDIT AGREEMENT OR ANY OF THE OTHER LOAN DOCUMENTS, (V) THE FINANCIAL CONDITION, BUSINESS
OPERATIONS, BUSINESS PLANS, PROSPECTS OR CREDITWORTHINESS OF THE BORROWERS, AND (VI) THE NEGOTIATION,
DOCUMENTATION AND EXECUTION OF THIS AMENDMENT AND ANY DOCUMENTS RELATING HERETO EXCEPT FOR CLAIMS
DETERMINED BY A COURT OF COMPETENT JURISDICTION BY FINAL AND NONAPPEALABLE JUDGMENT TO HAVE RESULTED FROM THE
GROSS NEGLIGENCE, BAD FAITH OR WILLFUL MISCONDUCT OF SUCH RELEASEE (OR ANY OF ITS RELATED PARTIES). THE RELEASORS
HEREBY ACKNOWLEDGE THAT THEY HAVE BEEN ADVISED BY LEGAL COUNSEL OF THE MEANING AND CONSEQUENCES OF THIS
RELEASE.

6. GOVERNING LAW. THIS AMENDMENT SHALL BE CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH AND GOVERNED BY THE LAW OF THE
STATE OF NEW YORK.

7. HEADINGS. SECTION HEADINGS IN THIS AMENDMENT ARE INCLUDED HEREIN FOR CONVENIENCE OF REFERENCE ONLY
AND SHALL NOT CONSTITUTE A PART OF THIS AMENDMENT FOR ANY OTHER PURPOSE.
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8. COUNTERPARTS. THIS AMENDMENT MAY BE EXECUTED BY ONE OR MORE OF THE PARTIES HERETO ON ANY NUMBER OF
SEPARATE COUNTERPARTS, AND ALL OF SAID COUNTERPARTS TAKEN TOGETHER SHALL BE DEEMED TO CONSTITUTE ONE AND THE
SAME INSTRUMENT. SIGNATURES DELIVERED BY FACSIMILE OR PDF SHALL HAVE THE SAME FORCE AND EFFECT AS MANUAL
SIGNATURES DELIVERED IN PERSON.

[Signature Pages Follow]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Amendment has been duly executed as of the day and year first above written.
YRC WORLDWIDE INC.,, as the Company

By:

Name:
Title:

REIMER EXPRESS LINES LTD./REIMER EXPRESS LTEE,
as a Canadian Borrower

By:

Name:
Title:

YRC LOGISTICS LIMITED, as a UK Borrower

By:

Name:
Title:

Signature Page to Amendment No. 10
YRC Worldwide Inc. et al
Credit Agreement dated as of August 17, 2007



JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as
Administrative Agent, as a US Tranche Lender and as US
Tranche Swingline Lender

By:

Name:
Title:

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,
TORONTO BRANCH, as Canadian Agent, as a Canadian

Tranche Lender and as Canadian Tranche Swingline Lender

By:

Name:
Title:

J.P. MORGAN EUROPE LIMITED, as UK Agent

By:

Name:
Title:

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,
LONDON BRANCH, as a UK Tranche Lender and as UK

Tranche Swingline Lender

By:

Name:
Title:

Signature Page to Amendment No. 10
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BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., as a Syndication Agent and as a
US Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:

BANK OF AMERICA, N.A. (CANADA BRANCH), as a
Canadian Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:

BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., as Successor by Merger to
LASALLE BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as a US

Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:

Signature Page to Amendment No. 10
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SUNTRUST BANK, as a Syndication Agent and as a US
Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:
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US BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as a Documentation
Agent, as a US Tranche Lender and as a Canadian Tranche
Lender

By:

Name:
Title:
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WACHOVIA BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as a
Documentation Agent, as a US Tranche Lender and as a UK
Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:
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BANK OF TOKYO-MITSUBISHI UFJ, LTD, as a
Documentation Agent and as a US Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:
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THE ROYAL BANK OF SCOTLAND plc, as a US Tranche
Lender and as a UK Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:
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YRC Worldwide Inc. et al
Credit Agreement dated as of August 17, 2007



BMO CAPITAL MARKETS FINANCING, INC,, as a US
Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:

BANK OF MONTREAL, as a Canadian Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:
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SUMITOMO MITSUI BANKING CORPORATION, as a US
Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:
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UMB BANK, n.a., as a US Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:
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TAIWAN BUSINESS BANK, as a US Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:
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MEGA INTERNATIONAL COMMERCIAL BANK CO.,
LTD., NEW YORK BRANCH, as a US Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:
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TAIPEI FUBON COMMERCIAL BANK CO., LTD., as a US
Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:
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HUA NAN COMMERCIAL BANK, LTD., LOS ANGELES
BRANCH, as a US Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:
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HUA NAN COMMERCIAL BANK, LTD., NEW YORK
AGENCY, as a US Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:
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BANK OF COMMUNICATIONS CO., LTD., NEW YORK
BRANCH, as a US Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:

Signature Page to Amendment No. 10
YRC Worldwide Inc. et al
Credit Agreement dated as of August 17, 2007



CHANG HWA COMMERCIAL BANK, LTD., NEW YORK
BRANCH, as a US Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:
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FIRST COMMERCIAL BANK, LOS ANGELES BRANCH, as
a US Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:
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EXECUTION COPY
WAIVER AND AMENDMENT NO. 11
Dated as of October 9, 2009
to
CREDIT AGREEMENT
Dated as of August 17, 2007

THIS WAIVER AND AMENDMENT NO. 11 (“Amendment”) is made as of October 9, 2009 by and among YRC Worldwide Inc. (the “Company”),
the Canadian Borrower and the UK Borrower (together with the Company, the “Borrowers”), the financial institutions listed on the signature pages hereof and
JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association, as Administrative Agent (the “Administrative Agent”), under that certain Credit Agreement dated as of August 17,
2007 by and among the Borrowers from time to time party thereto, the Lenders and the Administrative Agent (as amended, amended and restated, restated,
supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time, the “Credit Agreement”). Capitalized terms used herein and not otherwise defined herein shall have the
respective meanings given to them in the Credit Agreement.

WHEREAS, the Company has requested that the Lenders and the Administrative Agent agree to certain waivers in respect of and amendments to the
Credit Agreement and other Loan Documents; and

WHEREAS, the Lenders party hereto and the Administrative Agent have agreed to such waivers and amendments on the terms and conditions set
forth herein;

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises set forth above, the terms and conditions contained herein, and other good and valuable
consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Borrowers, the Lenders party hereto and the Administrative Agent have agreed
to enter into this Amendment.

1. WAIVER.

(a) The Company has requested that the Lenders waive any Default or Event of Default arising under clause (d) of Article VII of the Credit
Agreement as a result of: (i) the Loan Parties’ failure to comply with the negative covenants set forth in Section 6.13 of the Credit Agreement by virtue of the
existence of the Investment identified on Annex A hereto (such Investment, the “1994 Note”); (ii) the Loan Parties’ failure to comply with the affirmative
covenants set forth in Section 5.02(a) of the Credit Agreement by virtue of not providing notice to the Administrative Agent in respect of the failure described in
the preceding clause (i); and (iii) the Loan Parties’ failure to comply with the affirmative covenant set forth in Section 4.4 of the Security Agreement by virtue of
not delivering the 1994 Note to the Administrative Agent (collectively, the “Investment Covenant Default”).

(b) The Company has requested that the Lenders waive any Default or Event of Default which has arisen or may arise under clause (c) of Article VII
of the Credit Agreement as a result of representations or warranties made or deemed made by or on behalf of any Borrower or any Subsidiary in connection with
any Loan Document or in any report, certificate or other document furnished pursuant




to or in connection with any Loan Document proving to have been incorrect in any material respect when made or deemed made solely as a result of (i) the
Investment Covenant Default and/or the Investment Covenant Cross Default (as defined below) and (ii) not disclosing the 1994 Note on Exhibit D of the Security
Agreement (such failure, the “Additional Representation Default”).

(c) The Company has requested that the Lenders waive any Default or Event of Default arising under clause (g) and (r) of Article VII of the Credit
Agreement as a result of the existence of a Servicer Default (as defined in the Yellow Receivables Facility) arising solely as a result of the Investment Covenant
Default, the CDA Investment Covenant Cross Default, and/or the Additional Representation Default (such cross default, the “ABS Investment Covenant Cross
Default”).

(d) The Company has requested that the Lenders waive any Default or Event of Default arising under clause (t) of Article VII of the Credit
Agreement arising solely as a result of the existence of a “Default” under the Specified Pension Fund Deferral Transaction Documents arising solely as a result of
the Investment Covenant Default, the ABS Investment Covenant Cross Default, and/or the Additional Representation Default (such cross default, the “CDA
Investment Covenant Cross Default™).

(e) Effective as of the date of satisfaction or waiver of the conditions precedent set forth in Section 3 below, the Lenders party hereto hereby waive
the Investment Covenant Default, the Additional Representation Default, the ABS Investment Covenant Cross Default and the CDA Investment Covenant Cross
Default.

(f) Pursuant to the provisions of Section 11.02 of the Credit Agreement, except as set forth herein, no failure or delay by any Agent, any Issuing
Bank or any Lender in exercising any right or power under the Credit Agreement or under any other Loan Document shall operate as a waiver thereof, nor shall
any single or partial exercise of any such right or power, or any abandonment or discontinuance of steps to enforce such a right or power, preclude any other or
further exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right or power. The rights and remedies of the Agents, the Issuing Banks and the Lenders under the Credit
Agreement and under the other Loan Documents are cumulative and are not exclusive of any rights or remedies that they would otherwise have. No waiver of any
provision of any Loan Document or consent to any departure by any Borrower therefrom shall in any event be effective unless the same shall be permitted by
Section 11.02(b) of the Credit Agreement, and then such waiver or consent shall be effective only in the specific instance and for the purpose for which given.
Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the making of a Loan, acceptance of a Draft or issuance of a Letter of Credit shall not be construed as a waiver of
any Default, regardless of whether any Agent, any Lender or any Issuing Bank may have had notice or knowledge of such Default at the time.

2. AMENDMENTS TO CREDIT AGREEMENT AND THE SECURITY AGREEMENT. EFFECTIVE AS OF THE DATE OF SATISFACTION
OR WAIVER OF THE CONDITIONS PRECEDENT SET FORTH IN SECTION 3 BELOW, THE CREDIT AGREEMENT AND THE SECURITY
AGREEMENT ARE HEREBY AMENDED AS FOLLOWS:

(a) The definition of “Non-Current Collateral” appearing in Section 1.01 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended to delete the reference to
“$10,000,000” appearing therein and to replace therefor a reference to “$20,000,000”.

(b) Section 1.01 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended to insert the following new definitions therein in the appropriate alphabetical order as
follows:

“Amendment No. 11 Effective Date” means October 9, 2009.
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“Interim Loan Availability” means, as of any date of determination, the excess of (i) the sum of (x) current accrued and unpaid payroll expense
of the Company and its Subsidiaries as of such date and (y) $25,000,000 over (ii) the Interim Loan Cash Amount as of such date.

“Interim Loan Cash Amount” means, as of any date of determination, Unrestricted Cash as of such date plus any amounts maintained by the
Company or any Subsidiary in a deposit account for the sole purpose of funding payroll obligations as of such date.

“Interim Loan Sweep Amount” means, as of any date of determination, the excess of (i) the Interim Loan Cash Amount as of such date over
(ii) the sum of (x) current accrued and unpaid payroll expense of the Company and its Subsidiaries as of such date and (y) $25,000,000.

“Permitted Interim Loans” means Revolving Loans made to the Company in US Dollars and advanced by the Lenders in accordance with the
terms of Section 2.01(f) and Section 4.02(g) (and subject to the sweep mechanics set forth in Section 2.12(1)).

“Unrestricted Cash” means, as of any date of determination, any unrestricted Permitted Investments held by the Company and its Domestic
Subsidiaries (other than any Receivables Entity) as of such date (but not including any amounts pledged to third parties).

“Volvo Lease” means that certain Master Equipment Lease Agreement, dated as of February 19, 2009, by and among VFS Leasing Co., any
other lessors or creditors thereunder from time to time party thereto and certain of the Loan Parties, including all exhibits, schedules, annexes and
assignments in respect thereof, as the same may be amended, amended and restated, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time.

(c) Section 2.01(f) of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended (i) to delete the reference to “4.02(d)” appearing therein and to replace therefor a
reference to “4.02(d) (or, solely in the case of Permitted Interim Loans, the conditions specified in Section 4.02(g))” and (ii) to insert the following sentences at
the end thereof:

Permitted Interim Loans may only be requested by the Company during the period commencing on the Amendment No. 11 Effective Date to
and including October 29, 2009, and no such Permitted Interim Loans shall be made by the Lenders (regardless of whether the conditions specified
in Section 4.02(g) are or are not satisfied) following such date. Further, no Permitted Interim Loans may be advanced by the Lenders unless (i) there
is no unused availability under the Revolving Commitments other than amounts comprising the Revolver Reserve Amount and (ii) there is no unused
availability under the Yellow Receivables Facility. In no event shall more than an aggregate amount of $50,000,000 of Permitted Interim Loans be
outstanding at any time.

(d) Section 2.09(d) of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended to delete the reference to “October 13, 2009” appearing therein and to replace
therefor a reference to “October 30, 2009”.

(e) Section 2.12(h) of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended to delete each reference to “October 12, 2009” appearing therein and to replace
therefor a reference to “October 29, 2009” in each instance.



therefor:

(f) Section 2.12(j) of the Credit Agreement is hereby restated in its entirety as follows:

(i) If (a) on the close of business on any Business Day on which any Permitted Interim Loans shall be outstanding, Unrestricted Cash exceeds
$100,000,000 (such excess the “Daily Cash Permitted Interim Loan Excess Amount”) (and has also exceeded $100,000,000 for the previous two
(2) Business Days), then, on the next succeeding Business Day, the Company shall make a prepayment of the outstanding Revolving Loans
(outstanding Permitted Interim Loans, if any, to be prepaid first) in an amount equal to such Daily Cash Permitted Interim Loan Excess Amount
(without a corresponding permanent reduction of the Revolving Commitments at such time), or (b) on the close of business on any Business Day on

exceeded $125,000,000 for the previous two (2) Business Days), then, on the next succeeding Business Day, the Company shall make a prepayment
of the outstanding Revolving Loans (outstanding Permitted Interim Loans, if any, to be prepaid first) in an amount equal to such Daily Cash Excess
Amount (without a corresponding permanent reduction of the Revolving Commitments at such time).

(g) A new Section 2.12(1) is hereby added to the Credit Agreement as follows:

(D If, on the close of business on any Business Day, (i) the Interim Loan Sweep Amount is positive (and has also been positive for the previous
two (2) Business Days) and (ii) any Permitted Interim Loans are outstanding, then on the next succeeding Business Day, the Company shall make a
prepayment of such Permitted Interim Loans in an amount equal to such positive amount on such Business Day (without a corresponding permanent
reduction of the Revolving Commitments at such time).

(h) Section 2.19(f) of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended to delete the first sentence thereof in its entirety and to substitute the following

In the event that the Administrative Agent shall receive any proceeds of Collateral (i) not constituting a specific payment of principal, interest,
fees or other sum payable under the Loan Documents (which shall be applied as specified by the Company or as otherwise specified in Section 2.12)
or (ii) after an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing and the Administrative Agent so elects or the Required Lenders so direct, such funds
shall be applied ratably first, to pay any fees, indemnities, or expense reimbursements including amounts then due to the Administrative Agent and
the Issuing Banks from any Borrower (other than in connection with Banking Services Obligations and Swap Obligations), second, to pay any fees
or expense reimbursements then due to the Lenders from any Borrower (other than in connection with Banking Services Obligations and Swap
Obligations), third, to pay interest then due and payable on the Permitted Interim Loans ratably, fourth, to prepay principal on the Permitted Interim
Loans ratably, fifth, to pay interest then due and payable on the Loans (other than Permitted Interim Loans) ratably, sixth, to prepay principal on the
Loans (other than Permitted Interim Loans) and unreimbursed LC Disbursements and to cash collateralize all outstanding Letters of Credit in
accordance with the terms of Section 2.06(j) ratably, seventh, to payment of any amounts owing with respect to Banking Services Obligations and
Swap Obligations, and eighth, to the payment of any other Secured Obligation due to the Administrative Agent or any Lender by any Borrower.
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(i) Section 4.02(d) of the Credit Agreement is hereby restated in its entirety as follows:

(d) To the extent that the Company has requested a Borrowing or the issuance of a Letter of Credit which would not be available without using
some amount of the Revolver Reserve Amount (other than any request for a Borrowing in respect of Permitted Interim Loans, which shall be subject
to Section 4.02(g) below), (i) with respect to any such request for a Borrowing or issuance to be made on or after the Amendment No. 7 Effective
Date and prior to October 30, 2009, (A) if the Company shall first have demonstrated to the reasonable satisfaction of the Administrative Agent
(with reporting of sufficient detail in the Administrative Agent’s reasonable discretion) that the Company made 75,000 or more LTL shipments
within the national segment for each of five (5) consecutive Business Days all occurring on or after the Amendment No. 7 Effective Date, it shall be
a condition that the Required Lenders have agreed that the relevant portion of the Revolver Reserve Amount shall be made available to the
Borrowers for such purpose and (B) if the Company cannot demonstrate the performance in the manner described in the foregoing clause (A), it shall
be a condition that the Lenders having Revolving Credit Exposures, outstanding principal amount of Term Loans and unused Commitments
representing at least 66 2/3% of the sum of the total Revolving Credit Exposures, aggregate principal amount of outstanding Term Loans and unused
Commitments at such time have agreed that the relevant portion of the Revolver Reserve Amount shall be made available to the Borrowers for such
purpose and (ii) with respect to any such request for a Borrowing or issuance to be made on or after October 30, 20009, it shall be a condition that the
Required Lenders have agreed that the relevant portion of the Revolver Reserve Amount shall be made available to the Borrowers for such purpose.

(j) Section 4.02(e) of the Credit Agreement is hereby restated in its entirety as follows:

(e) The Company has delivered to the Administrative Agent a certificate of a Financial Officer certifying that, as of the date of such certificate
(which date shall be the date of request for such Borrowing or Letter of Credit), (i) the Company and its Domestic Subsidiaries (other than any
Receivables Entity), collectively, have less than $100,000,000 in Unrestricted Cash and providing a demonstration of such deficit (the amount of
such deficit, the “Credit Event Liquidity Deficit Amount”) reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent and (ii) the amount of such requested
Borrowing or Letter of Credit is equal to or less than the Credit Event Liquidity Deficit Amount.

(k) A new Section 4.02(g) hereby added to the Credit Agreement as follows:

(g) To the extent that the Company has requested a Borrowing in respect of Permitted Interim Loans, (i) the Administrative Agent shall have
received evidence reasonably satisfactory to it that as of such date (x) there is no unused availability under the Revolving Commitments other than
amounts comprising the Revolver Reserve Amount and (y) there is no unused availability under the Yellow Receivables Facility and (ii) the
Company shall have delivered to the Administrative Agent a Borrowing Request substantially in the form of Exhibit F hereto (which Borrowing
Request shall include a



certification by a Financial Officer and the Designated Officer certifying the Interim Loan Availability as of the Business Day immediately prior to
the date of such Borrowing Request and calculations reasonably demonstrating the Interim Loan Availability).

(1) Section 6.07(c) of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended to delete the phrase “October 13, 2009” now appearing therein and to substitute the
following therefor: “October 30, 2009”.

(m) Article VII of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended to (i) delete each reference to “$20,000,000” appearing in clauses (p) and (q) therein and
to replace therefor a reference to “$5,000,000” in each instance and (ii) delete each reference to “RBS Lease” appearing in clauses (p) and (q) therein and to
replace therefor a reference to “RBS Lease, Volvo Lease” in each instance.

(n) Schedule 6.13 of the Credit Agreement and Exhibit D of the Security Agreement are each hereby amended to include the 1994 Note thereon.
(o) A new Exhibit F is hereby added to the Credit Agreement as set forth on Annex B hereto.

3. CONDITIONS OF EFFECTIVENESS. THE EFFECTIVENESS OF THIS AMENDMENT IS SUBJECT TO THE CONDITIONS PRECEDENT
THAT (A) THE ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT SHALL HAVE RECEIVED (I) COUNTERPARTS OF THIS AMENDMENT DULY EXECUTED BY THE
BORROWERS, THE REQUISITE NUMBER OF LENDERS UNDER THE CREDIT AGREEMENT AND THE ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT, (II) THE
CONSENT AND REAFFIRMATION ATTACHED HERETO DULY EXECUTED BY THE SUBSIDIARY GUARANTORS, (I1II) A WAIVER AND
AMENDMENT IN RESPECT OF THE YELLOW RECEIVABLES FACILITY IN FORM AND SUBSTANCE REASONABLY SATISFACTORY TO THE
ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT, (IV) WAIVERS IN RESPECT OF AT LEAST $138,000,000 OF THE APPROXIMATELY $150,000,000 OF OBLIGATIONS IN
RESPECT OF THE BOFA LEASE, THE VOLVO LEASE AND THE RBS LEASE IN FORM AND SUBSTANCE REASONABLY SATISFACTORY TO THE
ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT AND (V) THOSE DOCUMENTS AND INSTRUMENTS AS MAY BE REASONABLY REQUESTED BY THE
ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT AND (B) THE COMPANY SHALL HAVE PAID ALL PREVIOUSLY INVOICED, REASONABLE, OUT-OF-POCKET
EXPENSES OF THE ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT (INCLUDING, TO THE EXTENT INVOICED, REASONABLE ATTORNEYS’ FEES AND EXPENSES)
IN CONNECTION WITH THIS AMENDMENT AND THE OTHER LOAN DOCUMENTS, IN EACH CASE TO THE EXTENT REIMBURSABLE UNDER
THE TERMS OF THE CREDIT AGREEMENT.

4. RELEASE OF REVOLVER RESERVE AMOUNT. EFFECTIVE AS OF THE DATE OF SATISFACTION OR WAIVER OF THE
CONDITIONS PRECEDENT SET FORTH IN SECTION 3 ABOVE, THE LENDERS PARTY HERETO, HAVING AT LEAST 662/3% OF THE SUM OF THE
TOTAL REVOLVING CREDIT EXPOSURES, OUTSTANDING PRINCIPAL AMOUNT OF THE TERM LOANS AND UNUSED COMMITMENTS,
HEREBY CONSENT TO A BORROWING OF THE REVOLVER RESERVE AMOUNT SOLELY IN RESPECT OF THE MAKING OF PERMITTED
INTERIM LOANS AT ANY TIME DURING THE PERIOD COMMENCING ON THE DATE HEREOF AND ENDING ON AND INCLUDING
OCTOBER 29, 2009 SO LONG AS THE OTHER CONDITIONS SET FORTH IN SECTION 4.02 OF THE CREDIT AGREEMENT, AS AMENDED
HEREBY (INCLUDING SECTION 4.02(G)) ARE SATISFIED OR WAIVED.



5. REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE BORROWERS. EACH BORROWER HEREBY REPRESENTS AND WARRANTS AS
FOLLOWS AS OF THE CLOSING DATE OF THIS AMENDMENT:

(a) This Amendment and the Credit Agreement, as amended hereby, constitute legal, valid and binding obligations of such Borrower and are
enforceable against such Borrower in accordance with their terms, subject to applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or other laws
affecting creditors’ rights generally and subject to general principles of equity, regardless of whether considered in a proceeding in equity or at law.

(b) As of the date hereof after giving effect to the terms of this Amendment, (i) no Default shall have occurred and be continuing and (ii) the
representations and warranties of the Borrowers set forth in the Credit Agreement, as amended hereby, are true and correct in all material respects on and as of the
date hereof, except to the extent any such representation or warranty is stated to relate solely to an earlier date, in which case such representation or warranty shall
have been true and correct in all material respects on and as of such earlier date.

6. REFERENCE TO AND EFFECT ON THE CREDIT AGREEMENT.

(a) Upon the effectiveness hereof, each reference to the Credit Agreement in the Credit Agreement or any other Loan Document shall mean and be a
reference to the Credit Agreement as amended hereby.

(b) Except as specifically amended above, the Credit Agreement and all other documents, instruments and agreements executed and/or delivered in
connection therewith shall remain in full force and effect and are hereby ratified and confirmed.

(c) Except as specified above, the execution, delivery and effectiveness of this Amendment shall not operate as a waiver of any right, power or
remedy of the Administrative Agent or the Lenders, nor constitute a waiver of any provision of the Credit Agreement or any other documents, instruments and
agreements executed and/or delivered in connection therewith.

7. RELEASE. IN FURTHER CONSIDERATION OF THE EXECUTION BY THE ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT AND THE LENDERS OF THIS
AMENDMENT, TO THE EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW, THE COMPANY, ON BEHALF OF ITSELF AND EACH OF ITS
SUBSIDIARIES, AND ALL OF THE SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS OF EACH OF THE FOREGOING (COLLECTIVELY, THE “RELEASORS”), HEREBY
COMPLETELY, VOLUNTARILY, KNOWINGLY, AND UNCONDITIONALLY RELEASES AND FOREVER DISCHARGES THE COLLATERAL AGENT,
THE ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT, EACH OF THE LENDERS, EACH OF THEIR ADVISORS, PROFESSIONALS AND EMPLOYEES, EACH AFFILIATE
OF THE FOREGOING AND ALL OF THEIR RESPECTIVE PERMITTED SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS (COLLECTIVELY, THE “RELEASEES”), FROM
ANY AND ALL CLAIMS, ACTIONS, SUITS, AND OTHER LIABILITIES, INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, ANY SO-CALLED “LENDER
LIABILITY” CLAIMS OR DEFENSES (COLLECTIVELY, “CLAIMS”), WHETHER ARISING IN LAW OR IN EQUITY, WHICH ANY OF THE
RELEASORS EVER HAD, NOW HAS OR HEREINAFTER CAN, SHALL OR MAY HAVE AGAINST ANY OF THE RELEASEES FOR, UPON OR BY
REASON OF ANY MATTER, CAUSE OR THING WHATSOEVER FROM TIME TO TIME OCCURRED ON OR PRIOR TO THE DATE HEREOF, IN ANY
WAY CONCERNING, RELATING TO, OR ARISING FROM (I) ANY OF THE TRANSACTIONS, (II) THE SECURED OBLIGATIONS, (III) THE
COLLATERAL, (IV) THE CREDIT AGREEMENT OR ANY OF THE OTHER LOAN DOCUMENTS, (V) THE FINANCIAL CONDITION, BUSINESS
OPERATIONS, BUSINESS PLANS, PROSPECTS OR



CREDITWORTHINESS OF THE BORROWERS, AND (VI) THE NEGOTIATION, DOCUMENTATION AND EXECUTION OF THIS AMENDMENT AND
ANY DOCUMENTS RELATING HERETO EXCEPT FOR CLAIMS DETERMINED BY A COURT OF COMPETENT JURISDICTION BY FINAL AND
NONAPPEALABLE JUDGMENT TO HAVE RESULTED FROM THE GROSS NEGLIGENCE, BAD FAITH OR WILLFUL MISCONDUCT OF SUCH
RELEASEE (OR ANY OF ITS RELATED PARTIES). THE RELEASORS HEREBY ACKNOWLEDGE THAT THEY HAVE BEEN ADVISED BY LEGAL
COUNSEL OF THE MEANING AND CONSEQUENCES OF THIS RELEASE.

8. GOVERNING LAW. THIS AMENDMENT SHALL BE CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH AND GOVERNED BY THE LAW OF THE
STATE OF NEW YORK.

9. HEADINGS. SECTION HEADINGS IN THIS AMENDMENT ARE INCLUDED HEREIN FOR CONVENIENCE OF REFERENCE ONLY
AND SHALL NOT CONSTITUTE A PART OF THIS AMENDMENT FOR ANY OTHER PURPOSE.

10. COUNTERPARTS. THIS AMENDMENT MAY BE EXECUTED BY ONE OR MORE OF THE PARTIES HERETO ON ANY NUMBER OF
SEPARATE COUNTERPARTS, AND ALL OF SAID COUNTERPARTS TAKEN TOGETHER SHALL BE DEEMED TO CONSTITUTE ONE AND THE
SAME INSTRUMENT. SIGNATURES DELIVERED BY FACSIMILE OR PDF SHALL HAVE THE SAME FORCE AND EFFECT AS MANUAL
SIGNATURES DELIVERED IN PERSON.

[Signature Pages Follow]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Amendment has been duly executed as of the day and year first above written.
YRC WORLDWIDE INC.,, as the Company

By:

Name:
Title:

REIMER EXPRESS LINES LTD./REIMER EXPRESS LTEE,
as a Canadian Borrower

By:

Name:
Title:

YRC LOGISTICS LIMITED, as a UK Borrower

By:

Name:
Title:

Signature Page to Waiver and Amendment No. 11
YRC Worldwide Inc. et al
Credit Agreement dated as of August 17, 2007



JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as
Administrative Agent, as a US Tranche Lender and as US
Tranche Swingline Lender

By:

Name:
Title:

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,
TORONTO BRANCH, as Canadian Agent, as a Canadian

Tranche Lender and as Canadian Tranche Swingline Lender

By:

Name:
Title:

J.P. MORGAN EUROPE LIMITED, as UK Agent

By:

Name:
Title:

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,
LONDON BRANCH, as a UK Tranche Lender and as UK

Tranche Swingline Lender

By:

Name:
Title:

Signature Page to Waiver and Amendment No. 11
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BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., as a Syndication Agent and as a
US Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:

BANK OF AMERICA, N.A. (CANADA BRANCH), as a
Canadian Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:

BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., as Successor by Merger to
LASALLE BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as a US

Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:

Signature Page to Waiver and Amendment No. 11
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SUNTRUST BANK, as a Syndication Agent and as a US
Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:
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US BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as a Documentation
Agent, as a US Tranche Lender and as a Canadian Tranche
Lender

By:

Name:
Title:
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WACHOVIA BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as a
Documentation Agent, as a US Tranche Lender and as a UK
Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:

Signature Page to Waiver and Amendment No. 11
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BANK OF TOKYO-MITSUBISHI UFJ, LTD, as a
Documentation Agent and as a US Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:
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THE ROYAL BANK OF SCOTLAND plc, as a US Tranche
Lender and as a UK Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:
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BMO CAPITAL MARKETS FINANCING, INC,, as a US
Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:

BANK OF MONTREAL, as a Canadian Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:
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SUMITOMO MITSUI BANKING CORPORATION, as a US
Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:

Signature Page to Waiver and Amendment No. 11
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UMB BANK, n.a., as a US Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:
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TAIWAN BUSINESS BANK, as a US Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:
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MEGA INTERNATIONAL COMMERCIAL BANK CO.,
LTD., NEW YORK BRANCH, as a US Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:
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TAIPEI FUBON COMMERCIAL BANK CO., LTD., as a US
Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:
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HUA NAN COMMERCIAL BANK, LTD., LOS ANGELES
BRANCH, as a US Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:
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HUA NAN COMMERCIAL BANK, LTD., NEW YORK
AGENCY, as a US Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:
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BANK OF COMMUNICATIONS CO., LTD., NEW YORK
BRANCH, as a US Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:
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CHANG HWA COMMERCIAL BANK, LTD., NEW YORK
BRANCH, as a US Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:
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FIRST COMMERCIAL BANK, LOS ANGELES BRANCH, as
a US Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:
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[LENDER], as a US Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:
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EXECUTION COPY
WAIVER
Dated as of October 26, 2009
to
CREDIT AGREEMENT
Dated as of August 17, 2007

THIS WAIVER (“Waiver”) is made as of October 26, 2009 by and among YRC Worldwide Inc. (the “Company”), the Canadian Borrower and the
UK Borrower (together with the Company, the “Borrowers”), the financial institutions listed on the signature pages hereof and JPMorgan Chase Bank, National
Association, as Administrative Agent (the “Administrative Agent”), under that certain Credit Agreement dated as of August 17, 2007 by and among the
Borrowers from time to time party thereto, the Lenders and the Administrative Agent (as amended, amended and restated, restated, supplemented or otherwise
modified from time to time, the “Credit Agreement”). Capitalized terms used herein and not otherwise defined herein shall have the respective meanings given to
them in the Credit Agreement.

WHEREAS, the Company has requested that the Lenders and the Administrative Agent agree to certain waivers in respect of and amendments to the
Credit Agreement; and

WHEREAS, the Lenders party hereto and the Administrative Agent have agreed to such waivers and amendments on the terms and conditions set
forth herein;

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises set forth above, the terms and conditions contained herein, and other good and valuable
consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Borrowers, the Lenders party hereto and the Administrative Agent have agreed
to enter into this Waiver.

1. Waiver.

(a) The Company has requested that the Lenders waive any Default or Event of Default arising under clauses (d) and (g) of Article VII of the Credit
Agreement as a result of: (i) certain of the holders of the 5% Contingent Convertible Senior Notes and certain of the holders of the 3.375% Contingent
Convertible Senior Notes (in each case defined after giving effect to the Waiver) having the right or option to convert the securities issued thereunder into a
combination of cash and Equity Interests of the Company prior to the scheduled maturity thereof and (ii) the Loan Parties’ failure to comply with the affirmative
covenants set forth in Section 5.02(a) of the Credit Agreement by virtue of not providing notice to the Administrative Agent in respect of the failure described in
the preceding clause (i) (collectively, the “CoCo Default”).

(b) The Company has requested that the Lenders waive any Default or Event of Default which has arisen or may arise under clause (c) of Article VII
of the Credit Agreement as a result of representations or warranties made or deemed made by or on behalf of any Borrower or any Subsidiary in connection with
any Loan Document or in any report, certificate or other document furnished pursuant to or in connection with any Loan Document proving to have been
incorrect in any material respect when




made or deemed made solely as a result of (i) the CoCo Default and/or the CoCo Cross Default (as defined below) (such failure, the “Additional Representation
Default”).

(c) The Company has requested that the Lenders waive any Default or Event of Default arising under clause (g) and (r) of Article VII of the Credit
Agreement as a result of the existence of a Servicer Default (as defined in the Yellow Receivables Facility) arising solely as a result of the CoCo Default, the
CDA CoCo Cross Default, and/or the Additional Representation Default (such cross default, the “ABS CoCo Cross Default”).

(d) The Company has requested that the Lenders waive any Default or Event of Default arising under clause (t) of Article VII of the Credit
Agreement arising solely as a result of the existence of a “Default” under the Specified Pension Fund Deferral Transaction Documents arising solely as a result of
the CoCo Default, the ABS CoCo Cross Default, and/or the Additional Representation Default (such cross default, the “CDA CoCo Cross Default” and
collectively with the ABS CoCo Cross Default, the “CoCo Cross Default”).

(e) Effective as of the date of satisfaction or waiver of the conditions precedent set forth in Section 3 below, the Lenders party hereto hereby waive
the CoCo Default, the Additional Representation Default, the ABS CoCo Cross Default and the CDA CoCo Cross Default.

(f) Pursuant to the provisions of Section 11.02 of the Credit Agreement, except as set forth herein, no failure or delay by any Agent, any Issuing
Bank or any Lender in exercising any right or power under the Credit Agreement or under any other Loan Document shall operate as a waiver thereof, nor shall
any single or partial exercise of any such right or power, or any abandonment or discontinuance of steps to enforce such a right or power, preclude any other or
further exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right or power. The rights and remedies of the Agents, the Issuing Banks and the Lenders under the Credit
Agreement and under the other Loan Documents are cumulative and are not exclusive of any rights or remedies that they would otherwise have. No waiver of any
provision of any Loan Document or consent to any departure by any Borrower therefrom shall in any event be effective unless the same shall be permitted by
Section 11.02(b) of the Credit Agreement, and then such waiver or consent shall be effective only in the specific instance and for the purpose for which given.
Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the making of a Loan, acceptance of a Draft or issuance of a Letter of Credit shall not be construed as a waiver of
any Default, regardless of whether any Agent, any Lender or any Issuing Bank may have had notice or knowledge of such Default at the time.

2. Amendments to Credit Agreement. Effective as of the date of satisfaction or waiver of the conditions precedent set forth in Section 3 below, the
Credit Agreement is hereby amended as follows:

(a) The definition of “5% Contingent Convertible Senior Note Indenture” appearing in Section 1.01 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended to
delete the reference to “the Indenture” appearing therein and to replace therefor a reference to “the Indenture in respect of 5% Contingent Convertible Senior
Notes due 2023”.

(b) The definition of “Maturity Date” appearing in Section 1.01 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended (i) to delete the reference to
“$50,000,000” appearing in clause (a) therein and to replace therefor a reference to “$15,000,000” and (ii) to delete the reference to “$50,000,000” appearing in
clause (b) therein and to replace therefor a reference to “$25,000,000”.

(c) The definition of “3.375% Senior Note Indenture” appearing in Section 1.01 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended to delete the reference
to “the Indenture” appearing therein and



to replace therefor a reference to “the Indenture in respect of 3.375% Contingent Convertible Senior Notes due 2023”.

as follows:

(d) The definition of “5% Contingent Convertible Senior Notes” appearing in Section 1.01 of the Credit Agreement is hereby restated in its entirety

“5% Contingent Convertible Senior Notes” means, collectively, (i) the Company’s 5% Contingent Convertible Senior Notes due 2023 issued
pursuant to the 5% Contingent Convertible Senior Note Indenture and (ii) the Company’s 5% Net Share Settled Contingent Convertible Senior Notes
due 2023 issued pursuant to the 5% Net Share Settled Contingent Convertible Senior Note Indenture.

(e) The definition of “3.375% Contingent Convertible Senior Notes” appearing in Section 1.01 of the Credit Agreement is hereby restated in its

entirety as follows:

follows:

“3.375% Contingent Convertible Senior Notes” means, collectively, (i) the Company’s 3.375% Contingent Convertible Senior Notes due 2023
issued pursuant to the 3.375% Senior Note Indenture and (ii) the Company’s 3.375% Net Share Settled Contingent Convertible Senior Notes due
2023 issued pursuant to the 3.375% Net Share Settled Contingent Convertible Senior Note Indenture.

(f) Section 1.01 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended to insert the following new definitions therein in the appropriate alphabetical order as

“5% Net Share Settled Contingent Convertible Senior Note Indenture” means the Indenture in respect of 5% Net Share Settled Contingent
Convertible Senior Notes due 2023, dated as of December 31, 2004 among the Company and Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas, as trustee
thereunder, as in effect on the Effective Date and as the same may be amended, modified or supplemented from time to time in accordance with the
terms hereof and thereof.

“3.375% Net Share Settled Contingent Convertible Senior Note Indenture” means the Indenture in respect of 3.375% Net Share Settled
Contingent Convertible Senior Notes due 2023, dated as of December 31, 2004 among the Company and Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas,
as trustee thereunder, as in effect on the Effective Date and as the same may be amended, modified or supplemented from time to time in accordance
with the terms hereof and thereof.

(g) Article VII of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended to add the following proviso to the end of clause (g) thereof as follows:

provided, further, for the avoidance of doubt, the existence of any right or option of any holder of the 3.375% Contingent Convertible Senior
Notes and/or the 5% Contingent Convertible Senior Notes to convert any Indebtedness represented thereby into Equity Interests of the Company
and/or any cash settlement (including in respect of fractional shares) in connection with such conversion shall not constitute an Event of Default
under this clause (g);

(h) Article VII of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended to restate clause (s) thereof in its entirety as follows:
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(s) the Company shall pay an aggregate amount in excess of $1,000,000 (or such greater amount as may be consented to by the Supermajority
Lenders) to any holders of the 3.375% Contingent Convertible Senior Notes and/or the 5% Contingent Convertible Senior Notes in respect of any
cash settlement (including in respect of any fractional shares) in connection with the conversion of the 3.375% Contingent Convertible Notes and/or
the 5% Contingent Convertible Notes into Equity Interests of the Company and/or cash, in each case in accordance with the terms of the applicable
indenture which governs the applicable notes; or

3. Conditions of Effectiveness. The effectiveness of this Waiver is subject to the conditions precedent that the Administrative Agent shall have
received (i) counterparts of this Waiver duly executed by the Borrowers, the Required Lenders and the Administrative Agent, (ii) the Consent and Reaffirmation
attached hereto duly executed by the Subsidiary Guarantors (iii) a waiver and amendment in respect of the Yellow Receivables Facility in form and substance
reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent, (iv) evidence of waivers in respect of at least $25,000,000 of the approximately $150,000,000 of obligations
in respect of the BofA Lease, the Volvo Lease and the RBS Lease in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent.

4. Termination of Waiver. This Waiver and all amendments and other provisions contained herein shall terminate and be null, void and of no further
effect on October 31, 2009 unless, prior to such date (i) Amendment No. 12 to the Credit Agreement (in substantially the form provided to the Lenders via
Intralinks on October 23, 2009) shall have been executed and effective and (ii) the Administrative Agent shall have received evidence of waivers in respect of at
least $135,000,000 of the approximately $150,000,000 of obligations in respect of the BofA Lease, the Volvo Lease and the RBS Lease in form and substance
reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent.

5. Representations and Warranties of the Borrowers. Each Borrower hereby represents and warrants as follows as of the closing date of this Waiver:

(a) This Waiver and the Credit Agreement, as amended hereby, constitute legal, valid and binding obligations of such Borrower and are enforceable
against such Borrower in accordance with their terms, subject to applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or other laws affecting creditors’
rights generally and subject to general principles of equity, regardless of whether considered in a proceeding in equity or at law.

(b) As of the date hereof after giving effect to the terms of this Waiver, (i) no Default shall have occurred and be continuing and (ii) the
representations and warranties of the Borrowers set forth in the Credit Agreement, as amended hereby, are true and correct in all material respects on and as of the
date hereof, except to the extent any such representation or warranty is stated to relate solely to an earlier date, in which case such representation or warranty shall
have been true and correct in all material respects on and as of such earlier date.

6. Reference to and Effect on the Credit Agreement.

(a) Upon the effectiveness hereof, each reference to the Credit Agreement in the Credit Agreement or any other Loan Document shall mean and be a
reference to the Credit Agreement as prior to the date hereof and as amended hereby.

(b) The Credit Agreement, as amended prior to the date hereof and as amended hereby, and all other documents, instruments and agreements
executed and/or delivered in connection therewith shall remain in full force and effect and are hereby ratified and confirmed.
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(c) The execution, delivery and effectiveness of this Waiver shall not operate as a waiver of any right, power or remedy of the Administrative Agent
or the Lenders, nor constitute a waiver of any provision of the Credit Agreement or any other documents, instruments and agreements executed and/or delivered
in connection therewith.

7. Release. In further consideration of the execution by the Administrative Agent and the Lenders of this Waiver, to the extent permitted by
applicable law, the Company, on behalf of itself and each of its Subsidiaries, and all of the successors and assigns of each of the foregoing (collectively, the
“Releasors”), hereby completely, voluntarily, knowingly, and unconditionally releases and forever discharges the Collateral Agent, the Administrative Agent,
each of the Lenders, each of their advisors, professionals and employees, each affiliate of the foregoing and all of their respective permitted successors and
assigns (collectively, the “Releasees”), from any and all claims, actions, suits, and other liabilities, including, without limitation, any so-called “lender liability”
claims or defenses (collectively, “Claims”), whether arising in law or in equity, which any of the Releasors ever had, now has or hereinafter can, shall or may
have against any of the Releasees for, upon or by reason of any matter, cause or thing whatsoever from time to time occurred on or prior to the date hereof, in any
way concerning, relating to, or arising from (i) any of the Transactions, (ii) the Secured Obligations, (iii) the Collateral, (iv) the Credit Agreement or any of the
other Loan Documents, (v) the financial condition, business operations, business plans, prospects or creditworthiness of the Borrowers, and (vi) the negotiation,
documentation and execution of this Waiver and any documents relating hereto except for Claims determined by a court of competent jurisdiction by final and
nonappealable judgment to have resulted from the gross negligence, bad faith or willful misconduct of such Releasee (or any of its Related Parties). The
Releasors hereby acknowledge that they have been advised by legal counsel of the meaning and consequences of this release.

8. Governing Law. This Waiver shall be construed in accordance with and governed by the law of the State of New York.

9. Headings. Section headings in this Waiver are included herein for convenience of reference only and shall not constitute a part of this Waiver for
any other purpose.

10. Counterparts. This Waiver may be executed by one or more of the parties hereto on any number of separate counterparts, and all of said
counterparts taken together shall be deemed to constitute one and the same instrument. Signatures delivered by facsimile or PDF shall have the same force and
effect as manual signatures delivered in person.

[Signature Pages Follow]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Waiver has been duly executed as of the day and year first above written.
YRC WORLDWIDE INC,, as the Company

By:

Name:
Title:

REIMER EXPRESS LINES LTD./REIMER EXPRESS LTEE,
as a Canadian Borrower

By:

Name:
Title:

YRC LOGISTICS LIMITED, as a UK Borrower

By:

Name:
Title:

Signature Page to Waiver
YRC Worldwide Inc. et al
Credit Agreement dated as of August 17, 2007



JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as
Administrative Agent, as a US Tranche Lender and as US
Tranche Swingline Lender

By:

Name:
Title:

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,
TORONTO BRANCH, as Canadian Agent, as a Canadian

Tranche Lender and as Canadian Tranche Swingline Lender

By:

Name:
Title:

J.P. MORGAN EUROPE LIMITED, as UK Agent

By:

Name:
Title:

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,
LONDON BRANCH, as a UK Tranche Lender and as UK

Tranche Swingline Lender

By:

Name:
Title:

Signature Page to Waiver
YRC Worldwide Inc. et al
Credit Agreement dated as of August 17, 2007



BANK OF AMERICA, N.A,, as a Syndication Agent and as a
US Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:

BANK OF AMERICA, N.A. (CANADA BRANCH), as a
Canadian Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:

BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., as Successor by Merger to
LASALLE BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as a US

Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:

Signature Page to Waiver
YRC Worldwide Inc. et al
Credit Agreement dated as of August 17, 2007



SUNTRUST BANK, as a Syndication Agent and as a US
Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:

Signature Page to Waiver
YRC Worldwide Inc. et al
Credit Agreement dated as of August 17, 2007



US BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as a Documentation Agent,
as a US Tranche Lender and as a Canadian Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:

Signature Page to Waiver
YRC Worldwide Inc. et al
Credit Agreement dated as of August 17, 2007



WACHOVIA BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as a
Documentation Agent, as a US Tranche Lender and as a
UK Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:

Signature Page to Waiver
YRC Worldwide Inc. et al
Credit Agreement dated as of August 17, 2007



BANK OF TOKYO-MITSUBISHI UFJ, LTD, as a
Documentation Agent and as a US Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:

Signature Page to Waiver
YRC Worldwide Inc. et al
Credit Agreement dated as of August 17, 2007



THE ROYAL BANK OF SCOTLAND plc, as a
US Tranche Lender and as a UK Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:

Signature Page to Waiver
YRC Worldwide Inc. et al
Credit Agreement dated as of August 17, 2007



BMO CAPITAL MARKETS FINANCING, INC.,
as a US Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:

BANK OF MONTREAL, as a Canadian Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:

Signature Page to Waiver
YRC Worldwide Inc. et al
Credit Agreement dated as of August 17, 2007



SUMITOMO MITSUI BANKING CORPORATION, as a US
Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:

Signature Page to Waiver
YRC Worldwide Inc. et al
Credit Agreement dated as of August 17, 2007



UMB BANK, n.a., as a US Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:

Signature Page to Waiver
YRC Worldwide Inc. et al
Credit Agreement dated as of August 17, 2007



TAIWAN BUSINESS BANK, as a US Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:

Signature Page to Waiver
YRC Worldwide Inc. et al
Credit Agreement dated as of August 17, 2007



MEGA INTERNATIONAL COMMERCIAL BANK CO., LTD.,
NEW YORK BRANCH, as a US Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:

Signature Page to Waiver
YRC Worldwide Inc. et al
Credit Agreement dated as of August 17, 2007



TAIPEI FUBON COMMERCIAL BANK CO., LTD., as a
US Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:

Signature Page to Waiver
YRC Worldwide Inc. et al
Credit Agreement dated as of August 17, 2007



HUA NAN COMMERCIAL BANK, LTD., LOS ANGELES
BRANCH, as a US Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:

Signature Page to Waiver
YRC Worldwide Inc. et al
Credit Agreement dated as of August 17, 2007



HUA NAN COMMERCIAL BANK, LTD., NEW YORK
AGENCY, as a US Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:

Signature Page to Waiver
YRC Worldwide Inc. et al
Credit Agreement dated as of August 17, 2007



BANK OF COMMUNICATIONS CO., LTD., NEW YORK BRANCH,
as a US Tranche Lender

By:
Name:
Title:

Signature Page to Waiver
YRC Worldwide Inc. et al
Credit Agreement dated as of August 17, 2007



CHANG HWA COMMERCIAL BANK, LTD.,
NEW YORK BRANCH, as a US Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:

Signature Page to Waiver
YRC Worldwide Inc. et al
Credit Agreement dated as of August 17, 2007



FIRST COMMERCIAL BANK, LOS ANGELES BRANCH, as
a US Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:

Signature Page to Waiver
YRC Worldwide Inc. et al
Credit Agreement dated as of August 17, 2007



[LENDER], as a US Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:

Signature Page to Waiver
YRC Worldwide Inc. et al
Credit Agreement dated as of August 17, 2007



Exhibit 10.2
EXECUTION COPY
AMENDMENT NO. 12
Dated as of October 27, 2009
to
CREDIT AGREEMENT
Dated as of August 17, 2007

THIS AMENDMENT NO. 12 (“Amendment”) is made as of October 27, 2009 by and among YRC Worldwide Inc. (the “Company™), the Canadian
Borrower and the UK Borrower (together with the Company, the “Borrowers”), the financial institutions listed on the signature pages hereof and JPMorgan Chase
Bank, National Association, as Administrative Agent (the “Administrative Agent”), under that certain Credit Agreement dated as of August 17, 2007 by and
among the Borrowers from time to time party thereto, the Lenders and the Administrative Agent (as amended, amended and restated, restated, supplemented or
otherwise modified from time to time, the “Credit Agreement”). Capitalized terms used herein and not otherwise defined herein shall have the respective
meanings given to them in the Credit Agreement.

WHEREAS, the Company has requested that the Lenders and the Administrative Agent agree to certain amendments to the Credit Agreement; and
WHEREAS, the Lenders party hereto and the Administrative Agent have agreed to such amendments on the terms and conditions set forth herein;

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises set forth above, the terms and conditions contained herein, and other good and valuable
consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Borrowers, the Lenders party hereto and the Administrative Agent have agreed
to enter into this Amendment.

1. Amendments to Credit Agreement. Effective as of the date of satisfaction or waiver of the conditions precedent set forth in Section 2 below, the
Credit Agreement is hereby amended as follows:

(a) The Credit Agreement is amended to read as set forth on Annex A attached hereto.

(b) Schedule 6.07(d) to the Credit Agreement is deleted in its entirety.

(c) A new Schedule 1.01E is hereby added to the Credit Agreement as set forth on Annex B attached hereto.
(d) A new Schedule 4.02(d) is hereby added to the Credit Agreement as set forth on Annex C attached hereto.

(e)A new Schedule 6.05A is hereby added to the Credit Agreement as set forth on Annex D attached hereto.



(f) A new Schedule 6.05B is hereby added to the Credit Agreement as set forth on Annex E attached hereto.
(g) Exhibit A (Form of Assignment and Assumption) is hereby amended and restated in its entirety as set forth on Annex F attached hereto.

(h) Each Lender party hereto which has delivered a signature page hereto designating themselves as a “Deferring Lender” acknowledges and agrees
that they are willing to become “Deferring Lenders” (as defined in the Credit Agreement, as amended hereby) under the Credit Agreement, as amended, and by
its signature confirms that it is a Deferring Lender.

2. Conditions of Effectiveness. The effectiveness of this Amendment is subject to the conditions precedent that (a) on or before December 16, 2009,
the Administrative Agent shall have received (i) counterparts of this Amendment duly executed by the Borrowers, all the Lenders and the Administrative Agent,
(ii) the Consent and Reaffirmation attached hereto duly executed by the Subsidiary Guarantors and (iii) those documents, instruments and legal opinions as are set
forth in Section 4.04 of the amended Credit Agreement attached as Annex A hereto and (b) the Company shall have paid all previously invoiced, reasonable, out-
of-pocket expenses of the Administrative Agent (including, to the extent invoiced, reasonable attorneys’ fees and expenses) in connection with this Amendment
and the other Loan Documents, in each case to the extent reimbursable under the terms of the Credit Agreement.

3. Representations and Warranties of the Borrowers. Each Borrower hereby represents and warrants as follows as of the closing date of this
Amendment:

(a) This Amendment and the Credit Agreement, as amended hereby, constitute legal, valid and binding obligations of such Borrower and are
enforceable against such Borrower in accordance with their terms, subject to applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or other laws
affecting creditors’ rights generally and subject to general principles of equity, regardless of whether considered in a proceeding in equity or at law.

(b) As of the date hereof after giving effect to the terms of this Amendment, (i) no Default shall have occurred and be continuing and (ii) the
representations and warranties of the Borrowers set forth in the Credit Agreement, as amended hereby, are true and correct in all material respects on and as of the
date hereof, except to the extent any such representation or warranty is stated to relate solely to an earlier date, in which case such representation or warranty shall
have been true and correct in all material respects on and as of such earlier date.

4. Reference to and Effect on the Credit Agreement.

(a) Upon the effectiveness hereof, each reference to the Credit Agreement in the Credit Agreement or any other Loan Document shall mean and be a
reference to the Credit Agreement as prior to the date hereof and as amended hereby.

(b) The Credit Agreement, as amended prior to the date hereof and as amended hereby, and all other documents, instruments and agreements
executed and/or delivered in connection therewith shall remain in full force and effect and are hereby ratified and confirmed.

(c) The execution, delivery and effectiveness of this Amendment shall not operate as a waiver of any right, power or remedy of the Administrative
Agent or the Lenders, nor constitute a waiver of any provision of the Credit Agreement or any other documents, instruments and agreements executed and/or
delivered in connection therewith.



5. Release. In further consideration of the execution by the Administrative Agent and the Lenders of this Amendment, to the extent permitted by
applicable law, the Company, on behalf of itself and each of its Subsidiaries, and all of the successors and assigns of each of the foregoing (collectively, the
“Releasors”), hereby completely, voluntarily, knowingly, and unconditionally releases and forever discharges the Collateral Agent, the Administrative Agent,
each of the Lenders, each of their advisors, professionals and employees, each affiliate of the foregoing and all of their respective permitted successors and
assigns (collectively, the “Releasees”), from any and all claims, actions, suits, and other liabilities, including, without limitation, any so-called “lender liability”
claims or defenses (collectively, “Claims”), whether arising in law or in equity, which any of the Releasors ever had, now has or hereinafter can, shall or may
have against any of the Releasees for, upon or by reason of any matter, cause or thing whatsoever from time to time occurred on or prior to the date hereof, in any
way concerning, relating to, or arising from (i) any of the Transactions, (ii) the Secured Obligations, (iii) the Collateral, (iv) the Credit Agreement or any of the
other Loan Documents, (v) the financial condition, business operations, business plans, prospects or creditworthiness of the Borrowers, and (vi) the negotiation,
documentation and execution of this Amendment and any documents relating hereto except for Claims determined by a court of competent jurisdiction by final
and nonappealable judgment to have resulted from the gross negligence, bad faith or willful misconduct of such Releasee (or any of its Related Parties). The
Releasors hereby acknowledge that they have been advised by legal counsel of the meaning and consequences of this release.

6. Governing Law. This Amendment shall be construed in accordance with and governed by the law of the State of New York.

7. Headings. Section headings in this Amendment are included herein for convenience of reference only and shall not constitute a part of this
Amendment for any other purpose.

8. Counterparts. This Amendment may be executed by one or more of the parties hereto on any number of separate counterparts, and all of said
counterparts taken together shall be deemed to constitute one and the same instrument. Signatures delivered by facsimile or PDF shall have the same force and
effect as manual signatures delivered in person.

[Signature Pages Follow]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Amendment has been duly executed as of the day and year first above written.

YRC WORLDWIDE INC,, as the Company

By:

Name:
Title:

REIMER EXPRESS LINES LTD./REIMER EXPRESS LTEE,
as a Canadian Borrower

By:

Name:
Title:

YRC LOGISTICS LIMITED, as a UK Borrower

By:

Name:
Title:



JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as
Administrative Agent, as a US Tranche Lender and as US
Tranche Swingline Lender

By:

Name:
Title:

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,

TORONTO BRANCH, as Canadian Agent, as a Canadian
Tranche Lender and as Canadian Tranche Swingline Lender

By:

Name:
Title:

J.P. MORGAN EUROPE LIMITED, as UK Agent

By:

Name:
Title:

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,

LONDON BRANCH, as a UK Tranche Lender and as UK
Tranche Swingline Lender

By:

Name:
Title:



BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., as a Syndication Agent and
as a US Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:

BANK OF AMERICA, N.A. (CANADA BRANCH),
as a Canadian Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:

BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., as Successor by Merger to

LASALLE BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,
as a US Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:



SUNTRUST BANK, as a Syndication Agent and
as a US Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:



US BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as a Documentation
Agent, as a US Tranche Lender and as a Canadian Tranche
Lender

By:

Name:
Title:



WACHOVIA BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as a
Documentation Agent, as a US Tranche Lender and as a UK
Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:



BANK OF TOKYO-MITSUBISHI UFJ, LTD, as a
Documentation Agent and as a US Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:



THE ROYAL BANK OF SCOTLAND plc,
as a US Tranche Lender and
as a UK Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:



BMO CAPITAL MARKETS FINANCING, INC.,
as a US Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:

BANK OF MONTREAL, as a Canadian Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:



SUMITOMO MITSUI BANKING CORPORATION,
as a US Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:



UMB BANK, n.a., as a US Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:



TAIWAN BUSINESS BANK, as a US Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:



MEGA INTERNATIONAL COMMERCIAL BANK CO.,
LTD., NEW YORK BRANCH, as a US Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:



TAIPEI FUBON COMMERCIAL BANK CO., LTD.,
as a US Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:



HUA NAN COMMERCIAL BANK, LTD., LOS ANGELES
BRANCH, as a US Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:



HUA NAN COMMERCIAL BANK, LTD., NEW YORK
AGENCY, as a US Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:



BANK OF COMMUNICATIONS CO., LTD., NEW YORK
BRANCH, as a US Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:



CHANG HWA COMMERCIAL BANK, LTD., NEW YORK
BRANCH, as a US Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:



FIRST COMMERCIAL BANK, LOS ANGELES BRANCH,
as a US Tranche Lender

By:

Name:
Title:



ANNEX A

CREDIT AGREEMENT
dated as of August 17, 2007
among
YRC WORLDWIDE INC.,
The CANADIAN BORROWERS and UK BORROWERS Parties Hereto,
The Lenders Party Hereto,

BANK OF AMERICA, N.A.
SUNTRUST BANK,
as Syndication Agents,

US BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION
WACHOVIA BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION
THE BANK OF TOKYO-MITSUBISHI UFJ, LTD., CHICAGO BRANCH,
as Documentation Agents,

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, TORONTO BRANCH,
as Canadian Agent,

J.P. MORGAN EUROPE LIMITED,
as UK Agent,

and

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION
as Administrative Agent

J.P. MORGAN SECURITIES INC.,
as Sole Bookrunner and Sole Lead Arranger
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CREDIT AGREEMENT dated as of August 17, 2007 among YRC WORLDWIDE INC,, a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), the
CANADIAN BORROWERS (as defined below), the UK BORROWERS (as defined below), the LENDERS party hereto, PMORGAN CHASE BANK,
NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, TORONTO BRANCH, as Canadian Agent, J.P. MORGAN EUROPE LIMITED, as UK Agent, and JPMORGAN CHASE BANK,
NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as Administrative Agent.

ARTICLE1
Definitions

SECTION 1.01. Defined Terms. As used in this Agreement, the following terms have the meanings specified below:

“ABR”, when used in reference to any Loan or Borrowing, refers to whether such Loan, or the Loans comprising such Borrowing, are bearing
interest at a rate determined by reference to the Alternate Base Rate.

“Acceptance” means a Draft issued by a Canadian Borrower and accepted by a Canadian Tranche Lender pursuant to this Agreement.

“Acceptance Proceeds” means the cash proceeds derived from the sale of a specified Acceptance before deduction of the Stamping Fee.

“Acquisition” means any transaction, or any series of related transactions, consummated on or after the date of this Agreement, by which the
Company or any of its Subsidiaries (a) acquires any going business or all or substantially all of the assets of any firm, corporation or limited liability company, or
division thereof, whether through purchase of assets, merger or otherwise or (b) directly or indirectly acquires (in one transaction or as the most recent transaction
in a series of transactions) at least a majority (in number of votes) of the securities of a corporation which have ordinary voting power for the election of directors
(other than securities having such power only by reason of the happening of a contingency) or a majority (by percentage or voting power) of the outstanding
ownership interests of a partnership or limited liability company.

“Adjusted LIBO Rate” means, with respect to any Eurocurrency Borrowing for any Interest Period (including, for the avoidance of doubt, any
Interest Period in effect on the Amendment No. 2 Effective Date), an interest rate per annum (rounded upwards, if necessary, to the next 1/16 of 1%) equal to
(a) the greater of (i) the LIBO Rate for such Interest Period and (ii) 3.50%, multiplied by (b) the Statutory Reserve Rate.

“Adjusted Weekly Operating EBITDA” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.01A(b).

“Administrative Agent” means JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association, in its capacity as administrative agent for the Lenders hereunder.

“Administrative Questionnaire” means an Administrative Questionnaire in a form supplied by the Administrative Agent.



“Affiliate” means, with respect to a specified Person, another Person that directly, or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, Controls or is
Controlled by or is under common Control with the Person specified.

“Agents” means, collectively, the Administrative Agent, the Canadian Agent and the UK Agent.

“Aggregate Available Commitments” means the sum of (a) the Canadian Tranche Available Commitment, plus (b) UK Tranche Available
Commitment, plus (c) US Tranche Available Revolving Commitment.

“Aggregate Revolver Reserve Amount” means, as of any date of determination, an amount equal to the sum of (i) the Existing Revolver Reserve
Amount as of such date and (ii) the New Revolver Reserve Amount as of such date.

“Agreement” means this Credit Agreement, as the same may be amended, amended and restated, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from
time to time.

“Alternate Base Rate” means, for any day, a rate per annum equal to the greatest of (a) the Prime Rate in effect on such day, (b) the Base CD Rate in
effect on such day plus 1%, (c) the Federal Funds Effective Rate in effect on such day plus 1/2 of 1% and (d) the Adjusted LIBO Rate for a one month Interest
Period in effect on such day (or if such day is not a Business Day, the immediately preceding Business Day) plus 1%. Any change in the Alternate Base Rate due
to a change in the Prime Rate, the Base CD Rate, the Federal Funds Effective Rate or the Adjusted LIBO Rate shall be effective from and including the effective
date of such change in the Prime Rate, the Base CD Rate, the Federal Funds Effective Rate or the Adjusted LIBO Rate, respectively.

“Alternative Currency” means any currency other than US Dollars that is freely available, freely transferable and freely convertible into US Dollars
and in which dealings in deposits are carried on in the London interbank market, provided that at the time of the issuance, amendment, renewal or extension of
any Letter of Credit denominated in a currency other than US Dollars, Euro, Pounds Sterling and Canadian Dollars, such other currency is reasonably acceptable
to the Administrative Agent and the Issuing Bank in respect of such Letter of Credit.

“Alternative Currency LC Exposure” means, at any time, the sum of (a) the US Dollar Equivalent of the aggregate undrawn and unexpired amount
of all outstanding Alternative Currency Letters of Credit at such time plus (b) the US Dollar Equivalent of the aggregate principal amount of all LC
Disbursements in respect of Alternative Currency Letters of Credit that have not yet been reimbursed at such time.

“Alternative Currency Letter of Credit” means a Letter of Credit denominated in an Alternative Currency.

“Amendment No. 1” means Amendment No. 1 to this Agreement, dated as of April 18, 2008, by and among the Borrowers, the Lenders party thereto
and the Administrative Agent.

“Amendment No. 1 Effective Date” means April 18, 2008.

“Amendment No. 2” means Waiver and Amendment No. 2 to this Agreement, dated as of February 12, 2009, by and among the Borrowers, the
Lenders party thereto and the Administrative Agent.



“Amendment No. 2 Effective Date” means February 12, 2009.

“Amendment No. 2 Projections” means the projections dated as of February 10, 2009 provided by the Company to the Lenders on or prior to the
Amendment No. 2 Effective Date.

“Amendment No. 7” means Amendment No. 7 to this Agreement, dated as of June 17, 2009, by and among the Borrowers, the Lenders party thereto
and the Administrative Agent.

“Amendment No. 7 Effective Date” means June 17, 2009.

“Amendment No. 9” means Amendment No. 9 to this Agreement, dated as of July 30, 2009, by and among the Borrowers, the Lenders party thereto
and the Administrative Agent.

“Amendment No. 9 Effective Date” means July 30, 2009.
“Amendment No. 11 Effective Date” means October 9, 2009.

“Amendment No. 12” means Amendment No. 12 to this Agreement, dated as of October 27, 2009, by and among the Borrowers, the Lenders party
thereto and the Administrative Agent.

“Amendment No. 12 Effective Date” means October 27, 2009.

“Amendment No. 12 Fee” means, with respect to each Deferring Lender, an amount equal to 3.00% of the aggregate amount of such Deferring
Lender’s Commitment and outstanding Term Loans as of the Amendment No. 12 Effective Date.

“Applicable Agent” means (a) with respect to a Loan or Borrowing denominated in US Dollars, and with respect to any payment hereunder that does
not relate to a particular Loan or Borrowing, the Administrative Agent, (b) with respect to a Loan or Borrowing denominated in Canadian Dollars, the Canadian
Agent, and (c) with respect to a Loan or Borrowing denominated in Pounds Sterling or Euro, the UK Agent.

Percentage.

“Applicable Prepayment Percentage” means:

(a) with respect to any Asset Sale described in clause (a) of the definition of “Prepayment Event” the Net Cash Proceeds of which, together with the
aggregate amount of Net Cash Proceeds from all such Asset Sales occurring on or after January 1, 2009 (i) is less than or equal to $300,000,000, 50%, (ii) is
greater than $300,000,000 but less than or equal to $500,000,000, 75% and (iii) is greater than $500,000,000, 100%;

(b) with respect to any Asset Sale described in clause (b) of the definition of “Prepayment Event”, 75%;
(c) with respect to any event described in clause (c) of the definition of “Prepayment Event”, 50%; and

(d) with respect to any event described in clause (d) of the definition of “Prepayment Event”, 100%.

3



“Applicable Rate” means, for any day on and after the Amendment No. 2 Effective Date, with respect to any Eurocurrency Revolving Loan,
Eurocurrency Term Loan, ABR Loan or with respect to the commitment fees payable hereunder, or with respect to any Letter of Credit participation fee under
Section 2.13(b), as the case may be, the applicable rate per annum set forth below under the caption “Eurocurrency Spread for Eurocurrency Revolving Loans”,
“Eurocurrency Spread for Eurocurrency Term Loans”, “Stamping Fee Rate”, “Commitment Fee Rate”, “ABR Spread for Revolving Loans” or “ABR Spread for
Term Loans”, as the case may be:

Eurocurrency Eurocurrency
Spread for Spread for
Eurocurrency Eurocurrency Stamping Fee Commitment ABR Spread for ABR Spread for
Revolving Loans Term Loans Rate Fee Rate Revolving Loans Term Loans
6.50% 6.50% 6.50% 1.00% 5.50% 5.50%

“Approved Fund” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 11.04.

“Assessment Rate” means, for any day, the annual assessment rate in effect on such day that is payable by a member of the Bank Insurance Fund
classified as “well-capitalized” and within supervisory subgroup “B” (or a comparable successor risk classification) within the meaning of 12 C.F.R. Part 327 (or
any successor provision) to the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation for insurance by such Corporation of time deposits made in US Dollars at the offices of
such member in the United States; provided that if, as a result of any change in any law, rule or regulation, it is no longer possible to determine the Assessment
Rate as aforesaid, then the Assessment Rate shall be such annual rate as shall be determined by the Administrative Agent to be representative of the cost of such
insurance to the Lenders.

“Asset Sale” means any sale, transfer or other disposition by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to any Person (including by way of redemption
by such Person) of any asset (including, without limitation, any capital stock or other securities of, or equity interests in, another Person) other than (a) sales of
inventory for fair value in the ordinary course of business, (b) sales by the Company or any Subsidiary of Receivables or any interest therein under Permitted
Receivables Facilities, (c) sales or other dispositions of assets by (i) the Company or a Domestic Subsidiary to a Domestic Loan Party or (ii) any Foreign
Subsidiary to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, (d) nonexclusive licenses of patents, copyrights, trademarks, trade secrets and other intellectual property to
an Affiliate of the Company or to third parties in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practices, and (e) (i) leases, subleases and terminations and
abandonment of any leasehold interest in real property and (ii) granting of easements or rights of way in respect of real property, in each case, in the ordinary
course of business consistent with past practices.

“Assignment and Assumption” means an assignment and assumption entered into by a Lender and an assignee (with the consent of any party whose
consent is required by Section 11.04), and accepted by the Administrative Agent, in the form of Exhibit A or any other form approved by the Administrative
Agent.

“Attributable Debt” means, as of any date of determination thereof, the net present value (discounted according to GAAP at the cost of debt implied
in the lease) of the obligations of the lessee for rental payments during the then remaining term of any applicable lease in connection with a Sale and Leaseback
Transaction.



“Attributable Receivables Indebtedness” at any time means the principal amount of Indebtedness which (i) if a Permitted Receivables Facility is
structured as a secured lending agreement, constitutes the principal amount of such Indebtedness or (ii) if a Permitted Receivables Facility is structured as a
purchase agreement, would be outstanding at such time under the Permitted Receivables Facility if the same were structured as a secured lending agreement
rather than a purchase agreement.

“Availability Period” means the period from and including the Effective Date to but excluding the earlier of the Maturity Date and the date of
termination of the Revolving Commitments.

“Available Cash” means, as of any date of determination, the sum of (i) Unrestricted Cash in respect of which the Administrative Agent shall have a
first priority (subject solely to Permitted Encumbrances in favor of depositary banks) perfected security interest and any amounts maintained by the Company and
its Domestic Subsidiaries in a deposit account for the sole purpose of funding payroll obligations, all as of such date, plus (ii) the amount of the available
Revolving Commitments which is available without satisfaction or waiver of Section 4.02(d), Section 4.02(e) or 4.02(h) as of such date, plus (iii) the amount
available for drawing under the Yellow Receivables Facility as of such date. Available Cash shall be tested on each Business Day based on the daily average as of
the end of business for the immediately preceding three (3) Business Days.

“Available Deferred Interest and Fee Amount” means, as of any date of determination, the excess of (i) Available Interest Payment Amount over
(ii) $225,000,000 on such date, all as demonstrated in a certificate of a Financial Officer of the Company certifying as of such date the calculation of the Available
Deferred Interest and Fee Amount (all in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent), it being understood and agreed that if no such
excess exists as of such date, the Available Deferred Interest and Fee Amount shall be deemed to be $0 as of such date.

“Available Interest Payment Amount” means, as of any date of determination, the sum of (i) Permitted Investments held by the Company and its
Domestic Subsidiaries (other than any Receivables Entity) as of such date, plus (ii) the amount of the available Revolving Commitments which is available
without satisfaction or waiver of Section 4.02(d), Section 4.02(e) or 4.02(h) as of such date, plus (iii) the amount available for drawing under the Yellow
Receivables Facility as of such date.

“Banking Services” means each and any of the following bank services provided to the Company or any Subsidiary by any Lender or any of its
Affiliates: (a) commercial credit cards, (b) stored value cards and (c) treasury management services (including, without limitation, controlled disbursement,
automated clearinghouse transactions, return items, overdrafts and interstate depository network services).

“Banking Services Agreement” means any agreement entered into by the Company or any Subsidiary in connection with Banking Services.

“Banking Services Obligations” means any and all obligations of the Company or any Subsidiary, whether absolute or contingent and howsoever and
whensoever created, arising, evidenced or acquired (including all renewals, extensions and modifications thereof and substitutions therefor) in connection with
Banking Services.

“Base CD Rate” means the sum of (a) the Three-Month Secondary CD Rate multiplied by the Statutory Reserve Rate plus (b) the Assessment Rate.
“Board” means the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System of the United States of America.
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“BofA Lease” means that certain Master Equipment Lease Agreement, dated as of August 6, 2001, by and among Banc of America Leasing &
Capital, LLC, any other lessors or creditors thereunder from time to time party thereto and certain of the Loan Parties, including all exhibits, schedules, annexes
and assignments in respect thereof, as the same may be amended, amended and restated, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time.

“Borrower” means the Company, any Canadian Borrower or any UK Borrower, and “Borrowers” means all of the foregoing.

“Borrowing” means Loans (including one or more Swingline Loans) of the same Class, Type and currency, made, converted or continued on the
same date and, in the case of Eurocurrency Loans, as to which a single Interest Period is in effect, or Acceptances issued on the same date and having the same
maturity date.

“Borrowing Minimum” means (a) in the case of a Borrowing (other than ABR Revolving Loans and Swingline Loans) denominated in US Dollars,
$1,000,000, (b) in the case of an ABR Revolving Loan, $1,000,000, (c) in the case of a Borrowing (other than Swingline Loans) denominated in Canadian
Dollars, C$1,000,000, (d) in the case of a Borrowing (other than Swingline Loans) denominated in Pounds Sterling, £500,000, (e) in the case of a Borrowing
(other than Swingline Loans) denominated in Euro, €1,000,000, (f) in the case of a US Tranche Swingline Loan, $250,000, (g) in the case of a Canadian Tranche
Swingline Loan, C$100,000, (h) in the case of a UK Tranche Swingline Loan denominated in Pounds Sterling, £100,000, and (i) in the case of a UK Tranche
Swingline Loan denominated in Euro, €100,000.

“Borrowing Multiple” means (a) in the case of a Borrowing (other than Swingline Loans) denominated in US Dollars, $1,000,000, (b) in the case of
a Borrowing (other than Swingline Loans) denominated in Canadian Dollars, C$500,000, (c) in the case of a Borrowing (other than Swingline Loans)
denominated in Pounds Sterling, £500,000, (d) in the case of a Borrowing (other than Swingline Loans) denominated in Euro, €500,000, (e) in the case of a US
Tranche Swingline Loan, $50,000, (f) in the case of a Canadian Tranche Swingline Loan, C$100,000, (g) in the case of a UK Tranche Swingline Loan
denominated in Pounds Sterling, £100,000, and (h) in the case of a UK Tranche Swingline Loan denominated in Euro, €100,000.

“Borrowing Request” means a request by a Borrower for a Revolving Borrowing, a Term Loan Borrowing or a Borrowing of Acceptances in
accordance with Section 2.03.

“Borrowing Subsidiary Termination” means a Borrowing Subsidiary Termination substantially in the form of Exhibit B-2.

“Business Day” means any day that is not a Saturday, Sunday or other day on which commercial banks in New York City are authorized or required
by law to remain closed; provided, that (a) when used in connection with a Eurocurrency Loan denominated in US Dollars, the term “Business Day” shall also
exclude any day on which banks are not open for dealings in deposits in US Dollars in the London interbank market, (b) when used in connection with a Loan
denominated in Pounds Sterling, “Business Day” shall also exclude any day on which banks are not open for dealings in deposits in Pounds Sterling in the
London interbank market, (c) when used in connection with a Loan denominated in Canadian Dollars or an Acceptance, the term “Business Day” shall also
exclude any day on which banks are not open for dealings in deposits in Canadian Dollars in Toronto and (d) when used in connection with a Loan denominated
in Euro, the term “Business Day” shall also exclude (i) any day on which the TARGET payment system is not open for the settlement of payments in Euro and
(ii) any day on which banks in London are authorized or required by law to remain closed.
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“Calculation Period” means, in the case of any Permitted Acquisition, the Test Period most recently ended prior to the date of any such Permitted
Acquisition for which financial statements are available.

“CAM” means the mechanism for the allocation and exchange of interests in Loans, participations in Letters of Credit and other extensions of credit
under the several Tranches and collections thereunder established under Article IX.

“CAM Exchange” means the exchange of the Lender’s interests provided for in Article IX.

“CAM Exchange Date” means the first date on which there shall occur (a) any event referred to in clause (h) or (i) of Article VII in respect of the
Company, (b) an acceleration of Loans pursuant to Article VII or (c) an out of court restructuring of the credit facility(ies) under this Agreement which does not
result in the Agents, the Lenders and the Issuing Banks receiving cash in full and final payment of the Obligations owing to them hereunder.

“CAM Percentage” means, as to each Lender, a fraction, expressed as a decimal, of which (a) the numerator shall be the aggregate US Dollar
Equivalent (determined on the basis of Exchange Rates prevailing on the CAM Exchange Date) of the sum, without duplication, of (i) the Obligations owed to
such Lender (whether or not at the time due and payable), (ii) the LC Exposure of such Lender and (iii) the Swingline Exposure of such Lender, in each case
immediately prior to the occurrence of the CAM Exchange Date, and (b) the denominator shall be the aggregate US Dollar Equivalent (as so determined) of the
sum, without duplication, of (A) the Obligations owed to all the Lenders (whether or not at the time due and payable), (B) the aggregate LC Exposures of all the
Lenders and (C) the aggregate Swingline Exposures of all the Lenders, in each case immediately prior to the occurrence of the CAM Exchange Date; provided
that, for purposes of clause (a) above, the Obligations owed to the Swingline Lender will be deemed not to include any Swingline Loans except to the extent
provided in clause (a)(iii) above.

“Canadian Agent” means JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association, Toronto Branch, in its capacity as Canadian administrative agent for the
Canadian Tranche Lenders hereunder.

“Canadian Base Rate” means, on any day, the annual rate of interest equal to the greater of:

(a) the annual rate of interest determined by the Canadian Agent as the annual rate of interest announced from time to time by the Canadian Agent as
its prime rate in effect at its principal office in Toronto on such day for determining interest rates on Canadian Dollar denominated commercial loans in Canada;
and

(b) the annual rate of interest equal to the sum of (A) the CDOR BA Rate (using a maturity of one month) in effect on such day and (B) 1% per
annum.

“Canadian Base Rate”, when used in reference to any Loan or Borrowing, refers to whether such Loan, or the Loans comprising such Borrowing, are bearing
interest at a rate determined by reference to the Canadian Base Rate.

“Canadian Borrower” means (i) Reimer Express Lines Ltd./Reimer Express Ltee, a corporation organized under the laws of Canada and (ii) any
other Canadian Subsidiary that has been designated as such pursuant to Section 2.21 and, in each case, that has not ceased to be a Canadian Borrower as provided
in such Section.



“Canadian Dollars” or “C$” means the lawful money of Canada.
“Canadian Subsidiary” means any Subsidiary that is incorporated or otherwise organized under the laws of Canada or any province thereof.

“Canadian Tranche” means the Canadian Tranche Commitments, the Canadian Tranche Revolving Loans, the Acceptances, the Canadian Tranche
LC Exposure and the Canadian Tranche Swingline Loans.

“Canadian Tranche Available Commitment” means, at any time, the aggregate Canadian Tranche Commitment then in effect minus the Canadian
Tranche Exposure of all the Canadian Tranche Lenders at such time.

“Canadian Tranche Commitment” means, with respect to each Canadian Tranche Lender, the commitment of such Canadian Tranche Lender to make
Canadian Tranche Revolving Loans, to accept Drafts and to acquire participations in Letters of Credit issued under the Canadian Tranche and Canadian Tranche
Swingline Loans hereunder, expressed as an amount representing the maximum aggregate amount of such Canadian Tranche Lender’s Canadian Tranche
Exposure hereunder, as such commitment may be (a) reduced from time to time pursuant to Sections 2.09, 2.12 and 2.19(f) and (b) reduced or increased from
time to time pursuant to assignments by or to such Lender pursuant to Section 11.04. The initial amount of each Canadian Tranche Lender’s Canadian Tranche
Commitment is set forth on Schedule 2.01, or in the Assignment and Assumption pursuant to which Canadian Tranche Lender shall have assumed its Canadian
Tranche Commitment, as applicable. The aggregate amount of the Canadian Tranche Commitments on the date hereof is $25,000,000.

“Canadian Tranche Exposure” means, with respect to any Canadian Tranche Lender at any time, the US Dollar Equivalent of the sum at such time,
without duplication, of (a) such Lender’s Canadian Tranche Percentage of the sum of the principal amounts of the outstanding Canadian Tranche Revolving
Loans and the face amounts of the outstanding Acceptances, plus (b) the aggregate amount of such Lender’s Canadian Tranche LC Exposure and Canadian
Tranche Swingline Exposure at such time.

“Canadian Tranche LC Exposure” means, at any time, the sum of (a) the aggregate undrawn amount of all outstanding Letters of Credit issued under
the Canadian Tranche denominated in US Dollars at such time, (b) the US Dollar Equivalent of the aggregate undrawn amount of all outstanding Letters of Credit
issued under the Canadian Tranche denominated in an Alternative Currency at such time and (c) the aggregate amount of all LC Disbursements in respect of
Letters of Credit issued under the Canadian Tranche that have not yet been reimbursed by or on behalf of the applicable Borrower at such time. The Canadian
Tranche LC Exposure of any Canadian Tranche Lender at any time shall be its Canadian Tranche Percentage of the total Canadian Tranche LC Exposure at such
time.

“Canadian Tranche Lender” means a Lender with a Canadian Tranche Commitment.

“Canadian Tranche Percentage” means, with respect to any Canadian Tranche Lender, the percentage of the total Canadian Tranche Commitments
represented by such Lender’s Canadian Tranche Commitment. If the Canadian Tranche Commitments have terminated or expired, the Canadian Tranche
Percentages shall be determined based upon the Canadian Tranche Commitments most recently in effect, giving effect to any assignments.
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“Canadian Tranche Revolving Borrowing” means a Borrowing comprised of Canadian Tranche Revolving Loans or Acceptances.

“Canadian Tranche Revolving Loan” means a Loan made by a Canadian Tranche Lender pursuant to Section 2.01(b). Each Canadian Tranche
Revolving Loan made to the Company shall be denominated in US Dollars and shall be a Eurocurrency Loan or an ABR Loan, and each Canadian Tranche
Revolving Loan made to a Canadian Borrower shall be denominated in Canadian Dollars and shall be a Canadian Base Rate Loan.

“Canadian Tranche Swingline Exposure” means, at any time, the aggregate principal amount of all Canadian Tranche Swingline Loans outstanding
at such time. The Canadian Tranche Swingline Exposure of any Canadian Tranche Lender at any time shall be its Canadian Tranche Percentage of the total
Canadian Tranche Swingline Exposure at such time.

“Canadian Tranche Swingline Lender” means JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association, Toronto Branch, in its capacity as lender of Canadian
Tranche Swingline Loans hereunder.

“Canadian Tranche Swingline Loan” means a Loan made by the Canadian Tranche Swingline Lender to a Canadian Borrower pursuant to
Section 2.05.

“Capital Expenditures” means, without duplication, any expenditures for any purchase or other acquisition of any asset which would be classified as
a fixed or capital asset on a consolidated balance sheet of the Company and its Subsidiaries prepared in accordance with GAAP.

“Capitalized Lease Obligations” means, with respect to any Person, all rental obligations of such Person which, under GAAP, are or will be required
to be capitalized on the books of such Person, in each case taken at the amount thereof accounted for as indebtedness in accordance with such principles.

“Cash Settlement Amount” means, as of any date of determination, with respect to any Indebtedness, the amount in respect thereof which is required
to be repaid, settled, repurchased or otherwise satisfied in cash as of such date.

“CDOR BA Rate” means (i) with respect to any Acceptance accepted by a Schedule I Bank, the yearly rate of interest determined by the Canadian
Agent to be equivalent to the average of the yields applicable to banker’s acceptances denominated in Canadian Dollars for Schedule I Banks for any specified
maturity quoted on the Reuters Screen CDOR page under “Canadian Interbank Bid BA Rates” on the day of determination (or on the preceding day, if such day is
not a Business Day) and (ii) with respect to any Acceptance accepted by a Canadian Tranche Lender other than a Schedule I Bank, subject to section 2.04(j), the
lesser of (A) such yearly rate of interest determined as set forth under clause (i) plus 0.10% per annum and (B) the arithmetic average (as determined by the
Canadian Agent) of the percentage discount rates (expressed as a decimal and rounded upward, if necessary, to the nearest 1/100 of 1%) quoted to the Canadian
Agent by such non-Schedule I Bank as the percentage discount rate at which such bank would, in accordance with its normal practices, at approximately 10:00
a.m., Toronto time, on such day, be prepared to purchase bankers’ acceptances accepted by such bank having a face amount and term comparable to the face
amount and term of such Acceptance. For the purposes of such pricing, the Canadian Agent shall notify the Canadian Tranche Lenders of the CDOR BA Rate
applicable to them as soon as is reasonably practicable.



“Change in Control” means (a) the acquisition of ownership, directly or indirectly, beneficially or of record, by any Person or group (within the
meaning of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and the rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission thereunder as in effect on the date hereof), of Equity
Interests representing more than 35% of the aggregate ordinary voting power represented by the issued and outstanding Equity Interests of the Company;

(b) occupation of a majority of the seats (other than vacant seats) on the board of directors of the Company by Persons who were neither (i) nominated by the
board of directors of the Company nor (ii) appointed by directors so nominated; provided that determination of such majority shall not include Persons nominated
(or appointed by directors nominated) by Persons holding Equity Interests of the Company received pursuant to the Recapitalization Transaction; or (c) the
Company ceases to own, directly or indirectly, and Control 100% (other than directors’ qualifying shares) of the ordinary voting and economic power of any Loan
Party (except in connection with transactions otherwise permitted under this Agreement); provided that the consummation of the Recapitalization Transaction
shall not constitute a “Change in Control” for purposes of this Agreement.

“Change in Law” means (a) the adoption of any law, rule or regulation after the date of this Agreement, (b) any change in any law, rule or regulation
or in the interpretation or application thereof by any Governmental Authority after the date of this Agreement or (c) compliance by any Lender or the Issuing
Bank (or, for purposes of Section 2.16(b), by any lending office of such Lender or by such Lender’s or the Issuing Bank’s holding company, if any) with any
request, guideline or directive (whether or not having the force of law) of any Governmental Authority made or issued after the date of this Agreement.

“Class”, when used in reference to (a) any Loan or Borrowing, refers to whether such Loan, or the Loans comprising such Borrowing, are US
Tranche Revolving Loans, US Tranche Swingline Loans, US Tranche Term Loans, Canadian Tranche Revolving Loans, Canadian Tranche Swingline Loans, UK
Tranche Revolving Loans, or UK Tranche Swingline Loans or whether such Borrowing is a Borrowing of Acceptances, and (b) any Commitment, refers to
whether such Commitment is a US Tranche Commitment, a Canadian Tranche Commitment or a UK Tranche Commitment.

“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended from time to time.

“Collateral” means any and all property owned, leased or operated by a Person covered by the Collateral Documents and any and all other property
of any Loan Party, now existing or hereafter acquired, that may at any time be or become subject to a security interest or Lien in favor of or for the benefit of the
Administrative Agent, on behalf of itself and the Holders of Secured Obligations, to secure the Secured Obligations; it being understood and agreed that
Collateral does not include the Excluded Property.

“Collateral Agent” means JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association, in its capacity as Collateral Agent under the Security Agreement and any
other Collateral Document.

“Collateral Documents” means, collectively, the Security Agreement, the Mortgages, the Vehicle Title Custodian Agreement, the Escrow Account
Agreement and all other agreements, instruments and documents executed in connection with this Agreement that are intended to create or evidence Liens to
secure the Secured Obligations, including, without limitation, all other security agreements, pledge agreements, mortgages, deeds of trust, collateral trust
agreements, intercreditor agreements or collateral sharing agreements, loan agreements, notes, guarantees, subordination agreements, pledges, powers of attorney,
consents, assignments, contracts, fee letters, notices, leases, financing statements and all other written matter whether heretofore, now, or hereafter executed by
the Company or any of its Subsidiaries and delivered to the Administrative Agent, in each case as the same may be amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise
modified from time to time.
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“Commitment” means a US Tranche Commitment, a Canadian Tranche Commitment or a UK Tranche Commitment.
“Company” has the meaning assigned to such term in the heading of this Agreement.
“Company Financial Advisor” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 5.11.

“Computation Date” means (i) the date of each Borrowing, (ii) the date of each request for the issuance or adjustment of the face amount of any
Letter of Credit, (iii) on the last Business Day of each calendar quarter and (iv) solely during the continuation of an Event of Default, on any other Business Day
elected by the Administrative Agent in its sole discretion.

“Consolidated EBITDA” shall mean Consolidated Net Income plus, to the extent deducted from revenues in determining Consolidated Net Income,
(a) Consolidated Interest Expense, (b) expense for taxes paid or accrued, (c) depreciation (including that applied to the Company’s equity method investments),
(d) amortization (including that applied to the Company’s equity method investments), (e) extraordinary, non-cash expenses or losses incurred other than in the
ordinary course of business, (f) non-recurring (including non-recurring and unusual) non-cash expenses or losses (including non-cash impairment charges)
incurred other than in the ordinary course of business, (g) non-cash expenses related to stock based compensation or stock appreciation rights, (h) solely with
respect to any determination of Consolidated EBITDA as of the last day of the fiscal quarter of the Company ending on or about June 30, 2010, the lesser of
(A) $3,000,000 and (B) the actual aggregate amount of restructuring professional fees paid by the Company and its Subsidiaries during such fiscal quarter,
(i) solely with respect to any determination of Consolidated EBITDA as of the last day of the two fiscal quarter period of the Company ending on or about
September 30, 2010, the lesser of (A) $6,000,000 and (B) the actual aggregate amount of restructuring professional fees paid by the Company and its Subsidiaries
during such two fiscal quarters, (j) solely with respect to any determination of Consolidated EBITDA as of the last day of the three fiscal quarter period of the
Company ending on or about December 31, 2010, the lesser of (A) $9,000,000 and (B) the actual aggregate amount of restructuring professional fees paid by the
Company and its Subsidiaries during such three fiscal quarters, (k) solely with respect to any determination of Consolidated EBITDA as of the last day of the four
fiscal quarter period of the Company ending on or about March 31, 2011, the lesser of (A) $9,000,000 and (B) the actual aggregate amount of restructuring
professional fees paid by the Company and its Subsidiaries during such four fiscal quarters, (1) solely with respect to any determination of Consolidated EBITDA
as of the last day of the four fiscal quarter period ending of the Company ending on or about June 30, 2011, the lesser of (A) $6,000,000 and (B) the actual
aggregate amount of restructuring professional fees paid by the Company and its Subsidiaries during such four fiscal quarters, (m) solely with respect to any
determination of Consolidated EBITDA as of the last day of the four fiscal quarter period of the Company ending on or about September 30, 2011, the lesser of
(A) $3,000,000 and (B) the actual aggregate amount of restructuring professional fees paid by the Company and its Subsidiaries during such four fiscal quarters,
minus, to the extent included in Consolidated Net Income, (n) interest income, (0) income tax credits and refunds (to the extent not netted from tax expense),
(p) any cash payments made during such period in respect of items described in clauses (e), (f) or (g) above subsequent to the fiscal quarter in which the relevant
non-cash expenses or losses were incurred, (q) any income or gains resulting from the early retirement, redemption, defeasance, repayment or similar actions in
respect of Indebtedness and (r) extraordinary, unusual or non-recurring income or gains realized other than in the ordinary course of business, all calculated for
the Company and its Subsidiaries in accordance with GAAP on a consolidated basis.

For the purposes of calculating Consolidated EBITDA for any period of four consecutive fiscal quarters (each, a “Reference Period”), (a) if at any
time during such Reference Period the Company or any Subsidiary shall have made any Material Disposition, the Consolidated EBITDA for such
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Reference Period shall be reduced by an amount equal to the Consolidated EBITDA (if positive) attributable to the property that is the subject of such Material
Disposition for such Reference Period or increased by an amount equal to the Consolidated EBITDA (if negative) attributable thereto for such Reference Period,
and (b) if during such Reference Period the Company or any Subsidiary shall have made a Material Acquisition, Consolidated EBITDA for such Reference
Period shall be calculated after giving pro forma effect (reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent) thereto as if such Material Acquisition occurred on
the first day of such Reference Period. As used in this definition, “Material Acquisition” means any acquisition of property or series of related acquisitions of
property that (a) constitutes (i) assets comprising all or substantially all or any significant portion of a business or operating unit of a business, or (ii) all or
substantially all of the common stock or other Equity Interests of a Person, and (b) involves the payment of consideration by the Company and its Subsidiaries in
excess of $10,000,000; and “Material Disposition” means (i) the Permitted Disposition and (ii) any other disposition of property or series of related dispositions
of property that (i) constitutes (A) assets comprising all or substantially all or any significant portion of a business or operating unit of a business or (B) all or
substantially all of the common stock or other Equity Interests of a Person and (ii) yields gross proceeds to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries in excess of
$10,000,000.

“Consolidated Indebtedness” means, at any time without duplication, the aggregate stated balance sheet amount of all Indebtedness (or, (a) if greater,
the aggregate face amount of any Indebtedness issued at a discount, (b) with respect to the USF Bonds or Senior Notes, the aggregate face amount of the USF
Bonds or Senior Notes, as applicable, and (c) with respect to any Indebtedness (x) of any Person acquired pursuant to a Permitted Acquisition and not incurred in
contemplation of such Permitted Acquisition and (y) with an aggregate face amount that is less than the aggregate stated balance sheet amount of such
Indebtedness, the aggregate face amount of such Indebtedness) of the Company and its Subsidiaries at such time (but including, without limitation, all Loans,
Capitalized Lease Obligations and guaranties of Indebtedness that would otherwise be included under this definition, but excluding any contingent obligations in
respect of letters of credit). For the avoidance of doubt, Consolidated Indebtedness (a) includes (i) all Attributable Receivables Indebtedness and (ii) the
maximum amount available to be drawn or paid under all letters of credit, bankers’ acceptances, bank guaranties and similar obligations issued for the account of
any Person and all unpaid drawings in respect of such letters of credit, bankers’ acceptances and similar obligations, and (b) excludes all Indebtedness (other than
any Indebtedness set forth in the preceding clause (a)) not reflected on the consolidated balance sheet of the Company and its Subsidiaries.

“Consolidated Interest Expense” means, for any period, the sum of the total consolidated interest expense of the Company and its Subsidiaries for
such period (calculated without regard to any limitations on the payment thereof) plus, without duplication, (a) that portion of Capitalized Lease Obligations of
the Company and its Subsidiaries representing the interest factor for such period, (b) the interest component of any lease payment under Attributable Debt
transactions paid by the Company and its Subsidiaries for such period, (c) all commissions, discounts and other fees and charges owed by the Company or any of
its Subsidiaries with respect to letters of credit and bankers’ acceptances and (d) the interest component of all Attributable Receivable Indebtedness of the
Company and its Subsidiaries for such period; provided that the amortization of deferred financing, legal and accounting costs with respect to this Agreement
(including the Existing Credit Agreement), the YRCMI Credit Agreement and any Senior Notes in each case shall be excluded from Consolidated Interest
Expense to the extent same would otherwise have been included therein.

“Consolidated Net Income” means, with reference to any period, the net income (or loss) of the Company and its Subsidiaries calculated in
accordance with GAAP on a consolidated basis (without duplication) for such period (without deduction for minority interests); provided that (a) in determining
Consolidated Net Income, the net income of any other Person which is not a Subsidiary of
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the Company or is accounted for by the Company by the equity method of accounting shall be included only to the extent of the payment of cash dividends or
cash distributions by such other Person to the Company or a Subsidiary thereof during such period, (b) the net income of any Subsidiary of the Company (other
than the Company) shall be excluded to the extent that the declaration or payment of cash dividends or similar cash distributions by that Subsidiary of that net
income is not at the date of determination permitted by operation of its charter or any agreement, instrument or law applicable to such Subsidiary and (c) the net
income (or loss) of any other Person acquired by the Company or a Subsidiary of the Company in a pooling of interests transaction for any period prior to the date
of such acquisition shall be excluded.

“Contingent Obligation” means, as to any Person, any obligation of such Person as a result of such Person being a general partner of any other
Person, unless the underlying obligation is expressly made non-recourse as to such general partner, and any obligation of such Person guaranteeing any
Indebtedness, Capitalized Lease Obligations, or dividends (“primary obligations”) of any other Person (the “primary obligor”) in any manner, whether directly or
indirectly, including, without limitation, any obligation of such Person, whether or not contingent, (i) to purchase any such primary obligation or any property
constituting direct or indirect security therefor, (ii) to advance or supply funds (x) for the purchase or payment of any such primary obligation or (y) to maintain
working capital or equity capital of the primary obligor or otherwise to maintain the net worth or solvency of the primary obligor, (iii) to purchase property,
securities or services primarily for the purpose of assuring the owner of any such primary obligation of the ability of the primary obligor to make payment of such
primary obligation or (iv) otherwise to assure or hold harmless the holder of such primary obligation against loss in respect thereof; provided, however, that the
term Contingent Obligation shall not include endorsements of instruments for deposit or collection in the ordinary course of business. The amount of any
Contingent Obligation shall be deemed to be an amount equal to the stated or determinable amount of the primary obligation in respect of which such Contingent
Obligation is made (or, if less, the maximum amount of such primary obligation for which such Person may be liable pursuant to the terms of the instrument
evidencing such Contingent Obligation) or, if not stated or determinable, the maximum reasonably anticipated liability in respect thereof (assuming such Person is
required to perform thereunder) as determined by such Person in good faith.

“Contract Period” has the meaning given to such term in Section 2.04(a).

“Contribution Deferral Agreement” means that certain Contribution Deferral Agreement, dated as of June 17, 2009, by and between YRC Inc., USF
Holland, Inc., New Penn Motor Express, Inc., USF Reddaway Inc., certain other of the Subsidiaries of the Company, the Trustees for the Central States, Southeast
and Southwest Areas Pension Fund and each other pension fund from time to time party thereto and Wilmington Trust Company, as the same may be amended,
amended and restated, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified in accordance with the terms hereof.

“Control” means the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management or policies of a Person,
whether through the ability to exercise voting power, by contract or otherwise. “Controlling” and “Controlled” have meanings correlative thereto.

“Conversion” means a conversion of a Canadian Base Rate Loan or an Acceptance pursuant to Section 2.04(1).

“Current Rolling Stock Collateral” means any Collateral consisting of trucks and other vehicles and rolling stock owned by the Company or any
Domestic Subsidiary.
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“Default” means any event or condition which constitutes an Event of Default or which upon notice, lapse of time or both would, unless cured or
waived, become an Event of Default.

“Defaulting L.ender” means any Lender, as determined by the Administrative Agent, that has (a) failed to fund any portion of its Loans or
participations in Letters of Credit or Swingline Loans within three (3) Business Days of the date required to be funded by it hereunder, (b) notified the Borrower,
the Administrative Agent, any Issuing Bank, the Swingline Lender or any Lender in writing that it does not intend to comply with its funding obligations under
this Agreement or has made a public statement to the effect that it does not intend to comply with its funding obligations under this Agreement or under other
agreements in which it commits to extend credit, (c) failed, within three (3) Business Days after request by the Administrative Agent, to confirm that it will
comply with the terms of this Agreement relating to its obligations to fund prospective Loans and participations in then outstanding Letters of Credit and
Swingline Loans, (d) otherwise failed to pay over to the Administrative Agent or any other Lender any other amount required to be paid by it hereunder within
three (3) Business Days of the date when due, unless the subject of a good faith dispute, or (e) (i) become or is insolvent or has a parent company that has become
or is insolvent or (ii) become the subject of a bankruptcy or insolvency proceeding, or has had a receiver, conservator, trustee or custodian appointed for it, or has
taken any action in furtherance of, or indicating its consent to, approval of or acquiescence in any such proceeding or appointment or has a parent company that
has become the subject of a bankruptcy or insolvency proceeding, or has had a receiver, conservator, trustee or custodian appointed for it, or has taken any action
in furtherance of, or indicating its consent to, approval of or acquiescence in any such proceeding or appointment.

“Deferral Suspension Event” means the Company or any of its Domestic Subsidiaries making, on or after the date the Recapitalization Transaction is
consummated, any cash payment (other than those described in clause (vi) of the definition of “Deferral Termination Event” below) of any pension fund liabilities
and other pension fund obligations (and any interest thereon) due prior to December 31, 2011 (other than (i) payments to any Plan identified on Part 1 of Schedule
1.01FE required to be made pursuant to ERISA; (ii) payments to Multiemployer Plans identified on Part 2 of Schedule 1.01E; and (iii) payments in respect of
workers compensation claims brought in respect of hours worked in connection with the Loan Parties’ collective bargaining agreements in an amount not to
exceed $500,000).

“Deferral Termination Event” means:
(i) the occurrence of an Event of Default described in clause (g), (h), (i), (k) or (t) of Article VII;
(ii) the making of any Restricted Payment by any Loan Party other than as permitted under clauses (a), (b) and (c) of Section 6.10;

(iii) the occurrence of an Event of Default (other than as described in the foregoing clause (i)) which continues without being either cured or waived
in accordance with the terms hereof within five (5) Business Days after a Financial Officer has actual knowledge of such occurrence;

(iv) the termination of the Teamsters Deal or any amendment, supplement, modification or other change thereto (including, without limitation, any
change resulting from the activation or effectiveness of any “snapback” or other provision of the Teamsters Deal which is conditioned on some event or
events occurring on or after the date on which it is ratified) which is adverse to any Loan Party and/or the Lenders in a manner that could reasonably be
expected, individually or in the aggregate, to result in an impact of greater than $5,000,000 in any calendar year;
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(v) any Loan Party shall restate, supplement, amend or otherwise modify any Specified Pension Fund Deferral Transaction Documents in any way
that is adverse to the Company and/or the Lenders; provided that (i) the use of discretion by the “Majority Funds” (as defined therein) pursuant to the
Specified Pension Fund Deferral Transaction Documents to consent to asset sales and (ii) any restatement, supplement, amendment or other modification to
any Specified Pension Fund Deferral Transaction Documents for the purpose of deferring the payment of interest and/or principal thereunder and
(iii) joinders executed to add pension obligations as “Obligations” under (and as defined in) the Specified Pension Fund Deferral Transaction Documents
shall not constitute a restatement, supplement, amendment or other modification for the purposes of this clause (v);

(vi) on or after the date the Recapitalization Transaction is consummated, any cash payment of any Specified Pension Fund Obligations or any other
pension fund liabilities and other pension fund obligations (and any interest thereon) deferred in 2009 (the “2009 Pension Deferred Obligations™) (other
than any such payment (i) from any proceeds resulting from the sale, casualty or condemnation of real property which collateralizes the 2009 Pension
Deferred Obligations in a first lien position subject to the terms of the Pension Fund Intercreditor Agreement and (ii) in respect of any fees, expenses or
indemnities payable in accordance with (x) Section 11.01 and/or 11.02 of the Contribution Deferral Agreement as in effect as of the Amendment No. 12
Effective Date and without giving effect to any amendment, restatements, supplements or any other modification to such Contribution Deferral Agreement,
(y) any documents executed pursuant to Section 6.01 of the Contribution Deferral Agreement as in effect as of the Amendment No. 12 Effective Date and
without giving effect to any amendment, restatements, supplements or any other modification to such Contribution Deferral Agreement or (z) otherwise
pursuant to any fee arrangements with the “Agent” under (and as defined in) such Contribution Deferral Agreement); or

(vii) the occurrence of any “Deferred Payment Termination Date” under (and as defined in) the Contribution Deferral Agreement.

“Deferred Amount” means the aggregate amount of Deferred Interest, Deferred Participation Fees and Deferred Commitment Fee from the

Amendment No. 12 Effective Date through and including the Deferred Payment Termination Date, without giving effect to any repayment of any such amounts
during such period.

“Deferred Commitment Fee” means the aggregate amount of commitment fees accrued and owing by the Company hereunder that has been deferred

in accordance with the terms of Section 2.13(a).

“Deferred Interest” means the aggregate amount of interest accrued and owing by the Company hereunder that has been deferred in accordance with

the terms of Section 2.14(d).

“Deferred Participation Fees” means the aggregate amount of participation fees accrued and owing by the Company hereunder that has been deferred

in accordance with the terms of Section 2.13(b).

“Deferred Payment Termination Date” means the earliest of the occurrence of (i) December 31, 2010 (or such later date as may be agreed to by the

Supermajority Lenders and the Company but in no event to be later than December 31, 2011) and (ii) any Deferral Termination Event.
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“Deferring Lender” means each Lender that delivered a signature page to Amendment No. 12 designating itself as a “Deferring Lender” on or prior
to the Amendment No. 12 Effective Date and any other Person that shall have become a party hereto pursuant to an Assignment and Assumption on or after the
Amendment No. 12 Effective Date.

“Designated Foreign Currency” means Canadian Dollars, Pounds Sterling or Euro.
“Designated Officer” has the meaning given to such term in Section 5.14.
“Discount” has the meaning given to such term in Section 2.04(e)(i).

“Domestic Loan Party” means the Company and the Subsidiary Guarantors.

“Domestic Subsidiary” means a Subsidiary incorporated or organized under the laws of the United States of America, any State thereof or the
District of Columbia.

“Draft” means a blank non-interest bearing bill of exchange within the meaning of the Bills of Exchange Act (Canada) or a blank depository bill
within the meaning of the Depository Bills and Notes Act (Canada), as applicable, drawn by a Canadian Borrower and addressed to a Canadian Tranche Lender,
made payable to such Lender, bearer or a clearing house bearing such distinguishing letters and numbers and being in such form as each Canadian Tranche
Lender may require.

“Effective Date” means the date on which the conditions specified in Section 4.01 are satisfied (or waived in accordance with Section 11.02).

“EMU Legislation” means the legislative measures of the European Union for the introduction of, changeover to or operation of the Euro in one or
more member states.

“Environmental Laws” means all laws, rules, regulations, codes, ordinances, orders, decrees, judgments, injunctions, notices or binding agreements
issued, promulgated or entered into by any Governmental Authority, relating in any way to the environment, preservation or reclamation of natural resources, the
management, release or threatened release of any Hazardous Material or to health and safety matters.

“Environmental Liability” means any liability, contingent or otherwise (including any liability for damages, costs of environmental remediation,
fines, penalties or indemnities), of the Company or any Subsidiary directly or indirectly resulting from or based upon (a) violation of any Environmental Law,
(b) the generation, use, handling, transportation, storage, treatment or disposal of any Hazardous Materials, (c) exposure to any Hazardous Materials, (d) the
release or threatened release of any Hazardous Materials into the environment or (e) any contract, agreement or other consensual arrangement pursuant to which
liability is assumed or imposed with respect to any of the foregoing.

“Equity Interests” means shares of capital stock, partnership interests, membership interests in a limited liability company, beneficial interests in a
trust or other equity ownership interests in a Person, and any warrants, options or other rights entitling the holder thereof to purchase or acquire any such equity
interest; provided, however, that (i) all of the 3.375% Contingent Convertible Senior Notes and all of the 5% Contingent Convertible Senior Notes shall be
deemed Indebtedness, and not Equity Interests, until the applicable part of any of such notes is converted into common stock of the Company and (ii) any other
instruments evidencing Indebtedness convertible into or exchangeable for common stock of the Company will be deemed Indebtedness and not Equity Interests,
unless any such instruments would be accounted for in accordance with GAAP as shareholders’ equity.
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“ERISA” means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended from time to time, and the regulations promulgated thereunder.

“ERISA Affiliate” means any trade or business (whether or not incorporated) that, together with the Company, is treated as a single employer under
Section 414(b) or (c) of the Code or, solely for purposes of Section 302 of ERISA and Section 412 of the Code, is treated as a single employer under Section 414
of the Code.

“ERISA Event” means (a) any “reportable event”, as defined in Section 4043 of ERISA or the regulations issued thereunder with respect to a Plan
(other than an event for which the 30-day notice period is waived); (b) the existence with respect to any Plan of an “accumulated funding deficiency” (as defined
in Section 412 of the Code or Section 302 of ERISA), whether or not waived; (c) the filing pursuant to Section 412(d) of the Code or Section 303(d) of ERISA of
an application for a waiver of the minimum funding standard with respect to any Plan; (d) the incurrence by the Company or any of its ERISA Affiliates of any
liability under Title IV of ERISA with respect to the termination of any Plan; (e) the receipt by the Company or any ERISA Affiliate from the PBGC or a plan
administrator of any notice relating to an intention to terminate any Plan or Plans or to appoint a trustee to administer any Plan; (f) the incurrence by the Company
or any of its ERISA Affiliates of any liability with respect to the withdrawal or partial withdrawal of the Company or any of its ERISA Affiliates from any Plan or
Multiemployer Plan; or (g) the receipt by the Company or any ERISA Affiliate of any notice, or the receipt by any Multiemployer Plan from the Company or any
ERISA Affiliate of any notice, concerning the imposition upon the Company or any of its ERISA Affiliates of Withdrawal Liability or a determination that a
Multiemployer Plan is insolvent or in reorganization, within the meaning of Title IV of ERISA.

“Escrow Account” means any account established and maintained with the “Escrow Agent” under (and as defined in) the applicable Escrow Account
Agreement and subject to the terms and conditions of such Escrow Account Agreement.

“Escrow Account Agreement” means any escrow account agreement required to be established pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, by and
among the Company, the Administrative Agent and JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association, as Escrow Agent thereunder, as the same may be amended,
amended and restated, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time.

“Escrow Release Conditions” means any release conditions set forth in this Agreement or in any Escrow Account Agreement.
“Euro” or “€” means the currency constituted by the Treaty on the European Union and as referred to in the EMU Legislation.

“Eurocurrency”, when used in reference to any Loan or Borrowing, refers to whether such Loan, or the Loans comprising such Borrowing, are
bearing interest at a rate determined by reference to the LIBO Rate with respect to the applicable currency of such Loan or Borrowing.

“Event of Default” has the meaning assigned to such term in Article VII.

“Excess Cash Flow” means, for any fiscal year of the Company (commencing with the fiscal year ending December 31, 2009), the excess, if any, of
(a) the sum, without duplication, of (i) Consolidated Net Income for such fiscal year, (ii) the amount of all non-cash charges (including depreciation and
amortization and stock compensation) deducted in arriving at such Consolidated Net Income, (iii) decreases in Working Capital for such fiscal year, and (iv) the
aggregate net amount of non
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cash loss on the disposition of property by the Company and its Subsidiaries during such fiscal year (other than sales of inventory in the ordinary course of
business), to the extent deducted in arriving at such Consolidated Net Income over (b) the sum, without duplication, of (i) the amount of all non-cash credits
included in arriving at such Consolidated Net Income, (ii) the aggregate amount actually paid by the Company and its Subsidiaries in cash during such fiscal year
on account of Capital Expenditures (excluding the principal amount of Indebtedness incurred in connection with such expenditures and any such expenditures
financed with the proceeds of asset dispositions that have not yet been used to pay down the Loans), (iii) the aggregate amount of all mandatory prepayments of
Revolving Loans and Swingline Loans during such fiscal year to the extent accompanying permanent reductions of the Revolving Commitments and all
mandatory prepayments of the Term Loans during such fiscal year, (iv) the aggregate amount of all regularly scheduled principal payments of Long-Term Debt
(including the Term Loans) of the Company and its Subsidiaries made during such fiscal year (other than in respect of any revolving credit facility to the extent
there is not an equivalent permanent reduction in commitments thereunder), (v) increases in Working Capital for such fiscal year, (vi) the aggregate net amount of
non-cash gain on the disposition of property by the Company and its Subsidiaries during such fiscal year (other than sales of inventory in the ordinary course of
business), (vii) fees and expenses (including legal, accounting and debt issuance costs) in each case, incurred in connection with (A) that certain Waiver No. 1
dated as of January 15, 2009 to this Agreement and Amendment No. 2, (B) that certain Waiver No. 1 dated as of January 15, 2009 to the Yellow Receivables
Facility and any amendment thereto entered into concurrently with Amendment No. 2, (C) the Specified Sale and Leaseback Transaction, to the extent included in
arriving at such Consolidated Net Income.

“Exchange Rate” means on any day, for purposes of determining the US Dollar Equivalent of any other currency, the rate at which such other
currency may be exchanged into US Dollars at the time of determination on such day on the Reuters WRLD Page for such currency. In the event that such rate
does not appear on any Reuters WRLD Page, the Exchange Rate shall be determined by reference to such other publicly available service for displaying exchange
rates as may be agreed upon by the Administrative Agent and the Borrowers, or, in the absence of such an agreement, such Exchange Rate shall instead be the
arithmetic average of the spot rates of exchange of the Administrative Agent in the market where its foreign currency exchange operations in respect of such
currency are then being conducted, at or about such time as the Administrative Agent shall elect after determining that such rates shall be the basis for
determining the Exchange Rate, on such date for the purchase of US Dollars for delivery two Business Days later; provided that if at the time of any such
determination, for any reason, no such spot rate is being quoted, the Administrative Agent may use any reasonable method it deems appropriate to determine such
rate, and such determination shall be presumed correct absent manifest error.

“Exchange Rate Date” means, if on such date any outstanding Revolving Credit Exposure is (or any Revolving Credit Exposure that has been
requested at such time would be) denominated in a currency other than US Dollars, each of:

(a) the last Business Day of each calendar week,

(b) if an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, the CAM Exchange Date and any other Business Day designated as an Exchange
Rate Date by the Administrative Agent in its sole discretion, and

(c) each date (with such date to be reasonably determined by the Administrative Agent) that is on or about the date of (i) a Borrowing Request
or an Interest Election Request with respect to any Revolving Borrowing or (ii) each request for the issuance, amendment, renewal or extension of any
Letter of Credit or Swingline Loan.
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“Excluded Property” means (a) Permitted Receivables Facility Assets, (b) (i) any property to the extent any grant of a security interest therein (A) is
prohibited by applicable law or governmental authority or (B) is prohibited by or constitutes a breach or default under or results in the termination of, or requires
any consent not obtained under any applicable shareholder or similar agreement or (ii) any lease, license, contract, property right or agreement to which any
Grantor is a party or any of its rights or interests thereunder if, and only for so long as, the grant of a security interest shall constitute or result in a breach,
termination or default under any such lease, license, contract, property right or agreement, other than in the case of each of clause (i) and (ii), to the extent that
any such term would be rendered ineffective pursuant to Section 9-406, 9-407, 9-408 or 9-408 of the UCC of any relevant jurisdiction, provided, however, that
any portion of any such property, lease, license, contract, property right or agreement shall cease to constitute Excluded Property at the time and to the extent that
the grant of a security interest therein does not result in any of the consequences specified above, (c) any motor vehicle (other than tractors, trailers and other
rolling stock and equipment) consisting of a personal employee or light vehicle having an individual fair market value not in excess of $40,000 and the perfection
of a security interest in which is excluded from the UCC in the relevant jurisdiction; provided that this clause (c) shall only exclude such vehicles having an
aggregate fair market value of not more than $1,000,000, (d) interests in real property securing Indebtedness of Yellow Transportation, Inc. in respect of existing
industrial development bonds, (e) deposit accounts for the sole purpose of funding payroll obligations, tax obligations or holding funds owned by Persons other
than the Grantors, (f) intercompany promissory notes made by YRRFC to the Receivables Sellers in connection with the Permitted Receivables Facility and
(g) intent-to-use trademark applications to the extent that, and solely during the period in which, the grant of a security interest therein would impair the validity
or enforceability of such intent-to-use trademark applications under Federal law.

“Excluded Taxes” means, with respect to any Lender or Issuing Bank, (a) income or franchise or similar taxes imposed on (or measured by) its net
income by the United States of America (or any political subdivision thereof), or by the jurisdiction under which such recipient is organized or incorporated or in
which its principal office or any lending office from which it makes Loans hereunder is located, (b) any branch profit taxes imposed by the United States of
America or any similar tax imposed by any other jurisdiction described in clause (a) above, (c) in the case of a US Tranche Lender (other than a Lender that
becomes a US Tranche Lender by operation of the CAM), any withholding tax that is imposed by the United States of America (or any political subdivision
thereof) on payments by the Company from an office within such jurisdiction to the extent such tax is in effect and would apply as of the date such US Tranche
Lender becomes a party to this Agreement or relates to payments received by a new lending office designated by such US Tranche Lender and is in effect and
would apply at the time such lending office is designated, (d) in the case of a Canadian Tranche Lender (other than a Lender that becomes a Canadian Tranche
Lender by operation of the CAM), any withholding tax that is imposed (i) by Canada (or any political subdivision thereof) on payments by a Canadian Borrower
from an office within such jurisdiction or (ii) by the United States of America (or any political subdivision thereof) on payments by the Company from an office
within such jurisdiction, in either case to the extent such tax is in effect and would apply as of the date such Canadian Tranche Lender becomes a party to this
Agreement or relates to payments received by a new lending office designated by such Canadian Tranche Lender and is in effect and would apply at the time such
lending office is designated, (e) in the case of a UK Tranche Lender (other than a Lender that becomes a UK Tranche Lender by operation of the CAM), any
withholding tax that is imposed (i) by the United Kingdom (or any political subdivision thereof) on payments by a UK Borrower from an office within such
jurisdiction or (ii) by the United States of America (or any political subdivision thereof) on payments by the Company from an office within such jurisdiction, in
either case to the extent such tax is in effect and would apply as of the date such UK Tranche Lender becomes a party to this Agreement or relates to payments
received by a new lending office designated by such UK Tranche Lender and is in effect and would apply at the time such lending office is designated, or (f) any
withholding tax that is attributable to such Lender’s failure to comply with
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Section 2.18(e), except, in the case of clause (c), (d) or (e) above, to the extent that such withholding tax shall have resulted from the making of any payment by a
Borrower to a location other than the office designated by the Applicable Agent or such Lender for the receipt of payments of the applicable type from the
applicable Borrower.

“Existing Block Loans” means Revolving Loans made by the Lenders to the Company in respect of the Existing Revolver Reserve Amount.

“Existing Credit Agreement” means that certain Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of May 19, 2005, by and among the Company,
certain Canadian borrowers, certain UK borrowers, the lenders party thereto from time to time and JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association, as
administrative agent thereunder.

“Existing Letters of Credit” has the meaning given to such term in Section 2.06(k).

“Existing Revolver Reserve Amount” means the amount of Revolving Commitments which are available to the Company subject to the satisfaction
or waiver of the conditions precedent set forth in Section 4.02(d), as such amount may be reduced from time to time pursuant to the terms hereof. As of the
Amendment No. 12 Effective Date, the Existing Revolver Reserve Amount is $106,000,000, and the Existing Revolver Reserve Amount shall not exceed such
amount.

“Exposure” means, with respect to any Lender, such Lender’s US Tranche Total Exposure, Canadian Tranche Exposure and UK Tranche Exposure.
“Facility Office” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 2.18(f).

“Federal Funds Effective Rate” means, for any day, the weighted average (rounded upwards, if necessary, to the next 1/100 of 1%) of the rates on
overnight Federal funds transactions with members of the Federal Reserve System arranged by Federal funds brokers, as published on the next succeeding
Business Day by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, or, if such rate is not so published for any day that is a Business Day, the average (rounded upwards, if
necessary, to the next 1/100 of 1%) of the quotations for such day for such transactions received by the Administrative Agent from three Federal funds brokers of
recognized standing selected by it.

“Financial Officer” means the chief financial officer, principal accounting officer, treasurer or controller of the Company.

“First Tier Foreign Subsidiary” means each Foreign Subsidiary with respect to which any one or more of the Company and its Domestic Subsidiaries
directly owns or controls more than 50% of such Foreign Subsidiary’s issued and outstanding Equity Interests other than a First Tier Foreign Insurance
Subsidiary.

“First Tier Foreign Insurance Subsidiary” means a First Tier Foreign Subsidiary of the Company formed for the purpose of providing insurance
primarily to the Company and its Subsidiaries.

“Fitch” means Fitch, Inc.

“5% Contingent Convertible Senior Note Indenture” means the Indenture in respect of 5% Contingent Convertible Senior Notes due 2023, dated as
of August 8, 2003 among the Company and Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas, as trustee thereunder, as in effect on the Effective Date and as the same
may be amended, modified or supplemented from time to time in accordance with the terms hereof and thereof.
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“5% Contingent Convertible Senior Notes” means, collectively, (i) the Company’s 5% Contingent Convertible Senior Notes due 2023 issued
pursuant to the 5% Contingent Convertible Senior Note Indenture and (ii) the Company’s 5% Net Share Settled Contingent Convertible Senior Notes due 2023
issued pursuant to the 5% Net Share Settled Contingent Convertible Senior Note Indenture.

“5% Net Share Settled Contingent Convertible Senior Note Indenture” means the Indenture in respect of 5% Net Share Settled Contingent
Convertible Senior Notes due 2023, dated as of December 31, 2004 among the Company and Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas, as trustee thereunder, as
in effect on the Effective Date and as the same may be amended, modified or supplemented from time to time in accordance with the terms hereof and thereof.

“Foreign Lender” means, as to any Borrower, any Lender that is organized under the laws of a jurisdiction other than that in which such Borrower is
located. For purposes of this definition, (i) the United States of America, each State thereof and the District of Columbia shall be deemed to constitute a single
jurisdiction and (ii) Canada and each Province and Territory thereof shall be deemed to constitute a single jurisdiction.

“Foreign Subsidiary” means any Subsidiary that is not a Domestic Subsidiary.
“GAAP” means generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America.

“Governmental Authority” means the government of the United States of America or any other nation, any political subdivision thereof, whether
state or local, and any agency, authority, instrumentality, regulatory body, court, central bank or other entity exercising executive, legislative, judicial, taxing,
regulatory or administrative powers or functions of or pertaining to government, including, without limitation, the European Union.

“Grantor” means each Domestic Loan Party or any other Subsidiary which is a party to a Collateral Document.

“Guarantee” of or by any Person (the “guarantor”) means any obligation, contingent or otherwise, of the guarantor guaranteeing or having the
economic effect of guaranteeing any Indebtedness or other obligation of any other Person (the “primary obligor”) in any manner, whether directly or indirectly,
and including any obligation of the guarantor, direct or indirect, (a) to purchase or pay (or advance or supply funds for the purchase or payment of) such
Indebtedness or other obligation or to purchase (or to advance or supply funds for the purchase of) any security for the payment thereof, (b) to purchase or lease
property, securities or services for the purpose of assuring the owner of such Indebtedness or other obligation of the payment thereof, (c) to maintain working
capital, equity capital or any other financial statement condition or liquidity of the primary obligor so as to enable the primary obligor to pay such Indebtedness or
other obligation or (d) as an account party in respect of any letter of credit or letter of guaranty issued to support such Indebtedness or obligation; provided, that
the term Guarantee shall not include endorsements for collection or deposit in the ordinary course of business.

“Hazardous Materials” means all explosive or radioactive substances or wastes and all hazardous or toxic substances, wastes or other pollutants,
including petroleum or petroleum distillates, asbestos or asbestos containing materials, polychlorinated biphenyls, radon gas, infectious or medical wastes and all
other substances or wastes of any nature regulated pursuant to any Environmental Law.
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“Holders of Secured Obligations” means the holders of the Secured Obligations from time to time and shall include (a) each Lender and each Issuing
Bank in respect of its Loans and LC Exposure respectively, (b) the Administrative Agent, the Issuing Banks and the Lenders in respect of all other present and
future obligations and liabilities of the Company and each Subsidiary of every type and description arising under or in connection with this Agreement or any
other Loan Document, (c) each Lender and Affiliate of such Lender in respect of Swap Agreements and Banking Services Agreements entered into with such
Person by the Company or any Subsidiary, (d) each indemnified party under Section 11.03 in respect of the obligations and liabilities of the Borrowers to such
Person hereunder and under the other Loan Documents, and (e) their respective successors and (in the case of a Lender, permitted) transferees and assigns.

“Indebtedness” means, as to any Person, without duplication, (i) all indebtedness (including principal, interest, fees and charges) of such Person for
borrowed money or for the deferred purchase price (deferred in excess of 90 days) of property or services, (ii) the maximum amount available to be drawn or paid
under all letters of credit, bankers’ acceptances, bank guaranties and similar obligations issued for the account of such Person and all unpaid drawings in respect
of such letters of credit, bankers” acceptances and similar obligations, (iii) all Indebtedness of the types described in clause (i), (ii), (iv), (v), (vi), (vii) or (viii) of
this definition secured by any Lien on any property owned by such Person, whether or not such Indebtedness has been assumed by such Person (provided that, if
the Person has not assumed or otherwise become liable in respect of such Indebtedness, such Indebtedness shall be deemed to be in an amount equal to the fair
market value of the property to which such Lien relates as determined in good faith by such Person), (iv) the aggregate amount of all Capitalized Lease
Obligations of such Person, (v) all obligations of such Person to pay a specified purchase price for goods or services, whether or not delivered or accepted, which
constitute take-or-pay obligations, (vi) all Contingent Obligations of such Person, (vii) all obligations under any Swap Agreement or under any similar type of
agreement, except that if any agreement relating to such obligation provides for the netting of amounts payable by and to such Person thereunder or if any such
agreement provides for the simultaneous payment of amounts by and to such Person, then in each such case, the amount of such obligation shall be the net
amount thereof, (viii) all Attributable Debt of such Person and (ix) all Attributable Receivables Indebtedness of such Person. Notwithstanding the foregoing,
Indebtedness shall not include (i) trade payables and accrued expenses incurred by any Person in accordance with customary practices and in the ordinary course
of business of such Person or (ii) any pension contributions or health and welfare contributions due from such Person and/or its applicable Subsidiaries to any
Pension Fund Entity.

“Indemnified Taxes” means Taxes other than Excluded Taxes and Other Taxes.
“Information Memorandum” means the Confidential Information Memorandum dated July 17, 2007 relating to the Company and the Transactions.
“Initial Subsidiary Guarantor” means each Person listed on Schedule 1.01A.

“Interest Election Request” means a request by the applicable Borrower to convert or continue a Revolving Borrowing or a Term Loan Borrowing in
accordance with Section 2.08.

“Interest Payment Date” means (a) with respect to any ABR Loan (other than a Swingline Loan) or any Canadian Base Rate Loan, (i) prior to the
date of the consummation of the Recapitalization Transaction, the last day of each March, June, September and December and (ii) on and after the date of the
consummation of the Recapitalization Transaction, the last day of each month, (b) with respect to any Eurocurrency Loan, the last day of the Interest Period
applicable to the Borrowing of which such Loan is a part and, in the case of a Eurocurrency Borrowing with an Interest Period of more than three months’
duration, each day prior to the last day of such Interest Period that occurs at intervals of three months’ duration after the first day of such Interest Period, (c) with
respect to any Swingline Loan, the day that such Loan is required to be repaid and (d) the Maturity Date.
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“Interest Period” means with respect to any Eurocurrency Borrowing, the period commencing on the date of such Borrowing and ending, as
applicable, on the numerically corresponding day in the calendar month that is one, two, three or six months thereafter, as the applicable Borrower may elect;
provided, that (i) if any Interest Period would end on a day other than a Business Day, such Interest Period shall be extended to the next succeeding Business Day
unless, in the case of a Eurocurrency Borrowing only, such next succeeding Business Day would fall in the next calendar month, in which case such Interest
Period shall end on the next preceding Business Day and (ii) any Interest Period pertaining to a Eurocurrency Borrowing that commences on the last Business
Day of a calendar month (or on a day for which there is no numerically corresponding day in the last calendar month of such Interest Period) shall end on the last
Business Day of the last calendar month of such Interest Period. For purposes hereof, the date of a Borrowing initially shall be the date on which such Borrowing
is made and thereafter shall be the effective date of the most recent conversion or continuation of such Borrowing.

“Interim Loan Availability” means, as of any date of determination, the excess of (i) the sum of (x) current accrued and unpaid payroll expense of the
Company and its Subsidiaries as of such date and (y) $25,000,000 over (ii) the Interim Loan Cash Amount as of such date.

“Interim Loan Cash Amount” means, as of any date of determination, Unrestricted Cash as of such date plus any amounts maintained by the
Company or any Subsidiary in a deposit account for the sole purpose of funding payroll obligations as of such date.

“Interim Loan Sweep Amount” means, as of any date of determination, the excess of (i) the Interim Loan Cash Amount as of such date over (ii) the
sum of (x) current accrued and unpaid payroll expense of the Company and its Subsidiaries as of such date and (y) $25,000,000.

“Investment” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 6.13.

“Issuing Bank” means (i) JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association and (ii) each other Lender acceptable to the Administrative Agent and the
Company (it being understood that each of Bank of America, N.A., SunTrust Bank, Wachovia Bank, National Association, and Harris N.A. and their Affiliates is
acceptable to the Administrative Agent) that has entered into an Issuing Bank Agreement, in each case in its capacity as an issuer of Letters of Credit hereunder,
and their respective successors in such capacity as provided in Section 2.06(i); provided that no Person shall at any time become an Issuing Bank if after giving
effect thereto there would at such time be more than six Issuing Banks. Each Issuing Bank may, in its discretion, arrange for one or more Letters of Credit to be
issued by Affiliates of such Issuing Bank, in which case the term “Issuing Bank” shall include any such Affiliate with respect to Letters of Credit issued by such
Affiliate. Each reference to the “Issuing Bank” herein with respect to a particular Letter of Credit shall mean the Issuing Bank that issued, or is being requested to
issue, such Letter of Credit. In all other cases, a reference to the “Issuing Bank” means any Issuing Bank or each Issuing Bank, as the context may require.

“Issuing Bank Agreement” means an agreement in the form of Exhibit C, or in any other form reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent,
pursuant to which a Lender agrees to act as an Issuing Bank.

“Jiayu Acquisition” means the acquisition by YRC Logistics Asia Limited of 100% of the equity interests of Shanghai Jiayu Logistics Co., Ltd.,
pursuant to the terms of that certain Equity Interest Sale and Purchase Agreement dated as of December 20, 2007, by and among YRC Logistics Asia Limited,
Guoliang Zhai and Fengjun Qian.
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“LC Disbursement” means a payment made by the Issuing Bank pursuant to a Letter of Credit.

“LC Exposure” means, at any time, the sum of (a) the aggregate undrawn amount of all outstanding Letters of Credit denominated in US Dollars at
such time, (b) the US Dollar Equivalent of the aggregate undrawn amount of all outstanding Letters of Credit denominated in an Alternative Currency at such
time and (c) the aggregate amount of all LC Disbursements that have not yet been reimbursed by or on behalf of the Company at such time. The LC Exposure of
any Lender at any time shall be the sum of its US Tranche LC Exposure, its Canadian Tranche LC Exposure and its UK Tranche LC Exposure at such time.

“LC Fee Payment Date” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 2.13(b).

“Lenders” means the Persons listed on Schedule 2.01 and any other Person that shall have become a party hereto pursuant to an Assignment and
Assumption, other than any such Person that ceases to be a party hereto pursuant to an Assignment and Assumption. Unless the context otherwise requires, the
term “Lenders” includes the Swingline Lenders.

“Letter of Credit” means any letter of credit issued pursuant to this Agreement, and subject to the requirements of Section 2.06(k), the Existing
Letters of Credit.

“LIBO Rate” means, with respect to any Eurocurrency Borrowing for any Interest Period, (a) if denominated in any currency other than Euro, the
rate per annum determined by the Applicable Agent at approximately 11:00 a.m., London time, on the Quotation Day for such Interest Period by reference to the
British Bankers’ Association Interest Settlement Rates for deposits in the currency of such Borrowing (as reflected on the applicable Reuters screen page), for a
period equal to such Interest Period; or (b) if denominated in Euro, the rate per annum determined by the Administrative Agent at approximately 11:00 a.m.,
Brussels time, two Business Days prior to the commencement of such Interest Period, by reference to the Banking Federation of the European Union for deposits
in Euro (as reflected on the applicable Reuters screen), for a period equal to such Interest Period; provided that, to the extent that an interest rate is not
ascertainable pursuant to the foregoing provisions of this definition, the “LIBO Rate” shall be the average (rounded upward, if necessary, to the next 1/100 of 1%)
of the respective interest rates per annum at which deposits in the currency of such Borrowing are offered for such Interest Period to major banks in the London
interbank market by JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association at approximately (i) 11:00 a.m., London time, on the Quotation Day for such Interest Period if
such Borrowing is denominated in any currency other than Euro, or (ii) 11:00 a.m., Brussels time, on the Quotation Day for such Interest Period if such
Borrowing is denominated in Euro.

“Lien” means, with respect to any asset, (a) any mortgage, deed of trust, lien, pledge, hypothecation, encumbrance, charge or security interest in, on
or of such asset and (b) the interest of a vendor or a lessor under any conditional sale agreement, capital lease or title retention agreement (or any financing lease
having substantially the same economic effect as any of the foregoing) relating to such asset.

“Liquidity” means, as of any Business Day, the daily average of the Company’s Liquidity Amount as of the end of business (US Central time), for
the immediately preceding five (5) Business Days.
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“Liquidity Amount” means, as of any date of determination, the sum of (a) Permitted Investments held by the Company, its Domestic Subsidiaries
(other than any Receivables Entity) as of such date, plus (b) so long as no Default exists, the Aggregate Available Commitments as of such date minus (without
duplication) the Aggregate Revolver Reserve Amount as of such date plus (c) payments made by the Company under the Yellow Receivables Facility that
constitute Permitted Investments of a Receivables Entity solely to the extent such payments have not been applied to amounts outstanding under the Yellow
Receivables Facility plus (d) payments received by the Administrative Agent in respect of any repayment of any Borrowing or any other unpaid Obligation that
are not distributed to the Lenders until the next Business Day plus (e) an amount equal to the excess of (i) the Net Receivables Balance minus any Required
Reserve over (ii) the Aggregate Credit Exposure under (and as each of the capitalized terms in this clause (e) are defined in) the Yellow Receivables Facility (or
similar terms in any replacement Permitted Receivables Facility Documents in respect thereof), all as of such date plus (f) the Aggregate Revolver Reserve
Amount.

“Liquidity Excess Amount” has the meaning given to such term in Section 2.12(1).

“Loan Documents” means (a) this Agreement, each Borrowing Subsidiary Termination, the Subsidiary Guarantee Agreement, any promissory notes
delivered pursuant to this Agreement, any Letter of Credit applications and the Collateral Documents, and (b) all other agreements, instruments, documents and
certificates executed and delivered to, or in favor of or for the benefit of, the Administrative Agent or any Lenders and designated as a “Loan Document”.

“Loan Parties” means the Borrowers and the Subsidiary Guarantors.
“Loans” means the loans made by the Lenders to the Borrowers pursuant to this Agreement.

“Local Time” means (a) with respect to a Loan, Borrowing or Letter of Credit denominated in US Dollars, New York City time, (b) with respect to a
Loan or Borrowing denominated in Canadian Dollars, Toronto time and (c) with respect to a Loan or Borrowing denominated in Pounds Sterling or Euro, London
time.

“Long-Term Debt” means any Indebtedness that, in accordance with GAAP, constitutes (or, when incurred, constituted) a long-term liability.
“Mandatory Cost” is described in Schedule 1.01B.

“Material Adverse Effect” means (a) a material adverse effect on (i) the business, assets, operations or condition, financial or otherwise, of the
Company and the Subsidiaries taken as a whole, (ii) the ability of the Borrowers to perform any of their respective obligations under this Agreement or (iii) the
rights of or benefits available to the Lenders under this Agreement and the other Loan Documents or (b) a material impairment of a material portion of the
Collateral or of any Lien on any material portion of the Collateral in favor of or for the benefit of the Administrative Agent or the priority of such Liens.

“Material Indebtedness” means Indebtedness (other than the Loans, Acceptances and Letters of Credit), or obligations in respect of one or more
Swap Agreements, of any one or more of any Borrower or any Subsidiary in an aggregate principal amount exceeding $20,000,000. For purposes of determining
Material Indebtedness, the “principal amount” of the obligations of any Borrower or any Subsidiary in respect of any Swap Agreement at any time shall be the
maximum aggregate amount (giving effect to any netting agreements) that such Borrower or such Subsidiary would be required to pay if such Swap Agreement
were terminated at such time.
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“Maturity Date” means August 17, 2012, or, if (a) the Cash Settlement Amount of the aggregate outstanding principal amount of the USF Bonds is
equal to or greater than $15,000,000 on or after March 1, 2010 or (b) the Cash Settlement Amount of the aggregate outstanding principal amount of the 5%
Contingent Convertible Senior Notes is equal to or greater than $25,000,000 on or after June 25, 2010, then, in either case, such earlier date as may be set forth in
a written notice delivered by the Required Lenders to the Administrative Agent, the Lenders and the Company.

“Money Market Rate” means, for any day, the LIBO Rate applicable to a Eurocurrency Borrowing with an Interest Period of one month plus the
Applicable Rate.

“Moody’s” means Moody’s Investors Service, Inc.

“Mortgage” means each mortgage, deed of trust or other agreement which conveys or evidences a Lien in favor of or for the benefit of the
Administrative Agent and the Holders of Secured Obligations, on real property of a Loan Party, including any amendment, restatement, modification or
supplement thereto.

“Mortgage Instruments” means such title reports, title insurance, opinions of counsel, surveys, appraisals and environmental reports with respect to
the applicable real property (provided that such surveys, appraisals and/or environmental reports delivered by the Company which are dated within twelve
(12) months (or such longer period as the Administrative Agent may agree in its sole discretion) of the Amendment No. 2 Effective Date shall be deemed to
satisfy the delivery requirement in respect of any such real property) as are requested by, and in form and substance reasonably acceptable to, the Administrative
Agent from time to time.

“Multiemployer Plan” means a multiemployer plan as defined in Section 4001(a)(3) of ERISA with respect to which the Company or any of its
ERISA Affiliates may have any liability, contingent or otherwise.

“Net Acceptance Proceeds” means the cash proceeds realized on the issuance and sale of an Acceptance pursuant to this Agreement after deduction
of the Stamping Fee.

“Net Cash Proceeds” means, with respect to any event, (a) the cash proceeds received in respect of such event including any cash received in respect
of any non-cash proceeds (including any cash payments received by way of deferred payment of principal pursuant to a note or installment receivable or purchase
price adjustment receivable or otherwise, but excluding any interest payments), but only as and when received, net of (b) the sum of (i) all reasonable fees and
out-of-pocket expenses paid to third parties (other than Affiliates) in connection with such event and (ii) the amount of all payments required to be made as a
result of such event to repay (x) Indebtedness (other than Loans) secured by such asset or otherwise subject to mandatory prepayment as a result of such event
and (y) Specified Pension Fund Obligations on and after the Amendment No. 7 Effective Date, whether or not the Liens on the applicable Specified Properties
contemplated by the relevant Specified Pension Fund Deferral Transaction have been created or perfected.

“New Block I.oans” means Revolving Loans made by the Lenders to the Company in respect of the New Revolver Reserve Amount.

“New Revolver Reserve Amount” means the amount of Revolving Commitments which are available to the Company subject to the satisfaction or
waiver of the conditions precedent set forth in Section 4.02(e), as such amount may be increased or reduced from time to time pursuant to the terms hereof. As of
the Amendment No. 12 Effective Date, the New Revolver Reserve Amount is $8,699,440.83.
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“Non-Current Collateral” shall mean any Collateral (a) consisting of property of any Foreign Subsidiary of the Company, (b) consisting of foreign-
registered Intellectual Property (as defined in the Security Agreement) owned by the Company or any Subsidiary, (c) consisting of any individual parcel of real
property, leased or owned, of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries located in any jurisdiction other than the United States of America, (d) consisting of any
individual parcel of leased real property of the Company or any Domestic Subsidiary, (e) consisting of fixtures in respect of any of the real property described in
the preceding clauses (a), (c) or (d), (f) consisting of trucks and other vehicles and rolling stock, leased or owned, of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries
registered or titled in any jurisdiction other than the United States of America, (g) consisting of any deposit account or securities account or investment account
maintained by the Company or any Domestic Subsidiary which contains in the aggregate for all such accounts funds not in excess of $20,000,000 at any time and
(h) consisting of any issued and outstanding Equity Interests of any Foreign Subsidiary (other than up to 65% of the issued and outstanding Equity Interest of any
First Tier Foreign Subsidiary to the extent directly owned by the Company or any other Domestic Loan Party).

“Non-Real Estate Asset Sale” means any Asset Sale in respect of assets of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries other than a Real Estate Asset
Sale.

“Obligations” means the due and punctual payment of (a) the principal of and premium, if any, and interest (including interest accruing during the
pendency of any bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or other similar proceeding, regardless of whether allowed or allowable in such proceeding) on the Loans
made to any Borrower, when and as due, whether at maturity, by acceleration, upon one or more dates set for prepayment or otherwise, (b) each payment required
to be made by any Borrower under this Agreement in respect of any Letter of Credit, when and as due, including payments in respect of reimbursement of
disbursements, interest thereon and obligations to provide cash collateral, (c) each payment required to be made by any Borrower under this Agreement in respect
of any Acceptance, when and as due, whether at maturity, by acceleration or otherwise, including Stamping Fees, and (d) all other monetary obligations, including
fees, costs, expenses and indemnities, whether primary, secondary, direct, contingent, fixed or otherwise (including monetary obligations incurred during the
pendency of any bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or other similar proceeding, regardless of whether allowed or allowable in such proceeding), of the
Borrowers under this Agreement and the other Loan Documents.

“Other Taxes” means any and all present or future stamp or documentary taxes or any other excise or property taxes, charges or similar levies arising
from any payment made hereunder or from the execution, delivery or enforcement of, or otherwise with respect to, this Agreement or any other Loan Document.

“Participant” has the meaning set forth in Section 11.04(c).
“PBGC” means the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation referred to and defined in ERISA and any successor entity performing similar functions.

“Pension Fund Basket Deduction Amount” means, as of any date of determination, an amount equal to (i) the Specified Value of all Specified
Properties which are subject to a Lien for the benefit of any Pension Fund Entity pursuant to a Specified Pension Fund Deferral Transaction as of such date
multiplied by (ii) a fraction, the numerator of which is 50,000,000 and the denominator of which is 67,517,481 (the gross book value of such properties before
accumulated depreciation is approximately $97,800,000).
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“Pension Fund Deferral Amount” means, with respect to any Specified Pension Fund Deferral Transaction, the aggregate dollar amount of Specified
Pension Fund Obligations which have been deferred pursuant to the terms and conditions of such Specified Pension Fund Deferral Transaction.

“Pension Fund Entities” means those entities identified on Schedule 1.01C hereto.

“Pension Fund Intercreditor Agreement” means, collectively, one or more Intercreditor Agreements by and among one or more of the Pension Fund
Entities (and/or any agent on behalf of such Pension Fund Entities), the Company and/or certain of its Subsidiaries, as applicable, and the Collateral Agent, in
form and substance reasonably acceptable to the Collateral Agent, as the same may be amended, amended and restated, restated, supplemented or otherwise
modified from time to time.

“Permitted Acquisition” means the Jiayu Acquisition.

“Permitted Disposition” means any Asset Sale described on Schedule 6.05B.

“Permitted Encumbrances” means:

(a) Liens for unpaid utilities and Liens imposed by law for taxes, in either case, that are not yet due or are being contested in compliance with
Section 5.04;

(b) carriers’, warehousemen’s, mechanics’, materialmen’s, repairmen’s and other like Liens imposed by law, arising in the ordinary course of
business and securing obligations that are not overdue by more than 30 days or are being contested in compliance with Section 5.04;

(c) pledges and deposits made in the ordinary course of business in compliance with workers’ compensation, unemployment insurance and other
social security or employment laws or regulations;

(d) Liens securing the performance of bids, tenders, trade contracts, government contracts, leases, statutory obligations, surety and appeal bonds,
performance and return of money bonds and other obligations of a like nature, in each case in the ordinary course of business;

(e) judgment liens in respect of judgments that do not constitute an Event of Default under clause (k) of Article VII;

(f) easements, zoning restrictions, rights-of-way, use restrictions, minor defects or irregularities in title, reservations (including reservations in any
original grant from any government of any water or mineral rights or interests therein) and similar encumbrances on real property imposed by law or
arising in the ordinary course of business that do not secure any monetary obligations and do not materially detract from the value of the affected property
or interfere with the ordinary conduct of business of the Company or any Subsidiary;

(g) Liens in favor of payor banks having a right of setoff, revocation, refund or chargeback with respect of money or instruments of the Company or
any Subsidiary on deposit with or in possession of such bank; and

(h) Liens in favor of the “Escrow Agent” under (and as defined in) the Escrow Account Agreement solely in respect of indemnities, fees, expenses
and other amounts owing to the Escrow Agent under the Escrow Account Agreement.

provided that the term “Permitted Encumbrances” shall not include any Lien securing Indebtedness.
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“Permitted Interim Loans” means Revolving Loans made to the Company in US Dollars and advanced by the Lenders in accordance with the terms
of Section 2.01(g) and Section 4.02(h) (and subject to the sweep mechanics set forth in Section 2.12(k)).

“Permitted Investments” means:
(a) cash;

(b) direct obligations of, or obligations the principal of and interest on which are unconditionally guaranteed by, the United States of America (or by
any agency thereof to the extent such obligations are backed by the full faith and credit of the United States of America) or any member state of the
European Union, in each case maturing within one year from the date of acquisition thereof;

(c) investments in commercial paper maturing within 270 days from the date of acquisition thereof and having, at such date of acquisition, the
highest credit rating obtainable from S&P or from Moody’s;

(d) investments in certificates of deposit, banker’s acceptances and time deposits maturing within 180 days from the date of acquisition thereof
issued or guaranteed by or placed with, and money market deposit accounts issued or offered by, the Administrative Agent or any commercial bank (which
has outstanding debt securities rated as referred to in paragraph (c) above) that has a combined capital and surplus and undivided profits of not less than
$500,000,000;

(e) fully collateralized repurchase agreements with a term of not more than 30 days for securities described in clause (b) above and entered into with
a financial institution satisfying the criteria of clause (d) above;

(f) investments in “money market funds” within the meaning of Rule 2a-7 of the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended, substantially all of
whose assets are invested in investments of the type described in clauses (a) through (e) above; and

(g) other short-term investments entered into in accordance with normal investment policies and practices of any Foreign Subsidiary consistent with
past practices for cash management and constituting investments in governmental obligations and investment funds analogous to and having a credit risk
not greater than investments of the type described in clauses (a) through (f) above.

“Permitted Lease Waiver Amount” has the meaning set forth in clause (q) of Article VII.

“Permitted Receivables Facility” means the receivables facility or facilities created under the Permitted Receivables Facility Documents, providing
for the sale or pledge by the Company and/or one or more other Receivables Sellers of Permitted Receivables Facility Assets (thereby providing financing to the
Company and the Receivables Sellers) to the Receivables Entity (either directly or through another Receivables Seller), which in turn shall sell or pledge interests
in the respective Permitted Receivables Facility Assets to third-party investors pursuant to the Permitted Receivables Facility Documents (with the Receivables
Entity permitted to issue investor certificates, purchased interest certificates or other similar documentation evidencing interests in the Permitted Receivables
Facility Assets) in return for the cash used by the Receivables Entity to purchase the Permitted Receivables Facility Assets from the Company and/or the
respective Receivables Sellers, in each case as more fully set forth in the Permitted Receivables Facility Documents.
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“Permitted Receivables Facility Assets” means (i) Receivables (whether now existing or arising in the future) of the Company and its Subsidiaries
which are transferred or pledged to the Receivables Entity pursuant to the Permitted Receivables Facility and any related Permitted Receivables Related Assets
which are also so transferred or pledged to the Receivables Entity and all proceeds thereof and (ii) loans to the Company and its Subsidiaries secured by
Receivables (whether now existing or arising in the future) and any Permitted Receivables Related Assets of the Company and its Subsidiaries which are made
pursuant to the Permitted Receivables Facility.

“Permitted Receivables Facility Documents” means each of the documents and agreements entered into in connection with the Permitted
Receivables Facility, including all documents and agreements relating to the issuance, funding and/or purchase of certificates and purchased interests, all of which
documents and agreements shall be in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent, in each case as such documents and agreements
may be amended, modified, supplemented, refinanced or replaced from time to time so long as (i) any such amendments, modifications, supplements,
refinancings or replacements do not impose any conditions or requirements on the Company or any of its Subsidiaries that are more restrictive in any material
respect than those in existence immediately prior to any such amendment, modification, supplement, refinancing or replacement, (ii) any such amendments,
modifications, supplements, refinancings or replacements are not adverse in any way to the interests of the Lenders and (iii) any such amendments, modifications,
supplements, refinancings or replacements are otherwise in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent. It is understood and agreed
that the documentation for the Yellow Receivables Facility delivered to the Administrative Agent prior to the Effective Date are satisfactory in form and
substance to the Administrative Agent.

“Permitted Receivables Related Assets” means any other assets that are customarily transferred or in respect of which security interests are
customarily granted in connection with asset securitization transactions involving receivables similar to Receivables and any collections or proceeds of any of the
foregoing.

“Permitted 2010 Maturing Notes Repayment Sources” means:

(a) the Net Cash Proceeds of the issuance of any common stock or other Equity Interests of the Company or the issuance of common stock or other
Equity Interests of the Company;

(b) the Net Cash Proceeds of the incurrence of any Indebtedness permitted hereby; and

(c) no more than an aggregate amount of $50,000,000 of cash on hand with the Company and its Subsidiaries; provided that (i) such cash cannot be
proceeds of any Borrowing, Loan, Acceptance or Letter of Credit hereunder, (ii) such cash cannot be applied to the 2010 Maturing Notes unless and until the
Cash Settlement Amount in respect of the applicable 2010 Maturing Notes is equal to or less than $50,000,000 and (iii) to the extent any such cash is used to
make a payment of any amount in respect of the USF Bonds or the 5% Contingent Convertible Senior Notes in accordance with the terms of this clause (c), the
aggregate amount available for further cash payments under this clause (c) in respect of any of the 2010 Maturing Notes shall be decreased by an amount equal to
the aggregate amount of any such cash payments.
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“Person” means any natural person, corporation, limited liability company, trust, joint venture, association, company, partnership, Governmental
Authority or other entity.

“Plan” means any employee pension benefit plan (other than a Multiemployer Plan) subject to the provisions of Title IV of ERISA or Section 412 of
the Code or Section 302 of ERISA, and in respect of which the Company or any ERISA Affiliate is (or, if such plan were terminated, would under Section 4069
of ERISA be deemed to be) an “employer” as defined in Section 3(5) of ERISA.

“Pounds Sterling” or “£” means the lawful currency of the United Kingdom.
“Prepayment Event” means (without duplication):

(a) any Real Estate Asset Sale (including the Specified Sale and Leaseback Transaction solely to the extent that the amount of Net Cash Proceeds of
such Specified Sale and Leaseback Transaction exceed, and solely with respect to the Net Cash Proceeds in excess of, the sum of (i) $150,000,000 minus the
Pension Fund Basket Deduction Amount; provided that in no event shall the Pension Fund Basket Deduction Amount exceed $50,000,000 in the aggregate and
(ii) the amount of such Net Cash Proceeds used by the Company to pay any fees under or in connection with the Credit Agreement or other Loan Documents or
the Yellow Receivables Facility in an aggregate amount not to exceed $10,000,000, as contemplated by that certain Waiver No. 1 dated as of January 15, 2009 to
this Agreement); or

(b) any Non-Real Estate Asset Sale the Net Cash Proceeds of which, together with the aggregate amount of Net Cash Proceeds received from all
Non-Real Estate Asset Sales occurring in the same fiscal year of the Company, exceed $25,000,000; or

(c) the issuance of any common stock or other Equity Interests by the Company or any Subsidiary (other than (i) common stock or other Equity
Interests issued to the employees, directors or officers and other members of management of the Company or any Subsidiary in connection with equity incentive
plans, (ii) common stock or other Equity Interests issued in connection with repaying or refinancing the 2010 Maturing Notes solely to the extent that the Net
Cash Proceeds of any such issuance is applied to refinance the 2010 Maturing Notes and to pay any fees or expenses directly related to such refinancing or
(iii) common stock or other Equity Interests issued to the Company or any Wholly-Owned Subsidiary); or

(d) the incurrence by the Company or any Subsidiary of any Indebtedness, other than Indebtedness permitted under Section 6.01.

“Prime Rate” means the rate of interest per annum publicly announced from time to time by JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association as its
prime rate in effect at its principal office in New York City; each change in the Prime Rate shall be effective from and including the date such change is publicly
announced as being effective.

“Quotation Day” means, with respect to any Eurocurrency Borrowing and any Interest Period, the day on which it is market practice in the relevant
interbank market for prime banks to give quotations for deposits in the currency of such Borrowing for delivery on the first day of such Interest Period. If such
quotations would normally be given by prime banks on more than one day, the Quotation Day will be the last of such days.
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“Ratable Indenture Liens” means Liens granted in respect of and as required by debentures, notes or other evidences of Indebtedness (including,
without limitation, the USF Bonds) issued pursuant to the USF Bond Indenture.

“RBS Lease” means that certain Master Lease Agreement, dated as of January 17, 2008, by and among RBS Asset Finance, any other lessors or
creditors thereunder from time to time party thereto and certain of the Loan Parties, including all exhibits, schedules, annexes and assignments in respect thereof,
as the same may be amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time.

“Real Estate Asset Sale” means any Asset Sale in respect of real property assets of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries.

“Recapitalization Transaction” means that (x) no less than 95% (or such other percentage as is consented to by the Supermajority Lenders) of the
aggregate principal amount of each of (i) the USF Bonds, (ii) the 5% Contingent Convertible Senior Notes and (iii) the 3.375% Contingent Convertible Senior
Notes shall have converted to capital stock of the Company on terms and conditions reasonably acceptable to the Administrative Agent and (y) to the extent
required, the requisite number of shareholders of the Company shall have consented to the equity issuance and other actions required to consummate the
conversion described in the foregoing clause (x).

“Receivables” means all accounts receivable (including, without limitation, all rights to payment created by or arising from sales of goods, leases of
goods or the rendition of services rendered no matter how evidenced whether or not earned by performance).

“Receivables Entity” means a Wholly-Owned Subsidiary of the Company which engages in no activities other than in connection with the financing
of accounts receivable of the Receivables Sellers and which is designated (as provided below) as the “Receivables Entity” (a) no portion of the Indebtedness or
any other obligations (contingent or otherwise) of which (i) is guaranteed by the Company or any other Subsidiary of the Company (excluding guarantees of
obligations (other than the principal of, and interest on, Indebtedness)) pursuant to Standard Securitization Undertakings, (ii) is recourse to or obligates the
Company or any other Subsidiary of the Company in any way (other than pursuant to Standard Securitization Undertakings) or (iii) subjects any property or asset
of the Company or any other Subsidiary of the Company, directly or indirectly, contingently or otherwise, to the satisfaction thereof, other than pursuant to
Standard Securitization Undertakings, (b) with which neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has any contract, agreement, arrangement or understanding
(other than pursuant to the Permitted Receivables Facility Documents (including with respect to fees payable in the ordinary course of business in connection
with the servicing of accounts receivable and related assets)) on terms less favorable to the Company or such Subsidiary than those that might be obtained at the
time from persons that are not Affiliates of the Company, and (c) to which neither the Company nor any other Subsidiary of the Company has any obligation to
maintain or preserve such entity’s financial condition or cause such entity to achieve certain levels of operating results. Any such designation shall be evidenced
to the Administrative Agent by filing with the Administrative Agent an officer’s certificate of a Financial Officer of the Company certifying that, to the best of
such officer’s knowledge and belief after consultation with counsel, such designation complied with the foregoing conditions.

“Receivables Sellers” means the Company and those Subsidiary Guarantors that are from time to time party to the Permitted Receivables Facility
Documents.

“Regional Sub-Segments” means each of (i) Holland, (ii) New Penn and (iii) Reddaway.
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“Register” has the meaning set forth in Section 11.04.

“Related Parties” means, with respect to any specified Person, such Person’s Affiliates and the respective directors, officers, trustees, employees,
agents and advisors of such Person and such Person’s Affiliates.

“Required Lenders” means, at any time, Lenders having Revolving Credit Exposures, outstanding principal amount of Term Loans and unused
Commitments representing at least 51% of the sum of the total Revolving Credit Exposures, aggregate principal amount of Term Loans and unused Commitments
at such time.

“Restricted Payment” means any dividend or other distribution (whether in cash, securities or other property) with respect to any Equity Interests in
the Company or any Subsidiary, or any payment (whether in cash, securities or other property), including any sinking fund or similar deposit, on account of the
purchase, redemption, retirement, acquisition, cancellation or termination of any such Equity Interests in the Company or any option, warrant or other right to
acquire any such Equity Interests in the Company.

“Revolving Borrowing” means a Borrowing comprised of US Tranche Revolving Loans, UK Tranche Revolving Loans, Canadian Tranche
Revolving Loans or Acceptances.

“Revolving Commitment” means the US Tranche Revolving Commitment, the Canadian Tranche Commitment and the UK Tranche Commitment.

“Revolving Credit Exposure” means a US Tranche Revolving Exposure, a Canadian Tranche Exposure or a UK Tranche Exposure.
“Revolving Loan” means a US Tranche Revolving Loan, a Canadian Tranche Revolving Loan or a UK Tranche Revolving Loan.

“Rollover” means an issue of Acceptances on the maturity of an outstanding issue of Acceptances having an aggregate face amount which is less
than or equal to the aggregate face amount of the maturing issue of Acceptances.

“Sale and Leaseback Transaction” means any arrangement, directly or indirectly, whereby a seller or transferor shall sell or otherwise transfer any
real or personal property and then or thereafter lease, or repurchase under an extended purchase contract, conditional sales or other title retention agreement, the
same or similar property.

“S&P” means Standard & Poor’s.
“Schedule I Bank” means any Canadian Tranche Lender named on Schedule I to the Bank Act (Canada).
“Securities Act” means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder.

“Secured Obligations” means all Obligations, together with all Swap Obligations and Banking Services Obligations owing to one or more Lenders or
their respective Affiliates.
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“Security Agreement” means that certain Pledge and Security Agreement (including any and all supplements thereto) between the Domestic Loan
Parties and the Administrative Agent, for the benefit of the Administrative Agent and the other Holders of Secured Obligations, and any other pledge or security
agreement entered into, after the date of this Agreement by any other Loan Party (as required by this Agreement or any other Loan Document), or any other
Person, as the same may be amended, restated or otherwise modified from time to time.

“Senior Notes” means the 5% Contingent Convertible Senior Notes, the 3.375% Contingent Convertible Senior Notes and the USF Bonds, as
applicable.

“SG&A (Monthly)” means, as of any date of determination, the sum of all direct and indirect selling expenses and all general and administrative
expenses of the Company and its Subsidiaries for the calendar month ending immediately prior to such date of determination, calculated on a basis consistent in
all respects with the calculation of SG&A (Monthly) pursuant to the financial plan delivered to the Administrative Agent on October 24, 2009.

“Specified Cost Savings Plan” means a financial analysis and plan, delivered by the Company to the Administrative Agent, demonstrating
annualized costs savings of at least $200,000,000.

“Specified Pension Fund Obligations” means, with respect to any Specified Pension Fund Deferral Transaction, the payment obligations due from
the Company and/or its applicable Subsidiaries (including, without limitation, interest accrued thereon as of such date and thereafter accruing until so paid) to the
applicable Pension Fund Entities set forth on the related Specified Pension Fund Deferral Transaction Certificate. For the avoidance of doubt, the “Specified
Pension Fund Obligations™ shall include any portion of the Company’s and/or any of its Subsidiary’s obligations owing to the Pension Fund Entities identified on
Schedule 1.01C in an aggregate amount equal to $50,327,819.70 which obligations were initially due and payable on February 15, 2009 (the “Original Specified
Pension Fund Obligations”).

“Specified Pension Fund Deferral Transaction” means any agreement by the applicable Pension Fund Entities to permit the Company and/or its
applicable Subsidiaries to defer the payment of the Specified Pension Fund Obligations (including the principal amount of such obligations and any related
interest payment accrued thereon but unpaid as of the date of the related Specified Pension Fund Deferral Transaction Documents by the applicable Pension Fund
Entity) set forth on the related Specific Pension Fund Deferral Transaction Certificate for a period ending no earlier than January 1, 2010 (other than current
interest), all on terms and conditions reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent (not to be unreasonably withheld, delayed or conditioned).

“Specified Pension Fund Deferral Transaction Amendment” means an Amendment to the Specified Pension Fund Deferral Transaction Documents
providing for the deferral of cash payment in respect of 100% (or such lesser percentage as the Supermajority Lenders shall consent to) of the scheduled
amortization payments and all scheduled interest payments thereunder from and after the date of the consummation of the Recapitalization Transaction and
through December 31, 2010, subject to deferral termination events substantially similar to those under this Agreement, all in form and substance reasonably
satisfactory to the Administrative Agent.

“Specified Pension Fund Deferral Transaction Certificate” means a certificate signed by a Financial Officer of the Company and delivered to the
Administrative Agent in connection with each Specified Pension Fund Deferral Transaction, certifying: (a) that no Default or Event of Default has
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occurred and is continuing or would arise after giving effect thereto, (b) the Pension Fund Deferral Amount in respect thereof, (c) the Pension Entity(ies) party
thereto, (d) the attached copies of the complete and correct Specified Pension Fund Deferral Transactions Documents in respect thereof and (e) if applicable, the
calculation demonstrating that, after giving effect to such Specified Pension Fund Deferral Transaction, the Specified Value of all Specified Properties subject to a
Specified Pension Fund Deferral Transaction as of such date shall not exceed (in the aggregate) an amount equal to two times the Pension Fund Deferral Amount
in respect of all existing Specified Pension Fund Deferral Transactions.

“Specified Pension Fund Deferral Transaction Documents” means the material agreements, instruments and other documentation set forth in and
attached to each Specified Pension Fund Deferral Transaction Certificate and each Pension Fund Intercreditor Agreement, in each case as the same may be, to the
extent permitted hereunder, amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time.

“Specified Sale and Leaseback Transaction” means the sale and simultaneous lease back of approximately thirty-two operating warehouse facilities
owned by the Company and located throughout the United States pursuant to the terms of that certain Real Estate Sales Contract dated December 19, 2008 by
NATMI Truck Terminals, LL.C and the Company, as in effect on the Amendment No. 2 Effective Date and without giving effect to any amendment, waiver or
other modification thereto which is in any manner adverse to any Lender (including, without limitation, in respect of the purchase price thereunder, the number of
parcels of real estate subject thereto and the interest rate in respect of the obligations thereunder).

“Specified Properties” means those parcels of real property set forth on Schedule 6.18 (and all accessions, proceeds and related property).
“Specified Value” means, with respect to any Specified Property, the net book value thereof as of February 28, 2009, as set forth on Schedule 6.18.

“Stamping Fee” means the stamping fee payable at the time of each Acceptance, calculated and payable in the manner provided for in
Section 2.04(f).

“Standard Securitization Undertakings” means representations, warranties, covenants and indemnities entered into by the Company or any
Subsidiary thereof in connection with the Permitted Receivables Facility which are reasonably customary in an accounts receivable transaction.

“Statutory Reserve Rate” means, with respect to any currency, a fraction (expressed as a decimal), the numerator of which is the number one and the
denominator of which is the number one minus the aggregate of the maximum reserve percentages (including any marginal, special, emergency or supplemental
reserves) established by any central bank, monetary authority, the Board, the Financial Services Authority, the European Central Bank or other Governmental
Authority for any category of deposits or liabilities customarily used to fund loans in such currency, expressed in the case of each such requirement as a decimal.
Such reserve percentages shall, in the case of Dollar denominated Loans, include those imposed pursuant to Regulation D of the Board. Eurocurrency Loans shall
be deemed to be subject to such reserve, liquid asset or similar requirements without benefit of or credit for proration, exemptions or offsets that may be available
from time to time to any Lender under any applicable law, rule or regulation, including Regulation D of the Board. The Statutory Reserve Rate shall be adjusted
automatically on and as of the effective date of any change in any reserve percentage.
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“subsidiary” means, with respect to any Person (the “parent”) at any date, any corporation, limited liability company, unlimited liability company,
partnership, association or other entity the accounts of which would be consolidated with those of the parent in the parent’s consolidated financial statements if
such financial statements were prepared in accordance with GAAP as of such date, as well as any other corporation, limited liability company, unlimited liability
company, partnership, association or other entity (a) of which securities or other ownership interests representing more than 50% of the equity or more than 50%
of the ordinary voting power or, in the case of a partnership, more than 50% of the general partnership interests are, as of such date, owned, controlled or held, or
(b) that is, as of such date, otherwise Controlled, by the parent or one or more subsidiaries of the parent or by the parent and one or more subsidiaries of the
parent.

“Subsidiary” means any subsidiary of the Company; provided, that Persons that would be required in accordance with GAAP to be consolidated with
the Company, but which are not otherwise controlled by the Company shall be “Subsidiaries” hereunder solely for the purpose of making calculations under
Section 6.07 hereof, but shall not be “Subsidiaries” hereunder for purposes of any representation, warranty or other covenant hereunder.

“Subsidiary Guarantee Agreement” means the Amended and Restated Subsidiary Guarantee Agreement, dated as of the Amendment No. 2 Effective
Date, substantially in the form of Exhibit D, made by the Subsidiary Guarantors in favor of the Administrative Agent for the benefit of the Lenders.

“Subsidiary Guarantors” means each Person that is required to become party to a Subsidiary Guarantee Agreement as a Subsidiary Guarantor
pursuant to the terms of Section 5.09, and the permitted successors and assigns of each such Person (except to the extent such successor or assign is relieved from
its obligations under the Subsidiary Guarantee Agreement pursuant to the provisions of this Agreement); provided that any Person released from the Subsidiary
Guarantee Agreement pursuant to the provisions of Section 5.09 shall no longer be a “Subsidiary Guarantor” unless and until such Person re-executes the
Subsidiary Guarantee Agreement pursuant to the provisions of Section 5.09.

“Supermajority Lenders” means, at any time, Lenders having Revolving Credit Exposures, outstanding principal amount of Term Loans and unused
Commitments representing at least 6623% of the sum of the total Revolving Credit Exposures, aggregate principal amount of outstanding Term Loans and unused
Commitments at such time.

“Swap Agreement” means any agreement with respect to any swap, forward, future or derivative transaction or option or similar agreement
involving, or settled by reference to, one or more rates, currencies, commodities, equity or debt instruments or securities, or economic, financial or pricing indices
or measures of economic, financial or pricing risk or value or any similar transaction or any combination of these transactions; provided that no phantom stock or
similar plan providing for payments only on account of services provided by current or former directors, officers, employees or consultants of the Company or the
Subsidiaries shall be a Swap Agreement.

“Swap Obligations” means any and all obligations of the Company or any Subsidiary, whether absolute or contingent and howsoever and
whensoever created, arising, evidenced or acquired (including all renewals, extensions and modifications thereof and substitutions therefor), under (a) any and all
Swap Agreements permitted hereunder entered into with a counterparty that was a Lender or an Affiliate of a Lender at the time such Swap Agreement was
entered into, and (b) any and all cancellations, buy backs, reversals, terminations or assignments of any such Swap Agreement transaction.

“Swingline Exposure” means, at any time, the sum of (a) the US Tranche Swingline Exposure, (b) the UK Tranche Swingline Exposure and (c) the
Canadian Tranche Swingline Exposure at such time. The Swingline Exposure of any Lender shall be the sum of (a) the US Tranche Swingline Exposure, (b) the
UK Tranche Swingline Exposure and (c) the Canadian Tranche Swingline Exposure of such Lender at such time.
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“Swingline Lender” means the US Tranche Swingline Lender, the Canadian Tranche Swingline Lender or the UK Tranche Swingline Lender.
“Swingline Loan” means a US Tranche Swingline Loan, a Canadian Tranche Swingline Loan or a UK Tranche Swingline Loan.
“TARGET” means the Trans-European Automated Real-time Gross Settlement Express Transfer payment system.

“Taxes” means any and all present or future taxes, levies, imposts, duties, deductions, charges or withholdings imposed by any Governmental
Authority.

“Teamsters Deal” means the Second Amended and Restated Job Security Plan by and among YRC Inc., USF Holland, Inc. and New Penn Motor
Express, Inc. and the Teamsters National Freight Industry Negotiating Committee of the International Brotherhood of Teamsters as disclosed to the Lenders on or
prior to the Amendment No. 9 Effective Date, without giving effect to any amendment, restatement, supplement or any other modification (in each case which are
adverse to the Lenders) after such date.

“Term Loan” means a US Tranche Term Loan and “Term Loans” means the US Tranche Term Loans.
“Term Loan Borrowing” means a US Tranche Term Loan Borrowing.
“Test Period” means each period of four consecutive fiscal quarters of the Company then last ended (in each case taken as one accounting period).

“13-Week Cash Flow Projections” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 5.01(f).

“3.375% Contingent Convertible Senior Notes” means, collectively, (i) the Company’s 3.375% Contingent Convertible Senior Notes due 2023
issued pursuant to the 3.375% Senior Note Indenture and (ii) the Company’s 3.375% Net Share Settled Contingent Convertible Senior Notes due 2023 issued
pursuant to the 3.375% Net Share Settled Contingent Convertible Senior Note Indenture.

“3.375% Net Share Settled Contingent Convertible Senior Note Indenture” means the Indenture in respect of 3.375% Net Share Settled Contingent
Convertible Senior Notes due 2023, dated as of December 31, 2004 among the Company and Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas, as trustee thereunder, as
in effect on the Effective Date and as the same may be amended, modified or supplemented from time to time in accordance with the terms hereof and thereof.

“3.375% Senior Note Indenture” means the Indenture in respect of 3.375% Contingent Convertible Senior Notes due 2023, dated as of
November 25, 2003 among the Company and Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas, as trustee thereunder, as in effect on the Effective Date and as the same
may be amended, modified or supplemented from time to time in accordance with the terms hereof and thereof.

37



“Three-Month Secondary CD Rate” means, for any day, the secondary market rate for three-month certificates of deposit reported as being in effect
on such day (or, if such day is not a Business Day, the next preceding Business Day) by the Board through the public information telephone line of the Federal
Reserve Bank of New York (which rate will, under the current practices of the Board, be published in Federal Reserve Statistical Release H.15(519) during the
week following such day) or, if such rate is not so reported on such day or such next preceding Business Day, the average of the secondary market quotations for
three-month certificates of deposit of major money center banks in New York City received at approximately 10:00 a.m., New York City time, on such day (or, if
such day is not a Business Day, on the next preceding Business Day) by the Administrative Agent from three negotiable certificate of deposit dealers of
recognized standing selected by it.

“Total Leverage Ratio” means, as of the end of any Test Period, the ratio of Consolidated Indebtedness at such time to Consolidated EBITDA for the
Test Period then most recently ended.

“Tranche” means the US Tranche, the Canadian Tranche or the UK Tranche.

“Tranche Percentage” means, with respect to any Lender, such Lender’s US Tranche Percentage, Canadian Tranche Percentage or UK Tranche
Percentage, as applicable.

“Transactions” means the execution, delivery and performance by the Borrowers of this Agreement, the borrowing of Loans and the use of the
proceeds thereof, the issuance of Drafts and the use of proceeds of Acceptances, the issuance of Letters of Credit hereunder and the execution, delivery and
performance by the Loan Parties of the other Loan Documents.

“2010 Maturing Notes” means, collectively, the USF Bonds and the 5% Contingent Convertible Senior Notes.

“Type”, when used in reference to any Loan or Borrowing, refers to whether the rate of interest on such Loan, or on the Loans comprising such
Borrowing, is determined by reference to the Adjusted LIBO Rate, the Alternate Base Rate, the Canadian Base Rate or the CDOR BA Rate. A Borrowing of
Acceptances shall be considered to be a “Type” of Borrowing.

“UCC” means the Uniform Commercial Code as in effect from time to time in the State of New York or any other jurisdiction the laws of which are
required to be applied in connection with the issue of perfection of security interests.

“UK Agent” means J.P. Morgan Europe Limited, in its capacity as UK administrative agent for the UK Tranche Lenders hereunder.

“UK Borrower” means (i) YRC Logistics Limited, a company organized under the laws of England and Wales and (ii) any other UK Subsidiary that
has been designated as such pursuant to Section 2.21 and that, in each case, has not ceased to be a UK Borrower as provided in such Section.

“UK Subsidiary” means any Subsidiary that is incorporated or otherwise organized under the laws of England and Wales.

“UK Swingline Rate” means, for any day, such rate as the UK Tranche Swingline Lender shall determine adequately reflects the overnight cost of
funds to the UK Tranche Swingline Lender to make or maintain a UK Tranche Swingline Loan to the UK Borrowers on such day.
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“UK Tranche” means the UK Tranche Commitments, the UK Tranche Revolving Loans, the UK Tranche LC Exposure and the UK Tranche
Swingline Loans.

“UK Tranche Available Commitment” means, at any time, the aggregate UK Tranche Commitment then in effect minus the UK Tranche Exposure of
all the UK Tranche Lenders at such time.

“UK Tranche Commitment” means, with respect to each UK Tranche Lender, the commitment of such UK Tranche Lender to make UK Tranche
Revolving Loans and to acquire participations in Letters of Credit issued under the UK Tranche and UK Tranche Swingline Loans hereunder, expressed as an
amount representing the maximum aggregate amount of such UK Tranche Lender’s UK Tranche Exposure hereunder, as such commitment may be (a) reduced
from time to time pursuant to Sections 2.09, 2.12 and 2.19(f) and (b) reduced or increased from time to time pursuant to assignments by or to such Lender
pursuant to Section 11.04. The initial amount of each UK Tranche Lender’s UK Tranche Commitment is set forth on Schedule 2.01, or in the Assignment and
Assumption pursuant to which UK Tranche Lender shall have assumed its UK Tranche Commitment, as applicable. The aggregate amount of the UK Tranche
Commitments on the date hereof is $10,000,000.

“UK Tranche Exposure” means, with respect to any UK Tranche Lender at any time, the US Dollar Equivalent of the sum at such time, without
duplication, of (a) such Lender’s UK Tranche Percentage of the sum of the principal amounts of the outstanding UK Tranche Revolving Loans, plus (b) the
aggregate amount of such Lender’s UK Tranche LC Exposure and UK Tranche Swingline Exposure at such time.

“UK Tranche L.C Exposure” means, at any time, the sum of (a) the aggregate undrawn amount of all outstanding Letters of Credit issued under the
UK Tranche denominated in US Dollars at such time, (b) the US Dollar Equivalent of the aggregate undrawn amount of all outstanding Letters of Credit issued
under the UK Tranche denominated in an Alternative Currency at such time and (c) the aggregate amount of all LC Disbursements in respect of Letters of Credit
issued under the UK Tranche that have not yet been reimbursed by or on behalf of the applicable Borrower at such time. The UK Tranche LC Exposure of any
UK Tranche Lender at any time shall be its UK Tranche Percentage of the total UK Tranche LC Exposure at such time.

“UK Tranche L.ender” means a Lender with a UK Tranche Commitment.

“UK Tranche Percentage” means, with respect to any UK Tranche Lender, the percentage of the total UK Tranche Commitments represented by such
Lender’s UK Tranche Commitment. If the UK Tranche Commitments have terminated or expired, the UK Tranche Percentages shall be determined based upon
the UK Tranche Commitments most recently in effect, giving effect to any assignments.

“UK Tranche Revolving Borrowing” means a Borrowing comprised of UK Tranche Revolving Loans.

“UK Tranche Revolving I.oan” means a Loan made by a UK Tranche Lender pursuant to Section 2.01(c). Each UK Tranche Revolving Loan made
to the Company shall be denominated in US Dollars and shall be a Eurocurrency Loan, and each UK Tranche Revolving Loan made to a UK Borrower shall be
denominated in Pounds Sterling or Euro and shall be a Eurocurrency Loan.

“UK Tranche Swingline Exposure” means, at any time, the aggregate principal amount of all UK Tranche Swingline Loans outstanding at such time.
The UK Tranche Swingline Exposure of any UK Tranche Lender at any time shall be its UK Tranche Percentage of the total UK Tranche Swingline Exposure at
such time.
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“UK Tranche Swingline Lender” means JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association, London Branch, in its capacity as lender of UK Tranche
Swingline Loans hereunder.

“UK Tranche Swingline Loan” means a Loan made by the UK Tranche Swingline Lender to a UK Borrower pursuant to Section 2.05.

“Unrestricted Cash” means, as of any date of determination, any unrestricted Permitted Investments held by the Company and its Domestic
Subsidiaries (other than any Receivables Entity) as of such date (but not including any amounts pledged to third parties).

“US Dollar Equivalent” means, on any date of determination, (a) with respect to any amount in US Dollars, such amount, and (b) with respect to any
amount in a Designated Foreign Currency or an Alternative Currency, the equivalent in US Dollars of such amount, determined by the Administrative Agent
pursuant to Section 1.05 using the Exchange Rate with respect to such Designated Foreign Currency at the time in effect under the provisions of such Section.

“US Dollars” or “$” means the lawful money of the United States of America.

“US Swingline Rate” means (a) with respect to any US Tranche Swingline Loan that is repaid within one Business Day of the date such US Tranche
Swingline Loan was made, the Alternate Base Rate, and (b) with respect to all other US Tranche Swingline Loans, the Money Market Rate.

“US Tranche” means the US Tranche Commitments, the US Tranche Revolving Loans, the US Tranche Term Loans, the US Tranche LC Exposure
and the US Tranche Swingline Loans.

“US Tranche Available Revolving Commitment” means, at any time, the aggregate US Tranche Revolving Commitment then in effect minus the US
Tranche Revolving Exposure of all the US Tranche Lenders at such time.

“US Tranche Borrowing” means a US Tranche Revolving Borrowing or a US Tranche Term Loan Borrowing.

“US Tranche Commitment” means, with respect to each US Tranche Lender, the sum of such Lender’s US Tranche Revolving Commitment and US
Tranche Term Loan Commitment.

“US Tranche LC Exposure” means, at any time, the sum of (a) the aggregate undrawn amount of all outstanding Letters of Credit issued under the
US Tranche denominated in US Dollars at such time, (b) the US Dollar Equivalent of the aggregate undrawn amount of all outstanding Letters of Credit issued
under the US Tranche denominated in an Alternative Currency at such time and (c) the aggregate amount of all LC Disbursements in respect of Letters of Credit
issued under the US Tranche that have not yet been reimbursed by or on behalf of the applicable Borrower at such time. The US Tranche LC Exposure of any US
Tranche Lender at any time shall be its US Tranche Percentage of the total US Tranche LC Exposure at such time.

“US Tranche Lender” means a Lender with a US Tranche Commitment.

“US Tranche Percentage” means, with respect to any US Tranche Lender, (a) with respect to US Tranche Revolving Loans, US Tranche LC
Exposure or US Tranche Swingline Loans, the percentage of the total US Tranche Revolving Commitments represented by such Lender’s US Tranche Revolving
Commitment and (b) with respect to the US Tranche Term Loans, a percentage equal to a fraction the numerator of which is such US Tranche Lender’s
outstanding principal amount of the US
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Tranche Term Loans and the denominator of which is the aggregate outstanding amount of the US Tranche Term Loans of all US Tranche Lenders. If the US
Tranche Revolving Commitments have terminated or expired, the US Tranche Percentages shall be determined based upon the US Tranche Revolving
Commitments most recently in effect, giving effect to any assignments.

“US Tranche Revolving Borrowing” means a Borrowing comprised of US Tranche Revolving Loans.

“US Tranche Revolving Commitment” means, with respect to each US Tranche Lender, the commitment of such US Tranche Lender to make US
Tranche Revolving Loans and to acquire participations in Letters of Credit issued under the US Tranche and US Tranche Swingline Loans hereunder, expressed
as an amount representing the maximum aggregate amount of such US Tranche Lender’s US Tranche Revolving Exposure hereunder, as such commitment may
be (a) reduced from time to time pursuant to Sections 2.09, 2.12 and 2.19(f) and (b) reduced or increased from time to time pursuant to assignments by or to such
Lender pursuant to Section 11.04. The initial amount of each US Tranche Lender’s US Tranche Revolving Commitment is set forth on Schedule 2.01, or in the
Assignment and Assumption pursuant to which such US Tranche Lender shall have assumed its US Tranche Revolving Commitment. The aggregate amount of
the US Tranche Revolving Commitments on the date hereof is $915,000,000.

“US Tranche Revolving Exposure” means, with respect to any US Tranche Lender at any time, the sum at such time, without duplication, of (a) such
Lender’s US Tranche Percentage of the sum of the principal amounts of the outstanding US Tranche Revolving Loans, plus (b) the aggregate amount of such
Lender’s US Tranche LC Exposure and US Tranche Swingline Exposure at such time.

“US Tranche Revolving Loan” means a Loan made by a US Tranche Lender pursuant to Section 2.01(a). Each US Tranche Revolving Loan shall be
a Eurocurrency Loan or an ABR Loan.

“US Tranche Swingline Exposure” means, at any time, the aggregate principal amount of all US Tranche Swingline Loans outstanding at such time.
The US Tranche Swingline Exposure of any US Tranche Lender at any time shall be its US Tranche Percentage of the total US Tranche Swingline Exposure at
such time.

“US Tranche Swingline Lender” means JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association, in its capacity as lender of US Tranche Swingline Loans

hereunder.
“US Tranche Swingline Loan” means a Loan made by the US Tranche Swingline Lender to the Company pursuant to Section 2.05.
“US Tranche Term [.oan” means a Loan made by a US Tranche Lender pursuant to Section 2.01(d).
“US Tranche Term Loan Borrowing” means a Borrowing comprised of US Tranche Term Loans.

“US Tranche Term Loan Commitment” means (a) as to any US Tranche Lender, the aggregate commitment of such US Tranche Term Lender to
make US Tranche Term Loans as set forth on Schedule 2.01 or in the most recent Assignment and Assumption executed by such US Tranche Lender and (b) as to
all US Tranche Lenders, the aggregate commitment of all US Tranche Lenders to make US Tranche Term Loans, which aggregate commitment shall be
$150,000,000 on the Effective Date. After advancing the US Tranche Term Loan, each reference to a US Tranche Lender’s US Tranche Term Loan Commitment
shall refer to that US Tranche Lender’s US Tranche Percentage of the US Tranche Term Loans.
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“US Tranche Total Exposure” means, with respect to any US Tranche Lender at any time, the sum at such time, without duplication, of (a) (i) such
Lender’s US Tranche Percentage of the sum of the principal amounts of the outstanding US Tranche Revolving Loans, plus (ii) the aggregate amount of such
Lender’s US Tranche LC Exposure and US Tranche Swingline Exposure at such time and (b) an amount equal to the aggregate principal amount of such Lender’s
US Tranche Term Loans outstanding at such time.

“USFEF” means YRC Regional Transportation, Inc., a Delaware corporation.

“USF Bond Indenture” means the Indenture, dated as of May 5, 1999 among USF, the guarantors named therein, and The Bank of New York
(successor-in-interest to JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association, successor by merger to Bank One, NA, as successor-in-interest to NBD Bank), as trustee
thereunder, as the same may be amended, modified or supplemented from time to time in accordance with the terms thereof.

“USF Bonds” means USF’s 612% Guaranteed Notes due May 1, 2009 and 82% Guaranteed Notes due April 15, 2010 issued pursuant to the USF
Bond Indenture.

“Vehicle Title Custodian” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 11.03(b).

“Vehicle Title Custodian Agreement” means that certain Custodial Administration Agreement, dated as of January 15, 2009, by and among the
Company, the Subsidiary Guarantors, VINtek, Inc. and JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association, as the same may be amended, amended and restated,
restated, supplemented, replaced or otherwise modified from time to time.

“Volvo Lease” means that certain Master Lease Agreement, dated as of February 19, 2009, by and among VFS Leasing Co., any other lessors or
creditors thereunder from time to time party thereto and certain of the Loan Parties, including all exhibits, schedules, annexes and assignments in respect thereof,
as the same may be amended, amended and restated, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time.

“Weekly Operating EBITDA” means, as of any date of determination, the combined operating EBITDA for each of the National, Reddaway, New
Penn and Holland business divisions of the Company and each of their respective Subsidiaries calculated on a basis consistent in all respects with the calculation
of estimated operating EBITDA for each such business division pursuant to the financial summary delivered to the Administrative Agent on October 24, 2009, in
each case for the four calendar week period ended as of such date of determination.

“Weekly Operating EBITDA Report” has the meaning given to such term in Section 5.01A(a).

“Wholly-Owned Subsidiary” means, as to any Person, (a) any corporation 100% of whose Equity Interests (other than directors’ qualifying shares) is
owned by such Person and/or one or more Wholly-Owned Subsidiaries of such Person, (b) any partnership, association, joint venture or other entity in which such
Person and/or one or more Wholly-Owned Subsidiaries of such Person has a 100% Equity Interest (other than directors’ qualifying shares) and (c) any
corporation, partnership, association, business trust or limited liability entity (i) that is formed under the laws of a jurisdiction other than the United States of
America, any State thereof, or the District of Columbia and (ii) with respect to which
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such Person and/or one or more Wholly-Owned Subsidiaries of such Person owns all of the economic benefit of a 100% equity interest, whether through an agent
or otherwise; provided, that, if such Person is prohibited by law from owning 100% of such economic benefit, such Person owns all of such economic benefit that
it may lawfully own and in any event not less than 98% of the total economic benefit of ownership of such entity.

“Withdrawal Liability” means liability to a Multiemployer Plan as a result of a complete or partial withdrawal from such Multiemployer Plan, as
such terms are defined in Part I of Subtitle E of Title IV of ERISA.

“Working Capital” means, at any date, the excess of current assets of the Company and its Subsidiaries on such date over current liabilities of the
Company and its Subsidiaries on such date, all determined on a consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP.

“Yellow Receivables Facility” means that certain receivables facility and trust evidenced by the Third Amended and Restated Receivables Purchase
Agreement, dated as of April 18, 2008, among YRRFC, Falcon Asset Securitization Company LLC, Three Pillars Funding LLC, Amsterdam Funding
Corporation, the financial institutions party thereto as “Committed Purchasers”, Wachovia Bank, National Association, as letter of credit issuer and as co-agent,
SunTrust Robinson Humphrey, Inc., as co-agent, The Royal Bank of Scotland plc (as successor to ABN AMRO Bank, N.V.), as co-agent, and JPMorgan Chase
Bank, N.A. (successor by merger to Bank One, NA (Main Office Chicago)), as co-agent and as administrative agent, and the Amended and Restated Receivables
Sale Agreement dated as of May 24, 2005, among YRC Inc. (as successor to Yellow Transportation, Inc. and Roadway Express, Inc.), USF Reddaway Inc., USF
Holland Inc. and YRREFC, in each case, as amended, restated, amended and restated, supplemented, modified, extended, refinanced, renewed or replaced.

“YRCMI” means YRC Mortgages, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company.

“YRCMI Credit Agreement” means that certain Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of September 10, 2004, among the Company,
YRCMYI, as lender, and Yellow Transportation, Inc., as the same may be amended, modified or supplemented from time to time in accordance with the terms
hereof and thereof.

“YRRFC” means Yellow Roadway Receivables Funding Corporation, a Delaware corporation.

SECTION 1.02. Classification of L.oans and Borrowings. For purposes of this Agreement, Loans may be classified and referred to by Class (e.g., a
“US Tranche Revolving Loan”) or by Type (e.g., a “Eurocurrency Loan”) or by Class and Type (e.g., a “Eurocurrency US Tranche Revolving Loan”). Borrowings
also may be classified and referred to by Class (e.g., a “US Tranche Revolving Borrowing”) or by Type (e.g., a “Eurocurrency Borrowing”) or by Class and Type
(e.g., a “Eurocurrency US Tranche Revolving Borrowing”).

SECTION 1.03. Terms Generally. The definitions of terms herein shall apply equally to the singular and plural forms of the terms defined.
Whenever the context may require, any pronoun shall include the corresponding masculine, feminine and neuter forms. The words “include”, “includes” and
“including” shall be deemed to be followed by the phrase “without limitation”. The word “will” shall be construed to have the same meaning and effect as the
word “shall”. Unless the context requires otherwise (a) any definition of or reference to any agreement, instrument or other document herein shall be construed as
referring to such agreement, instrument or other document as from time to time amended, amended and restated, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified

(subject to any restrictions on such
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amendments, restatements, supplements or modifications set forth herein), (b) any reference herein to any Person shall be construed to include such Person’s
successors and assigns, (c) the words “herein”, “hereof” and “hereunder”, and words of similar import, shall be construed to refer to this Agreement in its entirety
and not to any particular provision hereof, (d) all references herein to Articles, Sections, Exhibits and Schedules shall be construed to refer to Articles and
Sections of, and Exhibits and Schedules to, this Agreement and (e) the words “asset” and “property” shall be construed to have the same meaning and effect and
to refer to any and all tangible and intangible assets and properties, including cash, securities, accounts and contract rights.

SECTION 1.04. Accounting Terms; GAAP. Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, all terms of an accounting or financial nature shall be
construed in accordance with GAAP, as in effect from time to time; provided that, if the Company notifies the Administrative Agent that the Company requests an
amendment to any provision hereof to eliminate the effect of any change occurring after the date hereof in GAAP or in the application thereof on the operation of
such provision (or if the Administrative Agent notifies the Company that the Required Lenders request an amendment to any provision hereof for such purpose),
regardless of whether any such notice is given before or after such change in GAAP or in the application thereof, then such provision shall be interpreted on the
basis of GAAP as in effect and applied immediately before such change shall have become effective until such notice shall have been withdrawn or such
provision amended in accordance herewith.

SECTION 1.05. Foreign Currency Calculations. (a) For purposes of determining the Canadian Tranche Exposure, the UK Tranche Exposure or any
related amount, the Administrative Agent shall determine the Exchange Rate as of the applicable Exchange Rate Date with respect to Canadian Dollars, Euro,
Pounds Sterling and each Alternative Currency in which any requested or outstanding Letter of Credit is denominated and shall apply such Exchange Rates to
determine such amount (in each case after giving effect to any Borrowings to be made or repaid and any Letters of Credit to be issued, amended, renewed,
extended or terminated, to the extent practicable on or prior to the applicable date for such calculation). The amount of any LC Disbursement made by an Issuing
Bank in an Alternative Currency and not reimbursed by the Company shall be determined as set forth in paragraph (e) or (m) of Section 2.06, as applicable.

(b) For purposes of any determination under Section 6.01 or 6.02 or under paragraph (f), (g) or (k) of Article VII, all amounts incurred, outstanding
or proposed to be incurred or outstanding in currencies other than US Dollars shall be translated into US Dollars at the currency exchange rates in effect on the
date of such determination; provided that no Default or Event of Default shall arise as a result of any limitation set forth in US Dollars in Section 6.01 or 6.02
being exceeded solely as a result of changes in currency exchange rates from those rates applicable at the time or times Indebtedness or Liens were initially
consummated in reliance on the exceptions under such Sections.

ARTICLE II
The Credits

SECTION 2.01. Commitments. (a) Subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein, each US Tranche Lender agrees to make US Tranche
Revolving Loans to the Company from time to time during the Availability Period in US Dollars in an aggregate principal amount at any time outstanding that
will not result in (i) such Lender’s US Tranche Revolving Exposure exceeding its US Tranche Revolving Commitment or (ii) the aggregate amount of the
Lenders’ US Tranche Revolving Exposures exceeding the aggregate amount of the US Tranche Revolving Commitments.
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(b) Subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein, each Canadian Tranche Lender agrees to make Canadian Tranche Revolving Loans to the
Canadian Borrowers in Canadian Dollars and/or to the Company in US Dollars and to accept Drafts issued by the Canadian Borrowers in Canadian Dollars from
time to time during the Availability Period in an aggregate principal amount of Loans and face amount of Acceptances at any time outstanding that will not result
in (i) such Lender’s Canadian Tranche Exposure exceeding its Canadian Tranche Commitment or (ii) the aggregate amount of the Lenders’ Canadian Tranche
Exposures exceeding the aggregate amount of the Canadian Tranche Commitments.

(c) Subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein, each UK Tranche Lender agrees to make UK Tranche Revolving Loans to the UK Borrowers
in Pounds Sterling or Euro and/or to the Company in US Dollars from time to time during the Availability Period in an aggregate principal amount of Loans at
any time outstanding that will not result in (i) such Lender’s UK Tranche Exposure exceeding its UK Tranche Commitment or (ii) the aggregate amount of the
Lenders’ UK Tranche Exposures exceeding the aggregate amount of the UK Tranche Commitments.

(d) Subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein, each US Tranche Lender agrees to make a US Tranche Term Loan in US Dollars to the
Company on the Effective Date, in an amount equal to such US Tranche Lender’s US Tranche Term Loan Commitment and by making immediately available
funds available to the Administrative Agent’s designated account, not later than the time specified by the Administrative Agent.

(e) Within the foregoing limits and subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein, the Borrowers may borrow, prepay and reborrow Revolving
Loans. Amounts prepaid or repaid in respect of Term Loans may not be reborrowed.

(f) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in this Section 2.01, there shall be no obligation of any Lender to make any Existing Block
Loans or issue any Letters of Credit in respect of the Existing Revolver Reserve Amount unless the conditions specified in Section 4.02(d) (or, solely in the case
of Permitted Interim Loans, the conditions specified in Section 4.02(h)) shall have been satisfied or waived as of the date of the making of such Loans, and there
shall be no obligation of any Lender to make any New Block Loans or issue any Letters of Credit in respect of New Revolver Reserve Amount unless the
conditions specified in Section 4.02(e) shall have been satisfied or waived as of the date of the making of such Loans. Further, (i) no Existing Block Loan shall be
advanced or Letters of Credit in respect of the New Revolver Reserve Amount issued by the Lenders if the aggregate principal amount of Existing Block Loans
plus Letters of Credit in respect of Existing Revolver Reserve Amount at any time outstanding would exceed the Existing Revolver Reserve Amount at such time
and (ii) no New Block Loan shall be advanced or Letters of Credit in respect of New Revolver Reserve Amount shall be issued by the Lenders if the aggregate
principal amount of New Block Loans and Letters of Credit in respect of the New Revolver Reserve Amount at any time outstanding would exceed the New
Revolver Reserve Amount at such time.

(g) Permitted Interim Loans may only be requested by the Company during the period commencing on the Amendment No. 11 Effective Date to and
including December 15, 2009 (or such later date as the Supermajority Lenders shall agree), and no such Permitted Interim Loans shall be made by the Lenders
(regardless of whether the conditions specified in Section 4.02(h) are or are not satisfied) following such date. Further, no Permitted Interim Loans may be
advanced by the Lenders unless (i) there is no unused availability under the Revolving Commitments other than amounts comprising the Existing Revolver
Reserve Amount and (ii) there are no amounts available for drawing under the Yellow Receivables Facility as of such date. In no event shall more than an
aggregate amount of $50,000,000 of Permitted Interim Loans be outstanding at any time.
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SECTION 2.02. Loans and Borrowings. (a) Each US Tranche Revolving Loan shall be made as part of a Borrowing consisting of US Tranche
Revolving Loans made by the US Tranche Lenders ratably in accordance with their respective US Tranche Revolving Commitments. Each Canadian Tranche
Revolving Loan shall be made as part of a Borrowing consisting of Canadian Tranche Revolving Loans made by the Canadian Tranche Lenders ratably in
accordance with their respective Canadian Tranche Commitments. Each Acceptance shall be issued in accordance with Section 2.04. Each UK Tranche Revolving
Loan shall be made as part of a Borrowing consisting of UK Tranche Revolving Loans made by the UK Tranche Lenders ratably in accordance with their
respective UK Tranche Commitments. Each US Tranche Term Loan shall be made as part of a Borrowing consisting of US Tranche Term Loans made by the US
Tranche Lenders ratably in accordance with their respective US Tranche Term Loan Commitments. The failure of any Lender to make any Loan required to be
made by it or to accept any Acceptance required to be accepted by it shall not relieve any other Lender of its obligations hereunder; provided that the
Commitments of the Lenders are several, and no Lender shall be responsible for any other Lender’s failure to make Loans as required hereunder.

(b) Subject to Section 2.15,

(i) each US Tranche Revolving Borrowing shall be comprised entirely of Eurocurrency Loans or ABR Loans, in each case as the Company may
request in accordance herewith;

(ii) each Canadian Tranche Revolving Borrowing shall be comprised entirely of Acceptances or Canadian Base Rate Loans, in each case as a
Canadian Borrower may request in accordance herewith, or entirely of Eurocurrency Loans or ABR Loans, in each case as the Company may request in
accordance herewith;

(iii) each UK Tranche Revolving Borrowing shall be comprised entirely of Eurocurrency Loans, in each case as the Company or a UK Borrower may
request in accordance herewith;

(iv) each US Tranche Term Loan Borrowing shall be comprised entirely of Eurocurrency Loans or ABR Loans, in each case as the Company may
request in accordance herewith;

(v) each US Tranche Swingline Loan shall bear interest by reference to the US Swingline Rate;
(vi) each Canadian Tranche Swingline Loan shall be a Canadian Base Rate Loan; and
(vii) each UK Tranche Swingline Loan shall bear interest by reference to the UK Swingline Rate.
Each Lender at its option may make any Loan by causing any domestic or foreign branch or Affiliate of such Lender to make such Loan (and in the case of an

Affiliate, the provisions of Sections 2.15, 2.16, 2.17 and 2.18 shall apply to such Affiliate to the same extent as to such Lender); provided that any exercise of
such option shall not affect the obligation of the applicable Borrower to repay such Loan in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.

(c) Each Borrowing (other than Acceptances and Borrowings in respect of the Existing Revolver Reserve Amount and in respect of the New
Revolver Reserve Amount) shall be in an aggregate amount that is at least equal to the Borrowing Minimum and an integral multiple of the Borrowing Multiple;
provided that an ABR Revolving Borrowing may be made in an aggregate amount that is equal to the aggregate available US Tranche Revolving Commitments,
Canadian Tranche Commitments or UK Tranche Commitments, as applicable, or that is required to finance the reimbursement of an LC
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Disbursement as contemplated by Section 2.06(e) and a Canadian Base Rate Revolving Borrowing may be made in an aggregate amount that is equal to the
aggregate available Canadian Tranche Commitments. Borrowings of more than one Type and Class may be outstanding at the same time; provided that there shall
not at any time be more than a total of ten US Tranche Eurocurrency Borrowings outstanding, a total of five Canadian Tranche Eurocurrency Revolving
Borrowings outstanding or a total of five UK Tranche Eurocurrency Revolving Borrowings outstanding.

(d) Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, no Borrower shall be entitled to request, or to elect to convert or continue, any
Borrowing if the Interest Period requested with respect thereto would end after the Maturity Date or, in the case of an Acceptance, if the maturity date thereof
would occur after the Maturity Date.

(e) Borrowings in respect of the Existing Revolver Reserve Amount and in respect of the New Revolver Reserve Amount, as applicable, shall be in
an aggregate amount that is at least equal to the lesser of (i) $10,000,000 and (ii) the positive difference of (x) the Existing Revolver Reserve Amount or the New
Revolver Reserve Amount, as applicable, minus (y) Existing Block Loans or the New Block Loans outstanding, as applicable.

SECTION 2.03. Requests for Borrowings. To request a Borrowing, the applicable Borrower, or the Company on behalf of the applicable Borrower,
shall notify the Applicable Agent (and the Administrative Agent, if the Applicable Agent is not the Administrative Agent) of such request by telephone:

(a) in the case of a Eurocurrency Borrowing, not later than 1:00 p.m., Local Time, three Business Days before the date of the proposed Borrowing,
(b) in the case of an ABR Borrowing, not later than 1:00 p.m., New York City time, one Business Day before the date of the proposed Borrowing,

(c) in the case of a Canadian Base Rate Revolving Borrowing, not later than 1:00 p.m., Local Time, one Business Day before the date of the
proposed Borrowing, and

(d) in the case of a Borrowing of Acceptances, not later than 1:00 p.m., Toronto time, two Business Days before the date of the proposed Borrowing.

Each such telephonic Borrowing Request shall be irrevocable and shall be confirmed by 2:00 p.m. (Local Time) on the same Business Day by hand delivery or
telecopy to the Applicable Agent of a written Borrowing Request in a form approved by the Applicable Agent and signed by the applicable Borrower, or by the
Company on behalf of the applicable Borrower. Each such telephonic and written Borrowing Request shall specify the following information in compliance with
Section 2.02:

(i) the Borrower requesting such Borrowing (or on whose behalf the Company is requesting such Borrowing);

(ii) whether the requested Borrowing is to be a US Tranche Borrowing, a UK Tranche Revolving Borrowing or a Canadian Tranche Revolving
Borrowing;

(iii) the currency (in the case of a Borrowing other than a US Tranche Term Loan Borrowing which is only available in US Dollars) and aggregate
principal amount (in the case of Loans) or face amount (in the case of Acceptances) of the requested Borrowing;
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(iv) the date of the requested Borrowing, which shall be a Business Day;
(v) the Type of the requested Borrowing;

(vi) in the case of a Eurocurrency Borrowing, the initial Interest Period to be applicable thereto, which shall be a period contemplated by the
definition of the term “Interest Period”;

(vii) in the case of a Borrowing of Acceptances, the term applicable thereto, which shall be a period contemplated by Section 2.04(a); and

(viii) the location and number of the relevant Borrower’s account to which funds are to be disbursed, which shall comply with the requirements of
Section 2.07.

If no election as to the Type of Borrowing is specified, then the requested Borrowing shall be (i) in the case of a Borrowing under the US Tranche, an ABR
Borrowing, (ii) in the case of a Borrowing under the UK Tranche, a Eurocurrency Borrowing, and (iii) in the case of a Borrowing under the Canadian Tranche
denominated in (x) Canadian Dollars, a Canadian Base Rate Borrowing, and (y) US Dollars, an ABR Borrowing. If no Interest Period is specified with respect to
any requested Eurocurrency Borrowing, then the relevant Borrower shall be deemed to have selected an Interest Period of one month’s duration. If no term is
specified with respect to any requested Borrowing of Acceptances, then the relevant Borrower shall be deemed to have selected a term of one month’s duration.
Promptly following receipt of a Borrowing Request in accordance with this Section, the Applicable Agent shall advise each Lender that will make a Loan or
accept a Draft as part of the requested Borrowing of the details thereof and of the amount of the Loan to be made or the face amount of the Draft to be accepted
by such Lender as part of the requested Borrowing. For the avoidance of doubt, the Company may only make two (2) requests for an Existing Block Loan and/or
a New Block Loan in any calendar week.

SECTION 2.04. Canadian Bankers’ Acceptances.

(a) Notice and Term. Any Canadian Borrower may give the Canadian Agent instructions (which must be received by the Canadian Agent before
12:00 noon (Toronto time) on the second Business Day before the proposed date of a requested Borrowing to be effective) that it wishes to have Drafts accepted
under this Agreement on any proposed Business Day and stating the aggregate face amount and the term applicable to such Drafts. The term of such Drafts must
be a period of one, two, three or six months (the “Contract Period”), and be subject to marketability, maturing on or before the end of the Availability Period.

(b) Face Amount of Drafts. The aggregate face amount of an issue of Drafts to be accepted on any particular date of a requested Borrowing must be
C$5,000,000 or a whole number multiple of C$1,000,000 in excess thereof. The face amount of each Acceptance shall be a whole number multiple of C$100,000.
The Canadian Agent will round allocations among the Canadian Tranche Lenders to ensure that each Acceptance issued has a face amount which is a whole
number multiple of C$100,000, and such rounded allocation shall constitute the Canadian Tranche Lenders’ respective Canadian Tranche Percentages of an issue
of Acceptances for the purposes of this Agreement.

(c) Power of Attorney. In order to facilitate issues of Acceptances pursuant to this Agreement, each Canadian Borrower authorizes each Canadian
Tranche Lender, and for this purpose appoints each Canadian Tranche Lender its lawful attorney, to complete, sign and endorse Drafts issued in accordance with
Sections 2.04(a) and (b) on its behalf in handwritten or by facsimile or mechanical signature or otherwise and, once so completed, signed and endorsed, and
following acceptance of them as an Acceptance under this Agreement, then purchase, discount or negotiate such Acceptances in
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accordance with the provisions of this Section 2.04. Drafts so completed, signed, endorsed and negotiated on behalf of any Canadian Borrower by any Canadian
Tranche Lender shall bind such Canadian Borrower as fully and effectively as if so performed by an authorized officer of such Canadian Borrower. No Canadian
Tranche Lender shall be liable for any damage, loss or other claim arising by reason of any loss or improper use of any such instrument except the gross
negligence or willful misconduct of such Canadian Tranche Lender or its officers, employees, agents or representatives. Alternatively, each Canadian Borrower
agrees that, at the request of the Canadian Agent, each Canadian Borrower shall deliver to the Canadian Agent a “depository note” which complies with the
requirements of the Depository Bills and Notes Act (Canada), and consents to the deposit of any such depository note in the book-based debt clearance system
maintained by the Canadian Depository for Securities.

(d) Restrictions. The Canadian Agent shall have the discretion to restrict the term and maturity date of an issue of Acceptances and the number of
issues of Acceptances outstanding at any one time. Unless the Canadian Agent notifies each Canadian Borrower to the contrary, the maximum number of
issuances of Acceptances outstanding at any time is limited to five in total for all Canadian Borrowers.

(e) Discount and Sale of Acceptances.

(i) Except as otherwise provided in Section 2.04(j), each Canadian Tranche Lender shall purchase for its own account Acceptances accepted by such
Canadian Tranche Lender on the date of such Borrowing at the purchase price equal to the face amount of such Acceptances less an amount equal to the
amount (the “Discount”) that yields to such Canadian Tranche Lender (excluding the Stamping Fee) an interest rate per annum equal to the CDOR BA Rate
applicable to such Acceptance for the applicable term of such Acceptances.

(ii) Except as otherwise provided in Sections 2.04(l) and (m), each Canadian Tranche Lender shall pay the Net Acceptance Proceeds of its Canadian
Tranche Percentage of each issue of Acceptances to the Canadian Agent on the date of such Borrowing in exchange for delivery of such Acceptances. Such
Net Acceptance Proceeds, when received by the Canadian Agent, will be advanced by bank transfer to the credit of the applicable Canadian Borrower’s
account.

(iii) Each Canadian Tranche Lender may at any time and from time to time purchase, hold, sell, rediscount or otherwise dispose of any Acceptance,
and no such dealing shall prejudice or impair any Canadian Borrower’s obligations under Section 2.04(g).

(f) Stamping Fee. A stamping fee is payable by the applicable Canadian Borrower to each accepting Canadian Tranche Lender on the issuance of
each Acceptance and shall be calculated upon the face amount of each such Acceptance for the duration of its term on the basis of the actual number of days to
elapse from the date of its acceptance up to the maturity date of the Acceptance, calculated at the Applicable Rate. Each accepting Canadian Tranche Lender shall
be entitled to deduct from the Acceptance Proceeds to be remitted to the Canadian Agent pursuant to Subsection 2.04(e)(ii) the stamping fee payable to it as
determined in accordance with this Section 2.04(f).

(g) Payment of Acceptances. Subject to Section 2.04 (1) and (m), each Canadian Borrower shall pay to each Canadian Tranche Lender the full face
amount of each Acceptance accepted by such Canadian Tranche Lender for its account on the maturity date of such Acceptance. If an Acceptance matures and
such Canadian Borrower has not made such payment, nor effected a Conversion or Rollover pursuant to Section 2.04(1) or (m), respectively, such Canadian
Borrower shall be deemed to have provided for payment of the full face amount of the Acceptance by Conversion of such Acceptance into a Canadian Base Rate
Loan in a principal amount equal to the full face amount of the Acceptance on its maturity date.
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(h) Waivers. No Canadian Borrower shall claim from any Canadian Tranche Lender any days of grace for the payment at maturity of any Drafts
presented and accepted by such Canadian Tranche Lender pursuant to this Agreement. In addition, each Canadian Borrower waives demand, presentment for
payment, protest, notice of protest, dishonor, notice of dishonor and any other notice or defense to payment (including the doctrine of merger) which might
otherwise exist if for any reason an Acceptance is held by any Canadian Tranche Lender in its own right at the maturity thereof.

(i) Notice of Maturing Acceptances. The applicable Canadian Borrower shall give the Canadian Agent, before 12:00 noon (Toronto time) on the
second Business Day before the maturity of any Acceptances, a notice of repayment or Borrowing Request requesting a Conversion or Rollover in respect of such
Acceptances in order to permit each Canadian Tranche Lender to organize its internal funding requirements to fund the payment of the face amount of such
Acceptances to the respective holders thereof upon or following maturity.

(j) B/A Equivalent Advances. If a Canadian Tranche Lender is not a Canadian chartered bank or is not permitted by applicable law to, or does not by
virtue of policy or customary practice, accept Drafts for the purpose of subsequent sale as a bankers’ acceptance (a “Non-Acceptance Lender”), each time a
Canadian Borrower gives a Borrowing Request for an issue of Acceptances, such Non-Acceptance Lender shall, in lieu of accepting and purchasing Acceptances
pursuant to Section 2.04(e), make an advance in Canadian Dollars to such Canadian Borrower (a “B/A Equivalent Advance”) in the amount equal to the
Acceptance Proceeds which would be derived from a hypothetical sale of Drafts accepted by it (“Notional Acceptances™) in the aggregate face amount of its
Canadian Tranche Percentage of such requested issue of Acceptances at a discount rate that yields to such Non-Acceptance Lender (excluding the Stamping Fee)
an interest rate per annum equal to the CDOR BA Rate for Acceptances accepted by a Canadian Tranche Lender that is not a Schedule I Bank. Any B/A
Equivalent Advance shall be repayable on the maturity of such issue of Acceptances. A Non-Acceptance Lender shall be entitled to deduct from the amount of its
B/A Equivalent Advance to be paid to the Canadian Agent pursuant to Subsection 2.04(e)(ii) an amount equal to the Stamping Fee determined in accordance with
Section 2.04(f) that would have been payable to it with respect to the Notional Acceptances corresponding to the B/A Equivalent Advance. For the purposes of
this Agreement each reference to an issue of Acceptances or Acceptances issued by a Non-Acceptance Lender shall be deemed to include, where relevant, B/A
Equivalent Advances, with the necessary changes being made to fit the context.

(k) Calculation of Net Acceptance Proceeds. The Net Acceptance Proceeds for any Acceptances purchased by a Canadian Tranche Lender may be
determined in accordance with the following formula:

where n is the number of days to elapse in the term of the Acceptances, CDOR BA Rate is the applicable rate for such Acceptance and is expressed as a decimal
and AR is the Applicable Rate with respect to the Stamping Fee.
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(1) Conversions. Any Canadian Borrower may request the Canadian Tranche Lenders to convert (a) at any time, a Canadian Base Rate Borrowing or
a portion thereof into an issue of Acceptances or (b) on its maturity date, an issue of Acceptances or a portion thereof into a Canadian Base Rate Borrowing, upon
delivering a Borrowing Request to the Canadian Agent requesting a Conversion specifying both the amount of the Borrowing to be converted and the amount and
Type of the requested resulting Borrowing. The relevant provisions of this Agreement applicable to a borrowing and availability of the Type of Borrowing which
will result from the Conversion (as well as any portion of the Borrowing which is not being converted) must be satisfied to effect any such requested Borrowing
(including the applicable notice provisions contained in Section 2.03). Subject to the foregoing provisions of this Section 2.04(l), the Borrowing (or portion
thereof) requested to be converted shall be converted in accordance with the Borrowing Request and any Net Acceptance Proceeds derived from the Conversion
shall be retained by each Canadian Tranche Lender for its own account.

(m) Rollovers. At or before 12:00 noon (Toronto time) two Business Days prior to the maturity of an issue of Acceptances, unless the applicable
Canadian Borrower has delivered to the Canadian Agent a Borrowing Request requesting a Conversion in accordance with Section 2.04(l) or a notice of
repayment, such Canadian Borrower shall deliver a Borrowing Request to the Canadian Agent requesting a Rollover and selecting the term applicable to the
resulting issue of Acceptances. The relevant provisions of this Agreement applicable to a Borrowing of Acceptances must be satisfied to effect any such Rollover.
Subject to the foregoing provisions of this Section 2.04(m), the Borrowing (or portion thereof) requested to be rolled over shall be rolled over in accordance with
the Borrowing Request and the Net Acceptance Proceeds derived from the Rollover shall be retained by each Canadian Tranche Lender for its own account. The
provisions of Section 2.04(g) shall apply if any Canadian Borrower fails to deliver any such requests or notice.

(n) Payments on a Conversion or Rollover. If any Canadian Borrower requests the Canadian Tranche Lenders to convert a Canadian Base Rate Loan
or a portion thereof to an issue of Acceptances pursuant to Section 2.04(l), or to Rollover an issue of Acceptances or a portion thereof pursuant to
Section 2.04(m), then such Canadian Borrower shall pay to the Canadian Tranche Lenders the difference between (a) the face amount of the resulting
Acceptances minus (b) the Net Acceptance Proceeds of the resulting Acceptances determined in accordance with Section 2.04(k) upon the acceptance and
purchase of the resulting Acceptances in accordance with this Section 2.04.

SECTION 2.05. Swingline Loans. (a) Subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein, the US Tranche Swingline Lender agrees to make US
Tranche Swingline Loans in US Dollars to the Company from time to time during the Availability Period, in an aggregate principal amount at any time
outstanding that will not result in (i) the aggregate principal amount of outstanding US Tranche Swingline Loans exceeding $0 or (ii) the total US Tranche
Revolving Exposures exceeding the total US Tranche Revolving Commitments; provided that the Swingline Lender shall not be required to make a Swingline
Loan to refinance an outstanding Swingline Loan. Subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein, the Canadian Tranche Swingline Lender agrees to make
Canadian Tranche Swingline Loans in Canadian Dollars to the Canadian Borrowers from time to time during the Availability Period, in an aggregate principal
amount at any time outstanding that will not result in (i) the US Dollar Equivalent of the aggregate principal amount of outstanding Canadian Tranche Swingline
Loans exceeding $0 or (ii) the total Canadian Tranche Exposures exceeding the total Canadian Tranche Commitments; provided that the Canadian Tranche
Swingline Lender shall not be required to make a Canadian Tranche Swingline Loan to refinance an outstanding Canadian Tranche Swingline Loan. Subject to
the terms and conditions set forth herein, the UK Tranche Swingline Lender agrees to make UK Tranche Swingline Loans in Pounds Sterling or Euro to the UK
Borrowers from time to time during the Availability Period, in an aggregate principal amount at any time outstanding that will not result in (i) the US Dollar
Equivalent of the aggregate principal amount of outstanding UK Tranche Swingline Loans exceeding $0 or (ii) the total UK
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Tranche Exposures exceeding the total UK Tranche Commitments; provided that the UK Tranche Swingline Lender shall not be required to make a UK Tranche
Swingline Loan to refinance an outstanding UK Tranche Swingline Loan. For the avoidance of doubt, from and after the Amendment No. 2 Effective Date, no
Swingline Loans shall be made under this Agreement.

(b) To request a Swingline Loan, the applicable Borrower shall notify the Applicable Agent of such request by telephone (confirmed by telecopy),
not later than 1:00 p.m., Local Time (except, in the case of a Canadian Tranche Swingline Loan, not later than 12:00 noon, Toronto time) on the day of a proposed
Swingline Loan. Each such notice shall be irrevocable and shall specify the requested date (which shall be a Business Day) and amount of the requested
Swingline Loan and the Tranche under which the requested Swingline Loan will be borrowed. The Applicable Agent will promptly advise the applicable
Swingline Lender of any such notice received from a Borrower. The applicable Swingline Lender shall make each Swingline Loan available to the applicable
Borrower by means of a credit to the general deposit account of such Borrower with such Swingline Lender or by wire transfer to an account specified by such
Borrower in the applicable borrowing request (or, in the case of a US Tranche Swingline Loan made to finance the reimbursement of an LC Disbursement as
provided in Section 2.06(e), by remittance to the applicable Issuing Bank) by 3:00 p.m., Local Time, on the requested date of such Swingline Loan.

(c) A Swingline Lender may by written notice given to the Applicable Agent not later than 1:00 p.m., Local Time, on any Business Day require the
applicable Lenders under a Tranche to acquire participations on such Business Day in all or a portion of the Swingline Loans outstanding under such Tranche.
Such notice shall specify the aggregate amount of Swingline Loans in which such Lenders will participate. Promptly upon receipt of such notice, the Applicable
Agent will give notice thereof to each applicable Lender, specifying in such notice such Lender’s Tranche Percentage of such Swingline Loan or Loans. Each
Lender hereby absolutely and unconditionally agrees, upon receipt of notice as provided above, to pay to the Applicable Agent, for the account of the applicable
Swingline Lender, such Lender’s Tranche Percentage of such Swingline Loan or Loans. Each Lender acknowledges and agrees that its obligation to acquire
participations in Swingline Loans pursuant to this paragraph is absolute and unconditional and shall not be affected by any circumstance whatsoever, including
the occurrence and continuance of a Default or reduction or termination of the Revolving Commitments, and that each such payment shall be made without any
offset, abatement, withholding or reduction whatsoever. Each Lender shall comply with its obligation under this paragraph by wire transfer of immediately
available funds, in the same manner as provided in Section 2.07 with respect to Loans made by such Lender (and Section 2.07 shall apply, mutatis mutandis, to
the payment obligations of the Lenders), and the Applicable Agent shall promptly pay to the applicable Swingline Lender the amounts so received by it from the
Lenders. The Applicable Agent shall notify the applicable Borrower of any participations in any Swingline Loan acquired pursuant to this paragraph, and
thereafter payments in respect of such Swingline Loan shall be made to the Applicable Agent and not to such Swingline Lender. Any amounts received by a
Swingline Lender from the applicable Borrower (or other party on behalf of the applicable Borrower) in respect of a Swingline Loan after receipt by such
Swingline Lender of the proceeds of a sale of participations therein shall be promptly remitted to the Applicable Agent; any such amounts received by such Agent
shall be promptly remitted by such Agent to the Lenders that shall have made their payments pursuant to this paragraph and to such Swingline Lender, as their
interests may appear; provided that any such payment so remitted shall be repaid to such Swingline Lender or to such Applicable Agent, as applicable, if and to
the extent such payment is required to be refunded to the applicable Borrower for any reason. The purchase of participations in a Swingline Loan pursuant to this
paragraph shall not relieve the applicable Borrower of any default in the payment thereof.
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SECTION 2.06. Letters of Credit. (a) General. Subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein, the Company may request the issuance, for its
own account and for the benefit of the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company, of Letters of Credit denominated in US Dollars or in any Alternative
Currency, in a form reasonably acceptable to the Administrative Agent and the Issuing Bank, at any time and from time to time during the Availability Period. In
the event of any inconsistency between the terms and conditions of this Agreement and the terms and conditions of any form of letter of credit application or
other agreement submitted by the Company to, or entered into by the Company with, the Issuing Bank relating to any Letter of Credit, the terms and conditions of
this Agreement shall control. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in this Section 2.06, there shall be no obligation of any Issuing Bank to issue any
Letter of Credit in respect of the Existing Revolver Reserve Amount unless the conditions specified in Section 4.02(d) shall have been satisfied or waived as of
the date of the issuing of such Letter of Credit, and there shall be no obligation of any Issuing Bank to issue any Letter of Credit in respect of the New Revolver
Reserve Amount unless the conditions specified in Section 4.02(e) shall have been satisfied or waived as of the date of the issuing of such Letter of Credit.

(b) Notice of Issuance, Amendment, Renewal, Extension; Certain Conditions. To request the issuance of a Letter of Credit (or the amendment,
renewal or extension of an outstanding Letter of Credit), the Company shall hand deliver or telecopy (or transmit by electronic communication, if arrangements
for doing so have been approved by the Issuing Bank) to the Issuing Bank and the Administrative Agent (reasonably in advance of the requested date of issuance,
amendment, renewal or extension) a notice requesting the issuance of a Letter of Credit, or identifying the Letter of Credit to be amended, renewed or extended,
and specifying the Tranche under which such Letter of Credit is to be issued or maintained, the date of issuance, amendment, renewal or extension (which shall be
a Business Day), the date on which such Letter of Credit is to expire (which shall comply with paragraph (c) of this Section), the amount of such Letter of Credit,
the currency in which such Letter of Credit is to be denominated (which shall be US Dollars or an Alternative Currency), the name and address of the beneficiary
thereof and such other information as shall be necessary to prepare, amend, renew or extend such Letter of Credit. If requested by the Issuing Bank, the Company
also shall submit a letter of credit application on the Issuing Bank’s standard form in connection with any request for a Letter of Credit. A Letter of Credit shall be
issued, amended, renewed or extended only if (and upon issuance, amendment, renewal or extension of each Letter of Credit the Company shall be deemed to
represent and warrant that), after giving effect to such issuance, amendment, renewal or extension (i) the US Dollar Equivalent of the LC Exposure shall not
exceed $700,000,000 (ii) the US Tranche Revolving Exposure shall not exceed the total US Tranche Revolving Commitments, (iii) the Canadian Tranche
Exposure shall not exceed the total Canadian Tranche Commitments, and (iv) the UK Tranche Exposure shall not exceed the total UK Tranche Commitments.

(c) Expiration Date. Each Letter of Credit shall expire at or prior to the close of business on the earlier of (i) the date one year after the date of the
issuance of such Letter of Credit (or, in the case of any renewal or extension thereof, one year after such renewal or extension) and (ii) the date that is five
Business Days prior to the Maturity Date.

(d) Participations. By the issuance of a Letter of Credit (or an amendment to a Letter of Credit increasing the amount thereof) and without any
further action on the part of the Issuing Bank or the Lenders under the applicable Tranche, the Issuing Bank hereby grants to each such Lender, and each such
Lender hereby acquires from the Issuing Bank, a participation in such Letter of Credit equal to such Lender’s Tranche Percentage of the aggregate amount
available to be drawn under such Letter of Credit. In consideration and in furtherance of the foregoing, each Lender hereby absolutely and unconditionally agrees
to pay to the Administrative Agent, for the account of the applicable Issuing Bank, such Lender’s Tranche Percentage of (i) each LC Disbursement made by the
Issuing Bank in US Dollars and (ii) the US Dollar Equivalent, using the Exchange Rates in effect on the date such payment is required, of each LC Disbursement
made by such Issuing Bank in an Alternative Currency, and in each case, not reimbursed by the Company on the date due as provided in paragraph (e) of this
Section, or of any reimbursement
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payment required to be refunded to the Company for any reason (or, if such reimbursement payment was refunded in an Alternative Currency, the US Dollar
Equivalent thereof using the Exchange Rates on the date of such refund). Each Lender acknowledges and agrees that its obligation to acquire participations
pursuant to this paragraph in respect of Letters of Credit is absolute and unconditional and shall not be affected by any circumstance whatsoever, including any
amendment, renewal or extension of any Letter of Credit or the occurrence and continuance of a Default or reduction or termination of the Revolving
Commitments, and that each such payment shall be made without any offset, abatement, withholding or reduction whatsoever.

(e) Reimbursement. If the Issuing Bank shall make any LC Disbursement in respect of a Letter of Credit, the Company shall reimburse such LC
Disbursement by paying to the Administrative Agent an amount equal to such LC Disbursement not later than 12:00 noon, New York City time, on the date that
such LC Disbursement is made, if the Company shall have received notice of such LC Disbursement prior to 10:00 a.m., New York City time, on such date, or, if
such notice has not been received by the Company prior to such time on such date, then not later than 12:00 noon, New York City time, on (i) the Business Day
that the Company receives such notice, if such notice is received prior to 10:00 a.m., New York City time, on the day of receipt, or (ii) the Business Day
immediately following the day that the Company receives such notice, if such notice is not received prior to such time on the day of receipt; provided that, in the
case of an LC Disbursement made in US Dollars, the Company may, subject to the conditions to borrowing set forth herein, request in accordance with
Section 2.03 or 2.05 that such payment be financed with an ABR US Tranche Revolving Borrowing or US Tranche Swingline Loan in an equivalent amount and,
to the extent so financed, the Company’s obligation to make such payment shall be discharged and replaced by the resulting ABR US Tranche Revolving
Borrowing or US Tranche Swingline Loan. If the Company fails to make such payment when due, then (i) if such payment relates to an Alternative Currency
Letter of Credit, automatically and with no further action required, the Company’s obligation to reimburse the applicable LC Disbursement shall be permanently
converted into an obligation to reimburse the US Dollar Equivalent, calculated using the Exchange Rates on the date when such payment was due, of such LC
Disbursement and (ii) in the case of each LC Disbursement, the Administrative Agent shall notify each Lender under the applicable Tranche of the applicable LC
Disbursement, the payment then due from the Company in respect thereof and such Lender’s Tranche Percentage thereof. Promptly following receipt of such
notice, each such Lender shall pay to the Administrative Agent its Tranche Percentage of the payment then due from the Company, in the same manner as
provided in Section 2.07 with respect to Loans made by such Lender (and Section 2.07 shall apply, mutatis mutandis, to the payment obligations of the Lenders),
and the Administrative Agent shall promptly pay to the applicable Issuing Bank in US Dollars the amounts so received by it from such Lenders. Promptly
following receipt by the Administrative Agent of any payment from the Company pursuant to this paragraph, the Administrative Agent shall distribute such
payment to the Issuing Bank or, to the extent that Lenders have made payments pursuant to this paragraph to reimburse the Issuing Bank, then to such Lenders
and the Issuing Bank as their interests may appear. Any payment made by a Lender pursuant to this paragraph to reimburse the Issuing Bank for any LC
Disbursement (other than the funding of ABR US Tranche Revolving Loans or a US Tranche Swingline Loan as contemplated above) shall not constitute a Loan
and shall not relieve the Company of its obligation to reimburse such LC Disbursement. If the Company’s reimbursement of, or obligation to reimburse, any
amounts in any Alternative Currency would subject the Administrative Agent, the applicable Issuing Bank or any Lender to any stamp duty, ad valorem charge or
similar tax that would not be payable if such reimbursement were made or required to be made in US Dollars, the Company shall, at its option, either (x) pay the
amount of any such tax requested by the Administrative Agent, the relevant Issuing Bank or Lender or (y) reimburse each LC Disbursement made in such
Alternative Currency in US Dollars, in an amount equal to the US Dollar Equivalent, calculated using the applicable Exchange Rate on the date such LC
Disbursement is made, of such LC Disbursement.
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(f) Obligations Absolute. The Company’s obligation to reimburse LC Disbursements as provided in paragraph (e) of this Section shall be absolute,
unconditional and irrevocable, and shall be performed strictly in accordance with the terms of this Agreement under any and all circumstances whatsoever and
irrespective of (i) any lack of validity or enforceability of any Letter of Credit or this Agreement, or any term or provision therein, (ii) any draft or other document
presented under a Letter of Credit proving to be forged, fraudulent or invalid in any respect or any statement therein being untrue or inaccurate in any respect,

(iii) payment by the Issuing Bank under a Letter of Credit against presentation of a draft or other document that does not comply with the terms of such Letter of
Credit, or (iv) any other event or circumstance whatsoever, whether or not similar to any of the foregoing, that might, but for the provisions of this Section,
constitute a legal or equitable discharge of, or provide a right of setoff against, the Company’s obligations hereunder. Neither the Agents, the Lenders nor the
Issuing Banks, nor any of their Related Parties, shall have any liability or responsibility by reason of or in connection with the issuance or transfer of any Letter of
Credit or any payment or failure to make any payment thereunder (irrespective of any of the circumstances referred to in the preceding sentence), or any error,
omission, interruption, loss or delay in transmission or delivery of any draft, notice or other communication under or relating to any Letter of Credit (including
any document required to make a drawing thereunder), any error in interpretation of technical terms or any consequence arising from causes beyond the control of
the Issuing Bank; provided that the foregoing shall not be construed to excuse the Issuing Bank from liability to the Company to the extent of any direct damages
(as opposed to consequential damages, claims in respect of which are hereby waived by the Company to the extent permitted by applicable law) suffered by the
Company that are caused by the Issuing Bank’s failure to exercise care when determining whether drafts and other documents presented under a Letter of Credit
comply with the terms thereof. The parties hereto expressly agree that, in the absence of gross negligence or willful misconduct on the part of the Issuing Bank
(as finally determined by a court of competent jurisdiction), the Issuing Bank shall be deemed to have exercised care in each such determination. In furtherance of
the foregoing and without limiting the generality thereof, the parties agree that, with respect to documents presented which appear on their face to be in
substantial compliance with the terms of a Letter of Credit, the Issuing Bank may, in its sole discretion, either accept and make payment upon such documents
without responsibility for further investigation, regardless of any notice or information to the contrary, or refuse to accept and make payment upon such
documents if such documents are not in strict compliance with the terms of such Letter of Credit.

(g) Disbursement Procedures. The Issuing Bank shall, promptly following its receipt thereof, examine all documents purporting to represent a
demand for payment under a Letter of Credit. The Issuing Bank shall promptly notify the Administrative Agent and the Company by telephone (confirmed by
telecopy) of such demand for payment and whether the Issuing Bank has made or will make an LC Disbursement thereunder; provided that any failure to give or
delay in giving such notice shall not relieve the Company of its obligation to reimburse the Issuing Bank and the applicable Lenders with respect to any such LC
Disbursement.

(h) Interim Interest. If the Issuing Bank shall make any LC Disbursement, then, unless the Company shall reimburse such LC Disbursement in full
on the date such LC Disbursement is made, the unpaid amount thereof shall bear interest, for each day from and including the date such LC Disbursement is made
to but excluding the date that the Company reimburses such LC Disbursement, (i) if such LC Disbursement is made in US Dollars, and at all times following the
conversion to US Dollars of an LC Disbursement made in an Alternative Currency pursuant to paragraph (e) above, at the rate per annum then applicable to ABR
US Tranche Revolving Loans, and (ii) if such LC Disbursement is made in an Alternative Currency, at all times prior to its conversion to US Dollars pursuant to
paragraph (e) above, at a rate equal to the rate reasonably determined by the applicable Issuing Bank to be the cost to such Issuing Bank of funding such LC
Disbursement plus the Applicable Rate applicable to Eurocurrency Revolving Loans at such time; provided that, if the Company fails to reimburse such LC
Disbursement
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when due pursuant to paragraph (e) of this Section, then Section 2.14(d) shall apply. Interest accrued pursuant to this paragraph shall be for the account of the
Issuing Bank, except that interest accrued on and after the date of payment by any Lender pursuant to paragraph (e) of this Section to reimburse the Issuing Bank
shall be for the account of such Lender to the extent of such payment.

(i) Replacement of an Issuing Bank. Any Issuing Bank may be replaced at any time by written agreement among the Company, the Administrative
Agent, the replaced Issuing Bank and the successor Issuing Bank. The Administrative Agent shall notify the Lenders of any such replacement of the Issuing
Bank. At the time any such replacement shall become effective, the Company shall pay all unpaid fees accrued for the account of the replaced Issuing Bank
pursuant to Section 2.13(b). From and after the effective date of any such replacement, (i) the successor Issuing Bank shall have all the rights and obligations of
an Issuing Bank under this Agreement with respect to Letters of Credit to be issued by it thereafter and (ii) references herein to the “Issuing Bank” shall be
deemed to refer to such successor or to any previous Issuing Bank, or to such successor and all previous Issuing Banks, as the context shall require. After the
replacement of an Issuing Bank hereunder, the replaced Issuing Bank shall remain a party hereto and shall continue to have all the rights and obligations of an
Issuing Bank under this Agreement with respect to Letters of Credit issued by it prior to such replacement, but shall not be required to issue additional Letters of
Credit.

(j) Cash Collateralization. If any Event of Default shall occur and be continuing, on the Business Day that the Company receives notice from the
Administrative Agent or the Required Lenders demanding the deposit of cash collateral pursuant to this paragraph, the Company shall deposit in an account with
the Administrative Agent, in the name of the Administrative Agent and for the benefit of the Lenders, an amount in US Dollars in cash equal to 102% of the LC
Exposure as of such date plus any accrued and unpaid interest thereon; provided that (i) the portions of such amount attributable to undrawn Alternative Currency
Letters of Credit or LC Disbursements in an Alternative Currency that the Company is not late in reimbursing shall be deposited in the applicable Alternative
Currencies in the actual amounts of such undrawn Letters of Credit and LC Disbursements and (ii) the obligation to deposit such cash collateral shall become
effective immediately, and such deposit shall become immediately due and payable, without demand or other notice of any kind, upon the occurrence of any
Event of Default with respect to the Company described in clause (h) or (i) of Article VII. For the purposes of this paragraph, the Alternative Currency LC
Exposure shall be calculated using the Exchange Rates on the date notice demanding cash collateralization is delivered to the Company. The Company also shall
deposit cash collateral pursuant to this paragraph as and to the extent required by Section 2.12(b), Section 2.12(e) and Section 2.19(f). Such deposit shall be held
by the Administrative Agent as collateral for the payment and performance of the obligations of the Company under this Agreement. The Administrative Agent
shall have exclusive dominion and control, including the exclusive right of withdrawal, over such account. Other than any interest earned on the investment of
such deposits, which investments shall be made at the option and sole discretion of the Administrative Agent and at the Company’s risk and expense, such
deposits shall not bear interest. Interest or profits, if any, on such investments shall accumulate in such account. Moneys in such account shall be applied by the
Administrative Agent to reimburse any Issuing Bank for LC Disbursements for which it has not been reimbursed and, to the extent not so applied, shall be held
for the satisfaction of the reimbursement obligations of the Company for the LC Exposure at such time or, if the maturity of the Loans has been accelerated (but
subject to the consent of the Required Lenders), be applied to satisfy other Secured Obligations. If the Company is required to provide an amount of cash
collateral hereunder as a result of the occurrence of an Event of Default, such amount (to the extent not applied as aforesaid) shall be returned to the Company
within three Business Days after all Events of Default have been cured or waived.
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(k) Existing Letters of Credit. Certain letters of credit issued for the account of the Company and outstanding on the Effective Date are identified on
Schedule 2.06 (the “Existing Letters of Credit”). As of the Effective Date, (i) the Existing Letters of Credit shall be deemed to be Letters of Credit issued pursuant
to and in compliance with this Section 2.06 as Letters of Credit under the US Tranche, (ii) the undrawn amount of the Existing Letters of Credit and the
unreimbursed amount of LC Disbursements with respect to the Existing Letters of Credit shall be included in the calculation of LC Exposure and US Tranche LC
Exposure, and (iii) the provisions of this Section 2.06 and Section 2.13(b) shall apply to the Existing Letters of Credit, and the Company and the Lenders hereby
expressly acknowledge their respective obligations hereunder with respect to the Existing Letters of Credit.

(1) Issuing Bank Agreements. Unless otherwise requested by the Administrative Agent, each Issuing Bank shall report in writing to the
Administrative Agent (i) on the first Business Day of each week, the daily activity (set forth by day) in respect of Letters of Credit during the immediately
preceding week, including all issuances, extensions, amendments and renewals, all expirations and cancellations and all disbursements and reimbursements,

(ii) on or prior to each Business Day on which such Issuing Bank expects to issue, amend, renew or extend any Letter of Credit, the date of such issuance,
amendment, renewal or extension, and the aggregate face amount of the Letters of Credit to be issued, amended, renewed or extended by it and outstanding after
giving effect to such issuance, amendment, renewal or extension occurred (and whether the amount thereof changed), it being understood that such Issuing Bank
shall not permit any issuance, renewal, extension or amendment resulting in an increase in the amount of any Letter of Credit to occur without first obtaining
written confirmation from the Administrative Agent that it is then permitted under this Agreement, (iii) on each Business Day on which such Issuing Bank makes
any LC Disbursement, the date of such LC Disbursement and the amount of such LC Disbursement, (iv) on any Business Day on which the Company fails to
reimburse an LC Disbursement required to be reimbursed to such Issuing Bank on such day, the date of such failure and the amount and currency of such LC
Disbursement and (v) on any other Business Day, such other information as the Administrative Agent shall reasonably request.

(m) Conversion. In the event that the Loans become immediately due and payable on any date pursuant to Article VII, all amounts (i) that the
Company is at the time or thereafter becomes required to reimburse or otherwise pay to the Administrative Agent in respect of LC Disbursements made under any
Alternative Currency Letter of Credit (other than amounts in respect of which such Borrower has deposited cash collateral pursuant to paragraph (j) above, if such
cash collateral was deposited in the applicable Alternative Currency to the extent so deposited or applied), (ii) that the Lenders are at the time or thereafter
become required to pay to the Administrative Agent and the Administrative Agent is at the time or thereafter becomes required to distribute to the applicable
Issuing Bank pursuant to paragraph (e) of this Section in respect of unreimbursed LC Disbursements made under any Alternative Currency Letter of Credit and
(iii) of each Lender’s participation in any Alternative Currency Letter of Credit under which an LC Disbursement has been made shall, automatically and with no
further action required, be converted into the US Dollar Equivalent, calculated using the Exchange Rates on such date (or in the case of any LC Disbursement
made after such date, on the date such LC Disbursement is made), of such amounts. On and after such conversion, all amounts accruing and owed to the
Administrative Agent, the applicable Issuing Bank or any Lender in respect of the obligations described in this paragraph shall accrue and be payable in US
Dollars at the rates otherwise applicable hereunder.

SECTION 2.07. Funding of Borrowings. (a) Each Lender shall make each Loan or payment of Net Acceptance Proceeds to be made by it hereunder
on the proposed date thereof by wire transfer of immediately available funds in the applicable currency by 11:00 a.m., Local Time, to the account of the
Applicable Agent most recently designated for such purpose for Loans or Acceptances of such Class and currency by notice to the applicable Lenders; provided
that Swingline Loans shall be made as provided in Section 2.05. The Applicable Agent will make such Loans or Net Acceptance Proceeds available to the
relevant Borrower by promptly crediting the amounts so received, in like funds, to an account of such Borrower maintained by the Applicable Agent in New York
City, in the case of Loans
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denominated in US Dollars, in Toronto, in the case of Loans or Acceptances denominated in Canadian Dollars, and in London, in the case of Loans denominated
in Pounds Sterling or Euro, or in any case, by wire transfer to an account specified by such Borrower in the applicable Borrowing Request; provided that ABR
Revolving Loans made to finance the reimbursement of an LC Disbursement as provided in Section 2.06(e) shall be remitted by the Administrative Agent to the
applicable Issuing Bank.

(b) Unless the Applicable Agent shall have received notice from a Lender prior to the proposed date of any Borrowing that such Lender will not
make available to the Applicable Agent such Lender’s share of such Borrowing, the Applicable Agent may assume that such Lender has made such share
available on such date in accordance with paragraph (a) of this Section and may, in reliance upon such assumption, make available to the relevant Borrower a
corresponding amount. In such event, if a Lender has not in fact made its share of the applicable Borrowing available to the Applicable Agent, then the applicable
Lender and such Borrower severally agree to pay to the Applicable Agent forthwith on demand such corresponding amount with interest thereon, for each day
from and including the date such amount is made available to such Borrower to but excluding the date of payment to the Applicable Agent, at (i) in the case of
such Lender, the rate reasonably determined by the Applicable Agent to be the cost to it of funding such amount or (ii) in the case of such Borrower, the interest
rate applicable to the subject Loan or, in the case of an Acceptance, the interest rate applicable to Canadian Base Rate Loans. If such Lender pays such amount to
the Applicable Agent, then such amount shall constitute such Lender’s Loan or Acceptance included in such Borrowing.

SECTION 2.08. Interest Elections. (a) Each Revolving Borrowing and each Term Loan Borrowing initially shall be of the Type specified in the
applicable Borrowing Request and, in the case of a Eurocurrency Borrowing, shall have an initial Interest Period as specified in such Borrowing Request.
Thereafter, the relevant Borrower may elect to convert such Borrowing to a different Type or to continue such Borrowing and, in the case of a Eurocurrency
Borrowing, may elect Interest Periods therefor, all as provided in this Section. A Borrower may elect different options with respect to different portions of the
affected Borrowing, in which case each such portion shall be allocated ratably among the Lenders holding the Loans comprising such Borrowing, and the Loans
comprising each such portion shall be considered a separate Borrowing. This Section shall not apply to Swingline Borrowings, which may not be converted or
continued, or to Acceptance Borrowings, which are subject to Section 2.04.

(b) To make an election pursuant to this Section, a Borrower, or the Company on its behalf, shall notify the Applicable Agent of such election by
telephone by the time that a Borrowing Request would be required under Section 2.03 if such Borrower were requesting a Borrowing of the Type resulting from
such election to be made on the effective date of such election. Each such telephonic Interest Election Request shall be irrevocable and shall be confirmed
promptly by hand delivery or telecopy to the Applicable Agent of a written Interest Election Request in a form approved by the Administrative Agent and signed
by the relevant Borrower, or the Company on its behalf. Notwithstanding any contrary provision herein, this Section shall not be construed to permit any
Borrower to (i) change the currency of any Borrowing, (ii) elect an Interest Period for Eurocurrency Loans that does not comply with Section 2.02(d) or
(iii) convert any Borrowing to a Borrowing of a Type not available under the Class of Commitments pursuant to which such Borrowing was made.

(c) Each telephonic and written Interest Election Request shall specify the following information in compliance with Section 2.02:

(i) the Borrowing to which such Interest Election Request applies and, if different options are being elected with respect to different portions thereof,
the portions thereof to be allocated to each resulting Borrowing (in which case the information to be specified pursuant to clauses (iii) and (iv) below shall
be specified for each resulting Borrowing);
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(ii) the effective date of the election made pursuant to such Interest Election Request, which shall be a Business Day;
(iii) the Type of the resulting Borrowing; and

(iv) if the resulting Borrowing is a Eurocurrency Borrowing, the Interest Period to be applicable thereto after giving effect to such election, which
shall be a period contemplated by the definition of the term “Interest Period”.

If any such Interest Election Request requests a Eurocurrency Borrowing but does not specify an Interest Period, then the applicable Borrower shall be deemed to
have selected an Interest Period of one month’s duration.

(d) Promptly following receipt of an Interest Election Request, the Applicable Agent shall advise each Lender holding a Loan to which such request
relates of the details thereof and of such Lender’s portion of each resulting Borrowing.

(e) If the relevant Borrower fails to deliver a timely Interest Election Request with respect to a Eurocurrency Borrowing prior to the end of the
Interest Period applicable thereto, then, unless such Borrowing is repaid as provided herein, at the end of such Interest Period, such Borrowing shall (i) in the case
of a Eurocurrency Borrowing denominated in US Dollars by the Company under the US Tranche or the Canadian Tranche, be converted to an ABR Borrowing
and (ii) in the case of any other Eurocurrency Borrowing, be continued as a Eurocurrency Borrowing with an Interest Period of one month’s duration.
Notwithstanding any contrary provision hereof, if an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing and the Administrative Agent, at the request of the Required
Lenders, so notifies the Company, then, so long as an Event of Default is continuing (i) no outstanding Borrowing borrowed by the Company may be converted to
or continued at the end of the then current Interest Period as a Eurocurrency Borrowing and (ii) unless repaid, each Eurocurrency Borrowing shall (A) in the case
of such a Borrowing by the Company under the US Tranche or the Canadian Tranche, be converted to an ABR Borrowing at the end of the Interest Period
applicable thereto and (B) in the case of any other Eurocurrency Borrowing, be continued as a Eurocurrency Borrowing with an Interest Period of one month’s
duration.

SECTION 2.09. Termination and Reduction of Commitments. (a) Unless previously terminated, (i) the US Tranche Term Loan Commitments shall
terminate at 3:00 p.m., New York City time, on the Effective Date and (ii) the Revolving Commitments shall terminate on the Maturity Date. The Revolving
Commitments shall be permanently reduced in accordance with the terms and conditions of Section 2.12 and 2.19(f).

(b) The Company may at any time terminate, or from time to time reduce, the Revolving Commitments of any Tranche; provided that (i) each
reduction of the Revolving Commitments of any Tranche shall be in an amount that is an integral multiple of the Borrowing Multiple for a Eurocurrency
Revolving Borrowing denominated in US Dollars and not less than the Borrowing Minimum for a Eurocurrency Revolving Borrowing denominated in US
Dollars, (ii) the Company shall not terminate or reduce the US Tranche Revolving Commitments if, after giving effect to any concurrent prepayment of the US
Tranche Revolving Loans in accordance with Section 2.12, the aggregate US Tranche Revolving Exposures would exceed the aggregate US Tranche Revolving
Commitments, (iii) the Company shall not terminate or reduce the Canadian Tranche Commitments if, after giving effect to any concurrent prepayment of the
Canadian Tranche Revolving Loans in accordance with Section 2.12, the aggregate Canadian Tranche Exposures would exceed the aggregate Canadian Tranche
Commitments, and (iv) the Company shall not terminate or reduce the UK Tranche Commitments if, after giving effect to any concurrent prepayment of the UK
Tranche Revolving Loans in accordance with Section 2.12, the aggregate UK Tranche Exposures would exceed the aggregate UK Tranche Commitments.
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(c) The Company shall notify the Administrative Agent of any election to terminate or reduce the Revolving Commitments of any Class under
paragraph (b) of this Section at least three Business Days prior to the effective date of such termination or reduction, specifying the effective date of such election.
Each notice delivered by the Company pursuant to this Section shall be irrevocable; provided that a notice of termination of the Commitments delivered by the
Company may state that such notice is conditioned upon the effectiveness of other credit facilities, in which case such notice may be revoked by the Company (by
notice to the Administrative Agent on or prior to the specified effective date) if such condition is not satisfied. Any termination or reduction of the Commitments
of any Class shall be permanent. Each reduction of the Commitments of any Class shall be made ratably among the applicable Lenders in accordance with their
respective Commitments of such Class.

(d) At 12:00 a.m., New York City time, on (i) December 16, 2009 (or such later date as may be agreed to by the Supermajority Lenders and the
Company) or (ii) if the Recapitalization Transaction shall have been consummated prior to December 16, 2009 (or such later date as may be agreed to by the
Supermajority Lenders and the Company), on January 1, 2012 (or such later date as may be agreed to by the Supermajority Lenders and the Company but in no
event to be later than the Maturity Date), the Revolving Commitments shall be automatically and irrevocably reduced by an aggregate amount equal to the
Aggregate Revolver Reserve Amount.

SECTION 2.10. [Intentionally Omitted].

SECTION 2.11. Repayment of Loans; Evidence of Debt. (a) (i) Each Borrower hereby unconditionally promises to pay to the Applicable Agent for
the accounts of the applicable Lenders the then unpaid principal amount of each Borrowing of such Borrower and all other Obligations of such Borrower on the
Maturity Date; and (ii) the Company hereby unconditionally promises to pay to each Swingline Lender the then unpaid principal amount of each Swingline Loan
made by such Swingline Lender on the earlier of the Maturity Date and the first date after such Swingline Loan is made that is the 15th or last day of a calendar
month and is at least five Business Days after such Swingline Loan is made, provided that on each date that a Revolving Borrowing is made under a Tranche, the
applicable Borrower shall repay all Swingline Loans then outstanding under such Tranche. Each Borrower agrees to repay the principal amount of each Loan
made to such Borrower and the accrued interest thereon in the currency of such Loan. Each Canadian Borrower agrees to make all payments required with respect
to Acceptances in accordance with Section 2.04.

(b) Each Lender shall maintain in accordance with its usual practice an account or accounts evidencing the indebtedness of each Borrower to such
Lender resulting from each Loan and Acceptance made by such Lender, including the amounts of principal and interest payable and paid to such Lender from
time to time hereunder.

(c) The Administrative Agent shall maintain accounts in which it shall record (i) the amount of each Loan and Acceptance made hereunder, the
Class, Type and currency thereof and the Interest Period (or, in the case of an Acceptance, the maturity date) applicable thereto, (ii) the amount of any principal or
interest due and payable or to become due and payable from each Borrower to each Lender hereunder and (iii) the amount of any sum received by any Agent
hereunder for the accounts of the Lenders and each Lender’s share thereof.

(d) The entries made in the accounts maintained pursuant to paragraph (b) or (c) of this Section shall be prima facie evidence of the existence and
amounts of the obligations recorded therein; provided that the failure of any Lender or the Administrative Agent to maintain such accounts or any error therein
shall not in any manner affect the obligation of any Borrower to repay the Loans in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.
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(e) Any Lender may request that Loans of any Class made by it to any Borrower be evidenced by a promissory note. In such event, the relevant
Borrower shall prepare, execute and deliver to such Lender a promissory note payable to the order of such Lender (or, if requested by such Lender, to such Lender
and its registered assigns) and in a form approved by the Administrative Agent. Thereafter, the Loans evidenced by such promissory note and interest thereon
shall at all times (including after assignment pursuant to Section 11.04) be represented by one or more promissory notes in such form payable to the order of the
payee named therein (or, if such promissory note is a registered note, to such payee and its registered assigns).

SECTION 2.12. Prepayment of Loans. (a) Any Borrower shall have the right at any time and from time to time, without premium or penalty (other
than break funding payments pursuant to Section 2.17), to prepay any Borrowing (other than an Acceptance Borrowing) in whole or in part, subject to prior notice
in accordance with paragraph (d) of this Section, in a minimum amount equal to (i) $1,000,000 or any integral multiple of $500,000 in excess thereof in the case
of any ABR Borrowing, Eurocurrency Borrowing or Swingline Borrowing denominated in US Dollars, (ii) £500,000 or any integral multiple of £500,000 in
excess thereof in the case of any Eurocurrency Borrowing or Swingline Borrowing denominated in Pounds Sterling, (iii) €1,000,000 or any integral multiple of
€500,000 in excess thereof in the case of any Eurocurrency Borrowing or Swingline Borrowing denominated in Euro or (iv) C$1,000,000 or any integral multiple
of C$500,000 in excess thereof in the case of any Borrowing under the Canadian Tranche denominated in Canadian Dollars. Any voluntary prepayment of
Revolving Loans shall be made in the following order: first, to New Block Loans, if any, second, to Existing Block Loans, if any, and third, to Revolving Loans
outstanding which are not New Block Loans or Existing Block Loans (in each case without a corresponding permanent reduction of the Revolving Commitments
at such time unless otherwise specified herein).

(b) In the event and on such occasion that (i) the sum of the US Tranche Revolving Exposures exceeds the total US Tranche Revolving
Commitments, (ii) the sum of the Canadian Tranche Exposures exceeds the total Canadian Tranche Commitments or (iii) the sum of the UK Tranche Exposures
exceeds the total UK Tranche Commitments, the Borrowers under the applicable Tranche shall prepay Revolving Borrowings (other than Acceptance
Borrowings) or Swingline Borrowings (or, if no such Borrowings are outstanding in such Tranche, deposit cash collateral in an account with the Administrative
Agent pursuant to Section 2.06(j), in the case of the US Tranche, or deposit cash collateral in an account with the Canadian Agent, in the case of the Canadian
Tranche) in an aggregate amount equal to such excess; provided that if such excess arises solely as a result of currency rate fluctuations and such excess under
any Tranche is not greater than 5% of the total Commitments under such Tranche, such prepayment or deposit, as the case may be, shall not be required. The
Applicable Agent shall make the calculations described in this clause (b) on each Computation Date.

(c) Prior to any optional prepayment of Borrowings hereunder, the applicable Borrower shall, subject to the terms of clause (a) above, select the
Borrowing or Borrowings to be prepaid and shall specify such selection in the notice of such prepayment pursuant to paragraph (d) of this Section.

(d) The applicable Borrower, or the Company on behalf of the applicable Borrower, shall notify the Applicable Agent (and, in the case of
prepayment of a Swingline Loan, the applicable Swingline Lender) by telephone (confirmed by telecopy) of any voluntary prepayment of a Borrowing hereunder
(i) in the case of a Eurocurrency Borrowing, not later than 12:00 noon, Local Time, three Business Days before the date of such prepayment, (ii) in the case of a
Canadian Base Rate
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Revolving Borrowing, not later than 12:00 noon, Local Time, one Business Day before the date of such prepayment, and (iii) in the case of an ABR Borrowing or
a Swingline Loan, not later than 12:00 noon, Local Time, on the date of such prepayment. Each such notice shall be irrevocable and shall specify the prepayment
date and the principal amount of each Borrowing or portion thereof to be prepaid; provided that, if a notice of optional prepayment is given in connection with a
conditional notice of termination of the Commitments as contemplated by Section 2.09(c), then such notice of prepayment may be revoked if such notice of
termination is revoked in accordance with Section 2.09(c). Promptly following receipt of any such notice, the Applicable Agent shall advise the applicable
Lenders of the contents thereof. Each partial prepayment of any Borrowing shall be in an amount that would be permitted in the case of an advance of a
Borrowing of the same Type as provided in Section 2.02. Each prepayment of a Borrowing shall be applied ratably to the Loans included in the prepaid
Borrowing. Prepayments shall be accompanied by (i) accrued interest to the extent required by Section 2.14 and (ii) break funding payments pursuant to

Section 2.17.

(e) On and after the Amendment No. 12 Effective Date, in the event and on each occasion that any Net Cash Proceeds are received by or on behalf of
the Company or any of its Domestic Subsidiaries in respect of any Prepayment Event, the Company shall, within three (3) Business Days after receipt of such Net
Cash Proceeds, subject to the terms and conditions of Sections 2.12(f) (i) and (1), as applicable, prepay the Obligations in the following order in an aggregate
amount equal to the Applicable Prepayment Percentage of such Net Cash Proceeds (in each case, without a permanent commitment reduction unless expressly
stated below):

(i) first, prepay Permitted Interim Loans which are outstanding, if any,

(ii) second, prepay New Block Loans (or cash collateralize Letters of Credit issued in respect of the New Revolver Reserve Amount) which are
outstanding, if any,

(iii) third, prepay Existing Block Loans (or cash collateralize Letters of Credit issued in respect of the Existing Revolver Reserve Amount)
which are outstanding, if any (with a concurrent permanent reduction of the Existing Revolver Reserve Amount, and the New Revolver Reserve Amount
shall be increased by the amount of such prepayment (or cash collateralization) at such time), and

(iv) fourth, prepay Revolving Loans which are not New Block Loans or Existing Block Loans (or cash collateralize Letters of Credit which
were not issued in respect of the New Revolver Reserve Amount or in respect of the Existing Revolver Reserve Amount) which are outstanding, if any
(with the amount of Revolving Commitments available under such unblocked portion of the facility being decreased and the New Revolver Reserve
Amount being increased in like amount).

For the avoidance of doubt, the Applicable Company Percentage of such Net Cash Proceeds referred to in this clause (e) shall not be retained by the
Company, but shall instead be used to prepay (without a corresponding commitment reduction) Revolving Loans which are not New Block Loans or Existing
Block Loans (or cash collateralize Letters of Credit which were not issued in respect of the New Revolver Reserve Amount or in respect of the Existing Revolver
Reserve Amount) which are outstanding at such time.

(f) The Company shall prepay the Obligations on the date that is three (3) Business Days after the earlier of (i) the date on which the Company’s
annual audited financial statements for the immediately preceding fiscal year are delivered pursuant to Section 5.01 or (ii) the date on which such annual audited
financial statements were required to be delivered pursuant to Section 5.01, in an amount

62



equal to (x) 50% of the Company’s Excess Cash Flow for such immediately preceding fiscal year, minus (y) any voluntary prepayments of the Term Loans, the
Revolving Loans and/or Swing line Loans (but only to the extent that, in the case of the Revolving Loans and the Swingline Loans, such prepayments were
accompanied by a corresponding permanent reduction of the Revolving Commitments) (the “Cash Flow Repayment Amount”), with the first such prepayment
pursuant to this Section 2.12(f) required to be made by the Company in 2010 in respect of the Company’s Excess Cash Flow for the fiscal year of the Company
ending December 31, 2009. Any such prepayments of the Obligations required under this Section 2.12(f) shall be in an amount equal to the Cash Flow
Repayment Amount and shall be applied in the following order:

(i) first, prepay Permitted Interim Loans which are outstanding, if any,

(ii) second, prepay New Block Loans (or cash collateralize Letters of Credit issued in respect of the New Revolver Reserve Amount) which are
outstanding, if any,

(iii) third, prepay Existing Block Loans (or cash collateralize Letters of Credit issued in respect of the Existing Revolver Reserve Amount)
which are outstanding, if any (with a concurrent permanent reduction of the Existing Revolver Reserve Amount, and the New Revolver Reserve Amount
shall be increased by the amount of such prepayment (or cash collateralization) at such time), and

(iv) fourth, prepay Revolving Loans which are not New Block Loans or Existing Block Loans (or cash collateralize Letters of Credit which
were not issued in respect of the New Revolver Reserve Amount or in respect of the Existing Revolver Reserve Amount) which are outstanding, if any
(with the amount of Revolving Commitments available under such unblocked portion of the facility being decreased and the New Revolver Reserve
Amount being increased in like amount).

(g) To the extent any amounts are payable pursuant to Sections 2.12(f) or (i), any such prepayments of such Loans (i) shall first prepay ABR Loans
and then prepay Eurocurrency Loans and (ii) shall include, unless interest is then being deferred pursuant to Section 2.14(d), accrued and unpaid interest in
respect of such Loans (provided that Deferred Interest shall be payable only to the extent required by Section 2.23).

(h) If (a) on the close of business on any Business Day on which any Permitted Interim Loans shall be outstanding, Unrestricted Cash exceeds
$100,000,000 (such excess the “Daily Cash Permitted Interim Loan Excess Amount™) (and has also exceeded $100,000,000 for the previous two (2) Business
Days), then, on the next succeeding Business Day, the Company shall make a prepayment of the outstanding Revolving Loans (outstanding Permitted Interim
Loans, if any, to be prepaid first) in an amount equal to such Daily Cash Permitted Interim Loan Excess Amount (without a corresponding permanent reduction of

exceeds $125,000,000 (such excess the “Daily Cash Excess Amount™) (and has also exceeded $125,000,000 for the previous two (2) Business Days), then, on the
next succeeding Business Day, the Company shall make a prepayment of the outstanding Revolving Loans in an amount equal to such Daily Cash Excess
Amount. Any such prepayment of Revolving Loans shall be made in the following order: first, to Permitted Interim Loans, if any second, to New Block Loans, if
any, third, to Existing Block Loans, if any, and fourth, to Revolving Loans outstanding which are not New Block Loans or Existing Block Loans (in each case
without a corresponding permanent reduction of the Revolving Commitments at such time).
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(i) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in this Section 2.12, upon the consummation of the Permitted Disposition, the Company shall
make a prepayment in an amount equal to 100% of the Net Cash Proceeds therefrom first to prepay the outstanding Existing Block Loans (outstanding Permitted
Interim Loans, if any, to be prepaid first), if any, and second to prepay Revolving Loans which are not New Block Loans or Existing Block Loans (or cash
collateralize Letters of Credit which were not issued in respect of the New Revolver Reserve Amount or in respect of the Existing Revolver Reserve Amount)
which are outstanding, if any (with the amount of Revolving Commitments available under such unblocked portion of the facility being decreased in like
amount), and the New Revolver Reserve Amount shall be increased by an amount equal to such prepayments at such time.

(j) On the Amendment No. 7 Effective Date, the Company shall make a prepayment of the outstanding Revolving Loans (without a corresponding
permanent reduction of the Revolving Commitments at such time) in an amount equal to (i) the aggregate amount withdrawn from the Escrow Account on or
after the Amendment No. 7 Effective Date minus (ii) $3,571,405; provided that the entire amount of such $3,571,405 must be used by the Company and/or its
Subsidiaries to make a prepayment of the Specified Pension Fund Obligations on or before June 30, 2009 (such prepayment, the “Allowed Pension Fund
Prepayment”).

(k) If, on the close of business on any Business Day, (i) the Interim Loan Sweep Amount is positive (and has also been positive for the previous two
(2) Business Days) and (ii) any Permitted Interim Loans are outstanding, then on the next succeeding Business Day, the Company shall make a prepayment of
such Permitted Interim Loans in an amount equal to such positive amount on such Business Day (without a corresponding permanent reduction of the Revolving
Commitments at such time).

(1) If, on the close of business on any Business Day, Liquidity exceeds $250,000,000 (such excess amount, the “Liquidity Excess Amount”):

(i) as a result of the receipt by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries of Net Cash Proceeds from Asset Sales and/or the existence of any
Excess Cash Flow amounts, in each case at such time, then, subject to the proviso below, the Company shall make a prepayment of the Obligations in an
amount equal to such Liquidity Excess Amount for application by the Administrative Agent in accordance with the provisions of Section 2.19(f); or

(ii) other than as a result of the events described in the foregoing clause (i), then, subject to the proviso below, (x) the Revolving Commitments
shall be permanently reduced (first reducing the New Revolver Reserve Amount and then the Existing Revolver Reserve Amount) by an amount equal to
such excess without any repayment in cash by the Company (unless any such reduction of the Revolving Commitments requires a concurrent repayment of
Revolving Loans) and (y) thereafter, if the New Revolver Reserve Amount and the Existing Revolver Reserve Amount both equal $0, then the Company
shall make a prepayment of the Obligations in an amount equal to such Liquidity Excess Amount for application by the Administrative Agent in
accordance with the provisions of Section 2.19(f);

provided that the Liquidity Excess Amount shall be deemed to be comprised first of amounts resulting from events described in clause (i) above (Excess
Cash Flow amounts and then Net Cash Proceeds from Asset Sales) and thereafter amounts resulting from events described in clause (ii) above, and, to the
extent that the Liquidity Excess Amount shall exist as a result of both events described in clause (i) above and clause (ii) above, then the Liquidity Excess
Amount shall be applied as follows:

(1) Excess Cash Flow Amounts shall be applied in accordance with clause (i) above until no Liquidity Excess Amount remains;
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(2) if any Liquidity Excess Amount remains, the Applicable Prepayment Percentage of the Net Cash Proceeds from Asset Sales shall be
applied in accordance with clause (i) above until no Liquidity Excess Amount remains;

(3) if any Liquidity Excess Amount remains, the Company Prepayment Percentage of the Net Cash Proceeds from Asset Sales shall be applied
in accordance with clause (ii) above until no Liquidity Excess Amount remains; and

(4) if any Liquidity Excess Amount remains, such remaining Liquidity Excess Amount shall be reduced in accordance with clause (ii) above
until no Liquidity Excess Amount remains.

SECTION 2.13. Fees. (a) The Company agrees to pay to the Administrative Agent for the account of each US Tranche Lender a commitment fee,
which shall accrue at the Applicable Rate on the daily amount of the US Tranche Available Revolving Commitment of such US Tranche Lender during the period
from and including the Effective Date to but excluding the date on which such US Tranche Revolving Commitment terminates; provided that, if such US Tranche
Lender continues to have any US Tranche Revolving Exposure after its US Tranche Revolving Commitment terminates, then such commitment fee shall continue
to accrue on the daily amount of such US Tranche Lender’s US Tranche Revolving Exposure from and including the date on which its US Tranche Revolving
Commitment terminates to but excluding the date on which such Lender ceases to have any US Tranche Revolving Exposure. The Company and the Canadian
Borrowers jointly and severally agree to pay to the Canadian Agent for the account of each Canadian Tranche Lender a commitment fee, which shall accrue at the
Applicable Rate on the daily amount of the Canadian Tranche Available Commitment of such Canadian Tranche Lender during the period from and including the
Effective Date to but excluding the date on which such Canadian Tranche Commitment terminates; provided that, if such Canadian Tranche Lender continues to
have any Canadian Tranche Exposure after its Canadian Tranche Commitment terminates, then such commitment fee shall continue to accrue on the daily amount
of such Canadian Tranche Lender’s Canadian Tranche Exposure to but excluding the date on which such Canadian Tranche Lender ceases to have any Canadian
Tranche Exposure. The Company and the UK Borrowers jointly and severally agree to pay to the UK Agent for the account of each UK Tranche Lender a
commitment fee, which shall accrue at the Applicable Rate on the daily amount of the UK Tranche Available Commitment of such UK Tranche Lender during the
period from and including the Effective Date to but excluding the date on which such UK Tranche Commitment terminates; provided that, if such UK Tranche
Lender continues to have any UK Tranche Exposure after its UK Tranche Commitment terminates, then such commitment fee shall continue to accrue on the
daily amount of such UK Tranche Lender’s UK Tranche Exposure to but excluding the date on which such UK Tranche Lender ceases to have any UK Tranche
Exposure. Accrued commitment fees shall be payable in arrears on (i) prior to the date of the consummation of the Recapitalization Transaction, the last day of
each March, June, September and December and (ii) on and after the date of the consummation of the Recapitalization Transaction, the last day of each month
(each such date, a “Commitment Fee Payment Date”) and, in each case, on the date on which the applicable Revolving Commitments terminate, commencing on
the first such date to occur after the date hereof; provided that any commitment fees accruing after the date on which the applicable Revolving Commitments
terminate shall be payable on demand. All commitment fees shall be computed on the basis of a year of 360 days and shall be payable for the actual number of
days elapsed (including the first day but excluding the last day). Any payment required to be made pursuant to this paragraph (a) by the Company to the Canadian
Agent or the UK Agent shall be made to the Administrative Agent, as a sub-agent for the Canadian Agent or the UK Agent, as applicable, in New York, New
York for the
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account of each Canadian Tranche Lender or each UK Tranche Lender, respectively. For purposes of computing the average daily amount of any LC Exposure for
any period under this Section 2.13(a), the average daily amount of the Alternative Currency LC Exposure for such period shall be calculated by multiplying

(i) the average daily balance of each Alternative Currency Letter of Credit (expressed in the currency in which such Alternative Currency Letter of Credit is
denominated) by (ii) the Exchange Rate for each such Alternative Currency in effect on the last Business Day of such period or by such other reasonable method
that the Administrative Agent deems appropriate.

(x) Subject to the succeeding clause (y), commitment fees accrued through and including the last day of each calendar month shall be payable
on each Commitment Fee Payment Date; provided that all such fees shall be payable on the date on which the Revolving Commitments terminate and any
such fees accruing after the date on which the Revolving Commitments terminate shall be payable on demand.

(y) Solely with respect to a Deferring Lender, on any:

(i) Commitment Fee Payment Date following the consummation of the Recapitalization Transaction and the date that the Specified
Pension Fund Deferral Transaction Amendment shall be fully executed and effective (A) occurring in 2009 or 2010 until the occurrence of any Deferral
Termination Event or a Deferral Suspension Event, the Company shall not be required to make a cash payment of accrued commitment fees owing to such
Deferring Lender on such Commitment Fee Payment Date but such commitment fees shall instead be payable in accordance with clause (y)(ii) below, and
(B) occurring on or after January 1, 2011 and prior to the Deferred Payment Termination Date, the Company shall pay to such Deferring Lender in cash in
respect of any accrued and unpaid commitment fees that become due on such Commitment Fee Payment Date, solely to the extent that the Available
Interest Payment Amount (determined as of the Business Day immediately preceding the relevant Commitment Fee Payment Date giving pro forma effect
to the cash payment of all such commitment fees (and participation fees pursuant to Section 2.13(b) and interest pursuant to Section 2.14(d)) due and
payable on such Commitment Fee Payment Date) exceeds $150,000,000, the full amount of such accrued and unpaid commitment fees; and

(ii) Business Day on and after January 1, 2011, in respect of all other accrued and unpaid commitment fees that have been deferred
pursuant to the terms of this Section 2.13(a)(y) prior to such date, the Company shall pay to such Deferring Lender the lesser of (1) the Available Deferred
Interest and Fee Amount (determined as of the Business Day immediately preceding the relevant date) and (2) the aggregate amount of such accrued and
unpaid commitment fees that have been deferred pursuant to the terms of this Section 2.13(a)(y) prior to such date. Such Available Deferred Interest and
Fee Amount shall be applied ratably to the accrued and unpaid commitment fees, accrued and unpaid participation fees and accrued and unpaid interest, in
each case deferred prior to such date in accordance with this Section 2.13(a)(y), Section 2.13(b)(y) and Section 2.14(d).

As of the date that any Deferral Termination Event occurs, the Company shall have no further right to defer any commitment fees hereunder (or any
participation fees under Section 2.13(b) or any interest under Section 2.14(d)) after such date unless the Supermajority Lenders shall have agreed to
the continuation of such deferral.

As of the date that any Deferral Suspension Event occurs, the Company shall have no further right to defer any commitment fees hereunder (or any
participation fees under Section 2.13(b) or any interest under Section 2.14(d)) after such date unless the
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Supermajority Lenders shall have agreed to the continuation of such deferral; provided that all Deferred Commitment Fees (and all Deferred
Participation Fees and Deferred Interest) shall not become immediately due and payable on the date that any Deferral Suspension Event occurs
solely as the result of the occurrence of a Deferral Suspension Event unless otherwise required herein.

For the avoidance of doubt, to the extent a cash payment of the commitment fees due hereunder to a Deferring Lender is not required under this
Section 2.13(a), such cash payment shall be deferred but shall in no event be (or be deemed to be) forgiven, excused, reduced or waived, and all
accrued and unpaid Deferred Commitment Fees shall be due and payable in full in cash in accordance with Section 2.23, and, upon the occurrence of
the Deferred Payment Termination Date no Deferring Lender shall be under any obligation under this Agreement to defer the cash payment of any
further commitment fees owing to such Lender on or after the Deferred Payment Termination Date.

(b) The Company agrees to pay (i) to the Administrative Agent for the account of each Lender a participation fee with respect to its participations in
Letters of Credit, which shall accrue at the same Applicable Rate used to determine the interest rate applicable to Eurocurrency Revolving Loans on the average
daily amount of such Lender’s LC Exposure (excluding any portion thereof attributable to unreimbursed LC Disbursements) during the period from and including
the Effective Date to but excluding the later of the date on which such Lender’s Commitment terminates and the date on which such Lender ceases to have any
LC Exposure, and (ii) to each Issuing Bank a fronting fee to be agreed upon by the Company and such Issuing Bank on the average daily amount of the LC
Exposure (excluding any portion thereof attributable to unreimbursed LC Disbursements) with respect to Letters of Credit issued by such Issuing Bank, during
the period from and including the Effective Date to but excluding the later of the date of termination of the Revolving Commitments and the date on which there
ceases to be any LC Exposure, as well as each Issuing Bank’s standard fees with respect to the issuance, amendment, renewal or extension of any Letter of Credit
or processing of drawings thereunder.

(x) Subject to the succeeding clause (y), participation fees and fronting fees accrued through and including the last day of each calendar month
shall be payable on (i) prior to the date of the consummation of the Recapitalization Transaction, the last day of each March, June, September and
December and (ii) on and after the date of the consummation of the Recapitalization Transaction, the last day of each month (each such date, a “LC Fee
Payment Date”); provided that all such fees shall be payable on the date on which the Revolving Commitments terminate and any such fees accruing after
the date on which the Revolving Commitments terminate shall be payable on demand.

(y) Solely with respect to a Deferring Lender, on any:

(i) LC Fee Payment Date following the consummation of the Recapitalization Transaction and the date that the Specified Pension Fund
Deferral Transaction Amendment shall be fully executed and effective (A) occurring in 2009 or 2010 until the occurrence of any Deferral Termination
Event or a Deferral Suspension Event, the Company shall not be required to make a cash payment of accrued participation fees owing to such Deferring
Lender on such LC Fee Payment Date (but shall pay any accrued and unpaid fronting fees owing to the applicable Issuing Bank) but such participation fees
shall instead be payable in accordance with clause (y)(ii) below, and (B) occurring on or after January 1, 2011 and prior to the Deferred Payment
Termination Date, the Company shall pay to such Deferring Lender in cash in respect of any accrued and unpaid participation fees that become due on such
LC Fee Payment Date, solely
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to the extent that the Available Interest Payment Amount (determined as of the Business Day immediately preceding the relevant LC Fee Payment Date
giving pro forma effect to the cash payment of all such participation fees (and commitment fees pursuant to Section 2.13(b) and interest pursuant to
Section 2.14(d)) due and payable on such LC Fee Payment Date) exceeds $150,000,000, the full amount of such accrued and unpaid participation fees; and

(ii) Business Day on and after January 1, 2011, in respect of all other accrued and unpaid participation fees that have been
deferred pursuant to the terms of this Section 2.13(b)(y) prior to such date, the Company shall pay to such Deferring Lender the lesser of (1) the
Available Deferred Interest and Fee Amount (determined as of the Business Day immediately preceding the relevant date) and (2) the aggregate
amount of such accrued and unpaid participation fees that have been deferred pursuant to the terms of this Section 2.13(b)(y) prior to such date.
Such Available Deferred Interest and Fee Amount shall be applied ratably to the accrued and unpaid participation fees, accrued and unpaid
commitment fees and accrued and unpaid interest, in each case deferred prior to such date in accordance with this Section 2.13(b)(y),

Section 2.13(a)(y) and Section 2.14(d).

As of the date that any Deferral Termination Event occurs, the Company shall have no further right to defer any participation fees hereunder (or any
commitment fees under Section 2.13(a) or any interest under Section 2.14(d)) after such date unless the Supermajority Lenders shall have agreed to
the continuation of such deferral.

As of the date that any Deferral Suspension Event occurs, the Company shall have no further right to defer any participation fees hereunder (or any
commitment fees under Section 2.13(a) or any interest under Section 2.14(d)) after such date unless the Supermajority Lenders shall have agreed to
the continuation of such deferral; provided that all Deferred Participation Fees (and all Deferred Commitment Fees and Deferred Interest) shall not
become immediately due and payable on the date that any Deferral Suspension Event occurs solely as the result of the occurrence of a Deferral
Suspension Event unless otherwise required herein.

For the avoidance of doubt, to the extent a cash payment of the participation fees due hereunder to a Deferring Lender is not required under this
Section 2.13(b), such cash payment shall be deferred but shall in no event be (or be deemed to be) forgiven, excused, reduced or waived, and all
accrued and unpaid Deferred Participation Fees shall be due and payable in full in cash in accordance with Section 2.23, and, upon the occurrence of
the Deferred Payment Termination Date no Deferring Lender shall be under any obligation under this Agreement to defer the cash payment of any
further participation fees owing to such Lender on or after the Deferred Payment Termination Date.

Any other fees payable to any Issuing Bank pursuant to this paragraph shall be payable within 10 days after demand. All participation fees and
fronting fees shall be computed on the basis of a year of 360 days and shall be payable for the actual number of days elapsed (including the first day
but excluding the last day). For purposes of computing the average daily amount of any LC Exposure for any period under this Section 2.13(b), the
average daily amount of the Alternative Currency LC Exposure for such period shall be calculated as set forth in paragraph (a) above.
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(c) Each Canadian Borrower shall pay to each Canadian Tranche Lender a Stamping Fee on the date of the relevant Borrowing with respect to each
Draft issued by such Canadian Borrower and accepted by such Canadian Tranche Lender calculated and payable at the time and in the manner specified in
Section 2.04. Each Stamping Fee and CDOR BA Rate payable on or in respect of Acceptances is expressed on the basis of a 365 day year.

(d) The Company agrees to pay to the Administrative Agent, for its own account, fees payable in the amounts and at the times separately agreed
upon between the Company and the Administrative Agent. The Company and the Canadian Borrowers jointly and severally agree to pay to the Canadian Agent,
for its own account, fees payable in the amounts and at the times separately agreed upon between the Company and the Canadian Agent. The Company and the
UK Borrowers jointly and severally agree to pay to the UK Agent, for its own account, fees payable in the amounts and at the times separately agreed upon
between the Company and the UK Agent.

(e) The Company shall, on the earlier of (i) December 31, 2011 (or such later date as may be agreed to by the Supermajority Lenders and the
Company but in no event to be later than the Maturity Date) and (ii) the date of the occurrence of any Deferral Termination Event and in accordance with
Section 2.23, pay to the Administrative Agent for the account of each Deferring Lender the Amendment No. 12 Fee. The Amendment No. 12 Fee shall be fully
earned as of the Amendment No. 12 Effective Date.

(f) All fees payable hereunder shall be paid on the dates due, in immediately available funds, to the Applicable Agent (or to the applicable Issuing
Bank, in the case of fees payable to it) for distribution, in the case of commitment fees and participation fees, to the Lenders. Fees paid shall not be refundable
under any circumstances.

SECTION 2.14. Interest. (a) The Loans comprising each ABR Borrowing (other than each US Tranche Swingline Loan) shall bear interest at the
Alternate Base Rate plus the Applicable Rate. The Loans comprising each Canadian Base Rate Borrowing (including each Canadian Tranche Swingline Loan)
shall bear interest at the Canadian Base Rate. US Tranche Swingline Loans shall bear interest at a rate per annum equal to the US Swingline Rate. UK Tranche
Swingline Loans shall bear interest at a rate per annum equal to the UK Swingline Rate plus the Applicable Rate for Eurocurrency Revolving Loans plus the
Mandatory Cost.

(b) The Loans comprising each Eurocurrency Borrowing by the Company under the US Tranche or the Canadian Tranche shall bear interest at the
Adjusted LIBO Rate for the Interest Period in effect for such Borrowing plus the Applicable Rate. The Loans comprising each Eurocurrency Borrowing by a UK
Borrower or the Company under the UK Tranche shall bear interest at the LIBO Rate for the Interest Period then in effect for such Borrowing (or, if greater,
3.50%) plus the Applicable Rate plus the Mandatory Cost.

(c) Notwithstanding the foregoing, during the continuance of an Event of Default described in clause (a) or (b) of Article VII the Required Lenders
may, at their option, by notice to the Company (which notice may be revoked at the option of the Required Lenders notwithstanding any provision of
Section 11.02(b) requiring unanimous consent of the Lenders to changes in interest rates), declare that (i) each Borrowing shall bear interest at the rate otherwise
applicable thereto plus 2% per annum, and (ii) the Letter of Credit participation fee provided for in Section 2.13(b) shall be increased by 2% per annum, provided
that, during the continuance of an Event of Default described in clause (h) or (i) of Article VII, the interest rates set forth in clause (i) above and the increase in
the Letter of Credit participation fee set forth in clause (ii) above shall be applicable to all Borrowings and Letters of Credit without any election or action on the
part of any Agent or any Lender.
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(d) (x) Subject to the succeeding clause (y), accrued interest on each Loan shall be payable in arrears on each Interest Payment Date for such Loan
and upon termination of the applicable Revolving Commitments; provided that (i) interest accrued pursuant to paragraph (c) of this Section 2.14 shall be payable
on demand, (ii) in the event of any repayment or prepayment of any Loan (other than a prepayment of an ABR Loan or a Canadian Base Rate Loan prior to the
end of the Availability Period), accrued interest on the principal amount repaid or prepaid shall be payable on the date of such repayment or prepayment and
(iii) in the event of any conversion of any Eurocurrency Revolving Loan prior to the end of the current Interest Period therefor, accrued interest on such Loan
shall be payable on the effective date of such conversion.

(y) Solely with respect to a Deferring Lender, on any:

(i) Interest Payment Date following the consummation of the Recapitalization Transaction and the date that the Specified Pension Fund
Deferral Transaction Amendment shall be fully executed and effective (A) occurring in 2009 or 2010 until the occurrence of any Deferral Termination
Event or a Deferral Suspension Event, the Company shall not be required to make a cash payment of accrued interest owing to such Deferring Lender on
such Interest Payment Date but such interest shall instead be payable in accordance with clause (y)(ii) below, and (B) occurring on or after January 1, 2011
and prior to the Deferred Payment Termination Date, the Company shall pay to such Deferring Lender in cash in respect of any accrued and unpaid interest
that becomes due on such Interest Payment Date, so long as the Available Interest Payment Amount (determined as of the Business Day immediately
preceding the relevant Interest Payment Date giving pro forma effect to the cash payment of all such interest (and commitment fees pursuant to
Section 2.13(a) participation fees pursuant to Section 2.13(b)) due and payable on such Interest Payment Date) exceeds $150,000,000, the full amount of
such accrued and unpaid interest; and

(ii) Business Day on and after January 1, 2011, in respect of all other accrued and unpaid interest that has been deferred pursuant to the
terms of this Section 2.14(d)(y) prior to such date, the Company shall pay to such Deferring Lender the lesser of (1) the Available Deferred Interest and Fee
Amount (determined as of the Business Day immediately preceding the relevant date) and (2) the aggregate amount of such accrued and unpaid interest
that has been deferred pursuant to the terms of this Section 2.14(d)(y) prior to such date. Such Available Deferred Interest and Fee Amount shall be applied
ratably to the accrued and unpaid interest, accrued and unpaid commitment fees and accrued and unpaid participation fees, in each case deferred prior to
such date in accordance with this Section 2.14(d)(y), Section 2.13(a) and Section 2.13(b).

As of the date that any Deferral Termination Event occurs, the Company shall have no further right to defer any interest hereunder (or any
commitment fees under Section 2.13(a) or any participation fees under Section 2.13(b)) after such date unless the Supermajority Lenders shall have
agreed to the continuation of such deferral.

As of the date that any Deferral Suspension Event occurs, the Company shall have no further right to defer any interest hereunder (or any
commitment fees under Section 2.13(a) or any participation fees under Section 2.13(b)) after such date unless the Supermajority Lenders shall have
agreed to the continuation of such deferral; provided that all Deferred Interest (and all Deferred Commitment Fees and Deferred Participation Fees)
shall not become immediately due and payable on the date that any Deferral Suspension Event occurs solely as the result of the occurrence of a
Deferral Suspension Event unless otherwise required herein.
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For the avoidance of doubt, to the extent a cash payment of the interest due hereunder to a Deferring Lender is not required under this

Section 2.14(d), such cash payment shall be deferred but shall in no event be (or be deemed to be) forgiven, excused, reduced or waived, and all
accrued and unpaid Deferred Interest shall be due and payable in full in cash in accordance with Section 2.23, and, upon the occurrence of the
Deferred Payment Termination Date no Deferring Lender shall be under any obligation under this Agreement to defer the cash payment of any
further interest owing to such Lender on or after the Deferred Payment Termination Date.

(e) Subject to Section 2.14(f), all interest hereunder shall be computed on the basis of a year of 360 days, except that interest computed by reference
to the Alternate Base Rate at times when the Alternate Base Rate is based on the Prime Rate, by reference to the Canadian Base Rate or by reference to the LIBO
Rate when the applicable Eurocurrency Borrowing is denominated in Pounds Sterling shall be computed on the basis of a year of 365 days (or 366 days in a leap
year), and in each case shall be payable for the actual number of days elapsed (including the first day but excluding the last day). The applicable Alternate Base
Rate, Canadian Base Rate, Adjusted LIBO Rate or LIBO Rate shall be determined by the Applicable Agent, and such determination shall be conclusive absent
manifest error.

(f) If and to the extent that the laws of Canada are applicable to interest, fees or other amounts payable under this Agreement for the purpose of the
Interest Act (Canada), the yearly rate of interest to which interest or any fee calculated on the basis of a 360- or 365-day year is equivalent is the rate of interest or
fee as determined herein multiplied by the actual number of days in such year divided by 360 or 365, as the case may be.

(g) The principle of deemed reinvestment of interest shall not apply to any interest calculation under this Agreement. The rates of interest stipulated
in this Agreement are intended to be nominal rates and not effective rates or yields.

(i) Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, if and to the extent that the laws of Canada are applicable to interest payable under this
Agreement, no interest on the credit advanced will be payable in excess of that permitted by the laws of Canada. If the effective annual rate of interest, calculated
in accordance with generally accepted actuarial practices and principles, would exceed 60% per annum (or such other rate as the Parliament of Canada may
determine from time to time as the criminal rate) on the credit advanced under this Agreement, then (a) the amount of any charges for the use of money, expenses,
fees or other charges payable in connection therewith will be reduced to the extent necessary to eliminate such excess, (b) any remaining excess that has been paid
will be credited towards repayment of the principal amount and (c) any overpayment that may remain after such crediting will be returned forthwith on demand to
the applicable Borrower. In this provision, the terms “interest”, “criminal rate” and “credit advanced” have the meanings ascribed to them in Section 347 of the
Criminal Code of Canada.

SECTION 2.15. Alternate Rate of Interest. If prior to the commencement of any Interest Period for a Eurocurrency Borrowing in any currency:

(a) the Applicable Agent determines (which determination shall be conclusive absent manifest error) that adequate and reasonable means do not exist
for ascertaining the Adjusted LIBO Rate or the LIBO Rate, as applicable, for such Interest Period; or

(b) the Applicable Agent is advised by a majority in interest of the Lenders that would participate in such Borrowing that the LIBO Rate for such
Interest Period will not adequately and fairly reflect the cost to such Lenders of making or maintaining their Loans included in such Borrowing for such Interest
Period;
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then the Applicable Agent shall give notice thereof to the applicable Borrower and the applicable Lenders by telephone or telecopy as promptly as practicable
thereafter and, until the Applicable Agent notifies the applicable Borrower and the applicable Lenders that the circumstances giving rise to such notice no longer
exist (i) any Interest Election Request that requests the conversion of any Borrowing to, or continuation of any Borrowing as, a Eurocurrency Borrowing in such
currency shall be ineffective, and such Borrowing shall be converted to or continued on the last day of the Interest Period applicable thereto (A) if such
Borrowing is a Eurocurrency Borrowing by the Company under the US Tranche or the Canadian Tranche, as an ABR Borrowing or (B) if such Borrowing is a
Eurocurrency Borrowing by the Company or a UK Borrower under the UK Tranche, as a Borrowing bearing interest at such rate as the UK Agent shall
determine, after consultation with the UK Tranche Lenders, adequately reflects the costs to the UK Tranche Lenders of making or maintaining their Loans, and
(ii) if any Borrowing Request requests a Eurocurrency Revolving Borrowing in such currency, unless the applicable Borrower notifies the Applicable Agent in
writing prior to the date on which such Borrowing is requested to be made that it wishes to revoke such Borrowing Request, (A) if such Borrowing is a
Eurocurrency Borrowing by the Company under the US Tranche or the Canadian Tranche, such Borrowing shall be made as an ABR Borrowing, and (B) if such
Borrowing is a Eurocurrency Borrowing by the Company or a UK Borrower under the UK Tranche, such Borrowing shall be made as a Borrowing bearing
interest at such rate as the UK Agent shall determine adequately reflects the costs to the UK Tranche Lenders of making or maintaining their Loans plus the
Applicable Rate for Eurocurrency Revolving Loans plus the Mandatory Cost.

SECTION 2.16. Increased Costs. (a) If any Change in Law shall:

(i) impose, modify or deem applicable any reserve, special deposit or similar requirement against assets of, deposits with or for the account of, or
credit extended by, any Lender (except any such reserve requirement reflected in the Adjusted LIBO Rate) or Issuing Bank; or

(ii) impose on any Lender or Issuing Bank or the London interbank markets any other condition affecting this Agreement or Eurocurrency Loans
made by such Lender or any Letter of Credit or participation therein;

and the result of any of the foregoing shall be to increase the cost to such Lender of making or maintaining any Eurocurrency Loan (or of maintaining its
obligation to make any such Loan) or to increase the cost to such Lender or Issuing Bank of participating in, issuing or maintaining any Letter of Credit or to
reduce the amount of any sum received or receivable by such Lender or Issuing Bank hereunder (whether of principal, interest or otherwise), then the applicable
Borrower will pay to such Lender or Issuing Bank, as the case may be, such additional amount or amounts as will compensate such Lender or Issuing Bank, as
the case may be, for such additional costs incurred or reduction suffered.

(b) If any Lender or Issuing Bank determines that any Change in Law regarding capital requirements has or would have the effect of reducing the
rate of return on such Lender’s or Issuing Bank’s capital or on the capital of such Lender’s or Issuing Bank’s holding company, if any, as a consequence of this
Agreement or the Loans made by, or participations in Letters of Credit held by, such Lender, or the Letters of Credit issued by such Issuing Bank, to a level below
that which such Lender or Issuing Bank or such Lender’s or Issuing Bank’s holding company could have achieved but for such Change in Law (taking into
consideration such Lender’s or Issuing Bank’s policies and the policies of such Lender’s or Issuing Bank’s holding company with respect to capital adequacy),
then from time to time the applicable Borrower will pay to such Lender or Issuing Bank, as the case may be, such additional amount or amounts as will
compensate such Lender or Issuing Bank or such Lender’s or Issuing Bank’s holding company for any such reduction suffered.
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(c) A certificate of a Lender or Issuing Bank setting forth the amount or amounts necessary to compensate such Lender or Issuing Bank or its holding
company, as the case may be, as specified in paragraph (a) or (b) of this Section shall be delivered to the Company and shall be conclusive absent manifest error.
The Company shall pay or cause the other Borrowers to pay such Lender or Issuing Bank, as the case may be, the amount shown as due on any such certificate
within 10 days after receipt thereof.

(d) Failure or delay on the part of any Lender or Issuing Bank to demand compensation pursuant to this Section shall not constitute a waiver of such
Lender’s or Issuing Bank’s right to demand such compensation; provided that the Company shall not be required to compensate a Lender or Issuing Bank
pursuant to this Section for any increased costs or reductions incurred more than 270 days prior to the date that such Lender or Issuing Bank, as the case may be,
notifies the Company of the Change in Law giving rise to such increased costs or reductions and of such Lender’s or Issuing Bank’s intention to claim
compensation therefor; provided further that, if the Change in Law giving rise to such increased costs or reductions is retroactive, then the 270-day period referred
to above shall be extended to include the period of retroactive effect thereof.

SECTION 2.17. Break Funding Payments. In the event of (a) the payment of any principal of any Eurocurrency Loan other than on the last day of an
Interest Period applicable thereto (including as a result of an Event of Default), (b) the conversion of any Eurocurrency Loan to a Loan of a different Type or
Interest Period other than on the last day of the Interest Period applicable thereto, (c) the failure to borrow, convert, continue or prepay any Loan or to pay any
amount owing in respect of any Acceptance on the date specified in any notice delivered pursuant hereto (regardless of whether such notice may be revoked
under Section 2.12(d) and is revoked in accordance therewith), or (d) the assignment or deemed assignment of any Eurocurrency Loan other than on the last day
of the Interest Period applicable thereto as a result of a request by the Company pursuant to Section 2.20 or the CAM Exchange, then, in any such event, the
applicable Borrower shall compensate each Lender for the loss, cost and expense attributable to such event. In the case of a Eurocurrency Loan, such loss, cost or
expense to any Lender shall be deemed to include an amount determined by such Lender to be the excess, if any, of (i) the amount of interest that would have
accrued on the principal amount of such Loan had such event not occurred, at the LIBO Rate that would have been applicable to such Loan, for the period from
the date of such event to the last day of the then current Interest Period therefor (or, in the case of a failure to borrow, convert or continue, for the period that
would have been the Interest Period for such Loan), over (ii) the amount of interest that would accrue on such principal amount for such period at the interest rate
such Lender would bid were it to bid, at the commencement of such period, for deposits in the applicable currency of a comparable amount and period from other
banks in the London interbank market. A certificate of any Lender setting forth any amount or amounts that such Lender is entitled to receive pursuant to this
Section, and setting forth in reasonable detail the calculations used by such Lender to determine such amount or amounts, shall be delivered to the applicable
Borrower and shall be conclusive absent manifest error. The applicable Borrower shall pay such Lender the amount shown as due on any such certificate within
10 days after receipt thereof.
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SECTION 2.18. Taxes. Subject to Section 2.18A (which shall be deemed to be a part of Section 2.18 for purposes of cross references to Section 2.18
in this Agreement) below in respect of any UK Borrower:

(a) Any and all payments by or on account of any obligation of each Borrower hereunder shall be made free and clear of and without deduction for
any Indemnified Taxes or Other Taxes; provided that if any Borrower shall be required to deduct any Indemnified Taxes or Other Taxes from such payments, then
(i) the sum payable shall be increased as necessary so that after making all required deductions (including deductions applicable to additional sums payable under
this Section) the Applicable Agent or the applicable Lender or Issuing Bank (as the case may be) receives an amount equal to the sum it would have received had
no such deductions been made, (ii) such Borrower shall make such deductions and (iii) such Borrower shall pay the full amount deducted to the relevant
Governmental Authority in accordance with applicable law.

(b) In addition, each Borrower shall pay any Other Taxes related to such Borrower to the relevant Governmental Authority in accordance with
applicable law.

(c) The relevant Borrower shall indemnify each Agent, each Lender and each Issuing Bank, within 30 days after written demand therefor, for the full
amount of any Indemnified Taxes or Other Taxes paid by such Agent, such Lender or such Issuing Bank, as the case may be, on or with respect to any payment
by or on account of any obligation of any Borrower hereunder (including Indemnified Taxes or Other Taxes imposed or asserted on or attributable to amounts
payable under this Section) and any penalties, interest and reasonable expenses arising therefrom or with respect thereto, whether or not such Indemnified Taxes
or Other Taxes were correctly or legally imposed or asserted by the relevant Governmental Authority. A certificate as to the amount of such payment or liability
delivered to the Company by a Lender or Issuing Bank, or by an Agent on its own behalf or on behalf of a Lender or Issuing Bank, shall be conclusive absent
manifest error.

(d) As soon as practicable after any payment of Indemnified Taxes or Other Taxes by any Borrower to a Governmental Authority, such Borrower
shall deliver to the Administrative Agent the original or a certified copy of a receipt issued by such Governmental Authority evidencing such payment, a copy of
the return reporting such payment or other evidence of such payment reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent.

(e) Any Foreign Lender that is entitled to an exemption from or reduction of withholding tax under the law of the jurisdiction in which a Borrower
under a Tranche in which such Lender participates is located, or any treaty to which such jurisdiction is a party, with respect to payments under this Agreement
shall deliver to such Borrower (with a copy to the Administrative Agent), at the time or times prescribed by applicable law or reasonably requested by such
Borrower, such properly completed and executed documentation prescribed by applicable law or reasonably requested by such Borrower as will permit such
payments to be made without withholding or at a reduced rate of withholding tax. In addition, each such Lender agrees that it will deliver upon a Borrower’s
request updated versions of the foregoing documents whenever they have become obsolete or inaccurate in any material respect, together with such other forms or
documents as may be required in order to confirm or establish the entitlement of such Lender to continued exemption from or reduction of withholding tax;
provided, however, that no Lender shall be required to provide any documents or forms which it cannot deliver under applicable law.

(f) Each Lender, on the date it becomes a Lender hereunder, will designate lending offices for the Loans to be made by it (a “Facility Office”) such
that, on such date, it will not be liable for (i) in the case of a US Tranche Lender, any withholding tax that is imposed by the United States of America (or any
political subdivision thereof) on payments by the Company from an office within such jurisdiction, (ii) in the case of a Canadian Tranche Lender, any withholding
tax that is imposed (A) by Canada (or any political subdivision thereof) on payments by a Canadian Borrower from an office within such jurisdiction or (B) by the
United States of America (or any political subdivision thereof) on payments by the Company from an office within such jurisdiction, or (iii) in the case of a UK
Tranche
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Lender, any withholding tax that is imposed (A) by the United Kingdom (or any political subdivision thereof) on payments by a UK Borrower from an office
within such jurisdiction or (B) by the United States of America (or any political subdivision thereof) on payments by the Company from an office within such
jurisdiction. If any Lender does not comply with this Section 2.18(e) or (f), the relevant Borrower shall have no obligation to indemnify such Lender, or any
relevant Agent or Issuing Bank for the account of such Lender, under this Section 2.18, provided, however, that such Borrower shall not be relieved of the
foregoing indemnity obligation if the Company or the applicable Borrower shall fail to comply with the requirements of Section 2.21(a)(ii).

(g) In cases in which a Borrower makes a payment under this Agreement to a U.S. person with knowledge that such U.S. person is acting as an agent
for a foreign person, such Borrower will not treat such payment as being made to a U.S. person for purposes of Treas. Reg. § 1.1441-1(b)(2)(ii) (or a successor
provision) without the express written consent of such U.S. person.

(h) If the Administrative Agent or a Lender determines, in its sole discretion, that it has received a refund of any Taxes or Other Taxes as to which it
has been indemnified by a Borrower or with respect to which a Borrower has paid additional amounts pursuant to this Section 2.18, it shall pay over such refund
to such Borrower (but only to the extent of indemnity payments made, or additional amounts paid, by such Borrower under this Section 2.18 with respect to the
Taxes or Other Taxes giving rise to such refund), net of all out-of-pocket expenses of the Administrative Agent or such Lender and without interest (other than
any interest paid by the relevant Governmental Authority with respect to such refund, and only to the extent that the amount of such refund is both reasonably
identifiable and quantifiable by such Lender without imposing on such Lender an unacceptable administrative burden); provided, that such Borrower, upon the
request of the Administrative Agent or such Lender, agrees to repay the amount paid over to such Borrower (plus any penalties, interest or other charges imposed
by the relevant Governmental Authority) to the Administrative Agent or such Lender in the event the Administrative Agent or such Lender is required to repay
such refund to such Governmental Authority. This Section shall not be construed to require the Administrative Agent or any Lender to make available its tax
returns (or any other information relating to its taxes which it deems confidential) to any Borrower or any other Person.

SECTION 2.18A. UK Taxes. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement:
(a) Definitions:

“Protected Party” means a UK Tranche Lender or UK Tranche Swingline Lender which is or will be subject to any liability or required to make any
payment for or on account of UK Tax, in relation to a sum received or receivable (or any sum deemed for the purposes of UK Tax to be received or receivable)
under a Loan Document.

“Qualifying Lender” means (a) a building society (as defined for the purposes of section 477A of the Income and Corporation Taxes Act 1988) or
(b) a UK Tranche Lender or UK Tranche Swingline Lender which is beneficially entitled to interest payable to that UK Tranche Lender or UK Tranche Swingline
Lender in respect of an advance under a Loan Document and is either:

(i) a UK Tranche Lender or UK Tranche Swingline Lender:

(A) which is a bank (as defined for the purpose of section 349 of the Income and Corporation Taxes Act 1988) making an advance under a
Loan Document; or
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(B) in respect of an advance made under a Loan Document by a person that was a bank (as defined for the purpose of section 349 of the
Income and Corporation Taxes Act 1988) at the time that advance was made

and which is within the charge to United Kingdom corporation tax as respects any payments of interest made in respect of that advance; or
(ii) a UK Tranche Lender or UK Tranche Swingline Lender which is:
(A) acompany resident in the United Kingdom for United Kingdom tax purposes; or

(B) apartnership each member of which is: (a) a company resident in the United Kingdom for United Kingdom tax purposes or (b) a
company not so resident in the United Kingdom which carries on a trade in the United Kingdom through a permanent establishment
and which brings into account in computing its chargeable profits (for the purposes of section 11(2) of the Income and Corporation
Taxes Act 1988) the whole of any share of interest payable in respect of that advance that falls to it by reason of sections 114 and 115
of the Income and Corporation Taxes Act 1988; or

(C) acompany not so resident in the United Kingdom which carries on a trade in the United Kingdom through a branch or agency and
which brings into account interest payable in respect of that advance in computing its chargeable profits (within the meaning given by
section 11(2) of the Income and Corporation Taxes Act 1988); or

(iii) a Treaty Lender.
“Tax Credit” means a credit against, relief or remission for, or repayment of any UK Tax.
“Tax Deduction” means a deduction or withholding for or on account of UK Tax from a payment under a Loan Document.

“Tax Payment” means an increased payment made by a UK Borrower to a UK Tranche Lender or UK Tranche Swingline Lender under
Section 2.18A.

“Treaty Lender” means a UK Tranche Lender or UK Tranche Swingline Lender which:

(i) is treated as a resident of a Treaty State for the purposes of the Treaty and fully eligible for the benefits of the Treaty concerned such that the UK
Tranche Lender or UK Tranche Swingline Lender concerned will in fact be eligible (without limitation under the Treaty concerned or otherwise) for full
exemption for tax imposed by the United Kingdom on interest; and

(ii) does not carry on a business in the United Kingdom through a permanent establishment with which that UK Tranche Lender or UK Tranche
Swingline Lender’s participation in the Loan is effectively connected.
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“Treaty State” means a jurisdiction having a double taxation agreement (a “Treaty”) with the United Kingdom which makes provision for full
exemption from tax imposed by the United Kingdom on interest.

“UK Tax” means any tax, levy, impost, duty or other charge or withholding of a similar nature (including any penalty or interest payable in
connection with any failure to pay or any delay in paying any of the same) imposed by the government of the United Kingdom or any political subdivision
thereof, whether state or local, and any agency, authority, instrumentality, regulatory body, court, central bank or other entity exercising executive, legislative,
judicial, taxing, regulatory or administrative powers or functions of or pertaining to government of the United Kingdom.

(b) Unless a contrary indication appears, in this Section 2.18A a reference to “determines” or “determined” means a determination made in the
absolute discretion of the person making the determination.

(c) Each UK Borrower shall make all payments to be made by it without any Tax Deduction, unless a Tax Deduction is required by law.

(d) The relevant UK Borrower shall promptly upon becoming aware that it must make a Tax Deduction (or that there is any change in the rate or the
basis of a Tax Deduction) notify the UK Agent accordingly. Similarly, a UK Tranche Lender or UK Tranche Swingline Lender shall notify the UK Agent on
becoming so aware in respect of a payment payable to that UK Tranche Lender or UK Tranche Swingline Lender. If the UK Agent receives such notification from
a UK Tranche Lender or UK Tranche Swingline Lender, it shall notify the relevant UK Borrower.

(e) If a Tax Deduction is required by law to be made by a UK Borrower, the amount of the payment due from that UK Borrower shall be increased,
to the extent permitted by applicable law in respect of each UK Borrower, to an amount which (after making any Tax Deduction) leaves an amount equal to the
payment which would have been due if no Tax Deduction had been required.

(f) A UK Borrower is not required to make an increased payment to a UK Tranche Lender or UK Tranche Swingline Lender under paragraph (e)
above for a Tax Deduction in respect of tax imposed by the country of incorporation of such UK Borrower from a payment of interest on a Loan, if on the date on
which the payment falls due (i) the payment could have been made to the relevant UK Tranche Lender or UK Tranche Swingline Lender without a Tax Deduction
if it was a Qualifying Lender, but on that date that UK Tranche Lender or UK Tranche Swingline Lender is not or has ceased t